
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Streets and Walkways Sub (Planning and 
Transportation) Committee 

 
Date: TUESDAY, 9 JULY 2024 

Time: 1.45 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 2 - 2ND FLOOR WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Graham Packham (Chairman) 

Deputy John Edwards (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Mary Durcan 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy Shravan Joshi MBE 
 

Deputy Alastair Moss 
Ian Seaton 
Hugh Selka 
Brendan Barns (Ex-Officio Member) 
John Foley (Ex-Officio Member) 
Eamonn Mullally (Ex-Officio Member) 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Callum Southern 

Callum.Southern@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London 

Corporation by following the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not 
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the 
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the 
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 
 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible 
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded 
following the end of the meeting. 

 
Ian Thomas CBE 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

AGENDA 
 

NB: Certain matters for information have been marked * and will be taken without 
discussion, unless the Committee Clerk has been informed that a Member has questions 
or comments prior to the start of the meeting. These information items have been collated 

in a supplementary agenda pack and circulated separately. 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 14 May 2024. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 5 - 14) 

 
4. TRANSPORT STRATEGY - REVISED DRAFT AND CONSULTATION REPORT 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 15 - 264) 

 
5. SMITHFIELD AREA PUBLIC REALM AND TRANSPORTATION 
 

 Report of the City Operations Director.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 265 - 296) 

 
6. MUSEUM OF LONDON S278 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 297 - 314) 

 
7. FINSBURY CIRCUS ACCESSIBILITY IMPROVEMENTS 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 315 - 338) 

 
8. CREECHURCH LANE AREA IMPROVEMENTS 
 



3 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 339 - 378) 

 
9. COOL STREETS & GREENING LUDGATE BROADWAY AND ST ANDREW'S HILL 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 379 - 414) 

 
10. 2 ALDERMANBURY S278 
 

 Report of the Interim Director of Environment.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 415 - 444) 

 
11. TEMPLE AVENUE 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 445 - 462) 

 
12. 21 MOORFIELDS AND FORE STREET AVENUE S278 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 463 - 486) 

 
13. *ADVERTISING BOARD UPDATE 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 487 - 498) 

 
14. *BANK JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT: NEXT STEPS FOLLOWING THE 

OUTCOME OF THE TRAFFIC AND TIMING REVIEW 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 499 - 504) 

 
15. *UPDATE ON ACTIONS FOR IMPROVING DOCKLESS E-BIKE HIRE IN THE CITY 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Environment.  
 



4 
 

  
For Information 

 (Pages 505 - 526) 
 

16. *DAUNTSEY HOUSE, FREDERICK’S PLACE - PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS 
(S278) 

 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 527 - 540) 

 
17. *RED BADGE HOLDER SURVEY 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director of Environment.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 541 - 588) 

 
18. *OUTSTANDING REFERENCES 
 

 Report of the Town Clerk.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 589 - 590) 

 
19. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 

COMMITTEE 
 
 

20. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

21. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act as follows:- 
 

  
Part 2 - Non-public Agenda 

 
22. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

SUB COMMITTEE 
 
 

23. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST 
THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 



STREETS AND WALKWAYS SUB (PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION) 
COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, 14 May 2024  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Streets and Walkways Sub (Planning and 
Transportation) Committee held at Committee Room 2 - 2nd Floor West Wing, 

Guildhall on Tuesday, 14 May 2024 at 1.45 pm 
 

Present 
 
Members: 
Graham Packham (Chairman) 
Deputy John Edwards (Deputy Chairman) 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Brendan Barns 
Mary Durcan 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy Shravan Joshi MBE 
Hugh Selka 
 

 
Officers: 
Zoe Lewis      -    Town Clerk’s Department 
Olumayowa Obisesan    -    Chamberlain’s Department 
Melanie Charalambous 
Gillian Howard 

- Environment Department 
- Environment Department 

Ian Hughes 
Bruce McVean 
Stephen Oliver 

 -   Environment Department 
 -   Environment Department 
 -   Environment Department 

Emmanuel Ojugo - Environment Department 

Giles Radford - Environment Department 

Bob Roberts - Environment Department 

Kristian Turner 
George Wright 

- Environment Department 
- Environment Department 

 
 
 
The Clerk stated that since the agenda was published Brendan Barns had been 

appointed to the Sub-Committee by the Finance Committee and John Foley 

had been appointed by the Port Health and Environmental Services Committee. 

The Chairman welcomed Brendan Barns, John Foley, Mary Durcan and Hugh 

Selka who were new Members of the Sub-Committee. 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

The Clerk stated that since the agenda was published Brendan Barns had been 

appointed to the Sub-Committee by the Finance Committee and John Foley 

had been appointed by the Port Health and Environmental Services Committee. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



The Chairman welcomed Brendan Barns, John Foley, Mary Durcan and Hugh 

Selka who were new Members of the Sub-Committee. 

Apologies were received from John Foley. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
Graham Packham stated he had a disclosable pecuniary interest in relation to 
Agenda Item 7 as his flat was in the area. He stated he would leave the room 
for this item and the Deputy Chairman would chair the item. 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED, That the public minutes of the meeting of 19 March 2024 be 
approved as an accurate record of the proceedings. 
 
Matters Arising 
Bus stop by the monument on London Bridge 
The Chairman stated he would be meeting TfL with an Officer and Deputy Lord 
to discuss options regarding moving the bus stop. He added that they could 
also discuss the repairs to the bridge. A Member raised concerns about the 
scaffolding causing congestion around the bus stop, tree pits which had been 
covered up and were collecting rubbish, lights out and the missing handrail. An 
Officer stated that these matters could be raised with TfL. He added that TfL 
were looking at designs for work to the bridge but also required funding. A 
Member raised concern about the lack of funding given that TfL had listed this 
as one of their top priorities. 
 
Moorfields Highwalk 
The Chairman queried if the lifts and escalator were now running at all times 
and an Officer confirmed that the developer had returned them to 24 hours a 
day, 7 days a week operation. Officers would continue to monitor this. He 
added that the highwalk was still privately maintained until it was formally 
adopted at a future Planning & Transportation Committee meeting.  
 

4. ST. PAUL'S GYRATORY TRANSFORMATION PROJECT - PHASE 1 
(GREYFRIARS SQUARE DESIGN)  
The Sub-Committee considered a Gateway 4C report which provided Members 
with details of the proposed final RIBA Stage 3 developed design for Greyfriars 
Square and sought Member approval to progress the design of the public 
space to RIBA Stage 4 (detailed design). 
 
Members received a presentation on the proposal and were informed that 
closing the carriageway at King Edward Street and Newgate Street slip road 
would help create approximately 3,000 square metres of new public space. 
Work had been undertaken on developing the detailed design of the public 
space including the play feature and this had been overseen by a steering 
group.  
 
At the Chairman’s request, particulate matter from the underground air vent had 
been monitored by an independent company. This concluded that there were 

Page 6



no abnormal levels of particulate matter and the location identified was suitable 
for the play feature. In response to a Member’s question about how often the air 
quality standards were breached, the Officer stated he understood there were 
no breaches of particulate matter standards. He would check and confirm that 
the nitrogen oxide standards had not been breached. 
 
Members were shown images of the proposed public space and were informed 
there would be a large paved area which could be used for occasional public 
events, large planters, rain gardens, permeable paving and a linear feature of 
Thames embankment granite through the space. There would also be quieter 
areas with seating and tables. The Officer stated that work had been taking 
place on a modification to the steps proposed at the southwest corner of 81 
Newgate Street. 
 
The Officer stated that the design of the play feature had involved the City 
Parent Carer Forum which included the parents of children with special 
educational needs or disabilities. He stated their input had been invaluable in 
designing the feature to be inclusive and for children of different ages. The 
feature included sensory features and more traditional play features as well as 
a trampoline. 
 
Members were informed that a Gateway 5 report would be submitted to the 
Sub-Committee in October 2024 for approval to start work on the highway 
design. Officers were aiming for work to start in early 2025 once the traffic 
changes were in place and King Edward Street was closed.  
 
A Member commented that the location chosen for the play area was relatively 
close both to the road and the underground vent and asked whether any other 
spaces had been explored. An Officer stated that two possible locations for the 
play area had been considered. The location chosen maximised the space 
available. The other location was close to Angel Street.  
 
In response to a Member’s suggestion that the play area be moved, the Officer 
stated that there were no locations identified as suitable that were at the heart 
of the site and away from surrounding streets. The Chairman stated there were 
competing needs e.g. the constraints of the existing gardens, required open 
space for events and cathedral views. The Officer stated that Historic England 
had expressed informal concerns about views if the play area was located 
close to the scheduled historic monument and Grade I listed building. The 
Officer stated that the report to the Sub-Committee in January 2024 included 
the assessments that had taken place about where the play feature could be 
introduced and it was concluded that the location proposed was the best 
location.  
 
Member raised concern about safety with the play area being so close to the 
main road. An Officer stated that this had been raised by the City Parent Carer 
Forum and the plan had been modified to extend the barriers.  
 
An Officer stated that if the view of the Sub-Committee in relation to the location 
of the play area was unclear, it would not be possible to approve the detailed 

Page 7



design and Officers would consider the feedback and come back with another 
proposal.  
 
The Chairman asked for confirmation that Officers considered the chosen 
location for the play area was the best location and the Officer confirmed it was. 
The Chairman requested that the area between the play area and Newgate 
Street be made impermeable to improve safety and minimise the risks.  
 
A Member stated that the plan on page 43 of the agenda showed the spatial 
position of the play area more clearly than the CGIs. He stated that the play 
area was secluded and the ventilation building offered some protection to the 
play area from the street. He suggested that spatially accurate plans should be 
highlighted in all future presentations. 
 
Concern was also raised about people cycling through the space as this would 
be available permeable space without traffic. An Officer stated that it was not 
possible to entirely prevent this but there would be a traffic order prohibiting 
cycling which would be enforceable and a protected cycle route would be 
created around the space. Members were informed that any physical measures 
to stop people from accessing the space on a bicycle, would make it an 
inaccessible space. The space had been clearly designed to send a signal that 
it was not for people to cycle through. A Member asked for consideration to be 
given to ensuring that Grand Axial Route did not look like a throughway to 
bicycles. 
 
Members were informed that the existing cycle docking station would be 
relocated to enable two-way traffic on Newgate Street. TfL had stated it had to 
be reprovided close by and the proposed location was the only suitable location 
for a docking station of that size. 
 
A Member commented positively on the scheme having been amended 
following previous comments about the design. 
 
A Member asked about the content in relation to the pavement telling a story. 
An Officer stated that Historic England had asked to be involved. 
 
The Chairman asked for reassurance that the design of the plant borders would 
not attract skateboarders. An Officer stated that the whole space was being 
designed to deter skateboarders.  
 
In response to a question about the permeable paving, an Officer stated that in 
certain areas, there would be a full depth construction to the sub-base to allow 
water to percolate through the layers.  
 
A Member enquired as to why the conditioned foliage on 81 Newgate Street 
was not shown on the CGI. The Member stated he would raise this with 
Planning Officers. 
 
 
 

Page 8



RESOLVED - That Members of the Sub-Committee: 
 
1. Approve the recommended RIBA Stage 3 developed design for the 

Greyfriars Square new public space, subject to the area between the 
play area and Newgate Street being made impermeable, and authorise 
officers to commence the RIBA Stage 4 detailed design;  

2.  Approve an additional budget of £110,000 from the agreed capital 
allocation (OSPR) to reach Gateway 5 (as outlined in section 3 of the 
Officer report); and 

3.  Note the revised total proposed project budget of £5,454,622 (including 
risk) is required to reach Gateway 5.  

 
5. PEDESTRIAN PRIORITY STREETS PROGRAMME - CHANCERY LANE  

The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Interim Executive Director 
Environment concerning the results of the traffic experiment including the 
statutory and public consultation exercise and seeking Member approval for 
making the traffic changes permanent. 
 
RESOLVED - That Members of the Sub-Committee approve Option 1 to make 
the experimental traffic measures permanent (restricting vehicles from travelling 
north on Chancery Lane north of the junction with Carey Street between 
7.00am and 7.00pm, Monday to Friday, except taxis and vehicles requiring 
access to properties or parking and loading facilities in Chancery Lane). 
Subject to the Chancery Lane scheme receiving TMAN approval from TfL. 
 

6. LIVERPOOL STREET AREA HEALTHY STREETS PLAN  
The Sub-Committee considered a Gateway 5 report of the Interim Executive 
Director, Environment on the Liverpool Street Area Healthy Streets Plan. 
 
A Member stated that Liverpool Street Station was the busiest station in the 
country and was now directly linked to Heathrow Airport. He stated that in the 
future, there would be an increasing volume of passengers using the station 
and carrying luggage and that there was likely to be increased accessibility to 
the station concourse in the future which would increase the number of 
disabled people using the station. He raised concern that the plan did not 
include these increased numbers and raised concern that there would be a 
future need for vehicular access to the station. He added that there was a need 
to future-proof for this and make the plan sustainable in the long term. He 
stated that there should be research into the transport makeup of Liverpool 
Street changing in the future. 
 
An Officer responded that the Healthy Streets Plans were deliberately high 
level. Much of the detailed work was still to take place. He added there had also 
been a planning application submitted for the station. Some changes had been 
made in response to feedback e.g. the references to potentially reducing the 
size of the rank on Liverpool Street had been removed so there was no 
presumption. He added that the type of taxi provision in the area would be 
looked at when there was more clarity on the potential future redevelopment of 
the station. 
 

Page 9



The Chairman stated that the opening of the Elizabeth Line was having a 
beneficial impact. 
 
RESOLVED - That the Liverpool Street Area Healthy Streets Plan in Appendix 
1 of the Officer report be adopted.  
 

7. COOL STREETS AND GREENING PROGRAMME UPDATE  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment which provided an update on the delivery of the Cool Streets and 
Greening programme (CSG). 
 
The Chairman who had declared on interest in this item, left the room and the 
Deputy Chairman took the Chair for this item. 
 
An Officer stated that the Cool Streets and Greening programme was part of 
the Climate Change Action Strategy. The programme was divided into four 
phases and the first three phases were well under way. The fourth phase 
involved sustainable drainage and 45 projects would be delivered as part of 
this. There were also some citywide projects for tree planting plus replanting 
city garden spaces with more resilient planting. It was anticipated that the 
project would be delivered by March 2026. 
 
The Officer stated that the next priority project on the list was Temple Avenue 
which had been chosen as it had very little greening, there was demand for 
greening and the existing road closure to traffic presented an opportunity. The 
Officer stated there would be a cost increase for the Little Trinity Lane project to 
cover the costed risk provision diverting utilities for sustainable drainage and 
additional planting. Overall, the total budget remained unchanged. 
 
In response to a question as to why the work on the Crescent had been 
paused, an Officer advised that this was due to the sale of the adjacent 
property and Officers had to ensure that the scheme was fully supported by all 
the adjacent property owners and if necessary was adapted to take account of 
any future development. 
 
In response to a Member’s question about the increase in budget to the Little 
Trinity scheme, an Officer stated that there had been a difficulty in finding 
enough sites to spend the full allocation. Little Trinity Lane was one of the 
spaces where a large rain garden could be incorporated and the scheme was 
likely to provide the largest amount of sustainable drainage of any of the 
projects. 
 
A Member asked for clarification on why Section 106 money was no longer 
available. An Officer stated that there were several Section 106 agreements 
with clauses and this one had a clause specific for TfL bus stop works. At the 
time this was allocated to the project, TfL stated they did not need the money 
for these works but they had since stated they did need it. 
 
The Deputy Chairman, in the Chair, asked the Officer to outline the different 
technologies that had been trialled in the sustainable drainage projects. The 

Page 10



Officer outlined the technologies and the projects where they had been trialled. 
The Deputy Chairman requested that the areas where these technologies had 
been trialled be included as part of the planned Streets and Walkways walk 
around the City.  
 
In response to a Member’s question, the Officer stated that if a trial was not 
successful, there was a fallback position in the design. 
 
RESOLVED - That Members of the Sub-Committee: 
 
1.  Note the content of this progress update; 
2.  Note the extension of the Cool Streets and Greening programme 

timeframes by 12 months to March 2026; 
3.  Agree to transfer the Cool Streets and Greening allocation of £350,000 

from the Crescent project (which has been paused) to the next priority 
Cool Streets and Greening project which is Temple Avenue; 

4.  Agree to amend the funding allocations between the phases and 
projects and approve the required budget increases as set out in 
Appendix 1;  

5.  Agree the increase in the Cool Streets and Greening allocation for the 
Little Trinity Lane project of £150,000 to replace S106 funds that are no 
longer available and fund additional planting, utility works and the costed 
risk provision;  

6.  Delegate approval and drawdown of the Costed Risk Provision for the 
projects in the programme to the Chief Officer if one is sought at 
Gateway 5; and 

7. Request the inclusion of visits to see the sustainable drainage projects 
where technologies had been trialled, be included in the planned walking 
tour for Members of the Sub-Committee. 

 
8. CITY GREENING AND BIODIVERSITY: LONDON WALL/MOORGATE 

RELANDSCAPING  
The Sub-Committee considered a Gateway 5 report of the Interim Executive 
Director, Environment on the London Wall/Moorgate Relandscaping. 
 
RESOLVED - That Members of the Sub-Committee: 
 
1.  Agree authorisation to initiate public realm works for the delivery of the 

London Wall/Moorgate Green space at a total cost of £612,335, to be 
funded from the Cool Streets and Greening Programme (£442,655) and 
Section 106 Contributions (£168,680); 

2.  Agree to the installation of Keats Bust under S115B of the Highways Act 
(1980), to commemorate the birthplace of the poet, and formally enter 
into the legal agreement with the funder and sculptor (see section 4); 
and 

3.  Agree to delegate the drawdown of the costed risk provision to the Chief 
Officer.  

 
9. MILLENNIUM BRIDGE HOUSE AREA IMPROVEMENTS S278  

Page 11



The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment outlining the Millenium Bridge House Area Improvements S278. 
 
RESOLVED - That Members of the Committee: 
 
1. Approve the reconfiguration of the approved evaluation budget of £50K 

of which £29,812 remains to reach the next reporting stage. as 
summarised in Table 2: Adjustment Required to reach the next Gateway, 
in paragraph 3 of this report; 

2. Request that the Gateway 5 report (Authority to Start Work), be 
delegated to the Director of the Built Environment, when final costs are 
known, provided detailed costs of the S278 works do not exceed the 
maximum limit of the agreed cost range by 10% (in accordance with 
project procedure); and 

3. Agree that any future required allocation of Costed Risk Provision be 
agreed by the Executive Director Environment and the Chamberlain, and 
that the Executive Director Environment is delegated to authorise the 
future drawdown of funds from this register.  

 
10. GLOBE VIEW WALKWAY - OPENING UP AND ENHANCING THE 

RIVERSIDE WALK  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment, which provided an update on the opening up and enhancing of 
the Riverside Walk. 
 
A Member spoke positively about the project and stated that the walkway was 
safe and enhanced by the good lighting. 
 
RESOLVED - That Members of the Sub-Committee note the conclusions of the 
report and approve the closure of the Globe View Walkway project.  
 

11. EASTERN CITY CLUSTER PHASE 1 (LANDSCAPING)  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Town Clerk and Members were 
asked to formally close the project in respect of the Eastern City Cluster Phase 
1 (landscaping). 
 
RESOLVED - That the project in respect of the Eastern City Cluster Phase 1 
(landscaping) be formally closed. 
 

12. * BANK JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS (ALL CHANGE AT BANK): TRAFFIC 
MIX AND TIMING REVIEW CONCLUSIONS  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment concerning the Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at 
Bank): Traffic Mix and Timing Review Conclusions. 
 
The Chairman stated that this item would be discussed at the upcoming 
Planning and Transportation Committee. 
 
RESOLVED - That Members of the Sub-Committee note the content of the 
report, which concludes the review of traffic and timing mix at Bank Junction.  

Page 12



 
13. * PEDICABS (LONDON) BILL 2024  

The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Remembrancer concerning the 
Pedicabs (London) Bill 2024 which empowered Transport for London (TfL) to 
make regulations concerning pedicabs operating in Greater London.  
 
In response to a Member’s question about timelines, the Officer stated that 
there had not been communications with TfL as there was a strict line on 
correspondence communications in the pre-election period. It was expected 
that TfL would provide an update in the coming months. 
 
The Chairman commented that it was regrettable that the scope of this bill was 
narrow and did not include e-bikes. 
 
RECEIVED. 
 

14. * OUTSTANDING REFERENCES  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Town Clerk concerning 
Outstanding References. The Chairman stated that there would be reports on 
Dockless Vehicles and Bank Junction to the Planning and Transportation 
Committee later in the week.  
 
An Officer confirmed that the reopening of Old Jewry was still scheduled for the 
end of June 2024.  
 
The Chairman requested that Dockless Vehicles and Bank Junction be 
removed from the Outstanding References list. Old Jewry would remain on the 
list. The Chairman also requested an update on Ironmonger Lane.  
 
RECEIVED. 
 

15. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 
COMMITTEE  
A Member asked for an update on the legal advice being sought on using the 
highway for sporting purposes. An Officer stated that the advice was expected 
imminently. Members would then be updated as would the applicant who had 
triggered this and the Destination City team. The Officer added that if an event 
lasted up to three days, it sat within existing legislation. The Officer stated that if 
the advice gave freedom of action, there would be a process for evaluating and 
giving permission and this would depend on the advice of the City Solicitor. 
One of the challenges could be that Officers might not have that delegated 
authority to approve events, which could then require Officers to seek 
delegation from the Sub-Committee or for the Sub-Committee to become an 
approving authority. Work would take place to consider the benefits and 
disbenefits of each request. A Member stated that many of the events were 
being funded by Business Improvement Districts and third-parties and event 
organisers would need sufficient notice to run events in Summer 2024. 
 

Page 13



The Chairman stated that the heat map was a good way to evaluate the impact 
in terms of benefits and disbenefits and meeting Destination City objectives 
could be added into the model. 
 
The Officer stated that once the legal advice had been received and 
considered, Members of the Sub-Committee would be advised of the process 
and way forward. 
 
The Officer confirmed that screens were covered under an existing licensing 
process. 
 
A Member commented on riverside lights which were not working. An Officer 
stated this would be looked into and Officers would try and resolve the power 
issue with Network Rail. 
 

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There was no urgent business to be considered. 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 3.15 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Zoe Lewis 
Zoe.Lewis@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 14



Committee(s): 
Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee 
Planning & Transport Committee 

Dated: 
9 July 2024 

23 July 2024 

Subject: Transport Strategy – Revised Draft and 
Consultation Report 
 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

- Providing excellent services 
- Diverse Engaged 

Communities 
- Dynamic Economic Growth  
- Leading Sustainable 

Environment 
- Vibrant Thriving Destination  
- Flourishing Public Spaces 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much?  

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of: Bob Roberts, Interim Executive Director 
Environment 

For Decision 

Report author: Samantha Tharme, Head of Transport 
Strategy, Environment Department 

 
 

Summary 

This report seeks approval to recommend the revised Transport Strategy to the 
Court of Common Council for adoption at Appendix 3. 
 
The Transport Strategy was adopted in May 2019 and was scheduled to be reviewed 
every three years. The current review period has been extended to autumn 2024, in 
part due to the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic and to allow it to better align with 
the review of the City Plan.  
In April 2021, the Streets and Walkways Sub Committee agreed that the Transport 
Strategy Vision, Aims and Outcomes are still considered relevant and fit for purpose 
and that an update, rather than a wholesale revision of the Transport Strategy was 
appropriate. 
 
A first phase of engagement took place in early 2023, with analysis of any changing 
trends, helping inform changes and revisions to the Strategy. In October 2023, the 
Planning and Transportation Committee approved draft changes to the Strategy for 
consultation. Consultation then took place between November 2023 and January 
2024.  
 
This report sets out the responses received during the consultation period, in 
appendix 2.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



Feedback from that consultation is outlined in this report, concluding that no further 
significant changes to Strategy Outcomes and Proposals are recommended.  
 
The Engagement Plan for the Strategy Review is attached as Appendix 1. This 

provides details of the different stages of engagement during the Strategy Review 

and who has been involved. 

The Commonplace online consultation received responses from over 430 

individuals, across the 13 elements of the consultation (some individuals made more 

than one contribution, totalling over 750 contributions).  

In addition, more than 50 residents and visitors attended the local drop-in sessions. A 

further 26 stakeholders attended the Stakeholder Workshop, eight attended the City 

of London Access Group (CoLAG) workshop, business representatives and interest 

groups provided some very detailed individual comments and 1-1 meetings held. 

Adding these to the Commonplace contributions resulted in total, more than 800 

contributions to the consultation were received.  

13 organisations provide responses to the consultation. 11 of these expressed 
overall support for the focus of the Strategy and supported the changes.  These 
included, City Property Association, City of London Business Improvement Districts, 
Members of the City of London Access Group (CoLAG), St Bartholomew’s Hospital 
and NHS Trust and Transport for London (TfL).  

Most key changes received overall majority support, and for the two that didn’t the 
consultation response was closely split with only 1 or 2 percentage points difference.  
These were the proposal to include new forms of micromobility which is attracting a 
lot of attention and changes to the freight proposal to no longer provide a City 
Corporation funded consolidation centre.  Comments received across all the 
changes are responded to in the Consultation Summary in detail.   

There were general themes, the main positive feedback focused on our ambitions to 
reduce motor traffic, accompanied by endorsement enabling active and sustainable 
travel and movement, with an anticipated reduction in air pollution.  

The majority thought that a strong focus on the prioritisation of people, rather than 

vehicles was also important, together with public realm and safety improvements for 

people who walk/wheel and cycle. Comments were received asking us to go further 

with changes that prioritise people walking and wheeling and not to undermine this 

with responding to minority needs. 

There was support overall for removal of the 15mph mandatory speed limit from the 

Strategy, and agreement that a more targeted approach would be appropriate with 

some streets benefiting from advisory slower speeds to fit the nature and use of the 

streets.  The wording in the Strategy has been updated to reflect the advisory 

targeted approach.    

The most common theme in the negative feedback received was on a perceived 

failure to recognise a practical need for motor transport by some people due to age, 

mobility issues or circumstance, although these were in the minority compared to 

Page 16



those supporting prioritisation of people walking and wheeling. This linked to the 

second theme relating to inequality as a result of restricted motor vehicle access. 

The third most frequent theme was a perceived failure to address inconsiderate and 

dangerous cycling, predominantly from City residents.  

The largely positive response to consultation on the changes in the draft Transport 
Strategy means that no significant changes have been made.  Changes to the 
Transport Strategy are shown as tracked changes in Appendix 3, these include:  
 

• Including further wording to underline our commitment to working with 

TfL and neighbouring boroughs, on designing safer streets that are on or 

just beyond the City boundaries. 

• Updates to promote the use of advanced driver assistance systems 

(ADAS) which includes telematics, intelligent speed assistance (ISA) etc, 

in place of solely ISA.  

• Proposal 21 has been updated to include reference to crime against 

women and girls. 

• Updates to relevant proposal and Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Plan to 

include consideration of mobility scooters in provision of EV charging. 

 
The principles of the proposals will be embedded in future schemes and initiatives 
where some of the broader concerns about accessibility can be addressed on a case 
by case basis.  We recognise that access for some who cannot walk or wheel, needs 
to be possible and will use the EQIA process to ensure essential needs are met.  
 
 

Page 17



 

Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to: 

• Approve the changes to the Transport Strategy  

Main Report 

 

Background 

1. The Transport Strategy was adopted in May 2019 and was scheduled to be 
reviewed every three years. The current review period has been extended to 
2024, in part due to the need to understand the impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic and to allow it to better align with the review of the City Plan.  
 

2. The review has focussed on ensuring that the Strategy remains relevant and 

fit for purpose. This included understanding changes in how people are 

travelling and the pattern of travel post Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

3. The Streets & Walkways Sub Committee agreed in April 2021 that the 

Transport Strategy Vision, Aims and Outcomes are still considered relevant 

and fit for purpose and that an update, rather than a wholesale revision of the 

Transport Strategy is appropriate.  

4. In October 2023, the Planning & Transportation Committee approved draft 

changes to the Strategy for consultation.  

5. The Engagement Plan for the Strategy Review is attached as Appendix 1. 

This provides details of the different stages of engagement and of who has 

been involved. 

Transport Strategy Review consultation, November 2023 to January 2024 

6. Using the Commonplace engagement platform, a seven-week consultation on 

the proposed changes to the Strategy ran from Thursday 16 November 2023 

to Sunday 7 January 2024 (inclusive). The consultation was open to anyone 

(group or individual), whether a resident, business owner, worker or visitor, 

with an interest in the City.  

7. A stakeholder workshop was also held in late November as part of the 

consultation. This was attended by representatives from businesses, interest 

groups, neighbouring London boroughs and Transport for London (TfL).  

8. Drop-in sessions were held in a number of public buildings (the Guildhall, 

libraries etc) throughout November and December 2023. These were 

attended mostly by residents. Officers also attended the City Residents’ 

meeting in the Old Bailey in December 2023.  

Page 18



9. Earlier, pre-consultation engagement included joint workshops with the City 

Plan team, given the relationship between both documents. More details on 

the earlier engagement stages are included in Appendix 1 (Engagement 

Plan). 

10. The Commonplace online consultation received responses from over 430 

individuals, across the 13 elements of the consultation (some individuals 

made more than one contribution, totalling over 750 contributions).  

11. In the workshops and on the Commonplace consultation platform we drew 

attention to the key changes, while also allowing people to review and 

feedback on the detailed changes to proposals. The Commonplace website 

allowed people to access the full draft text and proposed changes and 

comment directly on the changes under each outcome. Free text allowed 

people to provide additional comments.  

12. In some instances respondents commented on proposals in the Strategy with 

no proposed changes.  For completeness, we have included these comments 

in our analysis in the Summary consultation report.  

13. This report summarises the consultation feedback and the response to this, 

with the consultation report provided in Appendix 2. The full final draft of the 

Transport Strategy is provided in Appendix 3. This includes tracked changes 

for any amendments made following the consultation to the draft that was 

approved by the Planning & Transportation Committee in October.  

14. Note that responses received through the Commonplace platform are 

included as percentages with the number of respondents included in brackets. 

Consultation questions the detailed changes tend to receive low response 

rates.  

15.  The sections below cover feedback received on: 

a. the overarching focus of the Strategy 

b. the ‘ proposed changes under each of the ten Outcomes, including 

those highlighted as ‘key changes’ which received the most responses. 

a. Focus of the Strategy  

16. Other than changes to the cycling outcome to include other micromobility 

modes, changes to the overall approach and focus of the Strategy were 

limited. However, we still asked for feedback on the Transport Strategy 

continuing to focus on:   

• Prioritising the needs of people walking and wheeling, make streets 

more accessible and deliver high quality public realm  

• Making the most efficient and effective use of street space by reducing 

motor traffic, including the number of delivery and servicing vehicles  

Page 19



• Ensuring that no one is killed or seriously injured while travelling on our 

streets, including through measures to deliver safer streets and reduce 

speeds  

• Enabling more people to choose to cycle by making conditions for 

cycling in the Square Mile safer and more pleasant  

• Improving air quality and reduce noise, including by encouraging and 

enabling the switch to zero emission capable vehicles. 

17.  58% (198) of consultation respondents agreed that the activity described 

above should remain the focus of the Strategy. 33% (113) of respondents 

disagreed.. 

18. The main positive feedback focused on our ambitions to reduce motor traffic, 

accompanied by endorsement for the ethos of enabling active and sustainable 

travel and movement, with an anticipated reduction in air pollution. A strong 

focus on the prioritisation of people, rather than vehicles was also mentioned, 

together with public realm and safety improvements for people who walk 

and/or cycle (creating a more pleasant, healthy and ‘people-based’ 

environment in which to move through and spend time in). Comments were 

received asking us to go further with changes that prioritise people walking 

and wheeling and not to undermine this with responding to minority needs. 

19. The most significant theme in the negative feedback received was on a 

perceived failure to recognise a practical need for motor transport by some 

people due to age, mobility issues or circumstance. This linked strongly to the 

second theme relating to inequality as a result of restricted motor vehicle 

access. The third most frequent theme was a perceived failure to address 

inconsiderate and dangerous cycling, predominantly from City residents.  

 

b. Feedback on the key changes  

20. This section summarises the feedback received through the Commonplace 

website, responses from organisations and stakeholder workshops.  

Vision and the addition of Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in our approach to 

transport planning and delivery 

21. The online consultation attracted responses from 384 people. More than half 

(53%, 203) agreed with revising the Vision and including Proposal 1b to take 

a more inclusive approach. 108 respondents (28%) disagreed. 

22. The ethos of promoting greater inclusivity through revisions to the Vision 

(Streets that inspire and delight, world class connections and a Square Mile 

that is inclusive and accessible to all) and the new Proposal 1b (Embed 

inclusion in our approach to transport planning and delivery) was welcomed 

by a number of stakeholders who regarded this as an important and forward-

thinking step. It was felt that Proposal 1b showed clear alignment with the 

ambitions and the promotion of equality. 

Page 20



23. Some comments related to concerns that the Transport Strategy’s ambition to 

reduce motor traffic was not achievable or inclusive. Respondents noted 

concerns that street closures and restrictions have negative impacts on 

accessibility (and do not strengthen inclusivity), especially for disabled people 

and those who need motorised access. 

24. Mitigating this impact will be covered in decisions through the EqIA process. 

Whilst recognising there may be negative impact for some people, the overall 

approach to reduce traffic while maintaining access creates a safer, more 

comfortable environment for people moving around and spending time in the 

City, including older and disabled people. 

25. Following detailed comments and engagement, we have updated the 

introductory text for this section with context on:  

• Our Inclusivity Action Plan and how we will develop our understanding of 

inclusivity 

• How Proposal 1b will support corporate Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

(EDI) objectives, the Corporate Plan other City Corporation Strategies 

and Policies 

26. We have updated the wording of Proposal 1b and the Inclusion Principles to: 

• Clarify accountability mechanisms for championing and monitoring 

progress 

• Acknowledge the diversity of our communities and make reference to 

specific personal experiences 

• Take the opportunity to name protected groups where possible, so that 

everyone recognises themselves in our Inclusion Principles and 

ambitions. 

• Simplify the language and use plain English wherever possible  

• Review the language in the Strategy to follow the Social Model of 

Disability 

• Name all protected groups in the Proposal text, and take the opportunity 

to identify benefits to specific groups where appropriate  

• Provide more references to Equity 

• Provide definitions of terms, in a glossary. 

 

Outcome 1: The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk, wheel and 

spend time  

27. For the key change flagged in this Outcome, almost 190 people (60% of 315 

respondents) agreed with the proposal to extend ‘walking’ language to include 

‘walking and wheeling’, 21% (66)  disagreed. On the key change flagged in 

this Outcome, almost 60% (189) of 315 respondents to this question agreed 

with the proposal to extend ‘walking’ language to include ‘walking and 

wheeling’. disagreed.   

Page 21



28. Given the importance of proposals in this outcome to delivering other strategy 

commitments we also asked questions on three key proposals:  

• 65% (30) of respondents  agreed with the proposal to reallocate more 

street space to people walking and wheeling, alongside the improvement 

of pedestrian routes (Proposal 2) 

• Public realm improvements, together with the renewal and rejuvenation 

of spaces proved a particularly popular proposal – welcomed by 75% 

(34) of respondents (Proposal 7) 

• Greening and tree planting – in the context of meeting the Climate Action 

Strategy ambition –received a positive response from 74% (33) of 

respondents (Proposal 8). 

29. Further comments included support for concentrating tree planting and 

greening on streets where needed most for their cooling effect. Comments 

noted that the introduction of greening and small parks provides a significant 

boost to wellbeing.  

30. Most negative comments received challenged the level of priority given to 

walking and wheeling, and expressed concern that there is a continued need 

for motor vehicles to move around city streets.  

31. The priorities set out in the strategy that put those walking and wheeling first 

reflects the fact that these are the main ways that people travel around the 

City. This view, on the whole, was supported by consultation responses. We 

are making no further changes to proposals under this outcome. 

Outcome 2: Street Space is used more efficiently and effectively 

32. In the ‘key changes’ section, we asked for feedback on our approach to road 

user charging in the Strategy, removing the commitment to developing a road 

user charging mechanism specific to the City of London (a local ‘congestion’ 

charge), and instead committing to support the Mayor of London and 

Transport for London on the development of a new London wide charging 

system. 352 people responded to this question.  42% (148) were in 

agreement with the proposed change, compared to 40% (140) against.  

33. Comments included support for a uniform charge across all central London, 

rather than having a separate road user charge in the Square Mile. However, 

some respondents supporting the principle felt that there was a lack of 

certainty regarding the Mayor’s approach. Many of those disagreeing did not 

agree with any form of road user charging.  

34. A collective response from the Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) was 

supportive of the approach to achieve change, including traffic reduction, 

through the Healthy Streets Plan approach, recommending working in 

partnership with them. 

35. Traffic reduction measures are key to delivering the elements of the Strategy, 

including creating more space for walking and wheeling, greening and public 

Page 22



realm improvements. No further changes will be made to the proposals in this 

outcome.  

Outcome 3: The Square Mile is accessible to all 

36. To ensure inclusive engagement on the Strategy we held workshops with 

accessibility groups which elicited a lot of detailed comments.  The majority of 

stakeholders that engaged in the Transport Strategy review acknowledged the 

importance of accessibility for all. Those who supported the changes to the 

Accessibility Outcome included City residents, employees of City businesses, 

members of the City of London Access Group (CoLAG), and the City Property 

Association (CPA).  

37. 25 responses were received through the online consultation, attracting 

support for the proposed changes from 48% (12) respondents, with 40% (10) 

disagreeing. 

38. Respondents, through the CoLAG workshop felt that the Strategy should 

prioritise access for disabled people through slowing traffic, including 

wheelchair buttons on pedestrian crossings and allowing more time for people 

to cross, and providing more places to stop and rest for disabled people. 

Comments also included the importance of improving wayfinding and 

ensuring lifts, escalators and pavements are well maintained. 

39. Representation was made to include electric vehicle charging for mobility 

scooters within our plans, therefore proposal 30 (provision of Electric Vehicle 

infrastructure) has been updated to include wheelchairs / mobility scooters in 

the list of users to be considered in the Electric Vehicle Charging Action Plan. 

40. There were no comments disagreeing with the Proposals within this Outcome, 

but there were comments strongly urging the City Corporation to do more to 

improve accessibility and consider the needs of disabled people. 

 

Outcome 4: People using our streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe 

41. Feedback in the ‘key change’ section, on removing the commitment to 15mph 

as a mandatory speed limit across the Square Mile, received mixed views. 

45% (157) of respondents agreed with this while 39% (136) disagreed. 

42. 191 comments were received that supported removing the commitment to a 

mandatory 15mph speed limit. Themes included that the 15mph limit was too 

slow (61), unnecessary (24) and that 20mph was sufficiently low already (23).  

43. Comments disagreeing with the removal of 15mph speed limit, included 

stating that 15mph limits were necessary for improving safety (91), and further 

that there would be benefits for the environment (9). 

44. A number of comments were made in workshops and through the detailed 

points in consultation responses, that have been addressed in the updates 

described below.  

Page 23



45. We have updated proposal 20 to note that we will explore the introduction of 

lower advisory speed limits on specific streets across the Square Mile where 

they would help support efforts to prioritise people walking and wheeling and 

reduce road danger. This approach will focus on creating low speed 

environments where appropriate, that are self-enforcing.  

46. We have updated proposal 20 to include further wording to underline our 

commitment to working with TfL and neighbouring borough on safer streets 

that are on or just beyond the City boundaries, reflecting that TfL and other 

neighbouring London boroughs have a commitment to Vision Zero. 

47. We have updated proposal 20 to promote the use of advanced driver 

assistance systems (ADAS) which includes telematics, intelligent speed 

assistance (ISA) etc, for our own fleet and suppliers, in place of solely ISA. 

This revision allows more flexibility in the type of system we support and 

promote.  

48. We have updated proposal 21 to include reference to crime against women 

and girls, following representation on the importance of this. 

Outcome 5: Improve the experience of riding cycles and scooters in the City 

49. The proposed change to the cycling Outcome and Proposals to include 

micromobility (e.g. scooters and electric scooters) were included in the ‘key 

change’ section. This change was responded to by 386 people. 35% (135) 

people agreed with inclusion of scooters, their view was countered by 37% 

(143) who disagreed. 

50. Support for this change was received from TfL, City of London BIDs and the 

CPA.  

51. Detailed comments in support of this change were related to the following 

themes: support for the change but request to be more ambitious (21); 

promotes a practical alternative to motor vehicles (16); promoting inclusivity 

(12); and a need to segregate routes (4).  

52. The 143 respondents who did not support the change commented on the 

following themes; danger posed by people riding cycles (52) and scooters 

(91), only providing for a minority group (14); and it representing anti motorist 

policy (12).  

53. Much of the negative feedback was around the relationship between people 

riding scooters and cycles and other street users. We will continue to work on 

providing a network which addresses these issues where possible. Comments 

also reflected a view that tackling anti-social e-bike and scooter parking is 

essential, as well as regulation of scooters in future. 

54. There were a number of comments raising concern on the changes to the 

delivery timetable for the cycle network, some sections of which are being 

implemented later than originally planned.  

Page 24



55. The new programme for delivery of cycle infrastructure is considered to best 

reflect funding available and feasibility to deliver changes within other major 

traffic management schemes. Some sections of routes have been delivered 

earlier than planned through pandemic response schemes being retained. 

There will be no changes to the programme on this basis.  

56. We are committed to working with the City of London Police to address illegal 

behaviour of all street users, particularly where it impacts on road danger for 

others. Many comments also related to poor management of rental e-bikes, 

impacting safety and space. The Strategy already includes lobbying for 

regulation to allow us to manage operators better.  

 

Outcome 6: The Square Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter 

57. The proposal to remove the commitment to local Zero Emission Zones (ZEZ) 

covering parts of the City of London was included in the ‘key change’ section 

of the consultation. A total of 297 people responded, 37% (110) agreed with 

this change, 36% (107) disagreed.  

58. Of those who agreed with the change, a number considered ZEZs a money-

making scheme (15) and that providing a ZEZ in the City was unnecessary 

and unachievable (29).  

59. Other respondents made positive comments (32 in total) that pursuing 

alternatives as now proposed is appropriate.  

60. The combined BIDs response supported the changes to this outcome and 

welcomed the action to engage with SMEs to accelerate the transition to zero 

emission capable vehicles, but also called for an increase to charging 

infrastructure by the City to assist with this aim. London Cycling Campaign 

supported; and TfL noted the progress on reducing nitrogen oxides since the 

introduction of the ULEZ.  

61. Concern was expressed that the reliance on the next generation of road user 

charging to control traffic levels and vehicle related pollution was at risk, as 

this was not a firm commitment from the London Mayor. Concern was also 

expressed about over reliance on electric vehicles.  

62. Respondents had concerns that the removal of the ZEZ proposal failed to 

tackle air pollution and that we should pursue alternatives (63 comments). 

63. Our EV Charging Infrastructure action plan will be updated in 2024 to reflect 

targets to 2030, therefore the future number is likely to increase. The EV 

charging infrastructure plan will also be updated to reflect a consideration of 

charging for larger vehicles, and awareness of innovative approaches where 

possible.  

64. Proposal 30 has been updated to include consideration of mobility scooters in 

provision of EV charging. 

Page 25



Outcome 7: Delivery and servicing needs are met more efficiently, and impacts 

are minimised 

65. Feedback on the change to remove the commitment for the City of London 

Corporation to provide a consolidation centre, was flagged as a ‘key change’. 

25% (84) agreed with this proposed change while 27% (90) disagreed. The 

remainder neither agreed or disagreed. 

66. Respondents, including the Port of London Authority (PLA), CPA and Network 

Rail, expressed support for more goods and services being delivered by cargo 

bike, rail and river. TfL supported the aim to increase the use of cargo bikes 

and encourage freight travel on foot for local deliveries.  

67. Concerns were expressed around reducing our direct commitment to 

providing a consolidation centre, and the slow progress on providing last mile 

logistics hubs.  

68. We are committed to reducing freight traffic on the City’s streets and support 

the use and promotion of consolidated deliveries and consolidation centres. 

However, as consolidation centres are already satisfactorily provided by the 

market, there is no longer a need for the City Corporation to invest or develop 

its own consolidation operation.  

69. We continue to promote and encourage consolidation as set out in the 

Strategy (Proposal 38). This includes encouraging occupiers of existing 

buildings to operate consolidated delivery, and voluntary area-based 

consolidation, being developed in partnership with the BIDs.  

70. No changes will be made to the proposals in this outcome. 

Outcome 8: Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances 

71. Proposals to make streets more resilient received support. 10 of the 18 

respondents agreed with the changes, compared to only three that disagreed. 

Five respondents were neither agreed or disagreed about changes to the 

proposals.  

72. Positive comments included welcoming: 

• the approach of embedding resilience within design 

• the acknowledgement of increasing issues with flooding, particularly in the 

context of continued development of ground space in the City 

• tree planting 

• increased drainage. 

73. The only negative comment was challenging that we were over-prioritising 

climate polices at the expense of transport and other issues such as crime. 

74. No changes will be made to the proposals in this outcome. 

Outcome 9: Emerging technologies benefit the Square Mile 

Page 26



75. Feedback was received on the Proposals and proposed changes within the 

‘Emerging technologies benefit the Square Mile’ Outcome. One of the 

proposals (Proposal 44) is being deleted and merged into the Proposal 43, as 

setting up an active board is a significant commitment and not considered the 

most productive approach to achieving the outcome. 

76. 18 people responded to this online, with nine people and the CPA expressing 

support with the Proposal changes. Five people disagreed with the proposed 

changes.  

77. The CPA expressed support for finding app-based solutions that would allow 

disabled passengers to use taxis in instances where traffic restrictions would 

otherwise prevent access. Comments from the CPA included welcoming and 

utilising future technology, including driverless vehicles for deliveries/freight 

consolidation, whilst recognising the need for effective management of electric 

and driverless vehicles.  

78. Most of the negative comments raised were concerns about how this 

Outcome will manage the challenges, rather than opposition to the proposal.  

79. Reflecting the need for effective management of driverless vehicles, the 

Strategy already states that we will ensure emerging technology will be 

adopted in line with delivering Healthy Streets. We have stipulated a number 

of requirements in proposal 43 to ensure that technology supports and does 

not undermine our core Vision and Aims. 

80. Proposal 43 has been updated to reflect the need to accommodate every 

user where possible, adding those with sensory impairments, to expand the 

definition and attention to different requirements. 

Outcome 10: The Square Mile benefits from better transport connections 

81. Nine respondents agreed with the outlined approach while seven disagreed.  

82. The PLA supported working with TfL and river boat operators to improve or 

intensify passenger services on the Thames. The CPA welcomed the aim to 

prioritise buses and expects this will improve journey reliability for their users.  

83. CoLAG welcomed better transport connections, including river passenger 

transport, but stressed the need for them to be accessible and inclusive. 

CoLAG also noted the importance of bus stops and bus routes to the City, as 

this is the only fully accessible public transport at present. 

84. No changes will be made to the proposals in this outcome. 

Managing Traffic Movement and Access  

85. We are proposing a framework for how we will manage traffic movement and 

access to enable delivery of the Transport Strategy (under Outcome 2: Street 

space is used more efficiently and effectively).  

Page 27



86. 11 people agreed with the approach, but this was exceeded by 13 people who 

disagreed with the approach.  

87. Comments included that it is positive to see a street hierarchy in the Strategy; 

and it is important to prioritise those who walk and those who cycle. 

88. Further comments were received that supported the proposed approach to 

traffic movement and access but encouraged us to go further. These included, 

that it is important to legalise private e-scooters; and that the approach should 

ensure signage clarifies where service vehicle access is allowed. 

89. Negative comments were largely around access for different vehicle classes 

expressing concern that the approach affects access for Blue and Red badge 

holders and for taxis. 

90. The Motorcycle Action Group (MAG) challenged the proposed approach on 

the basis that powered two wheelers were included within general traffic, and 

that they merit different consideration in that ‘licenced PTWs are a part of the 

two wheeled transport continuum from bicycles to e-bikes and e-scooters and 

e-cargo bikes’.  

91. We have updated the different types of traffic on the City’s streets, to include 

an additional category, of L category vehicles, which includes powered two 

wheelers, mopeds, motorbikes. We consider that although vehicles in this 

classification are still private transport, there may be some circumstances 

where we wish to differentiate locally for the purposes of access. 

Corporate & Strategic Implications  

 

92. Delivery of the Transport Strategy supports the delivery of Corporate Plan 

outcomes.  

The Transport Strategy will help contribute to Flourishing Public Spaces and a 

Vibrant Thriving Destination and Provide Excellent Services by: 

• Reducing motor traffic levels to enable space to be reallocated to walking 

and wheeling, cycling, greenery and public spaces 

• Making streets safer and reducing the number of traffic related deaths and 

serious injuries 

• Enabling people to walk, wheel and cycle and reducing the negative health 

impacts of transport 

• Ensuring streets are accessible to all and provide an attractive space for 

the City’s diverse community to come together 

Providing a Leading Sustainable Environment will be supported by actions in the 

Transport Strategy to: 

• Improve air quality and reducing noise from motor traffic 

• Ensure streets are well maintained and resilient to natural and man-made 

threats 

Page 28



Dynamic Economic Growth will be supported by: 

• Enabling the City to continue to grow and accommodating the associated 

increase in demand for our limited street space 

• Helping create a smarter City, that supports and enables innovative 

transport technology and other mobility solutions 

• Advocating for improved local, national and international transport 

connections 

Diverse Engaged Communities will be supported by:  

• Ensuring that the City’s streets and public spaces are places where no one 

is excluded or feels excluded 

• Building trust with local communities through transparency, accountability 

and demonstrating how engagement has developed our processes and 

plans. 

 

93. The Transport Strategy will support and help deliver the objectives of the City 

Plan. Work is in progress on the City Plan review which is being undertaken in 

parallel with work and recommendations to inform the Transport Strategy 

Review.  

94. Delivery of the Transport Strategy also helps mitigate departmental risk ENV-

CO-TR 001 – Road Safety and corporate risk CR21 – Air Quality.  

95. The strategy review has ensured that alignment with other Corporate priorities 

and areas of work is identified and addressed. These include health and 

wellbeing, crime prevention and community safety and air quality. 

96. The Strategy review has also considered how to best support the Destination 

City programme. 

97. The City Corporation is required to demonstrate how it is delivering the 

Mayor's Transport Strategy (MTS), which is done through submission of the 

Local Implementation Plan (LIP). The Transport Strategy forms part of our LIP. 

The vision, aims, outcomes and proposals of the Transport Strategy are in line 

with the MTS.  

Financial implications  

98. We will continue to provide a costed 5-year Delivery Plan. This will be updated 

annually and reported to the Planning & Transportation Committee.  

99. Approval for funding for projects within the Delivery Plan will be sought as 

necessary through the capital bidding process for funds from CIL, OSPR and 

other sources as appropriate.  

100. Data collection, engagement and consultation costs associated with 

the review are funded through local risk budget and TfL - LIP funding.  

Resource implications  

Page 29



101. Staff resource is required to deliver the Transport Strategy the Delivery 

Plan sets out the 5 year commitments for schemes and initiatives, programme 

dates and funding agreed for implementation.  Monitoring of progress and the 

impact of delivery will be reported on an annual basis.  Teams within the 

Environment department are in place to undertake this work.  

Equalities implications  

102. A full EQIA for the review has been carried out, the first stage report 

was included with committee report in October 2023. The second and final 

report is available as a background paper, as listed below. 

103. The EqIA identified that the review of the Strategy had provided an 

opportunity to improve our approach with a broader group of people and to be 

more inclusive; particularly recognising that the new overarching Proposal 1b 

has brought in a number of improvements which are now explicit in the 

Strategy.   

104. The report also noted that as the majority of journeys in the City of 

London involve walking, improving walking routes will significantly benefit 

those travelling with babies and small children, and disabled people or elderly 

people walking or wheeling who may find it difficult to negotiate crowded and 

narrow footways. 

105. It recognised that reducing traffic sets out principles to reduce road 

danger, measures which will beneficially impact older, disabled people, young 

people and BAME groups who are more likely to be victims in traffic collisions 

(average across London rather than the City specifically, as these groups are 

under represented in the City at present). 

106. The EqIA noted a number of positives for disabled people who are 

dependent on motor vehicles including that vehicles used by disabled people 

are recognised in the list of ‘essential traffic’, and that whilst some vehicle 

journeys may become more indirect due to restrictions on through traffic, any 

necessary access will be retained to those streets.  It noted that any 

remaining concerns should be addressed by the commitments to community 

engagement and EQIAs which are undertaken when considering traffic 

restrictions.   

Climate implications  

107. Delivery of the Transport Strategy contributes to carbon reduction 

through reduction in motor vehicle use, a switch away from fossil fuel vehicles 

and to building climate resilience. The review includes changes to support the 

delivery of the adopted Climate Action Strategy, which provides more specific 

actions and targets for delivery since adoption in 2020. 

Security implications  

Page 30



108. As the Transport Strategy is relevant to the management of public 

space and the transport network, security implications are relevant at a 

detailed level and inform decision making at a scheme level. 

Conclusion 

109. The consultation results do not suggest that any significant changes to 

the proposed revisions to the Transport Strategy are necessary.  

110. Levels of support for and numbers of responses to the proposed 

changes varied. However, the survey responses suggest that proposals are 

either supported by most respondents, or that levels of support are largely 

equally split between those that agree or disagree.  

111. This is also reflected in the comments gathered online and through 

direct stakeholder engagement, through workshops and direct responses from 

City organisations, which include both positive and negative feedback.  

112. It is recommended that Members agree the revisions to the Transport 

Strategy (Appendix 3). 

113. The report is due to be considered by Planning & Transportation 

Committee on the 23 July 2024.  

 

Appendices 

• Appendix 1 – Engagement Report 

• Appendix 2 – Summary of Consultation feedback  

• Appendix 3 – Draft Transport Strategy (for approval) 

 

 

Background Papers 

• City of London Transport Strategy 

• Transport Strategy Review - Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee 29 April 
2021. 

• Transport Strategy Review - Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee 8 November 
2022. 

• Transport Strategy Review - Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee 23 May 
2023. 

• Transport Strategy Review – Planning and Transportation Committee 3 
October 2023 

• Transport Strategy Equalities Impact Assessment – City of London 
Corporation May 2024. 

 

Samantha Tharme, Head of Transport Strategy 

Environment Department 

Page 31

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-transport-strategy.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s151137/20210429%20Streets%20Walkways%20Transport%20Strategy%20Review%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s151137/20210429%20Streets%20Walkways%20Transport%20Strategy%20Review%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s177126/20221108%20SW%20transport%20strategy%20review%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s177126/20221108%20SW%20transport%20strategy%20review%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s186012/20230523%20SW%20Transport%20Strategy%20Review%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s186012/20230523%20SW%20Transport%20Strategy%20Review%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=144177
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=144177
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/transportstrategy
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/transportstrategy


T: 07542 228918 

E: Samantha.tharme@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Page 32



City of London Transport Strategy Review 
Engagement Plan  

Department of Environment 

November 2022 – April 2024 

  

Page 33



Contents 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 6 

Stakeholder Groups ................................................................................................... 9 

Engagement activities .............................................................................................. 10 

Inclusion and proportionality of engagement......................................................... 10 

Engagement methods ........................................................................................... 10 

Monitoring and evaluation of engagement ............................................................ 11 

Progress to date ....................................................................................................... 18 

Phase 1:  Preliminary engagement and Strategy development with stakeholders 18 

Focus groups with Engage Communicate and Facilitate .................................. 18 

City Streets Survey ........................................................................................... 21 

Industry professional stakeholder workshop ..................................................... 22 

City Property Association event ........................................................................ 23 

City of London Access Group Workshop .......................................................... 23 

City Plan/ Transport Strategy Workshops ......................................................... 24 

One-to-one meetings ........................................................................................ 25 

Phase 2: Stakeholder consultation on proposed changes to Transport Strategy .. 27 

Commonplace online consultation .................................................................... 27 

Consultation drop-in sessions ........................................................................... 29 

Industry Professionals Stakeholder follow up workshop and one to one meetings

 .......................................................................................................................... 29 

City of London Access Group engagement follow-up workshop ....................... 30 

Accessibility in the City event ............................................................................ 32 

Engagement on Proposal 1b ............................................................................. 32 

Next Steps ................................................................................................................ 33 

Appendix .................................................................................................................. 34 

 

Page 34



Executive Summary 

In the period since November 2022 Streets & Walkways Committee, we have 

undertaken a comprehensive programme of engagement with stakeholders to inform 

the Transport Strategy Review. This report contains the outcomes of the two phases 

of engagement, which influenced the Second Edition of the Transport Strategy, 

2019-2044 , subject to Committee reviews and approvals.  

Phase 1a and Phase 1b 

These phases included, but were not limited to, engagement with transport and 

logistics professionals, neighbouring local authorities, early career representatives, 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion representatives, City businesses, senior and 

executive business leaders, hospitality and retail representatives, schools, residents, 

non-governmental organisations etc.  

The following key themes emerged from a number of workshops, events and one to 

one meetings (some held jointly with the City Plan team): 

• Support for accessibility improvements and inclusive design, for a more 

inclusive City. Recommendations included: 

o engaging with diverse communities to understand their views 

o ensuring all the Transport Strategy proposals supports equality, 

diversity and inclusion 

o ensuring street closures or access restrictions consider the needs of 

disabled people, and those who are reliant on motorised transport 

• Support for more natural, open spaces and public realm, in addition to, 

increasing climate resilience on our streets 

• Support for making the Square Mile a desirable destination  

• Support for more, and improved walking infrastructure including wider 

pavements, priority of crossings and improved wayfinding 

• Support for maintaining access for essential traffic to the Square Mile freight 

deliveries, personal mobility, and safety. 

Between 28 November and 19 December 2022, a public survey of 693 workers, 200 

residents, 39 students, and 49 visitors was undertaken. It contained wide ranging 

questions about participants’ current travel patterns and perceptions of transport in 

Page 35



the Square Mile. Through a combination of telephone interviews, an online panel, 

and face-to-face interviews nearly 1000 responses were recorded.  

981 respondents ranked the following Outcomes as most important: 

• Create streets that are accessible to all 

• Make City streets a great place to walk 

• Make streets safer by reducing traffic collisions and road danger 

Stakeholder feedback was incorporated into the draft changes to the Strategy 

Outcomes and Proposals, which were reviewed by Planning & Transportation 

Committee in October 2023 and approved for public consultation. .  

Phase 2a 

This Phase of engagement included the public consultation on the Proposed 

changes to the Strategy and further engagement on Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in 

our approach to transport planning and delivery.  

Utilising the online engagement platform, Commonplace, stakeholder workshops and 

public drop-in sessions, over 800 contributions from more than 400 participants were 

gathered in the seven-week consultation from 16 November 2023 to 7 January 2024. 

Respondents to the consultation included transport and logistics professionals and 

groups, neighbouring local authorities, early career representatives, Equality, 

Diversity and Inclusion representatives, residents, workers and visitors.  

Corporation officers also hosted an “Accessibility in the City” event in partnership 

with City Belonging and Google to discuss accessibility issues in the City of London 

and gather feedback from businesses and residents. Further targeted engagement 

with the City of London Access Group, City Corporation Diversity Networks and 

interested stakeholders was undertaken up to April to inform Proposal 1b.  

Key findings from the engagement activities highlight strong support for improving 

accessibility, fostering inclusivity, and enhancing the public realm. Specific 

recommendations include better infrastructure for walking and cycling, more natural 

open spaces, and considerations for the needs of disabled individuals in transport 

planning. The public consultation phase, facilitated through various platforms and 

events, demonstrated significant public interest and participation, with many 

Page 36



respondents emphasizing the importance of making City streets safer and more 

accessible. 

Next steps involve incorporating additional feedback, and presenting the revised 

Transport Strategy Outcomes and Proposals to relevant committees, ensuring 

alignment with existing policies and strategies.  

 

 

 

 

                  

  

Page 37



Introduction 

The City of London Transport Strategy, adopted in May 2019, provides a 25-year 

framework for the design and management of the City’s streets, to ensure the 

Square Mile remains a great place to live, work, study, and visit.  

The purpose of the Transport Strategy review is to ensure it continues to reflect the 

priorities of City residents, workers, and businesses, changing circumstances and 

developments in transport technology. The current review period was originally 

scheduled for 2022 but has been extended to 2024 to:  

• Align with the review of the City Plan 2040 

• Allow time for travel and work patterns to settle post Covid-19 

• Allow for further engagement and consultation 

It is proposed that future reviews take place every five years. 

This plan sets out the proposed approach for engaging and consulting with 

stakeholders, including the public, on the review of the Transport Strategy. It is a live 

document that will capture engagement to date and will be revised as work on the 

Transport Strategy Review progresses.  

Alignment with the City Plan  

The Engagement Plan has been developed to ensure that stakeholder engagement 

and consultation for the Transport Strategy Review is aligned with the timescales, 

methods, and audiences of the City Plan 2040.  

The City Plan Review has its own Engagement Plan, which sets out the key steps for 

engaging on the Plan the Statement of Community Involvement and a 

complementary Developer Engagement Guidance document. Whilst the anticipated 

date of adoption of the City Plan is later than that of the Transport Strategy, many of 

the audiences are the same, and the City Plan includes pre-engagement during a 

similar period as the Transport Strategy Review. Opportunities to work together on 

engagement have been taken wherever possible, to minimise meetings and 

consultation fatigue. 

Page 38



Transport Strategy Review Engagement Objectives 

The objectives of this Engagement Plan are to: 

1. Identify and engage key stakeholders to understand their needs and priorities.  

2. Build on existing relationships and establish new ones, noting that they will 

vary significantly according to level of engagement and interest.  

3. Proactively engage unrepresented groups to ensure that the review of the 

Transport Strategy is informed by a wide range of stakeholders and reflects 

the needs of City workers, residents, businesses, students, and visitors. 

4. Build support for the Transport Strategy by clearly setting out the challenges 

for transport in the City of London and involving stakeholders in the 

development of solutions to these challenges. 

5. Keep all stakeholders engaged and informed on the Transport Strategy 

Review at a level that meets their expectations. A clear hierarchy of 

communication between stakeholder groups will ensure that groups closer to 

the project are engaged and kept informed ahead of the wider groups. 

6. Ensure there are no surprises for any stakeholder at any stage through clear 

and regular communication.  

7. Ensure that communication and the engagement approach is transparent and 

inclusive.  

The Engagement Plan outlines how the engagement objectives will be achieved, 

including a programme of engagement throughout the life of the project. It takes into 

consideration recommendations from the Transport Strategy Equality Impacts 

Assessment (EqIA) Version 2.1 to use inclusive language and a wide range of 

engagement methods, and reasonable adjustments to engage with our communities.  

The project team recognises participation itself is a barrier and to mitigate this has 

taken a number of actions including: 

• using accessible venues  

• hosting hybrid workshops  

• offering renumeration for some workshops  

• providing aids or services (reasonable adjustments) at workshops and events 

Page 39



• allocating resources to the solicitation and recruitment process to help 

achieve representation across all protected characteristics 

• offering clear written information and using various communication channels 

and materials – online, hardcopy, large print, presentations  

• offering drop in sessions at local libraries or community centres  

• offering one to one meetings for interested parties who may be uncomfortable 

in workshop settings or prefer to talk in private 

The types of engagement activity will vary according to the stakeholder groups being 

engaged, and the stage of the Strategy Review.  

Please note: This is the fourth version of the Engagement Plan following previous 

iterations in November 2022, May 2023 and September 2023.   

Page 40



Stakeholder Groups 

Stakeholders with similar levels of interest and influence have been grouped 

together to ensure a consistent level of engagement. Stakeholder groups closer to 

the project will be kept informed of project developments sooner, and to a greater 

level of detail than the wider groups (Table 1).  

Table 1: Stakeholder groups and their predicted level of engagement 

Stakeholder 
Group 

Stakeholder Group 
Role 

Group Members (non-exhaustive 
list) 

Decision 
Makers 

Political members 
making decisions on 
the Transport Strategy 
Review 

• Policy and Resources Committee 

• Planning and Transportation 
Committee 

• Streets and Walkways Committee 

Project 
Advice & 
Scrutiny 

Stakeholders central to 
the delivery of the 
project. Responsible for 
project direction. 

• Senior Leadership Board 

• Transport Strategy Board 

• Working Group 

• City Plan Team 

Primary 
Stakeholders 

Stakeholders that have 
a significant influence 
on overall direction. 

• Transport for London  

• Greater London Authority 

• Environment Department  

• City of London Police  

• Neighbouring boroughs 

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

A wider group of 
stakeholders not 
directly involved with 
the project’s direction, 
but influential in specific 
areas. 

• Business Improvement Districts 
(BIDs) 

• Business representative groups 
e.g., Heart of the City, Active City 
Network, City Property Association  

• City of London Access Group 

• City Resident Associations 

• National Health Service (NHS) 

• Trade representative groups, e.g., 
Licensed Taxi Drivers Association  

• Modal & special interest groups 
e.g., London Cycling Campaign, 
Living Streets, Transport for All 

Wider Public 
Engagement 

All other stakeholders. 
Includes the public and 
businesses that are not 
otherwise engaged. 

• City workers 

• City residents 

• City visitors / tourists 

 

 

  

D
e

ta
il 

o
f 
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

In
te

re
s
t 

In
fl
u
e

n
c
e
 

Page 41



Engagement activities 

Inclusion and proportionality of engagement  

In planning and delivering our engagement on the Transport Strategy Review, we 

have sought to involve the full cross-section of the communities that live, work and 

travel within the Square Mile. This document sets the benchmark for public 

engagement and forms the heart of our approach to this work.  

We have sought to develop the deepest understanding of our communities’ 

requirements and have ensured that our engagement and consultation activities 

follow an inclusive approach. This is essential for ensuring our stakeholders feel they 

can engage with us and that people who may currently be underrepresented in the 

City of London, have the opportunity to input into the Strategy Review.  

We have also sought to ensure venues are accessible and chosen to minimise travel 

requirements. Meetings were held at times that did not exclude those who may have 

caring responsibilities. A mixture of virtual and in-person meetings were available.  

Hybrid meetings have ensured that participants attending in-person and online are 

given equal opportunity to contribute. However, it was also imperative that we 

achieved proportionality in our engagement, ensuring that the views and opinions of 

the greatest number of users of the City’s streets i.e., city workers, made up most 

responses in our engagement programme. 

Engagement methods 

Ongoing engagement took place with all stakeholders, with the public engaged at 

key points in the process. The engagement approach included regular meetings with 

internal project steering and working groups to report and discuss project progress. 

Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee has been the main forum for Member 

engagement and reviewed progress, steered the project, and advised officers on the 

review of the Strategy.  

Key engagement activities included: 

1. Updates for Members of the Streets and Walkways Committee and Planning 

and Transportation Committee. 

2. Focus groups to bring together specific groups of stakeholders, some of 

whom could have been underrepresented in the wider survey. This approach 

Page 42



allowed the review to take a more focussed look at transport issues and 

aspects of the emerging strategy.  

3. A public sentiment and behaviour survey to understand perceptions on 

transport and the public realm within the City, and compared this against 

previous engagement activities, to inform ongoing studies and Transport 

Strategy Review. 

4. Presentations and workshops with stakeholder groups through roundtable 

events, as well as, one to ones to communicate updates and gather feedback. 

5. Social media to reach the representative audience when promoting the public 

sentiment and behaviour survey, and wider consultation. 

6. Engagement events, complemented by drop-in sessions, jointly with the City 

Plan team, to allow residents and workers to discuss transport issues directly 

with Officers. 

7. Online consultation tool (website) to engage and consult the wider public.  

The two phases of the Transport Strategy Review are as follows, with stages 1a and 

2a being the two engagement and consultation phases respectively, each followed 

by redrafting and Committee engagement: 

• Phase 1a (Engagement) – Preliminary engagement with stakeholders and 

public (November 2022 to July 2023) 

• Phase 1b – Transport Strategy drafting following pre-engagement and 

informed by Committee Review and approval (April 2023 to November 2023) 

• Phase 2a (Consultation) – Stakeholder consultation on proposed changes to 

Transport Strategy (November to January 2023) 

• Phase 2b – Transport Strategy final amendments, Committee review and 

approvals and Strategy adoption (February to October 2024) 

Monitoring and evaluation of engagement 

As part of the Transport Strategy engagement activity we evaluated: 

1. Reach – what did the stakeholders see, for example media and social 

media coverage, events attended, direct contact etc.  

Page 43



2. Engagement / Consultation – how did the stakeholders get involved, for 

example: Partnerships, endorsements, visits to websites, sharing content 

etc. 

3. Actions – commitments made in response to points raised through the 

surveys and focus groups. 

A detailed outline of the engagement is presented in Table 2 below, with the 

engagement activity at each phase of the Review. Further information on the 

outcomes of the Transport Strategy Engagement can be found in the Progress to 

Date section.  

Page 44



Table 2: Detailed engagement activity and target groups 

Activity Type and date of events Target groups 

Committee updates:  

Updated members central to 
the delivery of the project.  

Approvals for consultation 
activity and changes to 
Transport Strategy 

Phase 1 and Phase 2 engagement 

Streets & Walkways sub- committee – 8 November 2022 

Streets & Walkways sub-committee – 23 May 2023 

Streets & Walkways sub-committee – 9 July 2024 

Planning & Transportation Committee – 7 March 2023 (City Plan 
approval for consultation) 

Planning & Transportation Committee – 3 October 2023 

Planning & Transportation Committee – 23 July 2024 

Policy and Resources Committee – 26 September 2024 

Court of Common Council – 10 October 2024 

Decision makers 

Focus groups and roundtable 
workshops:  

Bringing stakeholders together 
to explore themes for 
discussion.  

Workshops provided an 
opportunity to gather feedback 
and allow stakeholders to hear 
from each other. 

Phase 1 Preliminary engagement 

Transport Strategy only workshops in November – August 2023.  

• 12 specific focus group and round table workshops invited 
over 200 business and industry leaders, Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion Network Leads, City of London Business 
Improvement Districts (BIDs), Active City Network (ACN) 
Board members, City of London Access Group (CoLAG) 
members and the Secondary schools (City of London school 
and City of London School for Girls) to take part in 
preliminary engagement.  

City Plan and Transport Strategy workshops invited residents, 
businesses, students and university professionals to take part in:  

Topic-based Workshops in June – August 2023 

• Building a Healthy and Inclusive City  

Primary 
Stakeholders 

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

P
age 45



• Building in Culture (Destination City)  

• Retrofitting and Building a Sustainable Future  

Area-based Workshops in June – September 2023 

• Fleet Street & Ludgate 

• Smithfield & Barbican 

• Thames Riverside, Pool of London, and Blackfriars  

• City Cluster and Liverpool Street  

• Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken 
 

Phase 2 Consultation 

Follow-up workshops were held with Industry professional 
stakeholders, CoLAG members and the ACN board.  

“Accessibility in the City” event on the 7 Dec 2023 delivered in 
partnership with Google, City Belonging and Framestore invited 
City Business to learn and discuss Accessibility barriers in the City 
of London, communicated the proposed changes to the 
Accessibility outcome of the Transport Strategy Review and gave 
participants the opportunity to feedback to officers on Proposals 
and Outcomes changes.  

Survey:  

Representative surveys to 
understand perceptions of 
travel, transport and public 
realm and the approach being 
taken to review the Transport 
Strategy.  

Phase 1 Preliminary engagement 

SYSTRA public sentiment, behaviour and perceptions survey 
undertaken 28 November - 19 December 2022 targeting workers, 
residents and visitors to the City of London 

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

Wider Public 
Engagement 

Briefings and one to ones:  Phase 1 and Phase 2 engagement 

One to one meetings were held with stakeholders during both 
phases of engagement / consultation. 

Project Advice & 
Scrutiny Actively 
Interested  

P
age 46



Updated stakeholders central 
to the delivery of the project 
and project direction.  

Attended scheduled events 
such as resident and special 
interest group meetings.  

Meetings and workshop with 
other departments or teams on 
relevant overlap of strategies 
needing connection or 
partnership working. 

Examples of one to ones include: 

• Motorcycle Action Group (MAG) in November 2022 and 
December 2023 

• London Cycling Campaign (LCC) in January 2023 

• Transport for All in April 2023 

• Port of London Authority (PLA) in April 2023 

• London Councils in April 2023 

• City Bridge Foundation in January 2024 

• London E-scooter trial operational board January 2024 

One to one meetings invited stakeholder to submit consultation 
feedback on Proposals via email. More than eight organisations 
including the BIDs, the City Property Association and Transport for 
London responded to the Transport Strategy in this way.    

City Corporation Diversity Networks and Divisions with relevant 
overlap of Strategies were engaged on Proposal 1b: Embed 
inclusion in our approach to transport planning and delivery 
between December and April 2024.  

Wider Public 
Engagement 

Drop-in sessions: 

Viewing documents or 
speaking to officers in Guildhall 
were made possible during the 
consultation phase.  

These drop-in sessions were 
held jointly with City Plan team 
and were for residents and 
members. 

Phase 2 Consultation 

12 locally hosted face-to-face drop-in sessions were held 
throughout November and December 2023. Furthermore, City 
Corporation officers also joined residents City Question Time and 
hosted an Accessibility event, which gave participants to give 
further opportunity for interested parties to gather information, pose 
questions and give feedback.  

Barbican Library - Silk St, Barbican, EC2Y 8DS 

• Monday 13 November 11am-2pm 
• Tuesday 14 November 5pm-7pm 
• Saturday 25 November 11am-2pm 

Artizan Library Community Centre - 1 Artizan St, E1 7AF 

Primary 
Stakeholders 
Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

Wider Public 
Engagement 

P
age 47



• Monday 20 November 5pm-7pm 
• Tuesday 21 November 11am-2pm 

Shoe Lane Library - Hill House, 1 Little New St, EC4A 3JR 

• Tuesday 14 November 4.30pm-6.30pm 
• Wednesday 22 November 11am-2pm 

London Centre - 3 Aldermanbury, EC2V 7HH 

• Thursday 23 November 1pm-5pm 
• Tuesday 28 November 11am-2pm 

Guildhall - North Wing, EC2V 7HH  

• Tuesday 5 December 11am-2pm 
• Thursday 7 December 11am-2pm 
• Tuesday 12 December 8am-6pm 

City Question time - Old Bailey, EC4M 7AN  

• Tuesday 14 December  

Accessibility in the City - 28 Chancery Lane, WC2A 1LB 

• Thursday 7 December, 8.30am-10am 

Online engagement:  

Use of website and newsletters 
to reach as wide an audience 
as possible during Phase 2a 
for consultation.  

Phase 1 Preliminary engagement 

City Plan / Transport Strategy Workshops were advertised on the 
City Corporation website, City Plan commonplace website, City 
Corporation e-shot and Fleet Street Newsletter in May. 

Phase 2 consultation 

Transport Strategy consultation took a similar approach and the 
online consultation and drop-in sessions were advertised on:  

• Commonplace website  

• City Corporation website  

• City Corporation CoLNET (Internal)  

• City Estates Newsletters 

Primary 
Stakeholders 

Actively 
Interested 

Wider Public 
Engagement 

P
age 48



• City Resident Newsletter 

• Dragon Café in the City Newsletter 

Posters were placed in Local Libraries.   

Social Media and Press:  
Presence on all relevant City 
social media platforms.  

Promoted content will target 
City workers and residents.  

Stakeholder organisations will 
also be encouraged to promote 
engagement activities to widen 
reach 

Social media was used throughout both Phases, to advertise and 
raise awareness of the opportunity to engage and feed in views as 
required. 

Phase 1 Preliminary engagement 

ECF workshops were advertised on Social Media Platforms, such 
as LinkedIn, Eventbrite and Facebook. 

City Plan / Transport Strategy workshops were advertised on 
LinkedIn, Twitter, Facebook, and Eventbrite. Further publicity and 
press releases through City Resident in May 2023, City AM, City 
Matters 

Phase 2 consultation 

Transport Strategy consultation, drop-ins and workshops were 
advertised on City Corporation LinkedIn, with further publicity in 
City Matters published Nov 2023.  

The consultation was further advertised on the Commonplace 
website and a social media campaign was run on the following 
channels including: Facebook and Instagram.  

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

Public 

P
age 49



Progress to date  

The following section summarises the engagement activity that has taken place over the 

Transport Strategy Review.  

Phase 1:  Preliminary engagement and Strategy development with 
stakeholders  

This section covers the preliminary engagement with stakeholders and public took place 

between November 2022 to July 2023 (Phase 1a). Followed by engagement on the 

“proposed changes” to Outcomes and Proposals within Transport Strategy between 

April 2023 and November 2023 (Phase 1b).  

Various engagement methods including stakeholder workshops, public drop-in 

sessions, surveys etc, were used to gather feedback from a wide and demographically 

diverse variety of workers, commuters, visitors, stakeholders, residents and others. 

Focus groups with Engage Communicate and Facilitate 

A two-stage focus group programme with Engage Communicate and Facilitate (ECF) 

sought to gather in depth feedback from stakeholder groups. The first stage included 

three focus groups, which were held during November 2022, themed by the different 

groups of representatives that were invited:  

1. Young and early career network representatives 

2. Professional and workplace Diversity Network representatives  

3. Representatives from City businesses  

These focus groups involved representatives from equality and diversity networks within 

the business community, including disabled people and other people with protected 

characteristics as defined in the 2010 Equalities Act. Representatives from business in 

the City including senior business representatives and Chairs / Directors of relevant 

business groups, and finally young people.  

Topic discussions included existing challenges to travelling around the Square Mile, 

safety, attractiveness, accessibility and inclusivity, and opportunities to improve 

travelling in the City. Key discussion outcomes included: 

Page 50



• Participants would like to see more open spaces for people to enjoy during 

breaks at work.  

• The need for more step free access was noted, including on narrow streets and 

in many Underground stations.  

• Attendees highlighted that poorly lit streets reduce the visibility of traffic and 

oncoming vehicles.  

• The timing of traffic lights is insufficient for all to safely cross.  

• Some participants stated that prolonged periods of construction around the 

Square Mile made the surroundings look unattractive and blocked pavements. 

Key discussion outcomes from the session identifying opportunities to improve travelling 

around the City included: 

• Create streets that are accessible to all - making it clearer where dropped kerbs 

are, ensuring pavements are not blocked by parked vehicles, improved ramp, 

and hand-rail access and to ensure pavements are non-slip. 

• Better, more accessible communication with communities – information to be 

more accessible and more readily available to users, including traffic updates, 

diversions, and locations of accessible infrastructure. 

• More cycle infrastructure to ensure people of all abilities feel safe to cycle. 

• Better public realm - additional planters or other street furniture 

• Better freight management - designated loading bays in the vicinity of businesses 

that have regular on-site deliveries.  

The second phase of engagement took place from March to May 2023 and consisted of 

the following activities, each with targeted outreach, methodologies, and prompts:  

1. Targeted focus groups with Senior and Executive Business Leaders and Early 

Careers Professionals. 

2. One-to-one interviews with Disability, Equality and Inclusion representatives, 

hospitality representatives and retail representatives. 

3. Dedicated school workshops with the City of London School and the City of 

London School for Girls. 

Page 51



Specifically, activities addressed the engagement gap with Accessibility and Inclusivity 

Group representatives from the first round of engagement and engagement with people 

aged 18 - 35. The following key themes emerged:  

• Support for increasing accessibility, inclusive design, and more inclusive 

communication. Recommendations included:  

• using simplified language and definitions in the Transport Strategy  

• engaging with diverse communities to understand their views  

• raising awareness of transport users with disabilities, whether visible or 

invisible and how to support other transport users, 

• ensuring dockless bikes and e-scooters do not continue to render 

pavements and streets inaccessible, 

• ensuring taxi vehicles continue to be allowed access to the Square 

Mile for circulation, mobility, and safety reasons. 

• requests for greater wayfinding and signage within the Square Mile.  

• Support for enhanced safety through brighter streetlights and better night-time 

visibility in certain areas, specifically around the Barbican. Concerns were 

raised that the City Corporation's performance in achieving the safety and 

Vision Zero Outcome was not satisfactory.  

• Support to make the Square Mile more desirable and a destination for workers, 

students, and visitors, including maintaining a ‘city buzz’ and more spaces for 

unstructured and free socialising. 

• Concern that the Square Mile is an attractive location for business, however, a 

reduced service on key public transport routes, especially buses and trains, 

risks threatening this. Furthermore, a lack of bus prioritisation on Square Mile 

streets means it is a slow mode of travel and subsequently deters users.  

• Support for increased use of the Thames for travel and freight, with a caveat 

that this should be a regulated and affordable way to travel.  

• Requests for an integrated, central information hub that highlights key 

information on network changes and accessible/inclusive methods of travel. 

Suggestion to partner with Ewan’s Guide to aid this effort.  

Page 52



City Streets Survey  

Between 28 November and 19 December 2022, a public survey of workers, residents, 

students, and visitors was undertaken to understand perceptions on transport and the 

public realm. 

It contained wide ranging questions about participant’s current travel patterns and 

perceptions of transport in the Square Mile through a combination of telephone 

interviews, an online panel, and face-to-face interviews. 

It had 981 respondents was made up of: 

• 693 workers. 

• 49 visitors. 

• 200 residents (representative by age and gender); and 

• 39 students. 

The outcomes ranked as most important overall were: 

• Create streets that are accessible to all, 

• Make City streets a great place to walk; and 

• Make streets safer by reducing traffic collisions and road danger. 

Overall, perceptions of transport and the walking environment within the City of London 

were positive. Most respondents found travelling to/from and around the City easy, with 

older respondents tending to find this more difficult than younger respondents. 

Nearly half of respondents stated that they do not experience any barriers or challenges 

when travelling to, from or around the City. The most common barriers or challenges 

identified by respondents were: 

• Congestion on the road network, 

• Impacts of strikes, 

• Delays/cancellations to public transport; and 

• Crowding on public transport and streets. 

Despite this, respondents were positive about the walking environment in the City, with 

around three quarters agreeing that: 

Page 53



• The walking environment in the City is pleasant, 

• City streets are well-lit at night; and 

• It is easy to cross the street in the City. 

There were concerns expressed about air quality in the City, with around two in five 

respondents perceiving the air in the City to be unclean - the most disagreed with of all 

the positive statements listed in the survey.  

70% of respondents felt that the outcomes were important or very important. The only 

exception was around the outcome to enable more people to cycle, which was the 

outcome that fewest respondents stated was important or very important. 

Industry professional stakeholder workshop 

On 19 January 2023, 30 people from 28 different organisations ranging from industry 

professionals, campaigners, transport representative groups and public sector bodies 

came together to discuss the review of the Transport Strategy. 

Discussion focused on the most significant changes since the publication of the 2019 

Strategy and key asks for the update to the Strategy. There was broad agreement from 

the attendees that the headlines and strategic direction of the Transport Strategy are 

still relevant and fit for purpose over the period of the Strategy. 

Key themes of discussion included the:  

• Importance of sustainable last mile freight deliveries,  

• Importance of a robust and effective freight and servicing strategy 

• Need for appropriate management of the kerbside to support the outcomes of the 

Transport Strategy 

• Benefits of collaboration between central London highway authorities,  

• Priority to improve accessibility of the City’s streets. 

• Continued commitment to deliver Vision Zero and improve air quality in the 

Square Mile 

  

Page 54



City Property Association event 

On 28 February 2023, the Transport Strategy Review was presented to a breakfast 

briefing event of the City Property Association. The event was attended by over 100 

attendees from developers, planning consultants and industry professionals. Survey of 

City residents and workers 

Between October and December 2022, a polling organisation conducted a survey of 

City residents and workers, asking a wide range of questions relating to life in the 

Square Mile. A number of these related to transport and the findings are summarised 

below. 

• In the results of the poll, ‘good transport links was the highest rated attribute of 

the City, with 81% of residents and 77% of residents who also work in the City 

strongly agreeing that the City has good transport connections. 

• Around nine out of 10 would strongly or somewhat agree that the City is safe, 

clean, visually attractive, has good transport connections, enjoyable to walk 

around. 

• The number one comment with regards to good things about living in the City 

was ‘transport links,’ with 32% of residents stating this. 

• As with residents, good transport connections are the highest rated attribute 

among workers, with seven in ten stating they strongly agree. 

City of London Access Group workshop 

A workshop was held on 27 June 2023 to offer City of London Access Group (CoLAG) 

members the opportunity to feed into the Strategy Review. Participants made 

suggestions on how the City Corporation could improve accessibility and inclusion. 

These included:  

• Ensuring we use inclusive design and engage with our communities early to 

ensure meaningful change can happen.  

• Integrating inclusivity into other strategic transport outcomes, rather than 

regarding it as a separate outcome, which is an approach bound to fail in terms 

of delivering accessibility and inclusion. 

Page 55



• Improving disability awareness and understanding that the requirements of 

different groups of disabled people vary and can at times be contradictory. It was 

felt that often when people think about access, and particularly physical access 

from a mobility perspective, people often think you can either walk or use a 

wheelchair. CoLAG members felt it was important for Officers to recognise that 

some people can only walk 10 to 15 steps without experiencing severe 

breathlessness or discomfort. So having transport to the doorway of your 

destination is often essential and it is important that this is not overlooked when 

delivering the objectives of the Transport Strategy. 

• Street closures or access restrictions need to be flexible and consider the needs 

of disabled people, people with fluctuating health conditions, and people who are 

reliant on motorised transport (who may be disabled or neurodivergent).  

• It was noted that only one third of London's tube stations are accessible with step 

free access. Underground stations in the City are not all accessible and the City 

Corporation needs to work more closely with Transport for London to ensure this 

is improved.  

Concerns were raised that policy aspirations and regulations aimed at reducing air 

pollution to improve health and to improve the environment were frequently counter 

intuitive, because they do not take into consideration the unintended health and safety 

consequences on disabled people. These discussions focused on improving 

engagement and monitoring, coordinating internal processes, reviewing policies in line 

with the Equality Act 2010 and making the City’s streets more accessible. 

City Plan/ Transport Strategy workshops 

During the summer of 2023, public engagement was undertaken to inform the 

development of the City Plan 2040 and the Transport Strategy Review.  

Ten public events were held, split between those covering specific themes and those 

related to the City’s seven Key Areas of Change. Below are some key themes that 

emerged relevant to the Transport Strategy: 

• Support for more, and better infrastructure for people walking, using mobility aids 

and pushchairs/buggies. Suggestions were made to increase pavement widths, 

Page 56



improve wayfinding and crossings, ensure lifts are in working order, ensure 

dropped kerbs are present and that pavements are continuous and not 

obstructed.  

• Support for more, and better cycle routes and cycle parking infrastructure. In 

addition to support for encouraging businesses to switch from motor vehicle 

deliveries to cleaner modes/cargo bikes. 

• There was support for more natural, open spaces and public realm to relax and 

rest with requests for additional amenities including toilets, benches, drinking 

water and childcare facilities. Urban Greening and increasing climate resilience 

on our streets and in our public spaces was also discussed. Suggestions 

included introducing more diverse forms of planting and landscaping, providing 

more seating areas and dwelling spaces, and promoting the existing open 

spaces and parks, routes and events happening in the City (and improve 

connectivity between them). 

• Discussions were held on using closure of streets to make public spaces and 

buildings more welcoming. Suggestions included removing cars from Cheapside 

with attendees noting that the City’s relationship between cars and people is 

much better than it used to be. There were also expressions of interest for Bank 

Junction to be similar to Time Square.  

• There was support for improving transport connections to the City. Attendees 

discussed Elizabeth line and made suggestions to improve nighttime transport.  

• Support to improve safety and help people feel safe, including improving lighting, 

upgrading alleyways, activating the ground floor of buildings and hosting events 

and installations. 

All the outcomes of engagement for the public events and the Commonplace 

engagement platform were reported to Planning and Transportation Committee by the 

City Plan team in November 2023. 

One-to-one meetings  

Several one-to-one meetings with stakeholders have also been held, including with 

Transport for London, the Port of London Authority (PLA), Transport for All, London 

Page 57



Cycling Campaign, Living Streets, City Bridge Foundation, Heart of the City, London 

Councils, and the Motorcycle Action Group (MAG).  

Each of these stakeholders has provided detailed input specific to their area of expertise 

which has contributed to the ongoing development of the Transport Strategy.  

Stakeholders who sent responses to the Phase 2 consultation via email included: 

CoLAG members, the City of London BIDs (including EC BID, Culture Mile, Aldgate and 

Fleet Street Quarter), City Property Association, London Cycling Campaign, Port of 

London Authority, UK Coach Operators Association, London Borough of Islington, 

Transport for London, as well as members of the public.   

  

Page 58



Phase 2: Stakeholder consultation on proposed changes to Transport 
Strategy  

This section covers the outcomes of the public consultation and further engagement on 

Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in our approach to transport planning and delivery (Phase 

1a).  

Utilising the online Commonplace engagement platform, stakeholder workshops and 

public drop-in sessions, over 800 contributions from more than 400 participants were 

gathered. These participants included a wide and demographically diverse variety of 

industry professional stakeholders, workers, residents and others.  

Commonplace online consultation   

A seven-week online consultation on the recommended changes to the Transport 

Strategy Outcomes and Proposals ran from Thursday 16 November 2023 to Sunday 7 

January 2024. The consultation invited anyone (group or individual), whether a resident, 

business owner, worker or visitor, with an interest in the area to view and comment on 

the recommended changes. With the choice of providing comments by responding to 

the questions asked, and/or leaving comments as necessary. 

The consultation received responses from over 433 individuals, across the 13 separate 

surveys (some individuals made more than one contribution). The ‘Key Changes’ 

section received the most responses, with the following topics providing the most 

popular responses:  

• revising the Vision and including a new Proposal (Proposal 1b) to take a more 

inclusive approach section received 384 responses,  

• proposed changes to the Cycling section received 386 responses,  

• and proposed changes to the Road User Charging section received 352 

responses 

The changes to the Resilience outcome (18 responses), Innovation benefiting the 

Square Mile (18 responses) and Delivering the Strategy sections (17 responses) 

received the lowest number of responses. 

Page 59



The main positive feedback focused on reducing motor traffic, accompanied by 

endorsement for the ethos of enabling active / sustainable travel and movement, with an 

anticipated reduction in air pollution.  A real focus/prioritisation on people, rather than 

vehicles, together with public realm and safety improvements for people who walk and/or 

cycle (creating a more pleasant, healthy and ‘people-based’ environment in which to 

move through and spend time in) were also mentioned.    

Respondents noted a perceived failure to recognise a practical need for motor transport 

by some people due to age, mobility issues or circumstance.  This linked strongly to the 

second theme of inequality as a result of restricted motor vehicle access. Responses   

highlighting a perceived failure to tackle dangerous behaviour by people cycling, were 

received predominantly from City residents.   

In terms of demographics of respondents, the majority of consultation participants (61%) 

described themselves as a man.  27% described themselves as a woman, 7% preferred 

not to say and 5% identified as non-binary or another gender. The highest proportion of 

respondents were aged 55-64 (24%), followed by 45-54 (21%) and 65-74 (20%). 23% of 

consultation participants indicated a limitation of their day-to-day activities due to a 

physical or mental health condition or disability. Resident postcodes included SE (16%), 

N1 (11%) and EC (10%), with an income of over £100,000 the most common response 

for the household’s approximate annual income. It is noted that these socioeconomic 

circumstances are not reflective of London as a whole and demonstrates that the kind of 

individuals that engaged with the consultation or have a vested interest in the City may 

not reflect all that visit or travel through it. Leisure visitors (54%), workers (32%) and 

business visitors (26%) were the three main connection types to the area. 

Two social media campaigns on Facebook & Instagram were supported by 
Commonplace. The results are shown in  

Table 3 and describe the following: 

• Impressions: indicate the number of times your content is displayed.  

• Landing Page Visits: indicate the number of people who visited the 

Commonplace website. 

Page 60



• Contributions: indicates the number of comments made on Commonplace 

website, as a result of the social media campaign.  

Table 3: Commonplace social media campaign results 

Social Media 
Campaigns 

Impressions Landing Page Visits Contributions 

28 November to the 
11 December 

1033075 7895 90  

 

2 January to 
7January 

208000 1838 32  

 

Consultation drop-in sessions  

12 locally hosted face-to-face drop-in sessions were held throughout November and 

December 2023 to engage residents, employees, students and visitors in the 

consultation. Drop-in sessions took place at the City of London Libraries, The City 

Centre and the Guildhall.  

The timings and dates were chosen to coincide with other events, for example:  

• Barbican Library consultation drop in on Saturday 25 November took place to 

coincide with “Rhyme Time” to try and engage with carers and parents.  

• Shoe Lane Library consultation time on 22 November took place to coincide 

with “Rhyme time” and “Dragon Café in the City”. 

City Corporation officers also joined “City Question Time” (230 people registered) to 

engage with residents.  

Feedback from drop-in sessions was collated and used to supplement the 

Commonplace online consultation data.  

A Transport Strategy Review Consultation Report will be presented to Streets & 

Walkways sub-committee on the 14 of May and Planning & Transportation Committee on 

the 16 May 2024.   

Industry professional stakeholder follow-up workshop and one-to-one meetings    

Page 61



To collect feedback from a wide range of stakeholders – including those in the logistics 

industry, transport associations and professionals, a hybrid online/in-person workshop 

was held in late November 2023.  

The workshop was attended by 26 representatives and Officers updated attendees on 

the progress made in reviewing the Strategy since the previous stakeholder 

engagement session in January 2023, giving them the opportunity to feed back the 

proposed changes. A further plenary session explored the views of attendees on 

Strategy delivery.  

Feedback from drop-in sessions was collated and used to supplement the 

Commonplace online consultation data.  

City of London Access Group follow-up workshops 

Workshop was held to facilitate the consultation with CoLAG members on 16 November 

2023 and gather feedback on changes to proposals. During the session, the proposed 

changes to the Transport Strategy were presented by City Corporation, whilst Transport 

for All facilitated and gathered feedback: 

• It was agreed that the addition of the inclusivity proposal, Proposal 1b was a 

positive change. Members noted that that equity is mentioned and that this is 

very positive. They also welcomed proposals to improve disability awareness and 

an understanding that the requirements of different groups of disabled people 

vary and can at times be contradictory. Members stressed the importance of 

provide different options as people have different accessibility requirements and 

communication preferences for engagement. Members also touched on the  

importance of collecting qualitative data and reporting back to engaged 

stakeholders on results and monitoring.   

• It was noted that the Strategy needs a more consistent use of language reflecting 

the social model of disability, i.e. “disabled people” instead of “people with 

disabilities”. 

• Members requested further investigation into the use of Walking and Wheeling 

needed to be carried out before adoption. 

Page 62



• Noted that electric scooters are dangerous, frequently used on pavements, and 

cause obstruction. 

• Concerns were raised around the Strategy’s policy aspirations and the practical 

implementation of proposals.  

CoLAG were further engaged on Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in our approach to 

transport planning and delivery at a workshop on the 19 January 2024.  

• Members highlighted support for several aspects of the proposal, including: 

o  the idea of inclusion as a shared responsibility between the public and the 

City Corporation.  

o more robust and transparent Equality Impact Assessments (EQIAs) 

o additional training and improving disability awareness 

o having regard to the fact that equity is not the same as equality and that 

our approach will work aim to provide additional support to those who 

need it most 

o CoLSAT (City of London Street Accessibility Tool) and encouraging more 

people to use it 

o Adopting the social model of disability in language (e.g. disabled people, 

not people with disabilities) 

• Members requested the City appoint an accountable officer for inclusion and/or 

accessibility to act as a main point of contact to champion accessibility and deal 

with related issues when they arise.  

• Members noted transparency and accountability are both key to the delivery of 

the strategy and expressed support for ensuring there are appropriate 

communication channels with the right officers at the City Corporation.  

• Members requested the Strategy focus on removing more than just physical 

barriers to inclusivity and accessibility (e.g. socio-economic barriers and 

perceptions).  

• Members requested the Strategy to do more to influence better behaviours and 

support the City of London Police to improve safety and the feeling of safety.  

Page 63



• Members expressed a desire for an “operational plan” that would outline how 

compliance and monitoring of actions within this proposal are tracked and 

reported 

  

Page 64



Accessibility in the City event   

Accessibility in the City event on the 7 Dec 2023, held in Partnership with Google, City 

Belonging, Framestore, Fieldfisher and others invited City Business to learn and discuss 

Accessibility barriers in the City, the proposed changes to the Transport Strategy and 

feedback to Officers on changes to the Strategy Proposals and Outcomes. 

70 people from around 50 organisations registered to attend the event and main themes 

from the event highlighted the need to:  

• promote a culture of inclusivity at work and in our policies 

• continue to work together to improve street, transport and workplace  

accessibility to encourage behaviour change and equitable access to all 

• encourage community participation and engagement 

Further engagement on Proposal 1b 

Internal City Corporation Divisions, Sections and Diversity Networks were engaged to 

review Proposal 1 in January and February 2024. Our Equal Opportunities Statement 

notes that “The City Corporation’s vision is to build and support strong, sustainable and 

cohesive communities by ensuring our policies, processes and employment are 

inclusive”. Thus it was important to engage with the Networks and Divisions where there 

was evident overlap of Equality Diversity and Inclusion ambitions and strategies.  

Feedback was received from Chairs of the following: 

• the Young Employees Network,   

• the Carers and Parents Network,   

• the City of London Ethnicity & Race Network,   

• the Multi-Faith Staff Network,  

• the Women’s Inclusive Network,   

• the City Pride Network,  

• and the Social Mobility Network, 

• Equality Diversity and Inclusion Team,  

• City Plan Team, 

• Transportation and Public Realm Team,  

Page 65



All were supportive of the Proposal and its ambitions and noted the importance to align 

the Proposal with existing policies or strategies for coherence, identifying how inclusivity 

goals will be achieved, showing a holistic approach across the City Corporation. 

Network Chairs noted a lack of “representation” of certain groups in our wording in this 

Proposal and though the original Strategy. There is strong support for the addition of 

more (clearly defined) protected characteristics groups. 

Next Steps 

Stakeholder engagement and feedback has been incorporated in the final draft changes 

to the Transport Strategy Outcomes and Proposals. These changes will be presented to 

the Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee and Planning & Transportation Committee in 

July 2024. 

We will work with our partners and stakeholders to inform any further changes resulting 

from our Committees.  

The Equality Impact Assessment will be reviewed in line with the proposed changes to 

the Strategy resulting from the public consultation in line with the Public Sector Equality 

Duty (PSED) and the Equality Act 2010  

  

Page 66



Appendix 

Appendix 1: Engagement phases and main tasks 

Appendix 2: List of stakeholders engaged in the Transport Strategy from 2022 to 

February 2024 

  

Page 67



Appendix 1: Engagement phases and main tasks 

Startup phase 

Purpose Activity/Deliverables 
Stakeholder 
Group 

Dates 

Transport 
Strategy 

City 
Plan 

To identify stakeholders 
with an interest in the 
transport strategy and 
ensure appropriate levels 
of engagement 

Stakeholder identification and 
categorisation 

Project Advice 
and Scrutiny 
Group (see table 1 
above) 

 

September / 
October 
2022 

 

✓ 

 

✓ 

Ensure appropriate 
membership of all groups 
within Project Advice and 
Scrutiny.  

Appoint members to Steering 
Group and Working Group 
and hold kick-off meetings.  

Project Advice 
and Scrutiny 

 

November 
2022 

 

✓ 

 

✓ 

Agree stakeholder 
engagement plan with 
Committee 

Local Plan Sub Committee 

 

Planning & Transportation 
Committee 

 

Streets & Walkways 
Committee 

Decision Makers September 
2022 

 

November 
2022 

 

November 
2022 

✓ 

 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 

 

  

P
age 68



Phase 1a (Engagement) – Preliminary engagement with stakeholders 

Purpose Activity/Deliverables 
Stakeholder 
Group 

Dates 

 

Transport 
Strategy 

 

City 
Plan 

Procure relevant 
consultants to support 
the Review 

Draft and appoint consultants 
for focus group, surveys, 
resident focus groups 

Project Advice 
and Scrutiny 

 

September / 
October 2022 

 

✓ ✓ 

Ensure compliance with 
relevant guidelines and 
policies for Data 
Protection and 
Equalities Act 

Undertake a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

Review all Privacy Notices 

Project Advice 
and Scrutiny 

September 
2022 to 
October 2023 

✓ ✓ 

Stakeholder 
engagement 
development 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Finalise and launch online 
engagement tool – Sentiment 
Survey  

 

Undertake thematic focus 
group workshops (first round) 

 

Prepare website and social 
media material as required  

Project Advice 
and Scrutiny 

 

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

November 
2022  

 

November 
2022 

 

June – 
September 
2023 

✓ 

 

✓ 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

✓ 

P
age 69



Purpose Activity/Deliverables 
Stakeholder 
Group 

Dates 

 

Transport 
Strategy 

 

City 
Plan 

Stakeholder 
engagement 
development 

 

Launch webpages and social 
media as required 

Project Advice 
and Scrutiny 

June/July 2023 ✓ ✓ 

Establish and 
undertake engagement 
with all levels of 
stakeholder 

Roundtable stakeholder 
workshops  

 

One to one briefings 

Primary 
Stakeholders 

 

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

November–
August 2023 

 

 

November – 
August 2023 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

Establish and 
undertake engagement 
with all levels of 
stakeholder 

Undertake resident / 
employee focus group 
workshops with City Plan.  

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

June – 
September 
2023 

✓ ✓ 

 

  

P
age 70



Phase 1b – Transport Strategy drafting following engagement and Committee Review 

Purpose Activity/Deliverables 
Stakeholder 
Group 

Dates 

 

Transport 
Strategy 

 

City 
Plan 

Engagement 
monitoring and 
review of results 

Review all engagement 

Monitoring and Results 

Report writing 

Project Advice 
and Scrutiny 

March 
2023  ✓ 

 

Committee 
reporting 

Reporting Phase 1a engagement results 
to Streets & Walkways Committee  

 

Reporting Phase 1a engagement results 
and headline strategy amendments to 
Planning & Transportation Committee  

Decision 
makers 

May 2023 

 

October 
2023 

✓ 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

Redrafting of the 
Transport 
Strategy 

Redrafting of the Transport Strategy 
based on Planning & Transportation and 
Streets and Walkway Committees and 
Phase 1a engagement 

 

 

 

May 
2023 

 

October 
2023 

✓ 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

  

P
age 71



Phase 2a (Consultation) – Stakeholder consultation on proposed changes to Transport Strategy 

Purpose Activity/Deliverables 
Stakeholder 
Group 

Dates 

Transport 
Strategy 

City Plan 

Consultation with 
stakeholders on Draft 
Strategy, building on 
earlier engagement 
work. 

Undertake focus group 
workshops and 1-1 with already 
engaged Stakeholders as 
necessary 

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

Public 
Engagement 

November/ 
January 
2024 

✓ 

 

 

Consultation  
development 

Update Transport Strategy 
Website with draft Strategy 
details for consultation 

 

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

Public 
Engagement 

October 
2023 

✓ 

 

 

Consultation with 
stakeholders on Draft 
Strategy, building on 
earlier engagement 
work. 

Undertake drop-in sessions for 
residents and members at local 
libraries 

Actively 
Interested 
Stakeholders 

November/ 
January 
2024 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

Consultation with 
stakeholders on Draft 
Strategy, building on 
earlier engagement 
work. 

Roundtable workshop session Primary 
Stakeholders 

November/ 
January 
2024 

✓ 

 

 

 

  

P
age 72



Phase 2b – Final amendments, Committee and Strategy adoption 

Purpose Activity/Deliverables 
Stakeholder 
Group 

Dates 
Transport 
Strategy 

City 
Plan 

Committee 
Reporting 

Reporting Phase 2a consultation 
results to Streets and Walkways 
Committee 

Decision 
Makers 

July 2024   

Committee 
Reporting  

Reporting Phase 2a draft final Strategy 
to Planning & Transportation 
Committee 

Decision 
Makers 

July 2024   

 

 

 

Committee 
Reporting  

Policy and Resources Committee Decision 
Makers 

September 
2024 

  

Committee 
Reporting 

Court of Common Council Decision 
Makers 

October 2024   

Development and 
publication 

Revised Strategy published online N/A November 
2024  

  

 

 

P
age 73



Appendix 2: List of stakeholders engaged in the Transport Strategy Review from November 2022 
to April 2024.  

City Corporation Departments, Divisions and Diversity Networks 

City Bridge Foundation 

Children and Community Services 

City Corporation Carers and Parents Diversity Network 

City Corporation City of London Ethnicity and Race Staff Network  

City Corporation Disability, Ability and Wellbeing Network 

City Corporation Equality, Diversity and Inclusion team 

City Corporation Multi-Faith Staff Network 

City Corporation Public Health  

City Corporation Social Mobility Network 

City Corporation Women’s Inclusive Network 

City Corporation Young Employees Network  

City Corporation  Highways Division 

City of London Ethnicity & Race Network 

City of London Police Enabling Network 

City Operations - frontline services, such as street cleansing, highway maintenance, domestic 
waste collection, gardens maintenance and parking enforcement, with core public service 
duties including road safety management, highway licensing, utility street works and major on-
street events.  

City Plan and Planning Division 

Climate Action Strategy Team 

Corporate Strategy and Performance Team  

Destination City Team 
Air Quality Team 

Port Health and Public Protection – formerly part of Markets & Consumer Protection and deals 
with public protection by providing comprehensive and effective environmental health, trading 
standards and licensing services for the City of London. 

Road Danger Reduction Partnership 

City of London Police (CoLP) 

London Fire Brigade (LFB)  

London Ambulance Service (LAS) 

Transport for London (TfL) 
 

Public agencies and professional groups 

Action Vision Zero 

Brewery Logistics Group 

Page 74



City Bridge Trust 

City Bridge Foundation 

City Property Association (CPA) 

City Youth Forum 

City of London Access Group (CoLAG) 

City of London Cycling Association 

E-scooter trial operational board 

Footways 

Greater London Authority (GLA) 

Heart of the City  

Institute of Couriers 

John Lewis 

Licenced Taxi Drivers’ Association 

Licensed Private Hire Car Association 

Living Streets 

Logistics UK (United Kingdom) 

London Councils 

London Cycling Campaign (LCC) 

London Travel Watch 

Momentum Transport 

Motorcycle Industry Association (MCIA) 

Motorcycle Action Group (MAG) 

Network Rail 

Port of London Authority 

Road Haulage Association 

Royal National Institute of Blind People (RNIB) 

Solace Women's Aid 

Transport for All (TFA) 

Transport for London  

UK Coach Operators Association 
United Cabbies Group  

National Health Services 

St Bartholomew's Hospital 

NHS Green travel sub group  

Business Improvement Districts   

Cheapside Business Alliance 

Page 75



Chancery Lane Association/Primera 

Aldgate Partnership  

Eastern Cluster Partnership   

Culture Mile Partnership  

Fleet Street Quarter   

City of London Schools 

City of London Boys School 

City of London School for Girls   

Neighbouring Local Authorities 

London Borough of Southwark  

Camden Council  

Hackney Council 

London Borough of Islington  

Westminster City Council  

London Borough of Lambeth  

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 
Businesses* 

Allen Overy 

Brookfield Properties 

McCann 

British Land 

Baker Mckenzie 

Spice Design  

Brookfield Properties 

Broadgate Estates 

Momentum Consultancy  

Nomura 

Fieldfisher 

Land Securities 

John Lewis 

Metro Bank 

Freshfields 

Dawai Capital Markets 

Weightmans LLP  

Pedal Me 

Page 76



Spice Design 

Arcadis LLP  

Royal Bank of Canada  

[1] *197 businesses invited to engage in the ECF workshops, furthermore a suite of businesses were invited to 
engage with the City Plan and Transport Strategy Workshops, approximately 1200 individuals were invited to 
the Accessibility event through the ‘City Belonging’ mailing list.  

 

City Residents Associations  

Golden Lane Estate Residents Association 

Barbican Association 

Middlesex Street Estate Residents Association 
 

Accessibility in the City (registered businesses and professionals) 

AbilityNet 

Aldgate Connect / Cheapside Business Alliance 

Allen & Overy 

Arup 

Barbican centre 

Bates Wells 

BJSS 

BNY Mellon 

City Corporation 

City of London Access Group 

City of London Police  

CMC Markets 

De Montfort University 

ERM - First Option 

Fidelity 

Fieldfisher LLP 

Fleet Street Quarter 

Google 

Harshita Patel 

Hays 

Hiscox 

Irwin Mitchell 

Kennedys 

LGIM 

Mediorite 

Page 77

file:///C:/Users/AndreaXB/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/1F6FC6F.xlsx%23RANGE!_ftnref1
file:///C:/Users/AndreaXB/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/1F6FC6F.xlsx%23RANGE!_ftnref1
file:///C:/Users/AndreaXB/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/1F6FC6F.xlsx%23RANGE!_ftnref1


Mercer Limited 

MS Amlin 

MSF UK 

Nanyang Technological University, Singapore 

Natixis 

Phoenix 

Portfolio Career 

RBC 

Saffery 

Schroders 

SEAM Advisory 

Slaughter and May 

The Barbican 

The Helen Hamlyn Centre for Design, RCA 

The Lord Mayor's Appeal 

The Phoenix Group 

Transport For London 

TT Group 

Uptree 

VINCENT BURKE COMMUNICATIONS 

WCIT 

Wells Fargo 

We Swim 

WSPUK 

 
Please note the public consultation included additional responses from individuals who live, 
work, visit and study in the City of London.  

Page 78



 
 

 
City of London Transport Strategy Review Consultation Report  

Department of Environment 

July 2024  

P
age 79



Contents 
Introduction to the Report .....................................................................................................................................................................3 

Consultation Methodology ................................................................................................................................................................3 

Focus of the Strategy  ..........................................................................................................................................................................5 

Vision and the addition of Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in our approach to transport planning and delivery .....................................7 

Key change - feedback on changing the Vision and the addition of Proposal 1b. ............................................................................7 

Outcome 1: The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk, wheel and spend time .................................................................... 12 

Key change - feedback on a change of language to reference ‘wheeling’ to include people who use wheelchairs, mobility 

scooters and other wheeled mobility aids ....................................................................................................................................... 13 

Feedback on the Proposals and other proposed changes to the ‘Square Mile’s Streets are a great place to walk, wheel and 

spend time’ Outcome. ..................................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Outcome 2: Street Space is used more efficiently and effectively ...................................................................................................... 17 

Key change - feedback on our approach to road user charging in the City .................................................................................... 18 

Feedback on the changes to Proposals within the ‘Street Space is used more efficiently and effectively’ Outcome ...................... 18 

Outcome 3: The Square Mile is accessible to all ................................................................................................................................ 21 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Accessible to All’ Outcome ................................................................. 22 

Outcome 4: People using our streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe ................................................................................ 25 

Key change - feedback on the Proposal to remove the commitment to introduce a 15mph speed limit in the Square Mile ........... 26 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Safe Streets’ Outcome ....................................................................... 26 

Outcome 5: Improve the experience of riding cycles and scooters in the City ................................................................................... 29 

Key Change - feedback on the proposed change to the cycling Outcome and Proposals to include micromobility (e.g. Scooters, 

Electric Scooters)............................................................................................................................................................................ 30 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed Changes to the ‘More People Choose to Cycle in the City’ Outcome .......................... 31 

P
age 80



2 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 6: The Square Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter .............................................................................................. 33 

Key change - feedback on the proposal to remove the commitment to a local Zero Emission Zone (ZEZ) covering parts of the 

City of London ................................................................................................................................................................................ 34 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Cleaner and Quieter’ Outcome ........................................................... 34 

Outcome 7: Delivery and servicing needs are met more efficiently, and impacts are minimised ........................................................ 37 

Key change - feedback on the proposal to remove the commitment for the City of London Corporation to provide a consolidation 

centre .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 38 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘More Efficient Freight and Servicing’ Outcome .................................. 38 

Outcome 8: Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances .............................................................................................. 41 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Resilient Streets’ Outcome ................................................................. 42 

Outcome 9: Emerging technologies benefit the Square Mile .............................................................................................................. 44 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Emerging technologies benefit the Square Mile’ Outcome ................. 45 

Outcome 10: The Square Mile benefits from better transport connections ......................................................................................... 47 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Better Transport Connections’ Outcome ............................................ 48 

Delivering the Strategy ....................................................................................................................................................................... 51 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Delivering the Strategy’ Outcome ....................................................... 52 

Managing Traffic Movement and Access ............................................................................................................................................ 54 

Feedback on the proposed approach to the ’Managing Traffic Movement and Access’ ................................................................. 55 

Conclusion ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 58 

 

  

P
age 81



3 | P a g e  
 

Introduction to the Report 

This report summarises feedback received during the public consultation on the City of London Corporation’s Transport Strategy 

Review and the response to this feedback.  

In some instances respondents commented on proposals in the Strategy with no proposed changes.  For completeness, we have 

included these comments in our analysis and this report. 

The analysis of responses has covered all methods of communication and engagement during the consultation period.  This 

included correspondence from organisations, stakeholder workshops, one to one meetings and the online consultation through the 

Commonplace platform. 

We have reviewed all comments, and several Outcomes and Proposals have been updated, providing further detail or clarity based 

on stakeholder feedback, however, no significant changes are considered necessary.   

Consultation Methodology 

Utilising the Commonplace engagement platform, a seven-week consultation on the proposed changes to the Strategy ran from 

Thursday 16 November 2023 to Sunday 7 January 2024 (inclusive). The consultation was open to anyone (group or individual), 

whether a resident, business owner, worker or visitor, with an interest in the City.  A stakeholder workshop was held in late 

November, this was attended by representatives from businesses, interest groups, neighbouring London boroughs and Transport 

for London (TfL) and St Bartholomew's Hospital, Barts Health NHS Trust 

Drop-in sessions were held in a number of public buildings (the Guildhall, libraries etc) throughout November and December 2023. 

These were attended mostly by residents. Officers also attended the City Residents’ meeting in the Old Bailey in December 2023. 

Feedback from all of these sources are included in this report. 

The Commonplace consultation received responses from over 400 individuals (some individuals made more than one contribution). 

The ‘Key Changes’ section received the most responses and in particular key changes relating to becoming more inclusive (384 

responses), to the Cycling Outcome (386 responses) and to Road User Charging (352 responses). More details sections  covering 

each outcome all received fewer than 60 responses, with Resilient Streets  (18 responses), Innovation Benefiting the Square Mile 

(18 responses) and Delivering the Strategy sections (17 responses) receiving the fewest responses. 

P
age 82



4 | P a g e  
 

Organisations that responded through Commonplace : 

• Action Vision Zero  

• London Living Streets  

• St Bartholomew’s Hospital and NHS Trust 

• United Cabbies Group  

• UK Coach Operators Association  

 

Organisations that responded direct in writing: 

• City Property Association  

• City of London Business Improvement Districts (BIDs gave a collective response, for “Aldgate Connect BID, Cheapside 

Business Alliance, Culture Mile BID, EC BID, Fleet Street Quarter BID”, ) 

• Members of the City of London Access Group (CoLAG), (with additional workshop) 

• London Cycling Campaign  

• Motorcycle Action Group  

• Port of London Authority  

• Transport for London (TfL) 

• UK Coach Operators Association (and via Commonplace, see above)  

In terms of demographics of respondents on the Commonplace platform, the majority of consultation participants (61%) described 

themselves as a man. 27% described themselves as a woman, 7% preferred not to say and 5% identified as non-binary or another 

gender. The highest proportion of respondents were 55-64 (24%), followed by 45-54 (21%) and 65-74 (20%). 23% of consultation 

participants indicated their day-to-day activities are limited due to a physical or mental health condition or disability. The most 

common postcodes for place of residence were SE (16%), N1 (11%) and EC (10%). An income of over £100,000 was the most 

common response for the household’s approximate annual income. Leisure visitors (54%), workers (32%) and business visitors 

(26%) were the three main connection types to the area. 

Commonplace’s report on the consultation is available at www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/transportstrategy.    

P
age 83

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/transportstrategy


5 | P a g e  
 

Focus of the Strategy  
 

Other than changes to the cycling outcome to include other micromobility modes, changes to the overall approach and focus of the 

Strategy were limited. However, we still asked for feedback on the Transport Strategy continuing to focus on:   

• Prioritising the needs of people walking and wheeling, make streets more accessible and deliver high quality public realm  

• Making the most efficient and effective use of street space by reducing motor traffic, including the number of delivery and 

servicing vehicles  

• Ensuring that no one is killed or seriously injured while travelling on our streets, including through measures to deliver safer 

streets and reduce speeds  

• Enabling more people to choose to cycle by making conditions for cycling in the Square Mile safer and more pleasant  

• Improving air quality and reduce noise, including by encouraging and enabling the switch to zero emission capable vehicles. 

  

P
age 84



6 | P a g e  
 

58% (198) of consultation respondents agreed that the activity described above should remain the focus of the Strategy. 33% (113) 

of respondents disagreed.  342 people responded to this question. 

Expressions of support for the focus of the Strategy.  

The main positive feedback focused on reducing motor traffic (33 comments), accompanied by applause for the ethos of enabling 

active/sustainable travel and movement (32), with an anticipated reduction in air pollution (30).  A real focus/prioritisation on people, 

rather than vehicles, together with public realm (30) and safety improvements for people who walk and/or cycle (28) (creating a 

more pleasant, healthy and ‘people-based’ environment in which to move through and spend time in) were additionally mentioned.   

Improved safety (22) and health (15) also featured.  

• TfL expressed support for the strategy overall, including commitment to Healthy Streets approach and delivery and the 

Vision Zero targets, which support the Mayor’s Transport Strategy.   

• The CPA commented supporting the overall ambition and asking us to go further with changes that prioritise people walking 

and wheeling and not to undermine this with responding to minority needs.   

• The City BIDs noted support for overall approach and many of its proposals, supporting walking and wheeling remaining as 

the top priorities to be considered in designing and managing streets.  

 

Expressions of opposition to the focus of the Strategy 

The top theme focused on a perceived failure to recognise a practical need for motor transport (28 comments) by some people due 

to age, mobility issues or circumstance.  This linked strongly to the second theme of inequality as a result of restricted motor access 

(22). The third most frequent theme was a perceived failure to address inconsiderate and poor cycling behaviour (21). 

 

 

  

P
age 85



7 | P a g e  
 

Vision and the addition of Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in our approach to 

transport planning and delivery 

The Transport Strategy seeks to make explicit the City Corporation’s commitment to ensuring our streets and public spaces are 

welcoming and inclusive by introducing a new overarching Proposal. Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in our approach to 

transport planning and delivery.  

Proposal 1b will sit alongside Proposal 1a: Embed the Healthy Streets Approach and will inform the delivery of all other proposals. 

It will set out our method to considering all protected characteristics and socio-economic impacts when planning and making 

changes to our streets. It supports processes for inclusive engagement and consultation, inclusive design and for assessing the 

positive and negative impacts of projects (and services) we intend to implement through Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) and 

the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). It also ensures we challenge and support ourselves and our delivery partners in 

developing best practice in regard to inclusive policy-making and design. 

It was important that the Vision of the Transport Strategy be revised to reflect the addition of Proposal 1b and the emphasis on 

‘inclusiveness’, which goes beyond accessibility. Hence, it was proposed that the Vision be updated to: ‘Streets that inspire and 

delight, world-class connections and a Square Mile that is inclusive and accessible to all’. 

Key change - feedback on changing the Vision and the addition of Proposal 1b. 

Feedback was received from a number of stakeholders in person at workshops, meetings, drop-in sessions and through written 

communication via email and the online consultation.  

The ethos of promoting greater inclusivity through revisions to the Vision and the new Proposal 1b (Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion 

in our approach to transport planning and delivery) was welcomed by a number of stakeholders who regarded this as an important 

and forward-thinking step. It was felt that Proposal 1b showed clear alignment with the ambitions and the promotion of equality. 

Within this theme some gave praise that the Proposal seeks to ensure all voices are heard, showing commitment to remove 

barriers in the design stage and promote equity.  

The online consultation attracted responses from 384 people. More than half (53%) agreed with revising the Vision and including 

Proposal 1b to take a more inclusive approach, 108 online respondents (28%) disagreed. Looking at demographic group 

P
age 86



8 | P a g e  
 

differences, respondents who cycle and women were higher than average in recording support for revising the Vision and 

increasing inclusivity.  

Members of the City of London Access Group, members of the City Property Association, the UK Coach Operators 

Association and St Bartholomew's Hospital, Barts Health NHS Trust all supported the additional of Proposal 1b to the strategy. 

Online consultation respondents left 78 positive comments noting that they considered this proposal an important, positive and 

forward-thinking step to improve inclusivity and equity in the City.  It was recognised that reducing traffic, street closures and 

implementing pedestrian priority streets can be a significant benefit to society and certain protected characteristic groups. Additional 

supportive feedback from the open drop-in sessions and workshops included:  

• recognising the need to consider all members of society during service delivery 

• encouraging EDI training for all City Corporation staff, and especially those who are involved with delivering the Transport 

Strategy 

Engagement with City Corporation Equality, Diversity and Inclusion officers and leads of the City Corporation Staff 

Diversity Networks indicate they are supportive of the addition of Proposal 1b to the Strategy. These groups are: 

• the Young Employees Network,  

• the Carers and Parents Network,  

• the City of London Ethnicity & Race Network,  

• the Multi-Faith Staff Network, 

• the Women’s Inclusive Network  

• the City Pride Network, 

• and the Social Mobility Network 

Consulting a wide diversity of voices and experiences has been key to informing Proposal 1b. It has shown there is strong support 

for the addition of Proposal 1b and a call for the City Corporation to be more specific regarding accessibility, safety and inclusivity 

objectives.  

A number of respondents made requests for more inclusive language, requests for language to follow the Social Model of Disability, 

and requests to include further references and representation of protected characteristics and other groups in the Strategy. 

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

P
age 87



9 | P a g e  
 

108 online respondents (28%) disagreed with revising the Vision and including Proposal 1b to take a more inclusive approach. 

Those who use private transport (Private transport’ includes car drivers/passengers and powered 2 wheeler riders) were lower than 

average in terms of support for the proposal changes.   

Comments from online consultation respondents related to concerns that the Transport Strategy’s ambition to reduce motor traffic 

was not achievable or inclusive. Respondents noted concerns that street closures and restrictions have negative impacts on 

accessibility (and do not strengthen inclusivity), especially for disabled people and those who need motorised access.  

Some respondents also felt that the change was an unnecessary revision and represented “vague terminology” and “box-ticking 

semantics”.  

  

P
age 88



10 | P a g e  
 

Summary responses and changes.   

The Strategy recognises that restrictions on motor traffic may negatively affect some disabled people, older people, pregnant 

people, those who care for infants and/or young children or those who may find it difficult to walk. It also acknowledges that for 

many people with accessibility requirements, vehicle access remains necessary to maintain even a low level of personal mobility 

and independence. The Proposals in Outcome 2 have already been updated to acknowledge this and we will ensure these 

requirements are considered through the Equalities Impact Assessment process (under Proposal 1b). Access to properties is 

retained within all our proposals, although it is recognised that restrictions may impact the route options to a location and make 

some journeys longer.     

The measures on reducing traffic are core to the Transport Strategy and the City Corporation’s commitment to increase active 

travel, improve air quality and improve health and wellbeing, as well as supporting Vision Zero, Climate Action Strategy and City 

Plan ambitions. Taking a proactive approach to reducing motor traffic, making the best and most efficient use of street space and 

continuing to improve accessibility are central to the delivery of the Transport Strategy. Mitigating the impact will be covered in 

decisions through the EqIA process.  Whilst recognising some of the negative impact on those with protected characteristics, the 

overall approach to removal of traffic creates a safer more comfortable environment for people while moving around the City, 

including older and disabled people. 

The concerns raised by respondents reinforce the need for Proposal 1b to assist with identifying and mitigating impacts. Proposal 

1b makes explicit our commitment to taking an inclusive approach to all transport and public realm project delivery and policy-

making.   

As many of the opposition comments expressed concerns about decreasing accessibility and not considering the needs of disabled 

people, it is important to note that we have retained ‘Outcome 3: The Square Mile is Accessible to all’ and its constituent Proposals. 

These are dedicated to improving accessibility of our streets and reflect the priority to maintain our focus on removing barriers to 

travel in and around the Square Mile.  

An Action Plan will be developed in collaboration with our stakeholders to review our ambitions and set out steps that can be 

implemented, and monitored against a timeline. This will meet our new commitments around being more transparent and 

accountable as we develop and implement the Transport Strategy.  We will report on progress in the Transport Strategy Annual 

Report. 

We have updated the introductory text with context on:  

P
age 89



11 | P a g e  
 

• Our Action Plan and how we will develop and grow our understanding of inclusivity 

• How Proposal 1b will support corporate EDI objectives, Corporate Plan other City Corporation Strategies and Policies for 

coherence  

We have updated the wording of Proposal 1b and Inclusion Principles to: 

• Clarify accountability mechanisms for championing and monitoring progress 

• Acknowledge the diversity of our communities and make reference to specific personal experiences 

• Take the opportunity to name protected groups where possible, so everyone sees themselves in our ambitions in our 

Inclusion Principles. 

• Simplify the language 

• Review the language in the Strategy to follow the Social Model of Disability 

• Name all protected groups in the Proposal text, and take the opportunity to identify benefits to specific groups where 

appropriate so everyone sees themselves in our ambitions 

• Provide more references to Equity 

• Provide definitions of terms, in a glossary. 

We acknowledge our stakeholders’ desires for more detail on training. This can be considered further during the development of the 

Action Plan. Corporate Plan objectives also identify staff and member training as necessary and will report on progress.   

Proposal 1b has been well researched and modelled off guidance developed by the UN Secretariat for the Convention on the 

Rights of Persons with Disabilities, the Cities for All Global Campaign on Inclusive and Accessible Cities, and Oxford University’s 

Inclusive Cities Framework and other national guidance, policies or strategies for coherence, the ambition is important to set to 

change culture and attitudes.  

P
age 90



12 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 1: The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk, wheel and spend 

time    

Walking is, and will remain, the main way that people travel around the Square Mile. We want people walking in the City to feel that 

their needs have been prioritised. By delivering this Strategy we will make the experience of walking on our streets a more 

enjoyable and rewarding experience – a great way to travel and to discover all that the City has to offer. 

Fewer and cleaner motor vehicles will mean that streets are less dominated by traffic and easier to cross. People driving and riding in the 

City will recognise the Square Mile as a place where people on foot come first – they will travel slowly and be prepared to give way to 

people walking. 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the proposed changes under Outcome 1 – outcome name, 

proposals 1-10. A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 1 - 10 are listed below. 

• Update the language to be more considerate and inclusive, for example we propose to adopt “walking and wheeling” across 

all of our proposals. Using ‘walking and wheeling’ together is advocated by Active Travel England, Wheels for Wellbeing, 

Transport for All, Sustrans, Mobility and Access Committee in Scotland and more, as it includes people who use mobility aids 

on our streets.  

• Deliver new pedestrian priority routes going from east to west and north to south (Figure 5 shows future commitments to 

priority routes).   

• Deliver new pedestrian priority routes through the Healthy Streets Plans and seek to make our streets safer, easier to cross, 

and more accessible in partnership with Transport for London. In places we will re-allocate more space to people walking in 

wheeling, from motor traffic, by widening pavements and reducing space for traffic.   

• Refer to the ambitions of the City’s 2020 Climate Action Strategy (CAS) and Biodiversity Action Plan 2021-2026, which 

commit to implementing more greenery into the City’s streets and public spaces, including planting an additional 100 trees 

by 2025.  

• Update and maintain Legible London maps and directional signs across the Square Mile, including reference to accessible 

routes and lifts where possible. We will explore the potential for additional wayfinding to support Destination City activity.   

Improve the experience of spending time on the City’s streets by identifying temporary and permanent opportunities to 

integrate exercise and play, planting and greening, art installations, and more seating for people.  

P
age 91



13 | P a g e  
 

Key change - feedback on a change of language to reference ‘wheeling’ to include people who use 
wheelchairs, mobility scooters and other wheeled mobility aids 

On the key change flagged in this Outcome, almost 60% (189) of 315 respondents to this question agreed with the proposal to 

extend ‘walking’ language to include ‘walking and wheeling’. 21% (66) disagreed.  

Looking at demographic differences, those who cycle and younger people were slightly more supportive of this proposed language 

change compared to other groups. Private transport users were less supportive than average.  

Feedback on the Proposals and other proposed changes to the ‘Square Mile’s Streets are a great place 
to walk, wheel and spend time’ Outcome. 

50 people responded to the general question on whether they supported changes to proposals within this Outcome with overall 

agreement at 54%, 32% disagreed.    

All of the other questions asked in this outcome received positive feedback.     

• 65% (30)  of consultation participants agreed with the proposal to reallocate more street space to people walking and 

wheeling, alongside the improvement of pedestrian routes (Proposal 2) 

• Public realm improvements, together with the renewal and rejuvenation of spaces proved a particularly popular proposal – 

welcomed by 75% (34) of consultation participants (Proposal 7) 

• Greening and tree planting – in the context of meeting the Climate Action Strategy ambition – also proved a popular 

proposal, receiving a positive response by 74% (33) of consultation participants (Proposal 8). 

Further comments included concentrating tree planting and greening on streets, as well as small parks where they are needed 

most for their cooling effect and significant boost to wellbeing.   

 

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

27 people online and the organisations listed below expressed their support or agreed with the changes proposed to these 

Proposals within this Outcome: 

• City of London Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) 

P
age 92



14 | P a g e  
 

• City Property Association (CPA) 

• Port of London Authority (PLA)  

Some of those respondents highlighted particular reasons for their support, including: 

• The CPA welcomed the general approach and in particular pedestrian priority streets, upgrades to crossing points and 

connections to the riverside walking route, and creating accessible walking and wheeling routes across the City. They 

support temporary public space creation to demonstrate the benefits of long term schemes (such as the ‘Lunchtime Streets’ 

programme) 

• The PLA welcomed the aim that a series of north-south and east-west routes will provide improved walking, wheeling, and 

cycling connections to key attractions, destinations and public spaces, including to link to the various bridges across the 

River Thames within the City as well as east-west along the Thames Path. 

 

The online comments included: 

• Positive proposals contributing to a healthy society, with improved living, air quality. 

• Reducing motorised traffic. 

• Promoting a walk, wheel and cycle ethos. 

• A radical, forward-thinking set of ambitions in the context of a climate emergency. 

• Retaining the original essence of the proposals whilst making them more inclusive. 

• Providing an oasis of resting and relaxing space for residents, visitors and wildlife. 

A number of outcome level comments included suggestions to further enhance the network of walking and wheeling routes and 

general quality of public realm, including working closely with BIDs and other local stakeholders to help deliver improvements.   

Supportive comments on proposal with no proposed change  

Further comments were made on proposals which had no proposed changes, stating support and encouraging us to deliver those 

actions and proposals. TfL supported improvements to pavement widening that should be advanced as far as possible, even if not 

able to achieve the desirable comfort levels (Pedestrian Comfort Level B+) (proposal 2). LCC requested further temporary link 

enhancements which could be delivered pending full enhancement of the cycle network (proposal 2).   

P
age 93



15 | P a g e  
 

LCC stated that access to the riverside could be improved immediately by re-opening the gate on Upper Thames St at Puddle 

Dock. With a crossing point this would be a key element in improving step-free access to the City of London School, as well as the 

riverfront. CPA also supported improvements to the riverside walking route, and in particular upgrades / improvements to the 

crossing points (proposal 3) 

The PLA broadly supported proposal 3 but recommended that the City’s own Riverside Strategy should be brought into the 

Transport Strategy, specifically referencing the importance of river safety in any enhancement works. 

The City of London BIDs suggested proposal 6 should be expanded, recommending the use of public art should be considered to 

help wayfinding and compliment Legible London maps, with the Barbican explicitly mentioned as an appropriate location for this.  

The CPA were keen to see more public space in the City.  They note that traffic reductions over the last few years should provide 

the opportunity to free up and reallocate space once used for car parking and traffic and to create new and vibrant public spaces.  

They noted that they would like to see the City Corporation go further including pedestrianising City streets with low traffic volumes 

where appropriate (proposal 7). 

Action Vision Zero stated that missing from this outcome was a vision for walking that is unique and personal to the City. Action 

Vision Zero commented that there was an opportunity for parts of the City to become car-free at the weekend. 

Requests to improve littering and cleansing standards also came up in few comments. 

 

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

United Cabbies Group (UCG) felt that the City Corporation was inappropriately prioritising people that wheel over those with 

disabilities/mobility issues who are unable to wheel. 

16 online respondents did not support the changes within this Outcome. Some of their reasons were: 

• Increasing space for active travel will increase congestion and air pollution. 

• Prioritising people who walk over those who cycle. 

• Decreasing public safety. 

• Lack of access to taxis. 

P
age 94



16 | P a g e  
 

• Anti-motorist. 

Most negative comments received were challenging the level of priority given to walking and wheeling, and expressing concern that 

there is a need for motor vehicles to move around city streets.   

Summary responses and changes 

The priorities set out in the strategy putting those walking and wheeling first, reflects the fact that walking and wheeling are the 

main way that people travel around the City. Access by vehicle to all locations is possible for those who cannot walk, however we 

accept that for some locations the journey may be made longer due to reallocation of street space or access restrictions.   

The Strategy already commits to a programme of Healthy Streets minor schemes, which deliver improvements on walking routes, 

including those to the riverside. We will continue to work with TfL to provide pedestrian / walking and wheeling links to the Thames 

path. 

Work with Destination City team and BIDs is intended to explore and maximise partnership opportunities. Detailed plans will be 

provided in the Transport Strategy 5yr Delivery Plan. 

No changes will be made to proposals in this outcome. 

  

P
age 95



17 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 2: Street Space is used more efficiently and effectively 

We want the use of the Square Mile’s streets to better match the priorities of residents, workers and businesses. Street space will 

be used more efficiently, with more space and time provided for people walking, cycling and travelling by bus. General reductions in 

the number of motor vehicles will help reduce delays for the essential traffic that remains. 

Some streets will be used in different ways at different times of the day. For example, by providing space for people to walk and 

relax during the day, while allowing deliveries overnight. Temporary closures of streets to motor vehicles will provide opportunities 

for cultural and community events or simply enjoying the City. The kerbside will also be used more dynamically and effectively, with 

commercial vehicles having priority access to parking and loading no longer causing an obstruction, particularly at the busiest times 

of day. 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the proposals under Outcome 2 – Street Space is used more 

efficiently and effectively  (proposals 11-15). A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 11 - 15 are listed below. 

• Update to make explicit that we will retain access to streets for essential traffic. We will also recognise that restrictions on 

motor traffic can result in longer journeys and may negatively affect a proportion of people who are disabled, and others who 

have mobility impairments. The extent of restrictions and types of vehicles excluded will be decided on a case-by-case basis, 

applying the approaches outlined for inclusivity, walking and wheeling and in accordance with the street hierarchy 

• Complete and develop a number of Healthy Streets Plans by 2027 (shown in Figure 7 of the Transport Strategy) and commit 

to reviewing these every 10 years 

• Remove the commitment to developing a road user charging mechanism specific to the City of London (like a local 

‘congestion’ charge), and instead commit to support the Mayor of London and TfL on the development of a London wide 

charging mechanism 

• Remove “Proposal 15: Support and champion the ‘Turning the Corner’ campaign” as these principles were incorporated into 

the revised Highway Code January 2022. Motor vehicles are now required to give way to people walking and cycling when 

turning left into a side street 

• Commit to monitoring the numbers of private hire vehicles (PHVs) operating in the City and support TfL’s approach to 

managing the number of PHVs operating in London to an appropriate level. 

P
age 96



18 | P a g e  
 

Key change - feedback on our approach to road user charging in the City 

In the Key Questions section, we asked for feedback on our approach to road user charging as part of the Strategy. This involved 

removing the commitment to developing a road user charging mechanism specific to the City of London (a local ‘congestion’ 

charge), and instead committing to support the Mayor of London and Transport for London on the development of a London wide 

charging system. 352 people responded to this question, and the views on proposals for road user charging were split, with 42% in 

agreement, compared to almost 40% against.  

Comparison of support across the demographic groups, showed those that walk and cycle being more supportive than average. 

Whereas private vehicle users and taxi/PHV drivers and passengers, along with those whose day-to-day activities were limited by a 

physical/mental health condition or disability showed lower than average support for this proposal.  

When reviewing the comments for the key change, support for a uniform charge across all central London was welcomed, rather 

than having a separate road user charge in the Square Mile.  However, some respondents felt that there was a lack of certainty that 

the Mayor’s proposal for this was likely to be delivered. 

 

Feedback on the changes to Proposals within the ‘Street Space is used more efficiently and effectively’ 
Outcome  

39 people responded to this question and there was mixed opinion on the proposed changes to the efficient use of street space 

Outcome. Just under half (49%) of consultation participants agreed with the Proposal changes, countered by 40% who disagreed 

with them.  

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

19 people and the organisations listed below expressed their support for changes to proposals within this Outcome but made no 

specific requests for changes. Some of the online respondents highlighted particular reasons for their support, including: 

• A genuine commitment to reprioritising street use 

• Considering people before profits 

• Making the city easier to walk in and around 

• Monitoring the use of private hire vehicles 

P
age 97



19 | P a g e  
 

• An opportunity to tackle unlawful e-scooter/e-bike usage. 

 

Other comments of support for continuing or enhancing the approach already set out in the Transport Strategy were made 

including, City of London BIDs supported the 10-year horizon for Healthy Streets Plans (HSPs) (proposal 11) but would welcome 

a 5-year interim review to ensure progress is on track. They requested that BIDs are consulted at the very early stages of design 

development to ensure that BID public realm strategies can align closely with HSPs.  

 

The PLA supported the proposal to prepare a Healthy Streets Plan for the City Riverside Area by 2027 (proposal 11). The City 

Bridge Foundation made representation to seek support for traffic reduction on Tower Bridge, particularly for larger vehicles. 

(proposal 11).  

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

15 people (39% of 39 respondents) disagreed with the changes to proposals in this outcome. When reviewing the detailed 

comments, it is likely that a number of those disagreeing with the proposed change to support the next generation of road user 

charging did not agree with any form of road user charging.  Some of those opposing the change to the City’s road user charging 

principle, were noting concern about the reduction in tools/mechanisms to deliver traffic reduction committed to in the City’s own 

targets and felt that there was considerable uncertainty around a London wide scheme being delivered.   

Many of the comments directed at changes in proposal 11 (key change) to road user charging were around the impact on 

businesses of any road user charging system. Others noted the view that these (systems) were ‘only’ additional taxation of 

motorists and money generating schemes.   

Motorcycle Action Group (MAG) stated that the City Corporation’s decision to classify powered two wheelers as ‘general traffic’ 

alongside cars is irrational and ultimately counterproductive to the City’s aims (Approach to managing traffic and Access). 

Other online respondents highlighted particular reasons for their opposition, including: 

• Making London more restricted and less welcoming 

• Restricting road access and individual movement 

• Discriminating against car drivers and those who cannot walk/cycle long distances 

P
age 98



20 | P a g e  
 

• Black cab accessibility should not be restricted 

• No consideration of motorcycles. 

 

Summary Responses and Changes 

Traffic reduction measures are core to delivering the benefits of the Strategy, including creating more space for walking and 

wheeling, greening and public realm improvements.  

Changes to vehicles access and traffic reduction are key to achieving more and better space for walking and wheeling, as well as 

other outcomes.  Access by vehicle to all locations is possible for those who cannot walk or wheel.  We accept that for some, the 

journey may be made longer due to reallocation of street space or point access restrictions.  We endeavour to find app-based 

solutions when available, to providing taxi access for disabled passengers through restrictions.   

We consider that the next generation of road user charging will give the opportunity to explore more targeted approaches to road 

pricing and therefore traffic reduction. The revised proposal 11 includes the commitment to working with TfL to develop the next 

generation of road user charging. The next generation of charging should overcome some of the limitations of the congestion 

charge, being capable of being more sensitive to location, user type, and distance travelled. 

Whilst the Mayor of London has not set a target date for a new road user charge scheme, he has initiated engagement and 

commenced discussion on options and objectives, which the City is participating in. 

No further changes will be made to the proposals in this outcome.   

We have updated the classification for powered two wheelers (PTWs) and others in DVLA class L1, in the text setting out how we 

approach Managing Traffic Movement and Access.   

 

  

P
age 99



21 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 3: The Square Mile is accessible to all  

The City of London Corporation will continue to work towards ensuring everybody is able to travel easily, comfortably and 

confidently to and around the Square Mile. This includes supporting and championing accessibility improvements to Underground 

stations, offering opportunities for people to stop and rest, and continuing to remove obstacles to walking, wheeling and cycling.   

The Strategy will continue to ensure pavements and crossings are not obstructed and are designed to be smooth, level and wide 

enough to avoid uncomfortable crowding wherever possible. The City of London Corporation will continue to work collaboratively 

with partners, residents, and stakeholders representing the needs of different street users when designing streets, and make 

spaces that are usable by everyone, regardless of age, ability and circumstance.   

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under Outcome 3 – The Square Mile is 

accessible to all. A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 16-19 are listed below. 

• Remove the commitment to create a City of London Street Accessibility Standard, as we have now developed the City of 

London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT). The tool enables street designers to easily identify how street features impact on 

the different needs of disabled people and identifies the trade-offs that may be needed to ensure no one is excluded from 

using the City's streets. We will apply CoLSAT to all projects on-street and in the public realm, and we will encourage 

developers and partners to use it during their own design and planning process.  

• Update our commitments with reference to additional dockless bikes and scooter use in the Square Mile. Ensuring 

partnership working encourages safer and more inclusive behaviours, and ensures that people parking cycles and e-

scooters do not cause obstruction on our pavements. 

• Remove “Proposal 18: Keep pedestrian crossings clear of vehicles”. This proposal is no longer considered necessary as 

existing legislation includes blocking a crossing, except in instances where it is absolutely necessary to avoid injury or 

damage. The use of colour and markings at crossings is likely to negatively impact on some disabled people and is no 

longer considered an appropriate mechanism for tackling this issue.   

• Support accessibility improvements to London’s wider public transport network, as improvements beyond the City’s 

boundary are key to reducing extra travel time or longer routes. Furthermore, we acknowledge that barriers to travel include 

more than just lack of step free access, but also lack of accessible route planning information, poorly trained staff, absence 

of visible staff to help etc.   

P
age 100



22 | P a g e  
 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Accessible to All’ Outcome 

The majority of stakeholders that engaged in the Transport Strategy review acknowledged the importance of accessibility for all.  

Stakeholders who supported the changes to the Accessibility Outcome included:  

• City residents 

• Employees of City businesses 

• Members of the City of London Access Group (CoLAG) 

• Members of the City Property Association (CPA) 

25 responses were received from the online consultation, with support from 12 of the consultation participants (48%), but receiving 

disapproval from 10 (40%) respondents. 

A lot of detailed comments were received through focussed workshops with CoLAG and some online respondents also left very 

detailed comments. 

As this Outcome contained few changes, or changes that simply reflected updates following progress made, there were no 

questions in the Key Changes section for this Outcome. 

Expressions of support for the proposals.  

Stakeholders including the CPA, COLAG and other workshops stakeholders supported this outcome and its proposals and noted 

that accessibility should be a priority for the Strategy.  

When we analysed the comments left by respondents in the online consultation, it was clear that respondents felt the Strategy 

should prioritise access for disabled people and improve accessibility through:  

• Slowing traffic; ‘managing’ cycle behaviour; including wheelchair buttons on pedestrian crossings to allow more time for 

people to cross. 

• Improving wayfinding and ensuring lifts and escalators are better maintained. 

• Providing more places to stop and rest for disabled people.  

Further comments encouraged us to: 

P
age 101



23 | P a g e  
 

• go further with provision for disabled people and ensure bridges and riverside connections are more accessible 

• develop app based options to allow taxi access where essential 

• ensure full engagement with disabled groups, including those with neuro diverse issues 

• better provide for disabled electric mobility scooters; 

• prioritise good maintenance to streets and pavements affecting disabled people, and 

• better manage temporary obstacles such as e-bikes and scooters.   

There was support from residents for the update to Proposal 17 to include more enforcement for e-scooters and e-bikes and 

remove obstructions to create safer streets.  Other comments focussed on the impact that vehicles and cyclists jumping red lights 

have on visually impaired people feeling unsafe.  

Several residents and online comments noted that more should be done to ensure pavements are well maintained and accessible 

including during construction work. 

There was support from City residents and CoLAG for improving accessibility to stations and having accessible stations. However, 

a City resident noted that they felt that although the Elizabeth Line is step-free, the distances are too far to walk, making the station 

inaccessible to a lot of people. 

CoLAG and other online comments reflected the view that the use of vehicles is essential for many wheelchair users.   

 

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

10 online respondents disagreed with the changes.  When reviewed in more detail, online respondents who expressed their 

opposition for Proposals within this Outcome did not indicate that their opposition was directly related to specific changes in 

Proposals 16-19. Instead, many of the comments received expressed concerns and strongly requested the City Corporation to do 

more to improve accessibility in the City and consider the needs of disabled people. Nearly all of these comments have already 

been considered or provided for within the Strategy.   

United Cabbies Group (UCG) felt that the Strategy is overly focussed on being accessible to those on foot or wheeling at the 

detriment to those who need accessible public transport like publicly hired taxis. 

Summary Responses and Changes 

P
age 102



24 | P a g e  
 

The updated introductory text for the Outcome will provide context around accessibility and respond to many of the comments 

made which have requested greater clarity and explanation, but changes to the proposals are not considered necessary.    

Comment on the impact of access restrictions is included in Outcome 2 response above.  

Proposal 30 (provision of Electric Vehicle infrastructure) will be updated to include wheelchairs / mobility scooters in the list of 

users to be considered in the Electric Vehicle Charging Action Plan.  

 

  

P
age 103



25 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 4: People using our streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe  

No one should be prevented from choosing a particular mode of transport because of concerns for their personal safety. Delivering 

the Strategy will result in fewer motor vehicles on our streets and those vehicles will be moving at slower speeds. Collisions will 

occur less often and will not result in death or serious injury. Fewer, slower vehicles, together with high quality street lighting, will 

also mean that streets feel safer at all times of the day.  

Motor vehicles themselves will be equipped with advanced sensors and better automatic safety features that will further reduce or 

eliminate human driving error. Security features will be sensitively incorporated into the streetscape and will incorporate features 

that help make streets more attractive places to walk and spend time. The Square Mile will continue to experience a low rate of 

crime and fear of crime, supported by 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under Outcome 4 – People using our 

streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe, proposals 20-23. A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 20-23 

are listed below. 

• Remove the commitment to seek a City-wide mandatory 15mph limit after this was turned down by the Department for 

Transport.  

• Change the trajectory of our ambition to achieve zero fatal and serious injuries by 2040, with a new target of fewer than 20 

deaths and serious injuries by 2030.      

• Update priority locations for Safe Streets interventions based on revised collision and casualty data analysis.   

• Update the proposal to include a Post Collision Response theme, including collision investigation, evaluation and post-crash 

victim care.  

• Broaden the crime and fear of crime proposal to include anti-social behaviour, violence against women and girls, and serious 

violence, with a focus on the night-time economy.   

• Update the street lighting proposal to reflect the completion of the street lighting upgrade and focus on the application of the 

Lighting Strategy when operating existing and installing new lighting. 

  

P
age 104



26 | P a g e  
 

Key change - feedback on the Proposal to remove the commitment to introduce a 15mph speed limit in 
the Square Mile   

In the Key Questions section, the proposal received mixed views on not committing to a 15mph speed limit in the Square Mile.  157 

respondents (45% of consultation participants) agreed with this while almost 136 (39% of respondents) disagreed.  

191 comments were received that supported the proposal to remove the commitment to introduce 15mph limits. Themes of 

commentary included that the 15mph speed limit was too slow, (61 comments) unnecessary (24 comments) and that 20mph was 

sufficiently low (23 comments).  Those responding to the key change question around the removal of 15 mph restriction, where 136 

people disagreed, the comments mostly challenged the proposal to remove the commitment, stating that 15mph limits were 

necessary for improving safety (91 comments), with benefits for the environment (9 comments).  

Looking at average scores for different demographics, residents and those whose day-to-day activities were limited by a 

physical/mental health condition or disability, were slightly more likely than average to agree with this change. However, there were 

lower than average levels of agreement with this change amongst other groups, namely those visiting the City for leisure and 

business purposes, those who walk and/or cycle, and younger people, under the age of 35.  Comments in the survey reflected that 

people that cycle were less likely to support the proposal to remove the 15mph commitment as they felt that it would reduce the 

opportunity improve their safety on the City’s streets. 

Two stakeholder representatives (Living Streets, Action Vision Zero) and a number of online consultation respondents expressed 

the need to rethink the removal of 15mph from the Strategy, with clearer explanation of the rationale for this, they suggested it 

would be good to keep the ambition. 

 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Safe Streets’ Outcome 

28 people responded and 17 (over 60%) agreed with the proposals and proposed changes regarding Safe Streets. 10 people 

(36%) disagreed with the changes.  

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

The organisations listed below expressed their support for proposals within this outcome but made no specific suggestion of 

requests for changes: 

P
age 105



27 | P a g e  
 

• The CPA welcomed the Safe Systems approach, including designing for lower speeds, as the target for collision reduction is 

not yet met. Achieving Vision Zero is core to making walking, wheeling and cycling more inclusive.  

• TfL noted its support for the outcome and welcomed joint efforts to eliminate all road deaths by 2041. 

• Barts Health NHS Trust welcome and support continued action to develop streetscapes that induce lower speeds and give 

greater priority to enable safer and more comfortable flow for pedestrians and cyclists. 

In the online consultation, 17 people (61% of consultation participants) agreed with the proposals and proposed changes regarding 

Safe Streets, suggesting that there is broad support for the changes made.  

Comments made agreed with the priority to address serious collisions amongst people walking and cycling, which represent the 

greatest numbers in the collision and casualty data. 

On-street policing and lighting is identified as a priority, in line with the Strategy.  

Further comment themes included welcoming that the strategy includes an approach to make progress towards Vision Zero; and 

doing more to ensure people driving cars correctly give way to those who walk and/or cycle. 

Referring to proposal 20, comments were received that recognised and welcomed the commitments made in the proposal to deliver 

junction improvements, but pointed out that these did not include locations outside of the Square Mile.  

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

From the online consultation, 10 people disagreed with the changes to proposals, and a number of comments were received that 

challenged the proposed changes to the Safe Streets outcome.  Some of the comments made supported the principles of road 

danger reduction but felt that proposed changes weakened this section of the Strategy, treating motor traffic fatal risk less seriously 

at the expense of more vulnerable users of the City’s streets 

Other themes of responses challenged the ‘Safer Systems’ approach overall, rather than the specific changes, describing it as 

unachievable due to the fallibility of humans, and dismissed the need to have slower speeds.    

  

P
age 106



28 | P a g e  
 

Summary responses and changes. 

We have updated proposal 20 to note we will explore the introduction of lower advisory speed limits on specific streets across the 

Square Mile where they would help create lower speed environments, support efforts to prioritise people walking and wheeling and 

reduce road danger.   

We have updated proposal 20 to include further wording to underline our commitment to working with TfL and neighbouring 

boroughs, on designing safer streets that are on or just beyond the City boundaries, reflecting that TfL and other neighbouring 

London boroughs have a commitment to Vision Zero. 

We have updated proposal 20 to promote the use of advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) which includes telematics, 

intelligent speed assistance (ISA) etc, for our own fleet and suppliers, in place of solely ISA.  

We have updated proposal 21 to include reference to crime against women and girls. 

We have updated proposal 22 to include a reference to ‘cycle parking’ in the statement to work with industry partners on hostile 

vehicle mitigation street furniture. 

  

P
age 107



29 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 5: Improve the experience of riding cycles and scooters in the City 

Delivery of the Transport Strategy will mean more people choosing to cycle, and cycles being used for more types of journeys. We 

want the range of people choosing to cycle to match the diversity of people who live, work, study in and visit the City. Most people, 

whether they choose to cycle or not, will consider cycling to be a safe, easy and pleasant way to travel around the Square Mile. 

Reduced traffic, slower speeds and a dense network of cycle friendly streets will mean that anyone who wishes to cycle is not 

prevented from doing so because of concerns about safety. The cycle network will cater for all types of cycles, including cycles as 

mobility aids and cargo cycles. Different types of cycles will also be available for hire across the City, supporting more flexible 

cycling. A safer and calmer cycling experience will in turn encourage more considerate and appropriate cycling behaviour that 

reflects the priority given to people walking on the City’s streets. 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under Outcome 5 – Improve the 

experience of riding cycles and scooters in the City, proposals 25-28. A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 25-

28 are listed below. 

• Update the outcome and proposal to include scooters, as well as to treat scooters in the same way as cycles in our policies 

and projects (subject to them being made fully legal in future legislation by central Government).  

• Revise our minimum design standard to reflect changes in deliverability, ensuring it remains in line with best practice in 

London outlined in Transport for London’s Cycle Route Quality Criteria.  

• Expand proposals to improve cycle hire in the City to reference e-scooter hire as well and provide more parking spaces for 

all dockless hire vehicles.   

 

  

P
age 108



30 | P a g e  
 

Key Change - feedback on the proposed change to the cycling Outcome and Proposals to include 
micromobility (e.g. Scooters, Electric Scooters) 

This proposed change was responded to by 386 respondents in the Key Questions section. Around 135 (35%) of consultation 

participants agreed with this change to include scooters, their view was countered by a slightly higher number 143 (37%) who 

disagreed. 

Younger people and those who cycle or walk scored higher than average levels of support for this change. City residents, private 

transport users and those whose day-to-day activities were limited by a physical/mental health condition or disability expressed 

lower than average support. 

This outcome and the three proposals have had a substantial rewrite to reflect the changes in what vehicles and types of vehicles 

should be catered for under an umbrella term of ‘micromobility’.  This drew a lot of comments reflecting the amount of change, and 

that these were highlighted for respondents to comment on.   

Support was received for the approach to accept scooters and e-bikes, by 135 people. Detailed comments in support of this 

proposal were on the following themes:   

• Positive but be more ambitious (21) 

• Promotes a practical alternative to motor vehicles (16) 

• Promoting inclusivity (12) 

• Need to segregate routes (4)  

• Tackling scooter parking being necessary and regulating scooters (4) 

 

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

From the online consultation 143 respondents did not support the change, and included comments on the following themes: 

• Scooter behaviour (91) 

• Cycle behaviour (52) 

• Only provides for a minority group (14) 

• Anti motorist (12) 

P
age 109



31 | P a g e  
 

• Cycle lanes underused (6) 

• Scooter regulation need (6) 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed Changes to the ‘More People Choose to Cycle in the City’ 
Outcome 

44 people responded online with 19 agreeing with the proposed changes (43%) and 17 disagreeing (39%). 

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

The organisations listed below expressed their support for Proposals within this Outcome (in full or in part) but made no specific 

suggestion of requests for changes: 

• TfL 

• City of London BIDs 

• The CPA welcomes the aim to improve the experience of cycling and scooting, in particular achieving a minimum service 

level, and improving key intersections with micromobility in mind.   

 

Whilst most respondents felt that better regulation is essential, some concerns were raised by LCC that heavy handed regulation of 

e-bikes / scooters and rental schemes would be a step backwards, as the presence of these in the transport system is welcome.  

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

Comments expressing opposition, to both the key change and other changes in this section, fell under two key areas, firstly the 

impact on space and safety for people walking and wheeling. Comments included that riding and parking of dockless bikes and 

scooters was having an impact on people walking around the city, feeling that space available on pavements has been badly 

affected by poor dockless e-bike parking.  Opposition was received on safety grounds, with comments that that moving bikes and 

e-scooters are more of a threat as there is a new trend to cycle on pavements in some locations, around residents areas rather 

than busy streets in the office dominated space.  Comments were also focussed on the lack of observance of traffic signals and 

zebra crossings by people cycling, making people feel unsafe, with this issue affecting disabled people more significantly.   

A number of respondents felt that scooters and cycles are given a higher priority, including investment in infrastructure, than they 

need.  

P
age 110



32 | P a g e  
 

The second key theme that raised objections was that we should be doing more for people cycling.  The changes to the delivery 

timetable where infrastructure is being completed later than first planned drew negative comment.  Additionally a call to lobby TfL 

more strongly on the parts of the cycle network that are TLRN and need some changes to address cycle and pedestrian safety and 

to ensure we are aligning with MTS.  

 

Summary response and changes. 

Much of the negative feedback was around the relationship between people riding scooters and cycles and other street users. We 

will continue to work on providing a network which addresses these issues where possible. We are actively reviewing locations of 

high conflict, and will consider any physical changes possible.  

We also work closely with the City of London Police to address illegal behaviour of all street users. Many comments also related to 

poor management of hire e-bikes, impacting safety and space, which we are working to resolve and lobbying for regulation to allow 

us to manage operators better.  

The changes to the delivery timetable, where infrastructure is being completed later than first planned, drew negative comment; it 

should be noted that some sections of the cycle network have been delivered earlier than planned through pandemic response 

schemes being retained.  The new programme for delivery of cycle infrastructure is considered to best reflect funding available and 

feasibility to deliver changes within other major traffic management or street reconfiguration schemes, such as St Paul’s gyratory 

and the Rotunda, improvements will be delivered linked to timetable for major developments. 

There are no further changes to the proposals in this outcome. 

  

P
age 111



33 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 6: The Square Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter 

Delivery of the Transport Strategy will mean that by 2044, transport related local air pollution and carbon emissions will have been 

cut to virtually zero, and streets will be quieter more relaxing places. Together with wider action to reduce emissions from buildings 

and development, this will mean that the City enjoys some of the cleanest urban air in the world. There will be fewer motor vehicles 

and those remaining will be powered by electricity or other zero emission technologies. 

Emerging automation technology will reduce speeds and avoid aggressive acceleration and braking, leading to less tyre and brake 

wear. New approaches to noise management will mean that street works cause less disturbance.  

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under Outcome 6 – The Square Mile’s 

air and streets are cleaner and quieter, proposals 29-37. A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 29-37 are listed 

below: 

• Remove the commitment to local Zero Emissions Zones (ZEZ) covering parts of the City of London.  

• Remove the reference to supporting a ZEZ covering central London within the next Mayoral term, given the indication by City 

Hall and TfL that the Mayor no longer intends to implement one.   

• Support the use of next generation road user charging to control traffic more sensitively according to location and time and to 

replace the congestion charge and ULEZ charge.   

• Update our proposal to reference the work the Department for Transport (DfT) is doing on noise enforcement and our 

intention to use new powers if appropriate for city locations after the completion of a ‘noise camera’ trial. 

  

P
age 112



34 | P a g e  
 

Key change - feedback on the proposal to remove the commitment to a local Zero Emission Zone (ZEZ) 
covering parts of the City of London   

This proposal was included in the Key Questions section of the consultation where a total of 297 people responded. The proposal 

received mixed views in relation to removing our commitment to provide a ZEZ. 110 people (37% of respondents) agreed with this 

change, while 107 people (36%) who disagreed.  

Of those who agreed with the change, a number considered ZEZs a money-making scheme (15 comments online) and commented 

that providing a ZEZ in the City was unnecessary and unachievable (29 comments online).  Other respondents made positive 

comments (32 in total) that pursuing alternatives as now proposed is appropriate.   

In detailed comments, concern was expressed that the reliance on the next generation of road user charging to control traffic levels 

and vehicle related pollution was at risk as this was not a firm commitment from the Mayor. Concern was also expressed about over 

reliance on electric vehicles.   

Respondents had concerns that the removal of the ZEZ proposal failed to tackle air pollution and that we should pursue alternatives 

(63 online comments). 

Looking at the demographic differences, City of London residents and workers, rail users and older people (aged 55+) were slightly 

more supportive than average of this change to proposal.  Those who cycle were less supportive than average.    

 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Cleaner and Quieter’ Outcome 

29 people responded to this question, with 17 people (58% of consultation participants) agreeing with the proposed changes 

regarding the Square Mile’s air and streets being cleaner and quieter. However, nine people (31%) disagreed with these.  

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

The organisations listed below expressed their support for Proposals within this Outcome but made no specific suggestion of 

requests for changes: 

• City of London Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) 

• London Cycling Campaign (LCC)  

P
age 113



35 | P a g e  
 

• TfL noted the progress on reducing nitrogen oxides since the introduction of the ULEZ.   

 

The combined BIDs response supported this outcome and welcomed the action to engage with SMEs to accelerate the transition to 

zero emission capable vehicles, but also called for an increase to charging infrastructure by the City to assist with this aim.  

Action Vision Zero expressed strong support for the noise camera trial, under proposal 34; and further in the online responses this 

proposal attracted a number of comments, indicating that tackling noisy vehicles is a priority and that a progressive approach 

should be adopted which could act as a model for neighbouring boroughs.  

Of the 29 respondents to the overarching question on changes proposed to the outcome, 17 of these (58%) expressed their 

support. Online comments included: 

• Excellent recommendations regarding noise enforcement and working with businesses to look at alternative delivery 

systems. 

• Applause for removing the commitment to provide a ZEZ; including that air quality no longer needs improvement. 

• The need to expand provision of electric charge points, including for larger vehicles in the future 

 

Some other suggestions were made encouraging clarity and the need to go further, in providing for a wider range of vehicle types in 

future, vehicles over 7.5 tonne and coaches, and consideration of hydrogen as well as electric. There was also a request to ensure 

we clarify the targets in relation to national standards for air quality as these have changed since the publication of the 2019 

Strategy. 

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

Of the 29 respondents to the overarching question, nine expressed their opposition to the changes proposed for the Outcome. 

Comments were similar to those commenting on the key change noting a weakening of the Strategy with the removal of the ZEZ, 

with no compensatory action to achieve targets; concerns were expressed  that this would result in failing to tackle air pollution and 

that we should pursue alternatives (63 online comments). 

Further comments were made on: 

• Data showing improvements to air quality are unreliable and over-played 

P
age 114



36 | P a g e  
 

• A misplaced confidence in electric vehicles. 

 

Summary response and changes 

 

In response to the challenges around weakening of the Strategy the robust data provided on ULEZ measures show that these have 

led to a significant improvement in air quality, with just 7% of the City exceeding the legal NO2 limit of 40 μg/m³ in 2022, compared 

to 33% in 2019 when commitments to zero emission zones were made.  Data on air quality is verified by TfL and the Department 

for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). 

With nitrous oxides having been reduced in the Square Mile, our priority will now be on introducing very localised emissions-

restrictions in the remaining ‘problem areas’ where appropriate, and working on overall traffic reduction measures to achieve further 

improvement.  PM10 and PM2.5 require wider area approaches as are transboundary pollutants, being affected by weather and 

wider area pollution. 

It Is noted that the next generation of road user charging is still at an early stage of development, without certain dates to 

implement, however the Mayor of London has commenced engagement and we will support the development and delivery of this 

as it is an appropriate way to manage traffic on our streets.   

We have based our EV infrastructure targets on forecast demand. Our EV Charging Infrastructure action plan will be updated in 

2024 to reflect targets to 2030, therefore the future number is likely to increase. The EV charging infrastructure plan will also be 

updated to reflect a consideration of charging for larger vehicles, and awareness of innovative approaches where possible.   

Proposal 30 has been updated to include consideration of mobility scooters in provision of EV charging.  

  

P
age 115



37 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 7: Delivery and servicing needs are met more efficiently, and impacts 

are minimised  
 

Deliveries and servicing are an essential part of a thriving business district. Delivering the Transport Strategy will ensure these 

needs are met by fewer, quieter, safer and cleaner lorries and vans. Deliveries for buildings or areas of the City will be grouped 

together at consolidation centres, meaning fewer, fuller vehicles The lorries and vans making these deliveries will use the return 

journey to transport waste and recycling. The Thames will also carry goods into the City as well as waste out, including the 

materials needed for construction projects. Logistics hubs within the City will enable deliveries to be made by cargo cycles and 

pedestrian porters. Cargo cycles will also be used for servicing businesses and buildings, with tools and parts securely stored at 

locations within the Square Mile. New technologies will help improve the routing of deliveries and make it easier to find a place to 

park or unload. 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under Outcome 7 – ‘Delivery and 

servicing needs are met more efficiently, and impacts are minimised’. A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 38-

39 are listed below. 

• Remove the commitments to deliver five last mile logistics hubs by 2025, instead working with BIDs and neighbouring 

boroughs to identify suitable sites, including potential sites within the City.   

• Remove the commitment to deliver a sustainable logistics consolidation centre by 2030. Instead, we will encourage 

consolidation through the planning process by requiring developments to consolidate vehicle deliveries and servicing trips as 

a condition of their planning application.  

• Update our aim to establish a collaborative procurement programme for small and medium-sized businesses by 2022 to 

2028 and work together with BIDs to trial collective delivery areas, where deliveries and servicing activities are consolidated 

into as few operators as possible.  

• Promote the role of rail in reducing the number of freight vehicles in the City and across London and work with Network Rail 

to identify any opportunities for inward freight at railway stations in the City.   

  

P
age 116



38 | P a g e  
 

Key change - feedback on the proposal to remove the commitment for the City of London Corporation to 
provide a consolidation centre 

This proposal was included in the Key Questions section of the consultation where a total of 334 people responded, and views to 

remove the commitment to introduce a consolidation centre were divided. 160 people (48% of respondents) felt that they were 

undecided in relation to this. 84 people (25%) agreed and 90 people (27%) disagreed with the change to this proposal. 

From reviewing the comments and reasons given, there was some confusion in understanding the proposed change. We are 

removing a commitment to provide a City Corporation run/subsidised consolidation centre, not removing our commitment to support 

the use of consolidation centres and using initiatives to do so. Some comments evidently thought the latter. We expect that this has 

impacted responses, drawing more disagreement and negative comment. We also note that we had a high number of undecided 

responses to this question.  

We are committed to reducing freight traffic on the City’s streets, and support the use and promotion of consolidated deliveries and 

consolidation centres. However, as consolidation centres are provided by the market, there is not a need for the City Corporation to 

invest or develop its own consolidation operation. We continue to promote and encourage consolidation as set out in the proposal 

text. We will make sure the final text is clear.  

 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘More Efficient Freight and Servicing’ Outcome 

Proposals to improve efficiency in freight and servicing proved unpopular with 10 people (45% of consultation participants) 

disagreeing with the proposals, compared to nine (41%) in agreement.  

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

The organisations listed below expressed their support for proposals within this Outcome and made no specific suggestion of 

requests for changes: 

• The PLA supported the emphasis on the need to promote use of the Thames for light freight.  

• The CPA noted the complex needs for freight and servicing and supported the City’s pragmatic approach to reducing the 

number of freight vehicles.  

P
age 117



39 | P a g e  
 

• The CPA welcomed working with BIDs, occupiers, Network Rail and logistics providers – and that this will lead to more 

goods and services being delivered by cargo bike, rail and river.  It was also noted that developing new technology and 

smart systems will assist in the achievement of this.  

• TfL supported the aim to increase the use of cargo bikes and encourage freight travel on foot for local deliveries.   

From the online consultation, a number of comments were received that supported the proposed changes to the Delivery and 

Servicing outcome. Comment themes included, that: 

• The proposal was strengthening measures to reduce motorised road freight, and promote freight into London by rail 

• Adding requirements for consolidated deliveries to planning consents is a positive move 

• It was welcomed to prioritise reducing deliveries at night (between 11pm and 8am) given the disturbance and noise inflicted 

on residents. 

 

Some comments from the stakeholder workshops, which support the principles but suggested potential improvements by: 

• Providing increased access to loading bays/kerbside - deliveries are more efficient at higher speeds. 

• Consideration of a pilot scheme to digitally record all highway traffic regulation orders and create, for example, bookable 

loading bays – potentially revolutionising servicing and its management in the City. 

 

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

A number of comments in the consultation and through broader stakeholder engagement opposed the changes to proposals in the 

freight and servicing outcome. These were mainly relating to a reduction in the level of ambition, to the removal of the commitment 

to fund and deliver a freight consolidation centre, and further that the City Corporation was removing commitments and failing to 

replace them with new commitments.   

Comments were received noting that not all deliveries can be consolidated, and that existing buildings would not be made to meet 

the same standards as new buildings through the planning decision process.  

  

P
age 118



40 | P a g e  
 

Summary response and changes. 

As noted above there was some confusion over the intention of the change to providing a consolidation centre and similarly, 

regarding the change to reduce the number of last mile logistics hubs introduced directly by the City.  Reading the detailed 

comments, a number of respondents had taken this to mean a removal of the support for the principle of hubs.  

We remain committed to both concepts but are reducing the direct commitment by the city to provide a consolidation centre and 

last mile hubs. It is not considered necessary or good value for money for the City Corporation to provide something the market is 

already doing.   

Supporting actions will still be delivered by the City and should assist in meeting the freight vehicle reduction target.  

Refurbished buildings and existing buildings will be encouraged to operate consolidated delivery, some of this can be achieved 

through planning conditions. Voluntary area-based consolidation is being developed in partnership with two of the BIDs during 

2024, and further opportunities will be sought.   

We do recognise that not all deliveries will be able to shift to a consolidated delivery system, but that we should still aim to support 

changes where possible.  

No changes will be made to the proposals in this outcome.  

 

  

P
age 119



41 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 8: Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances 

Occasional disruption to people using our streets and transport networks is inevitable. This includes disruption caused by construction 

and streetworks, breakdowns and severe weather. By delivering the Strategy, we will ensure that these disruptions have as little 

impact on the ease and experience of travelling in the City as possible. Streets will be kept open to people walking and cycling 

during construction and streetworks. Long-term works that require streets to be closed to traffic will provide an opportunity for 

people to enjoy the benefits of a traffic-free environment, and to assess the potential for permanent change. When necessary, 

alternative routes will be made available for motor traffic on streets that are normally only used for access. The Square Mile will be 

prepared for the impacts of a changing climate or more extreme weather events; enabling people to comfortably use the City 

streets regardless of the weather. 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under Outcome 8 – Our street network is 

resilient to changing circumstances, proposals 40-42. A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 40-42 are listed 

below: 

• Revise our proposal on making the City’s streets resilient to severe weather events to include commitments from the Climate 

Action Strategy and the Biodiversity Action Plan. 

• We will install sustainable drainage where possible and appropriate on our streets to absorb rainwater runoff and provide 

more greening.  

• We will plant more trees on City streets and gardens, with at least 100 new climate resilient street trees to be planted by 

2025. These will provide shade and shelter and absorb carbon from the atmosphere.  

• We will increase the amount of permeable street surfaces, where possible, to minimise rainwater runoff, which helps to 

mitigate flood risk in the City. 

  

P
age 120



42 | P a g e  
 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Resilient Streets’ Outcome 

The consultation response to the ‘Resilience’ outcome received more support than opposition.  

Proposals to make streets more resilient received support, although many respondents were undecided. 10 of the 18 respondents 

agreed with the changes, compared to only three that disagreed. Five respondents neither agreed nor disagreed with the changes 

and enhancements to the outcome. 

Since the ‘Resilience’ outcome contained few changes, and changes were to align with other City Corporation adopted strategies 

such as the Climate Acton Strategy, we did not include anything in the Key Changes section, therefore those that responded to the 

‘Resilience’ outcome would have included those with a particular interest on the topic. 

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

Ten consultation respondents supported the changes to the Outcome.  

Online comments included: 

• Value of recognising resilience within design. 

• The need to measure physical changes against cost and carbon impact. 

• Welcoming the acknowledgement of  increasing issues with flooding in the context of continued development of ground 

space. 

• Welcoming tree planting. 

• Welcoming increased drainage. 

Comments expressing concerns related to this outcome or proposals.   

LCC suggested that the City Corporation could learn from TfL through their initiatives to reduce road danger and local amenity as a 

consequence of road works and construction sites.  

Feedback received through drop-in session engagement highlighted the importance of frequent and costed maintenance of any 

additional greening measures installed on City streets.   

 

P
age 121



43 | P a g e  
 

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

Only three respondents expressed opposition to the Outcome changes, and an online comment expressed that we were over-

prioritising climate polices and modelling at the expense of transport and other issues such as crime. This point was not elaborated 

on any further.  

Summary response and changes. 

The City Corporation has signed up to deliver a reduction in carbon and to produce a more climate resilient public realm and street 

network, this is a corporate priority.   

No changes will be made to the proposals in this outcome.  

 

  P
age 122



44 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 9: Emerging technologies benefit the Square Mile 

The advent of new transport technology innovations, such as autonomous vehicles (AVs) and new apps and services, promise to 

change the way our streets function and the way we choose to travel on them. Delivering the Strategy will ensure that transport 

innovations are seamlessly integrated into the fabric of the City and improve the experience of travelling and spending time on the 

Square Mile’s streets. A proactive rather than reactive approach to policy making will ensure appropriate policy and legislation is in 

place while supporting and accelerating beneficial innovations. The City will be a test-bed for urban transport innovations and seen 

as a world leader in improving people’s personal mobility and livelihoods through new technologies. 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under Outcome 9, proposals 43-45. A 

summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 43-45 are listed below: 

• Remove the commitment to establish a Future Transport Programme and associated action plan and to lead on developing 

future technology in transport. Instead, our emphasis will be to engage with innovators and be open to opportunities to 

support and facilitate new innovations that are in line with our principles and objectives.  

• Remove the commitment to establish a Future Transport Advisory Board, instead seeking more targeted additional expert 

advice as needed. 

  

P
age 123



45 | P a g e  
 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Emerging technologies benefit the Square 
Mile’ Outcome 

The consultation response to the ‘Emerging technologies benefit the Square Mile’ Outcome received more support than opposition. 

18 people responded to this, with nine consultation participants agreeing with these Proposals and Outcome changes. Five people 

disagreed with them. Most of the negative comments raised were concerns about how this Outcome will manage the challenges, 

rather than strong opposition, these comments are set out below.  

Since the ‘Emerging Technologies’ Outcome contained few significant changes, or changes that simply reflected updates following 

progress since the publication of the Strategy, we did not ask anything in the Key Changes section. Those respondents that 

commented in the ‘Emerging Technologies’ outcome are likely to have included those with a particular interest in the Outcome. 

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

Nine of the 18 respondents and the City Property Association (CPA) expressed their support for changes to the Proposals within 

this Outcome: 

Some of those respondents highlighted particular reasons for their support, including: 

• CPA expressed support for finding app-based solutions that would allow disabled passengers to use taxis in instances 

where traffic restrictions would otherwise prevent access.  

 

Support for the principle but with concerns around impact of changes to the proposal, were expressed in the following comments: 

• CPA noted acknowledgement that over the coming years, great strides will be made in the availability of technology that can 

support the objectives of the Transport Strategy and Destination City. This includes, but is not limited to, driverless vehicles 

for deliveries/freight consolidation. Noted a need to reflect this in the proposed changes, with the City Corporation leading 

the way in the innovation and use of technologies that can support the City’s growth 

• Risk of the City of London falling behind on technology in the absence of a future-focused team 

• LCC suggested that regulation of dockless cycle and scooter schemes should not undermine their viability and the City 

Corporation should help to ensure this 

• Improved management of electric and driverless vehicles is required 

• Over-emphasising technology can lead to misplaced surveillance and control 

P
age 124



46 | P a g e  
 

• The proposals require further clarity on the use of ‘droids’. 

 

Summary responses and changes 

 

In response to the point ensuring improved management of electric and driverless vehicles, whilst this is expected to be regulated 

at a national level, the Strategy already states that we will ensure emerging technology will be adopted in line with delivering 

Healthy Streets, and have stipulated a number of requirements in proposal 43 to ensure that technology supports and does not 

undermine our core Vision and Aims. 

Proposal 43 has been updated to reflect the need to accommodate every user where possible, adding those with sensory 

impairments.    

The explanatory text for this proposal 43 contains some further detail on droids. 

 P
age 125



47 | P a g e  
 

Outcome 10: The Square Mile benefits from better transport connections 

Public transport will remain the main way that people travel to the Square Mile and continued investment will ensure that the City 

remains one of the most well-connected business districts in the world. Public transport will provide efficient and direct 24-hour 

connectivity to major local, regional, national, and international destinations. The building of new rail and underground connections 

will provide the additional capacity people need to get to the City quickly and comfortably from across Greater London and the UK. 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under Outcome 10 ‘The Square Mile 

benefits from better transport connections’, Proposals 46 - 51. A summary of proposed changes to the text of Proposals 46 - 51 are 

listed below: 

• We committed to work with river service operators to encourage more affordable fares on river services to align with the 

remainder of the public transport network.   

• We updated proposal 47 to reflect the opening of the Elizabeth Line and the extension of the Overground to Barking 

Riverside. 

• We updated proposal 47 to include reference to support for rail freight and additional passenger services on the River 

Thames which now stretch to Essex and Kent. 

  

P
age 126



48 | P a g e  
 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Better Transport Connections’ Outcome 

The proposed approach to better transport connections attracted mixed feedback from the online consultation respondents. Nine 

people (36% of respondents) agreed with the outlined approach, but seven people (28% of respondents) disagreed with the 

approach, with a further nine people (36%) neither agreeing nor disagreeing. Only one question was asked of respondents under 

this outcome, as a result of few changes being made to the proposals, and no Key Changes.   

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

Nine of the 25 respondents, along with the organisations listed below expressed their support for changes to Proposals, and 

existing proposals within this Outcome.  

• Port of London Authority (PLA) 

• City Property Association (CPA) 

• City of London Access Group (CoLAG) 

 

Some of those respondents highlighted particular reasons for their support, including: 

• The PLA would encourage the City Corporation to work with TfL and river boat operators to improve or intensify passenger 

services on the Thames 

• The CPA welcomes the aim to prioritise buses and expects this will improve journey reliability for their users 

• CoLAG welcomes better transport connections, if they are accessible and inclusive, noting there is no use in having an 

accessible City if people with access requirements cannot get there. Furthermore, CoLAG noted the importance not to 

reduce bus stops and bus routes to the City, as this would have a negative impact on people who cannot walk very far. 

 

From the online survey, positive comments included: 

• Applauding the proposals 

• Prioritising bus journey times – ideally accompanied by a review of parking arrangements on bus routes 

• Providing more river services 

• Linking trains to airports. 

 

General expressions of concern 

P
age 127



49 | P a g e  
 

Comments were made raising concerns around the outcome and proposals as drafted, not specifically the changes to this 

proposal.  

One comment was made on continuing airport expansion being inadvisable in the light of the climate emergency.  It expressed a 

need for more detail regarding the rationale for this proposal (46) including the City Airport’s capacity. 

One comment was raised requesting the City Corporation fund feasibility studies on extension of the Waterloo & City Line to 

Liverpool Street and of the DLR to Farringdon or Euston, although noting that these are TfL services.  

There was one online comment that river travel is not accessible.  

With respect to the issue of the bus network and optimising bus services and routes, TfL noted that the Mayor’s transport Strategy 

puts a key emphasis on bus travel to support the Healthy Streets approach and to provide an attractive whole journey experience 

that will facilitate mode shift away from the car. Therefore, stating that any proposal to optimise the number of buses travelling 

through the city or relocate bus priority space to other modes should be carefully considered in line with TfL’s operational 

requirements and Healthy Streets policy.    

On proposal (49) online consultation (six comments) also reflected concerns about the impact on buses, of changing bus routes, 

bus journey times for passengers, considering improvements on parking on bus routes, and doing more with traffic light sequences 

to benefit bus journey times. 

 

Summary response and changes 

 

Airport expansion is supported by the City Corporation in the context of allowing for appropriate growth in international travel while 

still bringing down CO2 emissions for that sector. 

We regularly engage and work with TfL on projects that affect the City. In principle, the City would support improvements to the new 

connections through and to the City, resources do not currently allow the City to fund such a study, and any such study would more 

appropriately be carried out by TfL. 

Accessibility improvements will be sought and delivered through the Riverside Healthy Streets Plan.  

The revised text for proposal 49 includes a change to state we will optimise bus services rather than reduce those running through 

the City. This revision took into account comments the City received during the TfL consultation on removal of some services.  We 

P
age 128



50 | P a g e  
 

agree that any changes or recommendations would be in consultation with TfL, and TfL’s operational policy and the Healthy Streets 

Policy would be the framework for considering change. 

No changes will be made to the proposals in this outcome. 

 

P
age 129



51 | P a g e  
 

Delivering the Strategy 

The City of London Corporation will continue to champion the use of Healthy Streets Plans and other area strategies to coordinate 

and accelerate delivery on City of London streets. We will continue to monitor data around key targets, including on vehicular traffic 

reduction, road danger reduction, public perception, and others. We have amended targets where necessary, and added two new 

indicators to monitor progress on the Strategy. 

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the policies and actions under the section on Delivering the 

Strategy which includes performance indicators. A summary of the proposed changes to the text of Proposals 52-54 are listed 

below: 

• We will change some of the key performance indicators we use to reflect new data collection methodologies  

• We will add a key performance indicator and target for reducing carbon emissions from vehicle traffic in the City 

• We will add a key performance indicator and target associated with the perceptions of City street accessibility for people of 

all ages and abilities.  

  

P
age 130



52 | P a g e  
 

Feedback on the Proposals and proposed changes to the ‘Delivering the Strategy’ Outcome 

There was a balanced opinion in relation to the changes proposed in delivering the Strategy.  Nine people (53%) of consultation 

participants agreed with these changes, this was closely countered by eight people (47%) in disagreement.   

‘Delivering the Strategy’ did not contain any Key Changes. Most of the changes reflect updates.  Two new performance indicators 

are included in the revised Strategy, one to cover users views of improvements in accessible streets, and to provide a more specific 

measure of contribution to carbon reduction from transport initiatives.   

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

Nine out of the 17 respondents agreed with the changes to this section of the Strategy.: 

Some of those respondents highlighted particular reasons for their support, including: 

• Prioritising those who walk and use public transport. 

• Focusing on reducing the number of motor vehicles (instead of a switch to EV usage) 

 

Expressions of opposition or concern to the proposed changes  

Eight out of the 17 respondents disagreed with the changes proposed, with comments around whether the balance was right on 

prioritising different vehicles, cycles and walking/wheeling. 

• Failing to consider the needs of disabled and less mobile people as an integral part of the Strategy.  

• Failing to recognise that older people may not wish/be able to walk/cycle to and around the City of London. 

• Worsening safety for those who are forced to walk. 

 

London Cycling Campaign (LCC) challenged the removal of proposal 52 to use temporary interventions to trial and refine 

transport measures. LCC suggests that the proposal be reinstated, or an alternative similar proposal introduced. 

  

P
age 131



53 | P a g e  
 

Summary response and changes 

Comments made in response to delivering the Strategy were repeated comments that had been made around access issues for 

disabled or less mobile people.  As noted in response to Outcome 1, access restrictions on the street network and traffic reduction 

are key to achieving more and better space for walking and wheeling, and the Strategy sets out to prioritise space for these people.  

Access by vehicle to all locations is possible for those who cannot walk or wheel.  We accept that for some, the journey may be 

made longer due to reallocation of street space or point access restrictions.  We endeavour to find app-based solutions when one is 

available to providing taxi access for disabled passengers through restrictions.   

 

Whilst we have amended proposal 52 to no longer use temporary interventions that are not cost effective, we will continue to trial 

traffic management measures where appropriate.  

 

No changes will be made to the proposals in this outcome. 

  

P
age 132



54 | P a g e  
 

Managing Traffic Movement and Access  

Respondents were asked to indicate their support or opposition to the proposed approach to Managing Traffic Movement & Access. 

We are proposing a framework for how we will manage traffic movement and access to enable delivery of the Transport Strategy 

(under Outcome 2: Street space is used more efficiently and effectively).   

The following statements set out our approach for managing the allocation of space and allowing access for the different types of 

traffic on the City’s streets.  This supports Outcome 1 and 2. 

• Walking and wheeling – is the main way that people travel around the City and will be prioritised accordingly, with more 

space and priority. 

• Cycling – the City Corporation will seek to maximise the choice of safe & convenient routes for people cycling, where it does 

not conflict with the need to prioritise people walking. We will allow cycling on most streets.  

• Scooters and e-scooters – scooters will be treated in the same way as cycles in terms of street space and access. Private e-

scooters are not permitted to use public highway at present.   

• Buses – the City Corporation will prioritise bus traffic, but this will be through traffic reduction rather than space allocation. 

Dedicated bus priority space may be needed for reallocation to pavement widening.   

• Taxis – taxi access will be considered on a case-by-case basis, separately to other vehicles, with accessibility implications 

reviewed through a project’s Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA).   

• Freight & Servicing – freight and servicing vehicles with a destination in the City are essential traffic and we will seek to 

maintain access where possible.  

• General Traffic – all streets (except on pedestrianised or bus and/or cycles only sections) will continue to provide space for 

general traffic.   

  

P
age 133



55 | P a g e  
 

Feedback on the proposed approach to the ’Managing Traffic Movement and Access’  

The proposed approach to ‘Managing traffic movement and Access’ attracted mixed feedback. 11 people (41% of respondents) 

agreed with the approach, but this was exceeded by 13 people (48%) who disagreed. This  was a relatively small sample of 

respondents , with 27 in total, they provided 17 free text comments, both positive and negative.   

Expressions of support for the proposed changes   

From the online consultation, a number of comments were received that supported the proposed approach to traffic movement and 

access. Themes included, that: 

• It was positive to see a street hierarchy included in the Strategy. 

• It is important to prioritise those who walk and those who cycle. 

Further comments were received that supported the proposed approach to traffic movement and access but encouraged us to go 

further. Comment themes included, that: 

• It would be important to legalise private e-scooters as safe and efficient ways to move around 

• The City should consider increasing the number of clean buses 

• The approach should ensure signage clarifies where service vehicle access allowed 

• The approach and Strategy is providing insufficient traffic calming and restrictions in high density residential areas such as 

the Barbican 

• The City Corporation should consider free pedicabs circulating within the City. 

 

Expressions of opposition to the proposed changes  

There are negative comments relating to how the Transport Strategy prioritises some modes of travel, with a challenge received on 

the relative prioritisation of taxis that they should be given higher priority than other vehicles. 

Comment themes included that the proposal was: 

• Restricting blue/red badge accessibility 

• Restricting taxi access 

P
age 134



56 | P a g e  
 

• Failing to address the need for black cab access. 

 

Concerns on the impacts of the approach.  

Comment themes included that the proposal was: 

• Dictating travel mode choice, and punishing car/delivery drivers 

• Displacing traffic into neighbouring boroughs 

• Harming business/making the City less competitive/driving up consumer costs 

• Causing the City of London to become less attractive 

Motorcycle Action Group (MAG) challenged the proposed approach to traffic access and movement on the basis that powered 

two wheelers are included within general traffic, and that they merit different consideration in that ‘licenced PTWs are a part of the 

two wheeled transport continuum from bicycles to e-bikes and e-scooters and e-cargo bikes’. 

 

Summary response and changes 

The approach intentionally creates a framework for how we will manage different modes of transport in the City. There is no 

evidence that the approach will displace motor traffic into neighbouring boroughs.  At the core of the Strategy is the approach to 

reduce motor vehicles as far as possible, whilst retaining essential access to allow businesses to continue, including finding 

alternative approaches to deliveries.  Reducing traffic allows street space to be made more comfortable and attractive primarily for 

those walking and wheeling.  

Traffic restrictions do apply to blue and red badge holders, however this does not prevent access to any location in the City, 

although it may make some journeys longer requiring alternative routes.  Traffic restrictions do not stop access to disabled parking.  

We will continue to work closely with TfL and lobby central government to achieve the changes to deliver further improvements in 

the City, including on buses and bike/scooter hire schemes. TfL have set targets for transition to all buses being hydrogen or 

electric.  We are working with TfL and London Councils to provide a better framework for managing hire bike and scooter schemes.    

P
age 135



57 | P a g e  
 

We have updated the different types of traffic on the City’s streets, to include an additional category, of L category vehicles, which 

includes powered two wheelers, mopeds, motorbikes, (see DVLA definition).    We consider that although vehicles in this 

classification are still private transport, there may be some circumstances where we wish to differentiate locally for the purposes of 

access.  

 

  

P
age 136

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/62ed0f0e8fa8f5033275fcde/annex-b-l-category-vehicle-classification.pdf


58 | P a g e  
 

Conclusion 
The analysis of consultation responses has covered all methods of communication during the consultation period.  This included 

individual correspondence from organisations, stakeholder workshops, one to one meetings where appropriate and the online 

consultation through the ‘Commonplace’ platform. 

Outcomes and Proposal have been updated following consultation on the draft changes to the Transport Strategy. These are:  

• Proposal 1b 

• Proposal 20 

• Proposal 21 

• Proposal 22 

• Proposal 30 

• Approach to Managing Traffic Movement and Access.  

All changes to Outcome and Proposals made following feedback from this report can be viewed in the revised Transport Strategy.  

P
age 137



59 | P a g e  
 

 

P
age 138



   1 
 

City of London Transport Strategy  
Second Edition  

July 2024 

 

  

Page 139



   2 
 

 

Contents 
Introduction ................................................................................................................ 7 

Travel and transport in the Square Mile .............................................................. 9 

How the Square Mile’s streets have changed over the last 30 years .................... 10 

Understanding people’s views of transport and streets in the Square Mile ....... 12 

Climate action strategy ...................................................................................... 14 

Destination City ................................................................................................. 14 

Alignment with the City Plan 2040 ................................................................. 1516 

Supporting the delivery of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy ........................... 1617 

Local Implementation Plan ............................................................................ 1718 

Vision, aims and outcomes .................................................................................. 1819 

Our vision ...................................................................................................... 1819 

By delivering this vision we aim to… ............................................................. 1819 

To create a future where... ............................................................................ 1819 

Proposals ............................................................................................................. 1920 

The Healthy Streets Approach and Inclusivity ...................................................... 1920 

Our Inclusion principles ..................................................................................... 2021 

Healthy Streets Design Check .......................................................................... 2122 

Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in our approach to transport planning and delivery

 .......................................................................................................................... 2223 

Our Corporate Equity, Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Objectives .................. 2324 

Outcome 1: The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk, wheel and spend 

time ...................................................................................................................... 2425 

Proposal 2: Put the needs of people walking and wheeling first when designing 

and managing our streets ................................................................................. 2627 

Pedestrian Comfort Levels ............................................................................ 2627 

Key walking and wheeling routes .................................................................. 2728 

Pedestrian priority streets ............................................................................. 2728 

Pedestrian priority streets ............................................................................. 2829 

Pedestrian crossings ..................................................................................... 2829 

Continuous footways and courtesy crossings ............................................... 2930 

Campaigns and promotion ............................................................................ 2930 

Proposal 3: Enhance the riverside walkway and improve walking and wheeling 

connections between the riverside and the rest of the City ............................... 3031 

Proposal 4: Enhance the Barbican high walks .................................................. 3132 

Page 140



   3 
 

Proposal 5: Ensure new developments contribute to improving the experience of 

walking, wheeling and spending time on the City’s streets ............................... 3233 

Proposal 6: Promote and celebrate walking and wheeling ................................ 3334 

Legible London.............................................................................................. 3334 

Proposal 7: Provide more public space and deliver world-class public realm ... 3435 

Proposal 8: Incorporate more greenery into the City’s streets and public spaces

 .......................................................................................................................... 3536 

Proposal 9: Reduce rainwater run-off on City streets and public realm ............ 3637 

Proposal 10: Incorporate protection from adverse weather in the design of streets 

and the public realm .......................................................................................... 3738 

Outcome 2: Street Space is used more efficiently and effectively ........................ 3839 

Proposal 11: Take a proactive approach to reducing motor traffic .................... 4344 

Road user charging ....................................................................................... 4546 

Proposal 12: Design and manage the street network in accordance with the City of 

London Street Hierarchy ................................................................................... 4647 

Proposal 13: Use timed and temporary street closures to help make streets safer 

and more attractive places to walk, wheel, cycle and spend time ..................... 4950 

Proposal 14: Make the best and most efficient use of the kerbside and car parks

 .......................................................................................................................... 5051 

Deleted Proposal 15: Support and champion the ‘Turning the Corner’ campaign

 .......................................................................................................................... 5152 

Outcome 3: The Square Mile is accessible to all .................................................. 5253 

City of London Street Accessibility Tool ........................................................ 5253 

Proposal 16: Make the City's streets more accessible and apply the City of London 

Street Accessibility Tool .................................................................................... 5455 

Proposal 17: Keep pavements free of obstructions ........................................... 5556 

Deleted Proposal 18: Keep pedestrian crossings clear of vehicles ................... 5657 

Proposal 19: Support and champion accessibility improvements to Underground 

stations ............................................................................................................. 5758 

Outcome 4: People using our streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe .. 5859 

Proposal 20: Apply the safe system approach and the principles of road danger 

reduction to deliver Vision Zero ......................................................................... 5960 

Safe streets ................................................................................................... 5960 

Safe speeds .................................................................................................. 6061 

Safe vehicles ................................................................................................. 6162 

Safe behaviours ............................................................................................ 6162 

Post Collision Learning, Analysis and Support .............................................. 6263 

Proposal 21: Work with the City of London Police to reduce crime and fear of crime

 .......................................................................................................................... 6465 

Page 141



   4 
 

Proposal 22: Ensure on-street security measures are proportionate and enhance 

the experience of spending time on our streets ................................................ 6566 

Proposal 23: Install and operate street lighting in accordance with the Lighting 

Strategy............................................................................................................. 6667 

Outcome 5: Improve the experience of riding cycles and scooters in the City ..... 6768 

Proposal 24: Improve the experience of riding cycles and scooters and prepare for 

future forms of ‘micromobility’ ........................................................................... 6970 

Proposal 25: Increase the amount, variety and quality of cycle and scooter parking 

and facilities in the City ..................................................................................... 7172 

New Proposal 26: Support and celebrate micromobility in the City ................... 7374 

Deleted Proposal 27: Promote and celebrate cycling ....................................... 7475 

Deleted Proposal 28: Improve cycle hire in the City .......................................... 7576 

Outcome 6: The Square Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter................ 7677 

Proposal 29: Support and deliver air quality improvements .............................. 7879 

Ultra Low Emission Zone .............................................................................. 7980 

Proposal 30: Install additional electric vehicle charging infrastructure .............. 8082 

Existing electric vehicle charging provision ................................................... 8082 

Proposal 31: Request an accelerated roll out of zero emission capable buses 8183 

Proposal 32: Support small businesses to accelerate the transition to zero 

emission capable vehicles ................................................................................ 8284 

Proposal 33: Make the City of London’s own vehicle fleet zero emissions ....... 8385 

Proposal 34: Reduce the level of noise from motor vehicles ............................ 8486 

Proposal 35: Reduce noise from streetworks .................................................... 8587 

Proposal 36: Encourage innovation in air quality improvements and noise 

reduction ........................................................................................................... 8688 

Proposal 37: Ensure street cleansing regimes support the provision of a world-

class public realm ............................................................................................. 8789 

Outcome 7: Delivery and servicing needs are met more efficiently, and impacts are 

minimised ............................................................................................................. 8890 

Proposal 38: Reduce the number of freight vehicles in the Square Mile ........... 8991 

Freight consolidation ..................................................................................... 9294 

Proposal 39: Develop a sustainable servicing programme ............................... 9294 

Outcome 8: Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances ................ 9395 

Proposal 40: Allow some Local Access streets to function as City Access streets 

during significant disruption............................................................................... 9496 

Proposal 41: Reduce the impact of construction and streetworks..................... 9597 

Proposal 42: Make the street network more resilient to severe weather events 9799 

Outcome 9: Emerging technologies benefit the Square Mile .............................. 98100 

Page 142



   5 
 

Proposal 43: Support, enable and facilitate innovation in transport and the public 

realm ............................................................................................................... 99101 

Emerging transport technologies............................................................... 101103 

Proposal 45: Explore the need for legislative change to ensure emerging 

technology and innovation benefits the Square Mile ..................................... 102104 

Outcome 10: The Square Mile benefits from better transport connections ....... 103105 

Proposal 46: Support and champion better national and international connections 

to the Square Mile ......................................................................................... 104106 

Proposal 47: Support and champion improved connections to the Square Mile from 

Greater London and the surrounding region ................................................. 105107 

Proposal 48: Support the increased use of the Thames for passenger services

 ...................................................................................................................... 106108 

Proposal 49: Review bus provision across the City ...................................... 107109 

Proposal 50: Support the Mayor of London in retaining locally-generated taxation

 ...................................................................................................................... 108110 

Proposal 51: Encourage continued Government investment in major London 

transport projects .......................................................................................... 109111 

Outcome 11: Delivering the Strategy................................................................ 110112 

Projects and programmes ......................................................................... 110112 

Managing delivery ..................................................................................... 110112 

Deleted Proposal 52: Use temporary interventions and trials to accelerate the pace 

of delivery...................................................................................................... 111113 

Proposal 53: Improve our monitoring of transport in the Square Mile ........... 112114 

Funding delivery ........................................................................................ 113115 

Measuring and reporting progress ............................................................ 113115 

Partnerships and leadership ..................................................................... 115117 

Proposal 54: Support change across London that is aligned with this Strategy

 ...................................................................................................................... 116118 

Updating the Transport Strategy ............................................................... 117119 

Glossary ........................................................................................................... 118120 

Bibliography ..................................................................................................... 121123 

 

 

  

Page 143



   6 
 

Foreword 

To follow   

Page 144



   7 
 

Introduction 

The City of London, also known as the Square Mile, is the historic heart of London 

and one of the world’s leading financial and business centres. 1 in every 52 UK 

workers are employed in the City. It is home to  8,600 residents and a working 

population of over  614,000 people. Each year the City also welcomes over 10 

million tourists, in addition to those visiting for business. 

How people and goods travel to and around the City has a significant impact on the 

experience of living, working and studying in or visiting the Square Mile. Facilitating 

the safe, clean and efficient movement of people and vehicles serving the City, 

alongside improving the quality of streets and public spaces, will be essential to 

ensuring the continued success of the City as a global centre for business and 

cultural destination. 

As the highway authority for the Square Mile, the City of London Corporation (City 

Corporation) is responsible for the management of most streets within the City. 

Transport for London (TfL), the integrated transport authority for Greater London, 

manages the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN, also known as ‘Red 

Routes’), of which there are several miles within the Square Mile. TfL also manages 

and operates London’s public transport, the Congestion Charge and Emission 

Zones.  

This Transport Strategy provides a 25-year framework for future investment in and 

management of the City’s streets, as well as measures to reduce the social, 

economic, and environmental impacts of motor traffic and congestion. It also sets out 

our aspirations for improvements to the TLRN and local, national, and international 

transport connections. It details an ambitious approach to transport and the design 

and management of streets in response to the challenges arising from significant 

growth, fast-moving technological development and changing travel habits. 

There is a projected increase of 66,000 jobs in the City up to 2040. To accommodate 

these, up to 1.2 million m2 of new office floorspace is required. Much of this will be 

accommodated in the City Cluster, the area that is already home to most of the City’s 

tall buildings. The residential population will also grow, with around  a thousand more 

people living in the Square Mile by 2040. This growth will lead to more people 

travelling on the City’s streets, and in particular more people walking and wheeling, 

and increased demand for high quality public spaces. More residents, workers and 

visitors will also mean more deliveries and servicing of offices, homes, shops, pubs, 

cafes and restaurants.  

This extra demand must be accommodated within a fixed amount of street space. 

The Square Mile’s streets must enable the movement of people and vehicles to and 

through the City while also providing space for parking and loading. Our streets are 

also public spaces that provide workers, residents and visitors with places to meet, 

eat and drink, or just appreciate the unique character of the Square Mile. Attractive 

and safe public spaces, with seating and things to see and do, are a vital ingredient 

of a modern city. 

The next 25 years will see major changes in transport technology. Vehicles will 

increasingly be connected and automated, and new mobility services will emerge. 

Page 145



   8 
 

New technology can present great opportunities for travel and transport, but also 

presents challenges over how these new advancements are managed and 

controlled. Automated vehicles, for example, may be able to use street space more 

efficiently and reduce collisions, but the availability of relatively cheap private 

transport could lead to more people choosing not to use public transport. 

As the City grows it will be essential to reduce motor traffic and facilitate the 

movement of people by the most efficient modes of transport. Reductions in traffic 

will also help improve air quality and make our streets safer. Fortunately, most 

people already travel to and around the Square Mile on foot, by cycle or public 

transport. These travel trends are likely to continue in the future, but only if walking, 

cycling and using public transport are convenient, attractive, inclusive and safe ways 

to travel.  

Placeholder for Figure: 

• TfL road Network 

  

Page 146



   9 
 

Travel and transport in the Square Mile 
The City is one of the best-connected places in the world. TfL rates the whole of the 

Square Mile as having a Public Transport Accessibility rating of above 6 – the 

highest possible score. This is made possible by an extensive public transport 

network with six mainline railway stations, 12 Underground and DLR stations, two 

Elizabeth Line stations (Figure 2) and a high density and frequency of bus services.  

Large numbers of commuters also use stations near the City, including London 

Bridge and Waterloo. There are also river bus services which stop at Blackfriars Pier 

and at Tower Pier just outside the City.  

Significant improvements have  been made to public transport provision, particularly 

with the construction of the Elizabeth line which operates trains to the City at 

Farringdon and Liverpool Street/Moorgate. These new services began running in 

2022.  

Data shows that 97% of all trips to, from, and around the City were made by walking 

and wheeling (33%), cycling (5%) and public transport (60%) between 2017-2019 

(Transport for London, 2023). Fewer than 3% of trips were made by other modes 

such as private car, taxi, private hire, and motorcycle. While this data was collected 

before the Covid-19 pandemic, the latest data from TfL suggests it is still broadly 

representative of current travel behaviour. Walking remains by far the main mode of 

travel within the City and a significant majority of people travelling to the City still do 

so by public transport and cycling. 

In recent years investment in cycling infrastructure has resulted in an estimated 

quadrupling in the number of people cycling in the Square Mile. People cycling now 

make up over a quarter of vehicles and this figure can rise to over 50% on major 

streets during rush hour. In 2022, people cycling made up a greater proportion of 

traffic than cars and private hire vehicles on our streets. People walking and cycling 

now make up more than two-thirds of all observed travel activity on the City’s streets 

(City of London Corporation, 2023). 

Traffic in the City has changed significantly since the late 1990s, both in terms of 

total volume and overall composition. Traffic counts across the City show that overall 

motor traffic volumes have reduced by approximately 66% since 1999, with the 

greatest reduction being in the number of cars and taxis. The greatest observed 

reductions have coincided with key events such as the introduction of the 

Congestion Charge, the global recession, the introduction of Cycle Superhighways, 

and the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Our 2022 traffic surveys counted 20% fewer motor vehicles, 2% more people 

cycling, and 35% fewer people walking and wheeling compared to 2019 pre-

pandemic levels. From 2019 to 2022, there were fewer recorded motor vehicles 

across all types, including vans and lorries, taxis, cars and private hire vehicles, and 

motorcycles. We are seeing more varied working patterns, with changes to numbers  

during the week, especially during the traditional AM and PM ‘peak hours’. Recent 

counts show that evening footfall has returned closer to previous levels more than 

daytime (City of London Corporation, 2023). 

Placeholder for Figure: 

Page 147



   10 
 

• City of London Rail and Tube Network 

Placeholder for two new infographics: 

• Mode share infographics  

• How motor vehicle volumes have changed since 1999 

[The following text will go in a box] 

How the Square Mile’s streets have changed over the last 30 years 

In common with cities around the world, the focus of transport planning and traffic 

management in the Square Mile during the 1960s, 70s and 80s was accommodating 

motor vehicles. Streets such as London Wall, Upper and Lower Thames Street and 

the Aldgate gyratory were rebuilt to maximise the flow of motor traffic. People 

walking were expected to cross these streets via bridges and subways. A thirty-mile 

network of walkways was planned, but never completed. Very few junctions had 

pedestrian crossings and pavement widths were kept to a minimum.  

This approach began to change in the early 1990s, when the City Corporation 

approved an experiment to close Bank Junction to through movement and to retime 

traffic signals throughout the Square Mile. The proposals for Bank were part of a 

wider plan, ‘Key to the future’, which sought to reduce motor traffic in the centre of 

the City. These proposals took on an extra urgency following the IRA bombings of 

the Baltic Exchange and Bishopsgate in 1992 and 1993, leading to the introduction 

of a temporary ‘Ring of Steel’ in July 1993.  

Around thirty years later the aspirations for Bank have been delivered, through the 

All Change at Bank project.  

Officially known as the ‘Traffic and Environment Zone’, the Ring of Steel was made 

permanent in 1994. It significantly reduced the number of places where motor 

vehicles could enter the City, with many smaller streets closed to through traffic. 

This, together with carriageway narrowing and the installation of check points at the 

remaining access points, meant that fewer motor vehicles could enter the City. Motor 

traffic in the centre of the Square Mile fell by 30% as a result. Associated changes 

made key junctions outside the Ring of Steel more efficient by cutting out some of 

the movements, for example the Southwark Bridge/Queen Street/Upper Thames 

Street junction.  

The Ring of Steel was extended in 1996 to incorporate Saint Paul’s and Old Bailey 

and in 2000 to include Broadgate and a slight extension into Hackney. A further 

extension in 2003 brought the west of the City into the traffic management zone. 

Other functional changes through the 1990s and early 2000s, saw pedestrian 

crossings added to 10 junctions and the installation of dropped kerbs and pedestrian 

refuges.  

The last 20 years has seen an increased focus on improving the quality of the 

Square Mile’s streets as places to walk, cycle and spend time. Overall, around a 

third of the City’s streets have been improved over this period. 99% of guard railing 

was removed through the 2000s and around 100 granite courtesy crossings installed 

at junctions. Two-way cycling began to be introduced on one-way streets in 2006, 

Page 148



   11 
 

with over 100 streets made two-way for people cycling by 2015. In partnership with 

Transport for London, two Cycle Superhighways and a Quietway through the City 

have been completed. These have helped make cycling safer and allow more people 

to choose this increasingly popular mode of transport. 

Starting in 2003, the Street Scene Challenge matched money generated from on-

street parking and penalty charges to contributions from developers and occupiers – 

funding the delivery of multiple small schemes to improve the public realm across the 

Square Mile, such as Devonshire Square and Mitre Square. This collaborative 

approach has also funded significant improvements to:  

• The area south of Saint Paul’s, including converting the coach park into a new 

garden (completed 2011) 

• The Cheapside quarter, including wider pavements to make Cheapside a 

more attractive place to shop and spend time (completed 2012) 

• Holborn Circus, with more public space and seating and improved pedestrian 

crossings (completed 2014) 

• The removal of the gyratory at Aldgate, which has enabled the creation of 

Aldgate Square – one of the largest public spaces in the Square Mile 

(completed 2018) 

• Widening pavements, improving pedestrian and cycle crossings and creating 

new public spaces as part of the London Wall Place development (completed 

2018) 

• Public realm improvements around new offices for Bloomberg (completed 

2018) and Goldman Sachs (completed 2019) 

• All Change at Bank, an ambitious change to improve safety for people walking 

and cycling through Bank Junction, banning general motor vehicle traffic 

through the junction was made permanent in 2019.  Work to enhance the 

benefits of the scheme and totally transform the space for people walking, 

wheeling and cycling through the area is nearing completion in 2024, with 

pavement widening, new tree planting and landscaping.   

 
[End of text box] 

  

Page 149



   12 
 

Understanding people’s views of transport and streets in the Square Mile 

The development of the Strategy has been informed by extensive engagement with 

the public and organisations with an interest in transport in the Square Mile. 

Engagement on  the 2019 Transport Strategy took place in February and March 

2018, and included:  

• City Streets survey: 1,949 people accessed this survey which included 

questions on perceptions of the City’s streets, priorities for the use of streets 

and kerbside space, and ideas and suggestions for future street and transport 

improvements 

• City Streets exhibition: A supporting exhibition was held at the City Centre on 

Basinghall Street. The exhibition took visitors through historic and recent 

changes to the City’s streets and presented future challenges. More than 

7,000 people visited the City Centre over the two-month period 

• Stakeholder workshops: 77 representatives from City businesses, transport 

user groups and other organisations with an interest in transport in the Square 

Mile attended workshops to share their views on the transport challenges and 

opportunities. 

Engagement on the review of the Transport Strategy was undertaken in two phases 

between November 2022 and April 2024. The first phase aimed to understand 

people’s views and inform changes to the Outcomes and Proposals. The second 

phase engaged stakeholders and the public in a consultation on the proposed 

changes to the Transport Strategy.  

• Stakeholder workshops, focus group events and one to one meetings: 

representatives from transport and logistics organisations, neighbouring local 

authorities, City businesses, City schools and more came together to share 

their perceptions and priorities for use of the City’s streets, and give their 

views on the transport challenges and opportunities. 

• Public perception survey: Between 28 November and 19 December 2022, a 

public survey of workers, residents, students and visitors was undertaken. It 

contained wide ranging questions about participants’ current travel patterns 

and perceptions of transport in the Square Mile. Through a combination of 

telephone interviews, an online panel, and face-to-face interviews nearly 

1,000 responses were recorded.  

Public Consultation: Utilising the online Commonplace engagement platform, 

stakeholder workshops and public drop-in sessions over 800 contributions from more 

than 400 respondents were gathered in the seven-week consultation from the 16 

November 2023 to 7 January 2024. A Strategy Board made up of City business 

representatives, representatives from the Greater London Authority and TfL, and 

transport experts also met in developing the first edition of the Strategy and during 

the review period for this second edition.  This Board provided advice and acted as a 

sounding board for emerging proposals and response to the consultations. 

Supporting the delivery of the City of London Corporate Plan 

 

Page 150



   13 
 

The Transport Strategy is one of a suite of strategies that help to deliver the City 

Corporation’s Corporate Plan. 

The Plan sets six Outcomes: 

• Dynamic Economic Growth 

• Vibrant Thriving Destination  

• Flourishing Public Spaces  

• Leading Sustainable Environment 

• Providing Excellent Services  

• Diverse Engaged Communities 

The Transport Strategy will help contribute to Flourishing Public Spaces and a 

Vibrant Thriving Destination by: 

• Reducing motor traffic levels to enable space to be reallocated to walking and 

wheeling, cycling, greenery and public spaces 

• Making streets safer and reducing the number of traffic related deaths and 

serious injuries 

• Enabling people to walk, wheel and cycle and reducing the negative health 

impacts of transport 

• Ensuring streets are accessible to all and provide an attractive space for the 

City’s diverse community to come together 

Providing a Leading Sustainable Environment will be supported by actions in the 

Transport Strategy to: 

• Improve air quality and reducing noise from motor traffic 

• Ensure streets are well maintained and resilient to natural and man-made 

threats 

Dynamic Economic Growth will be supported by: 

• Enabling the City to continue to grow and accommodating the associated 

increase in demand for our limited street space 

• Improving the quality of streets and transport connections to help attract talent 

and investment 

• Helping create a smarter City, that supports and enables innovative transport 

technology and other mobility solutions 

• Advocating for improved local, national and international transport 

connections 

Diverse Engaged Communities will be supported by:  

• Ensuring that the City’s streets and public spaces are places where no one is 

excluded or feels excluded 

• Developing and growing our understanding of inclusivity, especially how it 

relates to our streets and public spaces 

• Working collaboratively with our partners and diverse communities to 

meaningfully apply our Principles of Inclusivity. These will promote equity and 

support the four pillars of sustainability (economic, social, environmental, and 

institutional).  

Page 151



   14 
 

• Encouraging community participation and engagement through ensuring a 

diversity of voices are heard;  

• Building trust with local communities through transparency, accountability and 

demonstrating how engagement has developed our processes and plans. 

 

Climate action strategy 
 

The City of London Corporation has adopted a Climate Action Strategy which sets 

out how the organisation will achieve net zero, build climate resilience and champion 

sustainable growth, both in the UK and globally, over the next two decades. 

The City Corporation has committed to achieve net zero carbon emissions from our 

own operations by 2027; achieve net zero carbon emissions across our investments 

and supply chain by 2040; support the achievement of net zero for the Square Mile 

by 2040.   

The Transport Strategy supports the Climate Action Strategy by delivery of the 

Transport Strategy contributes to carbon reduction through reduction in motor 

vehicle use, a switch away from fossil fuel vehicles and to building climate resilience. 

Actions and targets reflect the need to support Climate Action by reducing carbon 

emissions and by creating a more resilient street network and public realm through 

use of materials and planting more trees and greening across our schemes. 

The Transport Strategy also supports the City of London Police Policing Plan, which 

seeks to keep those who live, work, and visit the city safe and feeling safe.  

Destination City  
 

The Destination City programme includes a £2.5 million annual investment to boost 

the Square Mile’s leisure offer, building on recent cross-London campaigns and 

creating a leading City destination for workers, residents and UK and international 

visitors to enjoy.  Destination City builds on a long track record of culture investment 

in the Square Mile. The City Corporation is already the fourth largest funder of 

heritage and cultural activities in the UK and invests over £130m every year.  

Through partnerships with brands, City Business Improvement Districts, and 

landowners, Destination City will deliver an exciting all-year-round events 

programme. Major events and new and exciting seasonal arts and culture activity will 

enliven the City’s streets and venues, encouraging audiences to experience this part 

of London in a new way.   

The Transport Strategy supports Destination City through making radical changes to 

the Square Mile’s streets, with wider pavements, al-fresco dining, and first-class 

infrastructure for people walking and cycling.   

Also by using planning powers to create new inclusive public spaces and cultural 

experiences, our City roof gardens, terraces, and viewing galleries are already a 

magnet for visitors with the Sky Garden, on top of 20 Fenchurch Street, welcoming 

over 10 million visitors.  

Page 152



   15 
 

Alignment with the City Plan 2040 
 

The emerging City Plan 2040, sets out the planning policies that will guide future 

growth and decisions on planning applications for the next 20 years.  

Transport plays a key role in enabling and accommodating development, and the 

way the City grows affects demand for travel and public space. Reflecting this 

interrelationship, relevant policies and proposals in the City Plan 2040 and this 

Strategy are aligned. In particular, several proposals support and respond to the 

significant change anticipated in the following ‘Key Areas of Change’ (Figure 3): 

• Aldgate Tower and Portsoken: there is likely to be further commercial 

development, especially through the refurbishment or redevelopment of older 

buildings. The area will also experience increased tourism activity, in line with 

the continued increase in tourist numbers in London as a wholeOpportunities 

include the potential redevelopment of the Mansell Street estate 

• Blackfriars: public realm enhancements are proposed along the Riverside 

walk, and the development of the Thames Tideway Tunnel will create a large 

new public space 

• City Cluster: a number of significant tall buildings are under construction, with 

further tall buildings permitted but not yet commenced. The planned 

intensification of development in a relatively small geographic area will 

inevitably lead to a significant increase in footfall and put more pressure on 

public transport, streets, open spaces and services, therefore requiring better 

walking and cycling routes, enhanced public realm, and specialised 

approaches to freight and servicing 

• Fleet Street and Ludgate: significant occupational change in major buildings is 

expected in the short to medium term as buildings in this area are under 

development. A new combined court and City of London Police headquarters 

is also being developed.  Retail provision along Fleet Street is being 

considered, encouraging greater diversity of retail, culture and leisure and the 

extension into the evening and weekends.  

• Pool of London: there is opportunity for renewal through development and 

public realm improvements that enhance heritage assets, such as Custom 

House; the churches of All Hallows by the Tower and St Magnus the Martyr; 

Adelaide House; Old Billingsgate Market and the quay, cranes and stairs on 

the riverside in front of Custom House. Although the area will retain its 

strategically significant office uses, there is significant potential to enhance the 

area for visitors, tourists, children and young people 

• Liverpool Street: further development in the Liverpool Street area is 

anticipated following the completion of Elizabeth Line at Liverpool Street 

station. Potential redevelopment of the railway station will initiate change in 

this area 

• Smithfield and Barbican:  a cultural quarter focused on the Barbican and the 

new London Museum (due to open in 2026); Smithfield Market, London’s 

major wholesale meat market, is expected to relocate in the coming years.  

Page 153



   16 
 

Supporting the delivery of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy 
The Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) sets out the Mayor of London’s policies and 

proposals to reshape transport in London by transforming the Capital’s streets, 

improving public transport and creating opportunities for new homes and jobs. To 

achieve this, the Mayor wants to encourage more people to walk, cycle and use 

public transport. 

The three key themes of the MTS are: 

• Healthy Streets and healthy people: Creating streets and street networks that 

encourage walking, cycling and public transport to reduce car dependency 

and the health problems it creates 

• A good public transport experience: Enabling more people to travel by public 

transport, the most efficient way for people to travel over distances that are 

too long to walk or cycle 

• New homes and jobs: Planning the City around walking, cycling and public 

transport use to unlock growth in new areas and ensure that London grows in 

a way that benefits everyone 

  

Page 154



   17 
 

Local Implementation Plan  
The City Corporation, along with London’s 32 boroughs, is required to produce a 

Local Implementation Plan (LIP) that details how we will support the delivery of the 

MTS. This Strategy, together with a separate LIP Delivery Plan, form the City of 

London Corporation’s Local Implementation Plan. The LIP Delivery Plan is published 

alongside this Strategy and is available on our website. The LIP Delivery Plan 

provides more details of the alignment between our visions, aims, outcomes and 

proposals and the MTS. It also sets out the projects that will be funded in full or in 

part by contributions from TfL.   

Placeholder for Figure: 

• Key Areas of Change  

  

Page 155



   18 
 

Vision, aims and outcomes 

Our vision 
Streets that inspire and delight, world-class connections and a Square Mile that is 

inclusive and accessible to all.   

By delivering this vision we aim to… 

Ensure the Square Mile is a healthy, attractive and easy place to live, work, learn 

and visit. 

Support the development of the Square Mile as a vibrant commercial centre and 

cultural destination and protect and enhance its unique character and heritage. 

To create a future where... 

• The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk, wheel and spend time 

• Street space is used more efficiently and effectively 

• The Square Mile is accessible to all  

• People using our streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe 

• Improve the experience of riding cycles and scooters in the City The Square 

Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter 

• Delivery and servicing are more efficient, and impacts are minimised 

• Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances 

• Emerging transport technologies benefit the Square Mile 

• The Square Mile benefits from better transport connections 

  

Page 156



   19 
 

Proposals 

Revised text changes are shown as tracked changes. 

For each of the 10 Outcomes, this chapter outlines our ambitions, summarises the 

key issues and challenges and sets out the proposals for delivery.  

The Healthy Streets Approach and Inclusivity 

The Healthy Streets Approach provides the framework for this Strategy. This means 

we will place improving people’s health and their experience of using streets at the 

heart of our transport decision making. 

The 10 Healthy Streets Indicators (shown below) capture the elements that are 

essential for making streets attractive and accessible places to walk, cycle and 

spend time, and for supporting social and economic activity. All the proposals set out 

in this Strategy will contribute to the delivery of Healthy Streets. 

Placeholder for updated infographic: 

• Updated Healthy Streets Indicators 

  

We recognise that some of the City's streets and public spaces are not as welcoming 

and inclusive to different groups of people and individuals as they should be. This is 

in part due to the historic nature of many City streets and the way our streets and 

spaces have been designed and managed in the past.  

To address this, we will take an inclusive approach to transport planning and delivery 

that will put the lived experience of people using our streets and spaces at the heart 

of our decision-making and delivery.  

This will ensure that the City’s streets and public spaces are places where no one is 

excluded or feels excluded, regardless of their age, disability, gender identity or 

reassignment, being married or in a civil partnership, being pregnant or on maternity 

Page 157



   20 
 

leave, race or ethnicity, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation or  socio-economic 

background. 

To achieve this it will be necessary to develop and grow our understanding of 

inclusivity, especially how it relates to our streets and public spaces. We will work 

collaboratively with our partners and diverse communities to promote equity and 

support the four pillars of sustainability (economic, social, environmental, and 

institutional) by meaningfully applying our inclusion principles.  

 [The following text will go in a box] 

Our Inclusion principles 

We have developed five inclusion principles to steer the development of our 

Inclusivity and Equity Action Plan and the delivery of this Transport Strategy. These 

principles have been developed in accordance with national and international best 

practice and guidance, listed in the references section.  

These principles are our current best understanding of an inclusive approach to 

transport planning and delivery. They have informed our approach to ensuring 

everyone can safely and confidently access and travel around the City of London. 

They will hold us accountable as we continue to remove barriers that may exclude 

people from accessing all the opportunities the City has to offer. 

• Improving our street network and supporting the improvement of London’s 

public transport network to ensure everyone is able to experience the benefits 

of our policies and projects, and particularly those currently excluded. 

• Designing and delivering spaces and services, which are inclusive by default 

and work to provide equitable access to all. 

• Encouraging community participation and engagement and ensuring a 

diversity of voices are heard through the decision-making process. 

• Building trust with local communities through transparency, accountability and 

demonstrating how engagement has driven change in our processes and 

plans.    

• Developing shared, local stories of inclusion best practice and lessons learnt, 

showing how changes to our streets and our polices have improved people’s 

lives; and promoting a culture of inclusivity. 

 

[End of text box] 

 

Proposal 1a: Embed the Healthy Streets Approach in transport planning 

and delivery 

We will ensure that the Healthy Streets Approach is embedded in our transport 

planning and the design and delivery of projects by: 

• Using the Healthy Streets Approach to inform strategic decision making and 

project prioritisation 

Page 158



   21 
 

• Using the Healthy Streets Design Check for Designers to assess proposals 

for projects that will have a significant impact on people’s experience of 

using the City’s streets and publishing the results 

• Assessing planning applications against the Healthy Streets Indicators and 

requiring the use of the Healthy Streets Design Check for Designers on all 

developments that will have a significant impact on surrounding streets 

• Assessing the health impacts of projects as part of the design process and 

post-implementation monitoring 

• Including questions relating to the Healthy Streets Indicators in project 

monitoring and public perceptions surveys 

 

[The following text will go in a box] 

Healthy Streets Design Check  

The Healthy Streets Design Check is a tool for designers and engineers that uses 19 

metrics to assess how a street performs against the 10 Healthy Streets Indicators. It 

can be used to assess an existing street, proposed changes to a street or a 

completed project.  

Using the Healthy Streets Design Check helps ensure that the factors that influence 

people’s experience of being on street are properly considered. It also allows for 

easy comparison of different design options to help inform decision making and 

make it easier for people to understand the relative benefits of different proposals 

during consultations. 

An example of the results from a Healthy Streets Check demonstrating 

improvements against each Indicator is shown on the right. 

Placeholder for updated infographic: 

• Healthy Streets Check 

[End of text box] 

 

  

Page 159



   22 
 

Proposal 1b: Embed inclusion in our approach to transport planning and 
delivery  

We know we need to do more and do better to create an equitable and inclusive 

City, and that this change needs to happen as soon as possible. To achieve this at 

pace, an Inclusivity and Equity Action Plan will be developed by 2025. This will 

outline the key actions and steps we will take to deliver this proposal, alongside a 

series of qualitative and quantitative metrics and measures to ensure transparency 

and accountability as we implement this Strategy. 

We will embed inclusion in our transport planning and the design and delivery of 

our projects by: 

• Using the principles of inclusive design and delivery to inform strategic 

decision-making and project prioritisation 

• Developing robust, comprehensive and co-created and evidence-based 

Tests of Relevance and Equality Impact Assessments (as per our Public 

Sector Equality Duty in the Equalities Act 2010) for all projects and major 

policy decisions, striving to co-create these where ever possible. publishing 

those assessments in accessible formats, communicating the publication to 

a stakeholders and interested groups, and ensuring that the findings and 

mitigations are materially incorporated into our policies and projects. 

•  We will require Requiring our Iinclusion Pprinciples and the Healthy Streets 

Approach to the principles of inclusion as to be considered in transport 

assessments and the design and delivery of associated improvements 

• Making mandatory the inclusion of Including questions relating to inclusivity 

and equity in project monitoring and public perceptions surveys 

• Identifying new metrics to report our progress on improving inclusivity and 

equity and publishing updates to those metrics on at least an annual basis 

• Using community engagement and tools such as the City of London Street 

Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT; proposal 16) to identify opportunities to further 

improve the accessibility and inclusivity of our projects 

• Ensuring that physical changes to streets are supported by community 

education, engagement and enforcement if introducing legal regulations,  

whenever appropriate 

• Developing internal guidance on what constitutes inclusive language and 

media, and how we publish and best communicate with our stakeholders 

and audiences, including ensuring all texts are accessible, Using inclusive 

language and materials to reach as broad an audience as possible when 

engaging and consulting on policies or projects we undertake 

• Ensuring we reach a wide audience through, including but not limited to  

representative networks, dedicated surveys and direct engagement with 

local interest and minority groups, among many others 

• Ensuring staff involved in the delivery this Strategy and the Inclusivity and 

Equity Action Plan are formally trained in our Iinclusion Pprinciples the 

principles of inclusivity, and have an understanding best practice and our 

responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010 

• Engaging with the Mayor of London, the Greater London Authority, 

neighbouring boroughs, Transport for London, the Government, transport 

Page 160



   23 
 

operators and other related partners to support and champion a more 

inclusive  transport network  

• Supporting and challenging our suppliers and delivery partners to embed 

inclusivity and equity in their processes and projects 

• Building trust with local communities through transparency, accountability 

and demonstrating how engagement has driven change in our processes 

and plans  

• Establishing effective feedback mechanisms and complaint procedures to 

address inclusivity concerns 

 

[The following text will go in a box] 

Our Corporate Equity, Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Objectives 

In March 2024, we published Our Corporate Equality Objectives, which set out 

making systemic change through championing and advancing equity, equality, 

diversity and inclusion in everything we do. 

Consideration of equity, equality, equality, diversity and inclusion is integral in the 

design, development, implementation and evaluation of our services in compliance 

with the Public Sector Equality Duty (and specifically Section 149 of the Equality Act 

2010). Throughout the Strategy and we will look to take a community-centred 

approach, as set out in our Ethical Policy, to help us better understand the 

challenges our communities face and include them in our planning and decision-

making processes. 

The Transport Strategy will support the four City of London Corporation Equality 

Objectives:  

• Inclusive and Trustworthy Leadership. This objective recognises the City 

Corporation has an inward and outward leadership role in advancing equity, 

equality, diversity, and inclusion (EEDI). It aligns to the Corporate Plan 2024-

2029 and People Strategy 2024-2029.   

• Inclusive and Diverse Community. This recognises it is essential to tackle 

unlawful discrimination, inequity and unfair bias and the need for systemic 

change.  

• Accessible and Excellent Services. This aligns to the Corporate Plan outcome 

focussed on providing excellent services and our ambition to be world class.  

• Socio-Economic Diversity. The focus is internal and external, including social 

mobility and social inclusion. It also aligns with aspirations in the Corporate 

Plan, People Strategy and our commitments through the Social Mobility Index. 

[End of text box] 

 

  

Page 161



   24 
 

Outcome 1: The Square Mile’s streets are great 

places to walk, wheel and spend time  

Walking and wheeling* are , and will remain, the main ways that people travel around 

the Square Mile. We want people walking and wheeling in the City to feel that their 

needs have been prioritised. By delivering this Strategy we will make the experience 

of walking and wheeling on our streets a more enjoyable and rewarding experience – 

a great way to travel and to discover all that the City has to offer.  

Fewer, cleaner and quieter motor vehicles will mean that streets are less dominated 

by traffic and easier to cross. People driving and riding in the City will recognise the 

Square Mile as a place where people on foot come first – they will travel slowly and 

be prepared to give way to people walking and wheeling. Pavements will be wide 

enough to avoid feeling uncomfortably crowded, even during the hustle and bustle of 

the morning and evening commute. High quality public realm, more seating, 

greenery, public art and events will mean that streets are also great places to stop, 

rest and relax. 

 Our recent survey of nearly 1000 City workers, visitors, residents and students, 

found that 76% of respondents thought that the walking environment in the City is 

pleasant (SYSTRA, 2023).. Research indicates that the two biggest priorities for 

respondents to create streets that are accessible for all and make the City’s streets a 

great place to walk (SYSTRA, 2023).The City’s streets are busy with people walking 

at all times of the day, and between 7am and 11pm there are more people walking 

on our streets than travelling by any other mode (City of London Corporation, 2023).  

65% of all travel movements in the Square Mile are made on foot and almost all of 

the 8,600 residents and 614,000 workers in the City will walk at least once during the 

day (City of London Corporation, 2018). These numbers will increase as the City 

grows, with potentially a further 104,000 people walking on our streets within the 

next 20 years, as suggested by employment projections including all employment 

sectors (City of London Corporation, 2024). 

The completion of the Elizabeth line in 2022 has intensified the arrival of people into 

the City – with each Crossrail train capable of accommodating 1,500 passengers, 

and transports thousands of people into the City on a daily basis (Transport for 

London, 2023). 

We will continue to prioritise improving the walking and wheeling environment in the 

City and enhancing people’s experience and ease of getting around. 

  

 
* References to people walking and wheeling include people using: mobility aids 

such as wheelchairs, rollators or mobility scooters designed for use on the 

pavement, and people with physical, sensory or cognitive impairments who are 

travelling on foot. It also includes people who are using buggies, strollers, prams and 

pushchairs. 

 

Page 162



   25 
 

Placeholder for updated infographic: 

• % of journeys walked in the City of London 

Placeholder for new infographic: 

• Wheeling - A term encompassing use of wheelchairs, mobility scooters, 

pushchairs, scooters and other mobility or carrying aids.  

 

  

Page 163



   26 
 

Proposal 2: Put the needs of people walking and wheeling first when 
designing and managing our streets   

We will ensure that the needs of people walking and wheeling are prioritised by: 

• Applying the Healthy Streets Approach (proposal 1) and considering the 

needs of people walking and wheeling first when delivering changes to 

streets 

• Accepting that delivering priority for people walking and wheeling may result 

in delays or reduced capacity for other street users, while seeking to 

minimise the impact on essential traffic through general traffic reduction 

(proposal 11) 

• Increasing the number of pedestrianised or pedestrian priority streets from 

25 kilometres at present, to 35 kilometres by 2030. By 2044, at least 55 

kilometres will be pedestrian priority, equating to half of all streets (by 

length) 

• Making streets easier to cross and giving people walking and wheeling 

greater priority at the entrances to side streets 

• Widening pavements to provide more space, with the aim that all 

pavements will have a minimum Pedestrian Comfort Level of B+ 

• Ensuring that the al fresco eating and drinking policy is correctly applied, to 

put the safety and accessibility of people walking in the City first when 

considering the potential to grant temporary pavement licences for al fresco 

eating and drinking. The longer term 10-year policy that will be developed in 

2024 will also ensure that safety and accessibility are prioritised when 

considering al fresco dining and eating. 

[The following text will go in a box]  

Pedestrian Comfort Levels 

Pedestrian Comfort Levels are used to assess the level of crowding on a 

pavement or at a pedestrian crossing. The level of comfort, which is graded 

between A+ (most comfortable) and E (least comfortable), is based on the number 

of people walking and the space available, taking account of street furniture and 

other restrictions.  

Transport for London’s Pedestrian Comfort Guidance recommends a minimum 

comfort level of B+.  

This provides enough space for people to feel comfortable when walking at a 

typical pace and for them to be able to choose where to walk. Below this level, 

conflicts between people walking become frequent, walking is increasingly 

uncomfortable and frustrating and can lead to people stepping into the 

carriageway. 

[End of text box] 

Page 164



   27 
 

Key walking and wheeling routes  

We will prioritise improvements to junctions and routes that are busiest and where 

pavement width and pedestrian crossings are inadequate for current or forecast 

demand. Improvements to the following routes and junctions will be delivered by 

2030 to make walking and wheeling quicker, safer and more comfortable. The first 

phase of delivery  has included the completion of the streets around Moorgate and 

Liverpool Street Stations, Globe View along the river and changes to Bank 

Junction.  Figure 5 shows future commitments to priority routes.  

A series of north-south and east-west routes will provide improved walking, 

wheeling, and cycling connections to key attractions, destinations and public 

spaces.  The north-south routes will link to the bridges across the Thames.  The 

improved routes will deliver better crossings, improved safety, and improved 

accessibility. The routes are shown in Figure 4, and are as follows: 

Routes north-south from:  

• Millennium Bridge to Barbican via St Pauls Cathedral, which supports the 

new Museum of London and Smithfield area changes.  

• Southwark Bridge to Barbican via Guildhall 

• Cannon Street to Liverpool Street via Bank 

• Blackfriars Bridge to Farringdon via Ludgate Circus (in partnership with TfL) 

• London Bridge to Liverpool Street via Bishopsgate including Monument 

junction (in partnership with TfL); and  

Routes east-west from: 

• Farringdon to Aldgate via Smithfield and the Barbican   

• Fleet Street to Aldgate via Bank and the City Cluster, including Ludgate 

Circus (in partnership with TfL) 

• Temple to Tower Hill via the Thames Riverside  

Pedestrian priority streets 

New pedestrian priority streets will be introduced across the Square Mile, with 

opportunities identified   within Healthy Streets Plans (see proposal 12). We will 

prioritise opportunities to introduce pedestrian priority on streets with a pavement 

width of less than two metres.  

An indicative map of these streets is shown below in Figure 5.  

Pedestrian priority streets will allow access for motor vehicles, with all vehicles, 

including cycles, expected to give way to people walking and wheeling. In some 

instances, streets will be fully pedestrianised or not allow motor vehicle access at 

certain times. The access requirements for each pedestrian priority, fully 

pedestrianised or timed pedestrianised street will be fully assessed as part of the 

Page 165



   28 
 

project delivery process. The use of pedestrianised streets by cycles will be 

decided on a case-by-case basis to ensure people walking, wheeling and cycling 

feel safe and comfortable. Pedestrian priority will be supported by design 

measures to encourage slow and courteous driving and riding. 

[The following text will go in a box] 

Pedestrian priority streets 

There are already 25 kilometres of streets in the Square Mile that, through various 

restrictions, limit access to motor vehicles to prioritise people walking and 

wheeling.  

[End of text box]  

Pedestrian crossings 

We will work with Transport for London to make it easier for people walking and 

wheeling to cross streets by reviewing all signalised pedestrian crossings with the 

aim of: 

• Reducing the amount of time people wait for a green person, initially to a 

maximum of 60 seconds, followed by further reductions in waiting time over 

the life of this Strategy 

• Giving people more time to cross by using a walking speed of 0.8 metres 

per second to determine crossing times (currently 1.2 metres per second) 

• Installing sensors (Pedestrian SCOOT) to allow the amount of green person 

time to be automatically adjusted according to the number of people 

crossing 

• Reducing overcrowding by widening crossings to provide a minimum 

pedestrian comfort level of B+ where possible.  

• Introducing formal diagonal crossings at all crossroads, ensuring pedestrian 

crossings are on desire lines and removing multi-stage crossings 

• Installing raised tables to improve accessibility and ease crossing 

• Introducing ‘green person authority’ at appropriate locations – providing a 

default green person for people walking and wheeling rather than a default 

green light for motor traffic. 

Where new or upgrades to signal controlled crossing points are installed, they will 

provide the following as a minimum: 

• Countdown timers,  

• Audible signals  

• Far side signals  

• Rotating cones in working order 

Page 166



   29 
 

• Suitable tactile warning surfaces. 

• Ensuring no ponding at dropped kerbs and that these kerbs are not 

excessively steep. 

Continuous footways and courtesy crossings 

We will give people walking and wheeling greater priority and make streets easier 

to cross by: 

• Providing courtesy crossings or continuous footways across all side street 

entrances 

• Installing raised tables at junctions 

• Installing raised tables at existing informal crossings, and installing 

pedestrian refuge islands where appropriate  

• Identifying locations for additional crossing points that incorporate raised 

tables and pedestrian refuge islands 

Campaigns and promotion 

Campaigns and promotional activities will raise awareness among all street users 

of the priority being given to people walking and wheeling in the Square Mile. 

Physical changes to streets will be supported by education, engagement and 

enforcement to reinforce positive behaviours by people driving and riding towards 

people walking and wheeling. 

 

Placeholder for Figures: 

• Proposed walking improvements 

• Potential locations for pedestrian priority 

  

Page 167



   30 
 

Proposal 3: Enhance the riverside walkway and improve walking and 
wheeling connections between the riverside and the rest of the City   

We will work with Transport for London, landowners, developers and other partners 

to: 

Improve the connections between the riverside and the rest of the City by making it 

easier to cross Upper and Lower Thames Street. Improvements will include installing 

a new pedestrian crossing at the junction with Puddle Dock by 2025, to provide 

direct access to Blackfriars Pier. We will also work with Transport for London to 

explore the potential to improve accessible connections and install additional street-

level crossings as an alternative to existing bridges. 

Improve the quality of the public realm along the riverfront and identify opportunities 

to create new open spaces.  

Wherever feasible, use the redevelopment of sites along the riverside to widen the 

walkway and to activate the riverfront by introducing more ground floor leisure uses 

such as restaurants and cafes where they will not adversely affect residents. 

  

Page 168



   31 
 

Proposal 4: Enhance the Barbican high walks  

We will ensure that the Barbican high walks are well maintained and enhanced 
where necessary. The proposed Barbican podium works will commence on site in 
late 2024, with an expected completion date of early 2027. The work will include 
maintenance of the area and a 70 per cent increase in the amount of soft 
landscaping.  Further phases are anticipated with the detail of these still to be 
developed.  
 
Future work will include further improvements to signage and the visibility of 
access points to make them easier to navigate, particularly along the key north-
south link from Wood Street. Any enhancements made to the high walks will be in 
line with the special architectural and historic interest of the Barbican and the 
requirements of the Barbican Listed Building Management Guidelines SPD.  
 
We will maintain existing public lifts that provide access to the high walks and 
other walking and wheeling routes. We will explore the potential to add new public 
and publicly accessible lifts where required through the development process and 
we will ensure that new developments provide connections to the network where 
possible. 
 

 

  

Page 169



   32 
 

Proposal 5: Ensure new developments contribute to improving the 
experience of walking, wheeling and spending time on the City’s streets  

Through the planning process we will work with developers and future occupiers to 

ensure all new developments provide world-class public realm and adequate space 

for people walking and wheeling, and contribute to improvements to surrounding 

streets and walking routes. Existing walking routes and public access across private 

land will be maintained and major developments will be expected to create new 

walking routes through their site. 

  

  

Page 170



   33 
 

Proposal 6: Promote and celebrate walking and wheeling  

We will encourage residents, workers and visitors to explore the Square Mile on foot 

by: 

⦁  Updating and maintaining Legible London maps and directional signs across the 

Square Mile, including reference to accessible routes and lifts where possible 

Exploring the potential for additional wayfinding, for example through on-street cues 

or apps. 

⦁  Improving people’s awareness of traffic free walking and wheeling routes, such as 

alleyways and routes through parks and gardens, through promotional activities and 

dedicated wayfinding 

⦁  Organising led walks, working with our partners, businesses, residents and 

heritage and cultural institutions to promote walking. We will continue to share 

learnings, promote good practice and celebrate walking through an annual Walking 

and Cycling Conference.  

⦁  Supporting London-wide, national and international walking campaigns.  

[The following text will go in a box] 

Legible London 
City wide installation of Legible London signs was completed in 2019. Legible 

London maps and signs were developed by Transport for London to make it easier 

for people to walk around London. They provide a consistent approach to 

wayfinding, with over 2,000 signs and maps already installed across the Capital. 

Legible London maps are also provided in Underground stations, and at bus stops 

and cycle hire docking stations. The maps encourage people to walk or wheel by 

showing destinations that cab=n be reached within 5 and 15 minutes.  

[End of text box] 

  

Page 171



   34 
 

Proposal 7: Provide more public space and deliver world-class public 
realm  

We will improve the experience of spending time on the City’s streets by: 

• Identifying opportunities to create new public spaces by reallocating carriageway. 

• Identifying opportunities for temporary public realm improvements to renew and 

rejuvenate spaces in advance of permanent change. This could include temporary 

planting and greening, art installations, or seating for people. 

• Increasing the amount of formal and informal seating on-street and in squares, 

public spaces and parks. The amount and location of additional on-street seating will 

be carefully considered to maximise opportunities for social interaction while 

maintaining adequate width and comfort for people walking. Where necessary, 

space will be reallocated from the carriageway. 

• Identify opportunities to integrate for exercise and play and into the public realm. 

• Extension of the City Corporation’s al fresco dining and drinking policy will help to 

ensure that the hospitality sector continues to thrive in the Square Mile, whilst safety 

and accessibility on the pavement are prioritised. Applications from restaurants and 

bars to provide on-street seating will be welcomed and granted if criteria in the policy 

are met. The longer term 10-year policy that will developed in 2024 will also ensure 

that safety and accessibility are prioritised when considering al fresco dining and 

eating. 

• Implementing a high standard of design when delivering improvements to streets 

and public spaces and ensuring streets and public spaces are clean and well 

maintained. 

• Working with partners, such as Business Improvement Districts, to make the 

experience of walking, wheeling and spending time on streets and public spaces 

more interesting and engaging, for example through planting, public art, temporary 

installations and events.  

• Improving the public realm in areas where there are buildings and structures of 

significant historical, architectural and archaeological importance. Improvements will 

respect, protect and enhance the setting of significant buildings and other heritage 

assets and improve accessibility to historic attractions. 

We will publish a Public Realm Toolkit in 2024 to provide a guide on materials and 

design standards for developers and our own designers. This will be reviewed on a 

regular basis and at least every five years. 

 

  

Page 172



   35 
 

Proposal 8: Incorporate more greenery into the City’s streets and public 
spaces  

We will work with BIDs and other partners to provide and maintain more greenery on 

the City’s streets. This will include incorporating greenery and planting when making 

changes to streets and the public realm, including measures that deliver pedestrian 

priority, traffic calming and vehicle access restrictions. Where possible, new planting 

on City streets will incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) as set out in 

proposal 9.  

We will support delivery of the City’s Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) (City of London 

Corporation, 2021) through greening and tree planting on our streets and public 

spaces.   

We will seek to introduce additional trees across the Square Mile, with 100 new trees 

to be planted by 2025. These will provide increased shade and canopy cover, 

helping to create shaded cool routes and green corridors which will support 

biodiversity and improve habitat connectivity between the City’s Sites of Importance 

for Nature Conservation (SINCs).     

The green corridors, as seen in Figure 6, will follow routes through the following: 

A North-South route through Temples – Chancery Lane - Holborn  

A North-South route through St Pauls – Postman’s Park – Barbican – Islington  

A North-South route through Aldgate – Minories – Tower Hill 

An East-West route through Embankment Riverside – Riverside Walk – towards 

Wapping.  

An East-West route through Smithfield – Barbican – Finsbury Circus – Bishopsgate.  

These will be delivered through planned projects funded by Climate Action Strategy 

programme and through developer contributions to improve the public realm.  

We will choose plants that are drought resistant, require minimal maintenance, 

maximise biodiversity, and create a more interesting and engaging streetscape. 

 

  

Page 173



   36 
 

Proposal 9: Reduce rainwater run-off on City streets and public realm  

Opportunities to incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) will be reviewed 

for all transport and public realm schemes, with projects designed to minimise the 

volume and discharge rate of rainwater run-off. The inclusion of soft landscaping, 

planters, green walls, trees and permeable surfaces in all schemes where space and 

conditions permit, will also contribute to reducing surface water run-off rates. The 

City’s Public Realm Toolkit (proposal 8) will set out requirements for future 

streetscape schemes to incorporate SuDS.  

Alongside incorporating SuDS in projects, we will deliver additional SuDS 

infrastructure, initially at ten locations that provide the opportunity to minimise the 

risk of flooding close to trunk sewers. Delivery of the first ten SuDS schemes will be 

completed by 2025.  

  

Page 174



   37 
 

Proposal 10: Incorporate protection from adverse weather in the design 
of streets and the public realm  

Where possible, transport and public realm projects will incorporate features that 

provide people walking, wheeling, cycling and spending time on streets with 

protection from rain, wind and high temperatures. For example, shade and shelter 

provided by trees, building canopies and awnings and other street furniture, such 

as bus stop shelters. Designs will be carefully considered to ensure features to 

provide shade and shelter help make streets and public space more attractive and 

engaging.  

Planting additional trees is a commitment through our Climate Action Strategy 

(City of London Corporation, 2020), green corridors (‘cool routes’), as set out in in 

proposal 8.  In total 100 new street trees will be planted by 2025.  

The potential impact on street users of sun exposure and any increase in wind 

speeds and tunnel effects from new developments (particularly tall buildings) will 

be assessed and mitigated through the planning process and the application of 

Thermal Comfort Guidelines (City of London Corporation, 2020).  

Page 175



   38 
 

 

Outcome 2: Street Space is used more efficiently 

and effectively  

We want the use of the Square Mile’s streets to better match the priorities of 

residents, workers and businesses. Street space will be used more efficiently, with 

more space and time provided for people walking, wheeling, cycling, scooting and 

travelling by bus. General reductions in the number of motor vehicles will help 

reduce delays for the essential traffic that remains.  

Some streets will be used in different ways at different times of the day. For 

example, by providing space for people to walk and relax during the day, while 

allowing deliveries overnight. Temporary closures of streets to motor vehicles will 

provide opportunities for cultural and community events or simply enjoying the City. 

The kerbside will also be used more dynamically and effectively, with commercial 

vehicles having priority access to parking and loading no longer causing an 

obstruction, particularly at the busiest times of day. 

Findings from our recent survey of nearly 1000 City workers, visitors, residents and 

students (SYSTRA, 2023) indicated that reducing motor traffic and making streets 

safer by reducing traffic were the joint fourth highest priorities (after accessible 

streets, making City streets great places to walk and getting more people cycling). 

Since 1999 there has been a 66% reduction of motor traffic levels in the Square Mile, 

while the number of workers in the City has increased by at least 50%.xv In 2022, 

7am-7pm, 35% of motor vehicles in the Square Mile are cars (including private hire 

vehicles), 20% are taxis and 30% vans and goods vehicles. 

Cycles and buses represent the most space efficient modes of vehicular transport. 

Based on average occupancy, they require 200m2 and 250m2 of street space 

respectively to move 100 people. The same number of people travelling in a car or 

taxi would need 760m2.  

[The following text will go in a box] 

Purpose of the Approach for managing traffic movement and access 

This approach sets out the principles for managing traffic and access around the city.  

We are proposing to include a summary of how we will manage traffic movement and 

access to enable delivery of the Transport Strategy (under Outcome 2: Street spaces 

is used more efficiently and effectively). By clearly setting out the approach for 

different modes of travel we aim to make it easy for people to see how the 

application of Transport Strategy proposals will affect the allocation of street space 

and access.  

As well as reflecting the Transport Strategy outcomes and proposals, including the 

street hierarchy, the proposed approach takes account of what we can legally and 

practically ‘control’ in terms of purpose and movement of specific vehicles on our 

Page 176



   39 
 

streets. For example, for legal purposes private hire vehicles have to be considered 

as part of general traffic and separately to taxis. 

The approach will sit alongside our definition of essential traffic: walking, cycling, 

buses, freight and servicing trips with a destination in the City and private and shared 

vehicles used by people with particular access needs.  

Managing traffic movement and access 

Street space is a finite resource, and the Transport Strategy recognises the trade-

offs between competing demands for that space. These trades offs are weighted 

towards improvements for people walking (including people using wheelchairs and 

mobility scooters), and to a lesser extent people cycling, and to enhancing the public 

realm. 

As is noted under Proposal2: Put the needs of people walking first when designing 

and managing our streets: “[We accept] that delivering priority for people walking 

may result in delays or reduced capacity for other street users, (while seeking to 

minimise the impact on essential traffic through general traffic reduction)”.  

In a constrained environment like the City, it is only possible to give more space or 

priority on a street to people walking by reallocating space from or changing access 

for other street users. Where traffic changes are required, access for motor vehicles 

will be retained to ensure people who need to use a taxi, private hire vehicle or their 

own vehicle to travel to and within the City can reach their destination. Access is also 

required for deliveries and servicing. However, some increases in journey lengths will 

be unavoidable.  

Decisions on reallocating space or changing access will be informed by a street’s 

classification in the City Street Hierarchy. The street hierarchy, illustrated in the map 

below, sets out how each street should function in terms of vehicular movement. Its 

application and the phasing and coordination of project delivery (where streets are 

temporarily closed) ensures traffic can move around the City and access parking, 

loading space and properties.  

The following statements set out our approach for managing the allocation of space 

and allowing access for the different types of traffic on the City’s streets. All decisions 

will include an assessment of impacts on access and movement around the city 

through a project’s Equalities Impact Assessments (EqIAs). 

Walking  

Walking, which includes people using wheelchairs and mobility scooters and people 

walking to and from public transport, is the main way that people travel around the 

City and will be prioritised accordingly by: 

• Creating pedestrian priority streets where traffic access is limited for all or part of 

the day. 

• Giving greater priority at junctions and side streets and making streets easier to 

cross. 

• Reallocating street space to widen pavements and enable public realm 

improvements. 

Page 177



   40 
 

Where improvements for people walking are required, including to make streets 

more accessible, then these will take precedence over the use of the streets by other 

traffic, particularly motor traffic. 

Cycling 

Pedal cycles include electrically assisted pedal cycles, adapted cycles, cycles used  

as mobility aids and cargo bikes. They may have more than two wheels.   

Where it does not conflict with the need to prioritise people walking, we will seek to 

maximise the choice of safe and convenient routes for people cycling. This includes 

allowing people cycling through the City on longer journeys to use local access and  

City access streets. This reflects the fact that cycles are a space efficient, zero 

emission, affordable and healthy form of transport that can be used independently by 

children and adults, as well as for deliveries and servicing. The number of people 

cycling on the City’s streets has grown significantly over the last two decades and 

people cycling make up our single largest vehicle proportion.   

We will allow cycling on most streets, including maintaining two-way cycling on 

streets that are otherwise one-way for motor vehicles and an assumption that people 

will be allowed to cycle though bus only restrictions. In some instances, the primary 

reason for seeking to restrict or limit motor traffic on a street will be to create safe 

and inclusive conditions for cycling.   

Cycle access on streets or sections of streets that are entirely closed to motor 

vehicles will be considered on a case-by-case basis and streets designed 

accordingly, taking account of the availability of other safe routes and the potential 

for interactions between people walking and cycling.  

Scooters/E-scooters 

Scooters and e-scooters have the potential to provide a space efficient and low 

emission transport options that is likely to appeal to people who may not otherwise 

choose to cycle and potentially provide a non-car link for public transport journeys. 

Subject to the final classification of e-scooters in any future legislation, e-scooters 

(subject to their legal status) will be treated in the same way as cycles in terms of 

street space and access. For e-scooters this currently only applies to e-scooters 

hired through the London-wide trial.  Private e-scooters are not permitted to use 

public highway.  

Buses  

There are unlikely to be opportunities to improve bus journey times by reallocating 

space to bus lanes or other bus priority measures. In some instances, it may also be 

necessary to use space currently allocated to bus lanes for pavement widening.  

Maintaining and where possible improving bus journey times will instead need to be 

achieved through traffic reduction, both in general terms and, on local access 

streets, by restricting other traffic. We will seek to minimise any changes to bus 

routes, but this may be necessary in some instances.  

Taxis 

Taxi access where motor vehicles are otherwise restricted will be considered on a 

case-by-case basis, separately to other vehicles, including private hire vehicles, and 

Page 178



   41 
 

against the objectives of the specific project. The impacts on access and of 

potentially longer journeys for passengers who need to use a taxi will be assessed 

through a project’s Equalities Impact Assessments (EqIAs). There is no assumption 

that taxis will be permitted through bus gates or other bus only restrictions.  

We are actively seeking an as yet undeveloped automated solution for identifying 

taxis carrying registered disabled passengers that can potentially allow them to use 

otherwise restricted streets and reduce the potential for higher fares. If this system 

becomes available, then existing restrictions will be reviewed to assess their 

suitability for allowing this limited access.  

Freight and Servicing 

Freight and service vehicles provide a different service to other general traffic, 

however it is generally not possible to differentiate freight and servicing vehicles from 

general traffic when considering restrictions. Freight and servicing vehicles with a 

destination in the City are recognised as essential traffic. Access requirements for 

these purposes will be a specific consideration when any restrictions on access or 

movement are being considered. 

L category vehicles.  

L category vehicles, which includes powered two and three wheelers such as, 

mopeds and motorbikes. (including electric bikes that are not classed as electrically 

assisted pedal cycles) (see DVLA definition) 

We consider that although vehicles in this classification are still private transport, 

there may be some circumstances where we wish to differentiate locally for the 

purposes of access.  

 

General traffic 

In most instances any restrictions or constraints on the use of streets will apply 

equally to private hire vehicles, freight and servicing and private cars.   

All streets, except on sections that are pedestrianised or restricted to bus and/or 

cycles only, will continue to provide space for general traffic in accordance with 

access requirements accommodated in line with the street hierarchy. It may be 

necessary to convert some streets to one-way for motor traffic to enable the 

reallocation of space to pavement widening. The impacts of potentially longer 

journeys for drivers or passengers will be assessed through a project’s Equalities 

Impact Assessments (EqIAs).  

We are actively seeking an as yet undeveloped automated solution for identifying 

private hire vehicles carrying disabled passengers that can potentially allow them to 

use otherwise restricted streets and reduce the potential for higher fares. If this 

system becomes available, then existing restrictions will be reviewed to assess their 

suitability for allowing this limited access.  

[End of text box] 

 

 

 

Page 179



   42 
 

Note that above text will include mini infographics to make it more visual.  

 

Placeholder for new infographic: 

• City Streets Survey respondents prioritising street users 

 

  

Page 180



   43 
 

Proposal 11: Take a proactive approach to reducing motor traffic  

Delivering this Strategy will result in a reallocation of street space from motor 

vehicles to provide more space for people walking, wheeling, cycling and spending 

time on the City’s streets. To avoid unreasonably impacting the movement of 

essential motor traffic it will be necessary to reduce the overall volume of motor 

vehicles. Reducing motor traffic is also key to improving air quality and delivering 

Vision Zero. We will proactively seek to reduce motor traffic to support the delivery 

of this Strategy, with the aim of achieving at least a 25% reduction by 2030. 

Reductions in all types of motor traffic will be required to achieve this, with the 

most significant reductions being in the number of private cars and private hire 

vehicles using the City’s streets.  

To achieve this, we will champion and support the development of the next 

generation of road user charging for London and  support the Mayor of London 

and TfL on the development of new charging mechanisms.  

Additional measures and initiatives to reduce motor traffic in the Square Mile will 

include:  

1. We will continue to monitor numbers of private hire vehicles (PHVs) 

operating in the City and support TfL’s approach to managing  the number 

of PHVs operating in London to an appropriate level.  We will also work with 

TfL and large operators to reduce circulation and empty running and 

promote ridesharing.  

• Working with the taxi industry to reduce empty running of taxis within the 

Square Mile, including a City-wide review of taxi ranks and promotion of ride 

hailing apps, while ensuring suitable availability of taxis for those that rely 

on them for door-to-door transport.  

• Delivering proposals 38 and 39 to reduce the number of delivery and 

servicing vehicles in the Square Mile, particularly at peak travel times.  

• Working with TfL to identify opportunities to optimise the number of buses 

travelling through the City without compromising public transport 

accessibility (proposal 49).  

• Not providing any additional on-street car and motorcycle parking, 

identifying opportunities to use parking reductions and restrictions to 

discourage private vehicle use and continuing to require all new 

developments to be car-free.  

• Working with businesses to reduce the use of private cars, private hire 

vehicles and taxis for commuting and for trips within the Square Mile and 

central London.  

• Introducing access restrictions and other measures to reduce through traffic 

in line with the City of London Street Hierarchy (proposal 12). 

• In addition to reducing traffic by 25% by 2030 we will aim for a reduction in 

motor traffic volumes of at least 50% by 2044. We will publish more details 

about our traffic reduction plans following the next Mayoral election and 

clarification of how the next Mayor will approach road user charging. This 

will include how we will work with TfL and neighbouring boroughs to 

develop coordinated measures across central London. Achieving this level 

Page 181



   44 
 

of traffic reduction is also likely to require new shared mobility services and 

other transport technology innovations, which the City Corporation will 

support and facilitate (proposal 43). 

•  

 

Placeholder for new infographic: 

• Essential Traffic Infographic 

 

  

Page 182



   45 
 

[The following text will go in a box] 

Road user charging 
London was a global leader in road user charging when the Congestion Charge was 

introduced to central London in 2003. There was an immediate reduction in 

congestion of 30% and 15% less circulating traffic (Greater London Authority, 2018)  

The Congestion Charge is now  over 20 years old. Although it has had some  

alterations since it was introduced it remains a relatively simple system while   the 

challenges facing central London have changed considerably.  

A thriving weekend and night time economy now means that evening and weekend 

traffic levels (when the Congestion Charge is not in operation) are now similar to 

those on weekdays.  

An updated road user charge, that could be varied according to patterns of demand, 

vehicle type or by distance travelled, would be more effective in reducing traffic 

levels and congestion in central London. A central London or London-wide approach, 

compared to a City specific charge, would be the most beneficial model. TfL has 

initiated engagement on future road user charging system and approach. We 

support developing this to help deliver the City’s objectives including traffic reduction.   

[End of text box] 

  

Page 183



   46 
 

Proposal 12: Design and manage the street network in accordance with 
the City of London Street Hierarchy  

The City of London Street Hierarchy describes the function of every street in terms 
of motor traffic movement. We will design and manage the street network in 
accordance with the hierarchy shown in Figure 7 below to encourage drivers to 
use the right street for the right journey. 

The categories in the hierarchy are:  

London Access streets  

Preferred streets for motor vehicles that do not have a destination in, or 
immediately adjacent to, the Square Mile.  

City Access streets  

Preferred streets for motor vehicles that are travelling around the Square Mile or to 
immediately adjacent destinations.  

Local Access streets  

Primarily used for the first or final part of a journey, providing access for vehicles to 
properties. 

A street’s position in the hierarchy will be one factor that helps inform decisions on 
how space is allocated between different users and uses of that street. Alongside 
the street hierarchy we will also consider 

• The views and aspirations of different street users and City residents, 
workers and businesses 

• How to best prioritise walking, cycling and buses as the most efficient ways 
to move people 

• How to incorporate the street’s role as a public space and reflect the types 
of buildings and uses along it, including planned development 

• How to provide appropriate access for delivery, servicing, and other 
commercial activities 

• How to provide access for residents, people of all abilities and people with 
access requirements, such as heavy luggage or injuries and illness 

• How to maintain emergency response times and access for emergency 
services 

We will maintain access for essential traffic and recognise that this may result in 

longer journeys in some cases. We recognise that in reducing motor traffic there 

are certain protected groups who may rely on using a car and are unable to 

participate in active travel. Any traffic restrictions and the promotion of sustainable 

modes of transport will be reviewed in line with proposal 1b, the Public Equality 

Duty set out under the Equalities Act 2010 and any other relevant guidance or 

legislation for all projects and major policy decisions. 

Page 184



   47 
 

Traffic management measures to implement the street hierarchy will be identified 
through the development of area based Healthy Streets Plans (HSP). These will 
consider: 

• How to reduce the use of Local Access streets by through traffic, while 
maintaining access 

• Opportunities to introduce pedestrian priority, improve the experience of 
walking, wheeling and cycling, enhance the public realm and create new 
public space 

• Potential changes to kerbside uses including loading and parking 

• Opportunities for area-based approaches to the management of freight and 
servicing, including consolidation and retiming of deliveries 

• The need for network changes to support planned and future development 

Progress on completing Healthy Streets Plans is in the ‘Update and Progress’ 
section of this document in more detail. The Healthy Streets approach and 
identification of opportunities will be established through completing HSPs for the 
following areas (shown in Figure 7):  

Healthy Street Plans will be developed in consultation with residents, businesses, 
BIDs and other partners and stakeholders. Initial delivery will focus on 
implementing functional network changes, small scale projects to change the look 
and feel of streets and provide additional public space. This will be followed by full 
implementation, including major transformational projects, which will be 
programmed to correspond with major developments in the area.  All Healthy 
Streets Plan areas will be reviewed on a 10-year cycle, so that changes in 
conditions are reflected in our plans and priorities. The identification of 
opportunities will be established through completing HSPHealthy Streets Plans s 
for the following areas (shown in Figure 7): 

Healthy Streets Plans to be developed by 2027 include: 

• Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken. This area is bounded on the east by the City 
Boundary with Tower Hamlets, at Mansell Street and Middlesex Street.  It 
includes the junction at Minories Gyratory near Tower Hill and Aldgate 
Station in the north.  The HSP will be completed by 20252027.   

• Bunhill Barbican and Golden Lane Healthy Neighbourhood Plan. This area 
extends in the north to Old Street which is the area within Islington, to the 
south London Wall, east to Moorgate and west to Aldersgate Street.  We 
will work in partnership with Islington Council to develop a plan setting out 
an integrated approach to improving the public realm and managing traffic 
to support delivery of the Transport Strategy and opportunities created by 
new developments.  This will be completed by 2024. 

• Fenchurch Street area. This includes area around Fenchurch Street Station 
and proposed upgrade, extends to include area south to the Thames, and 
includes Eastcheap and Monument junction.  To be completed by 2026. 

• Bank and Cheapside area, covers the reconfigured St Paul’s gyratory to 
Bishopsgate in the east.  The plan will be completed by 2027. 

• Riverside area, addressing links to the Thames path, south of Upper and 
Lower Thames Street, by 2027. 

Page 185



   48 
 

 Healthy Streets Plans that are in delivery or due to be completed in 2024 include: 

• The City Cluster Healthy Streets Plan was completed in 2021. Work to 
deliver the recommendations as part of the City Cluster Vision is in progress 
over the period to 2029, through an area programme including traffic 
management restrictions and pavement widening, focussed on Leadenhall 
Street and St Mary Axe as key routes.  A series of improvements to public 
spaces including climate resilient planting and Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) in St Helen’s Churchyard, St Andrews Undershaft 
Churchyard, Jubilee Gardens.  Activation and engagement programme with 
the Destination City team and in partnership with EC BID.   This Healthy 
Streets plan will be reviewed in 2030.  

• Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan, covers the area to the city boundary 
at Chancery Lane, north and south Fleet Street including the Temples, and 
extends to St Pauls in the east past Ludgate Circus.  The plan was 
completed and adopted in 2024. Delivery of the recommendations will be 
over the period to 2033, including  improvements associated with new 
development.  This Healthy Streets Plan will be reviewed in 2033 

• The Liverpool Street Area Healthy Streets Plan, covers from London Wall to 
the City northern boundary and Bishopsgate on the east. The plan includes 
improvements such as pedestrian priority streets with timed restrictions for 
motor vehicles, improved crossings and public realm improvements, 
including widened pavements, tree planting, and places for people to rest 
and relax. The plan was completed in 2024. Delivery of the 
recommendations will be in conjunction with developments in the area.  

 

 

Placeholder for Figure: 

• Street Hierarchy  

  

Page 186



   49 
 

Proposal 13: Use timed and temporary street closures to help make 
streets safer and more attractive places to walk, wheel, cycle and spend 
time  

Where necessary and appropriate, we will introduce timed restrictions to motor 
vehicle access to support the implementation of pedestrian priority streets. This 
will make walking, wheeling and cycling safer and more accessible; and improve 
the experience of spending time on the City’s streets. The potential for timed 
closures to general motor traffic to improve bus journey times will also be explored. 
The extent of timed restrictions and types of vehicles excluded will be decided on a 
case-by-case basis, applying the approaches outlined in proposal 1b and proposal 
12, and subject to modelling, impact assessments and consultation prior to 
implementation. 

We will work with the City Corporation's Destination City team, BIDs and third 
parties to use temporary street closures to enhance the City’s leisure and cultural 
offer. This includes closures for annual or one-off events as well as regular timed 
closures, for example on weekday lunchtimes or at the weekend. 

 

 

Placeholder for Figure: 

• Proposed Healthy Street Plans  

Page 187



   50 
 

Proposal 14: Make the best and most efficient use of the kerbside and 
car parks  

We will keep the use and management of the kerbside and City Corporation car 
parks under frequent review to: 

Identify opportunities, through Healthy Streets Plans and individual projects, to 
reallocate space from on-street car and motorcycle parking to increase the space 
available for people walking, support the delivery of cycle infrastructure and 
provide additional public space and cycle and scooter parking.  

• Ensure adequate on-street provision of short stay commercial parking, 
disabled bays, taxi ranks, loading bays and coach bays 

• Ensure adequate provision of off-street long stay parking provision, 
including dedicated disabled bays, while identifying spare capacity in City 
Corporation car parks and exploring alternative uses for this space 

• Identify opportunities to reduce obstructions caused by vehicles loading or 
waiting to pick up passengers, particularly at peak travel times 

• Ensure cycle and bus lanes are kept clear of obstructions from stationary or 
parked vehicles 

We will complete and consult on the outcomes of the  City-wide kerbside review by 
2024, with further reviews conducted at least every five years. Each review will 
include a comprehensive data collection exercise to understand current use of the 
kerbside and City Corporation Car Parks. No strategic changes to the provision of 
kerbside facilities will be implemented before the review is completed or consulted 
on.   

In addition to the items outlined above, this review will consider the potential to: 

• Extend the charging period for on-street parking bays to include evenings 
and weekends  

• Introduce variable charging for motorcycle parking based on motorcycle 
size and emissions 

• Encourage the use of car parks for long stay parking by reducing the 
maximum parking time for cars and vans on-street and introducing a 
maximum on-street parking time for motorcycles 

• Extend the Controlled Parking Zone hours to evenings and weekends 

• Designate on-street car parking as ‘service bays’ during the working day 
(7am-7pm), with parking restricted for use by commercial vehicles 

• Reduce the maximum loading period from the current 40 minutes when the 
City’s Controlled Parking Zone restrictions apply 

• Introduce more dedicated loading bays and use technology to allow real-
time management of loading activity 

• Implement multi-use spaces, for example loading bay during off-peak hours, 
additional pavement space during the morning, lunchtime and evening 
peaks and a taxi rank during the evening 

 

Page 188



   51 
 

Deleted Proposal 15: Support and champion the ‘Turning the Corner’ 
campaign  

 

  

Page 189



   52 
 

Outcome 3: The Square Mile is accessible to all  

Everybody must be able to travel easily, comfortably and confidently to and around 

the Square Mile. Delivering this Strategy will help remove obstacles to walking, 

wheeling, cycling, scooting and using public transport. Pavements and crossings will 

be smooth, level and wide enough to avoid uncomfortable crowding. Streets will be 

cleaner, quieter and less stressful places that offer more opportunities to stop and 

rest. Changes to streets will be supported by new transport technologies that will 

emerge over the next 25 years, including new shared transport services. 

Advancements intransport innovations will help provide specialised and tailored 

accessibility support and an accessible public transport network will mean that 

people with limited mobility are no longer penalised by having to make longer or 

more expensive journeys. 

13% of Londoners currently consider themselves to have a disability that impacts 

their day to day activities ‘a little’ or ‘a lot’ (Transport for London, 2024). This is 

expected to rise due to an aging population.. Almost every journey starts and ends 

with some amount of walking and wheeling, if only to the vehicle, station or stop. 

However, too often poor pavement surfaces, street clutter including dockless e-

cycles and lack of dropped kerbs are known to create barriers and inequalities 

(Transport for All, 2023).  

London-wide the proportion of disabled Londoners who travel by Underground and 

National Rail is considerably lower than for non-disabled Londoners. Gaps in the 

step-free public transport network mean that a step-free journey is on average 5.76 

minutes slower for customers requiring step free access. It has been found that 

12.5% of disabled people don’t feel Transport for London provides a safe service 

(Transport for London, 2024) .  

Findings from our recent survey of nearly 1000 City of London workers, visitors, 

residents and students (SYSTRA, 2023) ranked creating streets that are accessible 

to all as the most important Outcome of the Strategy. It also found disabled 

respondents were more likely than those without disabilities to disagree (44.4% vs 

19.3%) with the statement that “our City streets are accessible for people of all ages 

and abilities”. Workshop engagement with disability groups also noted the Strategy 

should better consider the needs of disabled people and others reliant on motorised 

transport.  

Placeholder for updated infographic: 

• 15.7% of Londoners consider themselves to have a disability that impacts 

their day to day activities ‘a lot’ or ‘a little’. This is expected to rise (Transport 

for London, 2024). 

[The following text will go in a box] 

City of London Street Accessibility Tool 
City of London Street Accessibility Tool (COLSAT) (City of London Corporation, 

2022) was created based on interviews with 34 disabled people in 12 different needs 

segments. The segmentation attempted to represent the full spectrum of disabled 

peoples’ needs including:  

Page 190



   53 
 

• 5 segments representing people with mobility impairments,  

• 4 covering people with sensory impairments and  

• 3 covering neurodivergent people 

It enables our street designers to easily identify how street features impact on the 

different needs of disabled people.  

The tool's key feature is that it recognises that the needs of different groups of 

disabled people can be contradictory; that improving accessibility for one group may 

decrease accessibility for another. It identifies the trade-offs that may be needed to 

ensure no one is excluded from using the City's streets.  

CoLSAT in practice   

CoLSAT has been in regular use by officers in the City of London since its 

development and is applied to every design project, from simple individual crossing 

to major schemes. The Tool is used in conjunction with National Guidance, Road 

Safety Audits, Equality Impact Assessments and engagement to inform decision 

making. 

When designing and delivering changes to our streets and public spaces CoLSAT 

highlights potential issues early, and allows City Corporation officers to have 

meaningful discussions with Stakeholders. Identify solutions, remove barriers and 

make design changes to improve standards of accessibility.  

COLSAT’s ease of use has allowed it to be happily adopted by officers already 

resulted in design changes. At The Bank Junction, for example: 

• level surfaces and 25mm kerb upstands were abandoned in favour of 

60mm kerb upstands,  

• additional tactile paving was applied to fully delineate footway and 

carriageway on traffic tables,  

• where possible, the spacing between security bollards was increased  

Placeholder for new Infographic 

• CoLSAT was developed working with Urban Movement and Ross Atkin 

Associates and has won the “Transport Accessibility Award” at the CiTTi 

Awards and the “Best Practice in Diversity, Inclusivity and Accessibility 

Award” at the UK National Transport Awards. It is free to download from the 

City Corporation website and we are encouraging everyone to use it.  

[End of text box] 

  

Page 191



   54 
 

Proposal 16: Make the City's streets more accessible and apply the City 
of London Street Accessibility Tool  

We will make the City’s streets more accessible by: 

• Applying the City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) on all 

projects to identify opportunities to improve accessibility 

• Delivering accessibility improvements at locations that are not covered by 

existing or planned projects through the Healthy Streets Minor Schemes 

programme. A proportion of our Local Implementation Plan (LIP) funding 

will be committed on an annual basis to fund these schemes. 

• Continuing to engage disabled users of our streets and groups representing 

the needs of different street users to expand and improve CoLSAT, 

ensuring the tool and the data within it remains robust and adaptable to 

change 

• Completing an audit to identify locations with sub-standard or missing 

accessible crossing points. Necessary improvements will be delivered 

through the Healthy Streets Minor Schemes programme if not covered by 

existing or planned projects 

• Establishing a mechanism for people to report accessibility problems and 

identify barriers on our streets and public spaces 

• Working with developers to apply CoLSAT  when assessing the transport 

impacts of planned developments and to identify accessibility improvements 

that can be delivered through section 278 projects 

• Encouraging TfL to apply CoLSAT to projects on the Transport for London 

Road Network (TLRN) within the Square Mile 

 

  

Page 192



   55 
 

Proposal 17: Keep pavements free of obstructions  

We will ensure that pavements and streets* are free of obstructions by:  

• Not permitting A-boards on the public highway 

• Only allowing outdoor seating where businesses can demonstrate that 

adequate width (including private space) will be maintained during the 

busiest time of day 

• Working with owners and landlords and using highways powers and the 

licensing system to prevent pavements and streets being blocked by people 

standing outside bars and pubs, including prohibition of furniture that 

encourages this 

• Ensuring operators of dockless cycle and scooter hire schemes require 

users to leave cycles and scooters in designated parking locations and 

promptly remove any cycles not left in these locations (see Proposal 25)  

• Continuing to reduce clutter by removing unnecessary street furniture and 

ensuring remaining furniture is positioned to maintain a clear walking and 

wheeling route, including identifying opportunities to affix signs to buildings  

• Seeking to maintain a pedestrian comfort level of B+ when installing new 

street furniture, signage, trees and greenery, bollards and security features 

(see Proposal 2)  

• Minimise the extent to which temporary signage reduces pavement width 

and work with contractors, utilities and developers to ensure signs are 

placed in the carriageway when they will not pose risk to road users  

• Review the role of pavement obstructions in incidences of trips, falls and 

claims against the City Corporation  

• Where it is essential to locate electric vehicle charging infrastructure on-

street, charge points will be installed in the carriageway rather than on the 

pavement (see Proposal 30)  

• Enforce against people who park on the pavement 

* Pavements and streets are used in lieu of the legal definition of public highway 

which includes all publicly adopted carriageway, pavements and City walkways. 

The Highways Act 1980 requires highways authorities to maintain free, 

unobstructed access along the highway (Section 130) and allows the City 

Corporation to restrict any furniture on its highway though section 115(E)(1)(b)(i) of 

the Act. 

 

Page 193



   56 
 

Deleted Proposal 18: Keep pedestrian crossings clear of vehicles  

 

 

  

Page 194



   57 
 

Proposal 19: Support and champion accessibility improvements to 
Underground stations  

We will work with TfL to prioritise investment in accessibility improvements to 

Underground and DLR stations within the Square Mile. Through the planning 

process we will identify opportunities to introduce step free access as part of new 

developments and major refurbishments. We will also work with Network Rail to 

introduce step free access to Moorgate national rail platforms.  

We will champion and support improvements that allow people to travel safely and 

comfortably. This can often involve ensuring information is accessible, providing 

easy route planning information, providing information in forms that are useable by 

a range of people and training transport staff to understand the needs of disabled 

and elderly people.  

Our ambition is that all stations within the Square Mile are accessible by 2044. We 

will liaise with TfL to identify the programme of investment required to achieve this. 

In addition to seeking accessibility improvements to stations in the Square Mile we 

will support accessibility improvements to London’s wider public transport network. 

Improvements beyond the City’s boundary are key to reducing the extra time or 

longer routes that can be required for a barrier free journey. 

 

Placeholder for new infographic: 

• Step-free access to London Underground and DLR stations in the City of 

London 

  

Page 195



   58 
 

Outcome 4: People using our streets and public 

spaces are safe and feel safe  

No one should be prevented from choosing a particular mode of transport because 

of concerns for their personal safety. Delivering this Strategy will result in fewer 

motor vehicles on our streets and those vehicles will be moving at slower speeds. 

Collisions will occur less often and will not result in death or serious injury. Fewer, 

slower vehicles, together with high quality street lighting, will also mean that streets 

feel safer at all times of the day. Motor vehicles themselves will be equipped with 

advanced sensors and better automatic safety features that will further reduce or 

eliminate human driving error. Security features will be sensitively incorporated into 

the streetscape and will incorporate features that help make streets more attractive 

places to walk and spend time. The Square Mile will continue to experience a low 

rate of crime and fear of crime, supported by reductions in thefts of and from 

vehicles.  

In 2022 , 59 people were reported killed or seriously injured in traffic collisions on the 

City’s streets, including  27 while  cycling,  17 while walking and wheeling and eight 

while riding a moped or motorcycle. Other than during the Covid-19 pandemic period 

when serious injury numbers reduced, the number of people reported killed and 

seriously injured in the Square Mile has, remained relatively consistent, fluctuating 

between  50 and 80 per year, since 2010  (City of London Corporation, 2024) Around 

eight out of 10 collisions in the Square Mile that result in a death or serious injury 

involve a motor vehicle (Transport for London, 2024).  

The City is fortunate to experience low levels of crime and fear of crime, with  64% of 

people reporting that they feel safe from crime and terrorism. However, some groups 

experience crime and fear of crime more than others, particularly women and girls. 

For example from our recent survey, women were less likely to agree than men that 

City streets were well-lit at night (SYSTRA, 2023). We will continue to provide 

effective and proactive policing, well designed and maintained public spaces and 

proportionate security measures that ensure people are safe and feel safe.  

Placeholder for updated infographic: 

• Collision Stats infographic  

 

  

Page 196



   59 
 

Proposal 20: Apply the safe system approach and the principles of road 
danger reduction to deliver Vision Zero  

Our commitment to the ambition of Vision Zero means we will seek to eliminate 

transport related deaths and serious injuries from the streets of the Square Mile by 

2040.  

Our interim target is that there are fewer than 20 deaths or serious injuries a year 

by 2030.  

Measures to deliver Vision Zero and reduce road danger will be delivered across 

five themes:  

• Safe streets  

• Safe speeds  

• Safe vehicles  

• Safe behaviours  

• Post collision response 

We will work in partnership with the City of London Police, TfL and organisations 

representing different street users to apply the Safe System approach and the 

principles of road danger reduction. This means:  

• Being proportional in our efforts to tackle the sources of road danger, 

focussing on those users of our streets who have the greatest potential to 

harm others due to the size and speed of their vehicle.  

• Recognising that people will always make mistakes and that collisions can 

never be entirely eliminated. Our streets must therefore be designed, 

managed and used to cater for an element of human error and 

unpredictability. 

• Reducing vehicle speeds on our streets to minimise the energy involved in 

collisions and protect people from death or injury. 

• Seeking to reduce slight injuries and fear of road danger alongside the 

principal focus on eliminating death and serious injuries. 

Further details on how we will work towards Vision Zero will werebe published in 

the Vision Zero Action Plan which is expected to be was adopted in February 2024  

(City of London Corporation, 2024). We will revisitreview the plan later in 2023 and 

will be updated at least every five years to ensure that it remains appropriate and 

up to date. 

Safe streets  
We will use the analysis of collisions to prioritise investment in Safe Streets 

scheme that will be scoped, designed and delivered to reduce danger and the fear 

of danger at the highest risk locations.  

The current priority locations for investment are: 

• London Wall / Moorgate 

• Holborn Circus 

• Aldgate High Street (Outside Aldgate Station) 

Page 197



   60 
 

• Newgate Street / Warwick Lane 

• Aldersgate Street / Long Lane (Outside Barbican Station) 

• Fleet Street / Bouverie Street 

• London Wall / Old Broad Street 

• Fenchurch Street / Lime Street 

• Fetter Lane / New Fetter Lane 

• Fenchurch Street / Mincing Lane 

Proposals for improvements at all these prioritised junction locations will be 

developed by 2028. 

We will also use collision data to highlight priority locations on the TLRN and work 

with TfL to deliver the necessary improvements including at Monument junction. 

There are further casualty hotspots on or near to the City boundary, which are the 

responsibility of neighbouring London boroughs. We will engage with these 

partners to encourage them to address these locations though remedial 

engineering measures to reduce risk to people travelling to and from the Square 

Mile. 

We will continue to deliver other measures that improve the street environment to 

reduce the likelihood and severity of collisions, including: 

• The development of a City of London Vision Zero design audit, applied to all 

engineering schemes, to ensure that guidance and best practice have been 

applied, 

• Delivering Safe Streets interventions through other planned projects and 

programmes,  

• Enhancing the delivery of Safe Streets initiatives through effective 

monitoring and reporting, 

• Continuing to maintain a smooth and level surface on pavements and 

carriageways to reduce the risk of trips and falls by people walking, 

wheeling and riding in the City. 

Safe speeds 
Reducing the speed of vehicles decreases the likelihood of a collision and the 

severity of injury in the event of one. 

To ensure that all vehicles, including cycles, are driven or ridden at speeds 

appropriate to the City context we will support the City of London Police’s 

engagement and enforcement through activity to promote compliance including: 

• Identifying locations across the Square Mile where trials of innovative signage 

will help create lower speed environments and reduce road danger. This may 

include advisory lower speed limit signage on particular streets across the 

Square Mile where they would help create lower speed environments and 

reduce road danger. 

• Using projects that deliver changes to the City’s streets to helphat create a 

low speed environments, 

• Trialling the use of on-street signage and messaging to highlight the need 

for people to drive and ride at appropriate speeds, 

Page 198



   61 
 

• Installing speed indicator devices at locations with the lowest levels of speed 

limit compliance and highest risk of serious collisions, 

• Introducing advanced driver intelligent speed assistance systems (ADASISA) 

in our own vehicle fleet and promoting its use by other fleets that operate in 

the City, including the fleets of City Corporation partners, suppliers and 

service providers, 

• Using City Corporation channels, including to the business community, to 

amplify national and London speed awareness campaigns. 

 

The City of London Police will continue its on-street engagement and speed 

enforcement activity with a focus on locations and times where poor compliance 

presents the greatest risk. 

Safe vehicles 
We will adopt a variety of measures to improve the safety of motor vehicles which 

use City’s streets, including: 

• Continuing to engage with TfL to provide insight, data and advice on the 

approach to reduce the risk posed by London buses,  

• Encouraging TfL to identify all opportunities to improve safety, both in the 

design specification for future London black cabs and in its influence over 

private hire vehicle operators, 

• Seeking the highest standards through the use of the innovative CityMark 

initiative, which encourages construction sites to take a more holistic view of 

safety beyond the hoardings and to prioritise the reduction of risk to other 

road users. The City Corporation adheres to the highest gold standard of 

FORS (Fleet Operator Recognition Scheme) as well as CLoCS 

(Construction Logistics and Community Safety), and we will promote these 

standards to suppliers and partners, 

• Collaborating with partners to improve vehicle standards and maintenance 

and seek to support the development of a motorcycle fleet accreditation 

standard, 

• Supporting the City Police’s education, engagement and enforcement 

against people driving or riding vehicles that put themselves and others at 

risk, 

• Raising vehicle safety standards, through the City Corporation setting the 

benchmark through its own fleet, whilst using procurement processes, 

supply chain and influence on other businesses to further extend the 

benefits. 

• Continuing to inspect hundreds of vehicles each year with the City Police 

Commercial Vehicles Unit and continue to support the London Freight 

Enforcement partnership alongside Transport for London, the Metropolitan 

Police and the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency.  

Safe behaviours 
We will support the City Police’s intelligence led and highly visible approach to 

tackling unsafe and illegal behaviour on the City’s streets through education and 

enforcement. We will seek Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) 

Page 199



   62 
 

powers to enable police-type functions, including enforcing cycling on the 

pavement, to be undertaken by accredited individuals or organisations.  

Campaigns, communication and training interventions to improve behaviours of all 

street users will include: 

• Working with the City Police to support and amplify the campaigns, 

communications and behaviour change activity of TfL, the DfT and other 

agencies.  

• Promoting training opportunities to cycle and e-scooter users, including 

those that use cycles and e-scooters for work, to ensure that they ride in a 

way that minimises risk to people using the City’s streets. 

• Investigating the potential to strengthen our existing Fleet Operator 

Recognition Scheme (FORS) requirements for suppliers, including a 

condition that drivers have Safer Urban Driving training or on-cycle / 

immersive training. 

• Collaborating with TfL and other authorities to help inform national 

standards, including the design (and database) of Compulsory Basic 

Training for new and novice powered two-wheeler riders and compulsory 

requirement for Safer Urban Driving in Driver Certificate of Professional 

Competence (CPC). 

• Working with TfL’s Taxi & Private Hire team to encourage them to 

strengthen safety requirements where possible, for example driver safety 

training, police incident reporting, Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 

frequency etc. 

Post Collision Learning, Analysis and Support 
Fatal and serious injury collisions on the City’s streets are tragic but largely 

preventable events, and through treating them as such, the Corporation and Police 

will learn from them to help prevent their reoccurrence whilst supporting the victims 

that suffer the consequences. 

The City Corporation and City Police will: 

• Collaborate to improve the investigation of collisions to help inform and 

develop the approach to reducing road danger and preventing fatal and 

serious injuries 

• Work together to improve support for those that suffer the most from the 

effects of fatal and serious collisions, with the City Police signposting and 

referring individuals to the specialist services that exist, to aid and support 

those bereaved or seriously injured at the most difficult of times  

• Work closely when developing traffic restrictions to reduce potential impacts 

on emergency response times. 

Placeholder for Figure: 

• Safer Streets priority locations  

Page 200



   63 
 

  

[The following text will go in a box] 

Trial of Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) on City Corporation fleet 

vehicles 

In 2023, we undertook a trial of three different Advanced Driver Assistance 

Systems (ADAS) on vehicles within the City Corporation fleet. The trial intended to 

inform our understanding of which system would be most appropriate to use in the 

City’s fleet to help improve safety, reduce fuel and CO2 emissions and aid in the 

management and operation of the fleet. The trial included a form of intelligent 

speed assistance (ISA), a driver coaching and gamification tool and a telematics 

device.  

The trial concluded that the driver coaching and gamification system was the one 

most appropriate for use in the City’s fleet due to the fuel reduction, driver 

behavioural improvements and risk reduction demonstrated. We are seeking to 

expand the use of the technology across the City Corporation’s fleet to multiply 

the benefits and cost saving potential. 

[End of text box]  

 

Page 201



   64 
 

Proposal 21: Work with the City of London Police to reduce crime and 
fear of crime  

We will work with the City of London Police to ensure the design and management 

of streets helps everyone feel safe and reduces opportunities for crime at all times 

of the day.  

Through the Safer City Partnership, which brings together agencies including the 

City Corporation, City Police, London Fire Brigade and City and Hackney 

Integrated Care Board, we will work in partnership to tackle anti-social behaviour, 

violence against women and girls, and serious violence focussed on the night-time 

economy. 

Collaboration between the City Corporation and City Police will address crime 

trends, hotspots and crowded places and identify opportunities to reduce crime, 

particularly against women and girls through changes to street design and 

management, enforcement and awareness campaigns. 

Further measures to reduce crime and fear of crime will include: 

• Identifying particular locations of concern for powered two-wheeler and 

cycle theft and working with the City Police to explore the potential for 

additional or improved facilities and police presence to address this 

• Running campaigns with motorcycle and cycle groups to promote best 

practice locking and security measures  

• Supporting City, London and national safety campaigns, such as the City of 

London Police’s Operation Reframe, a partnership approach to support the 

night-time economy by providing a reassuring high visibility presence. 

 

 

  

Page 202



   65 
 

Proposal 22: Ensure on-street security measures are proportionate and 
enhance the experience of spending time on our streets  

We will work with the City of London Police, developers and City businesses to 

review and where necessary enhance security measures. Initiatives will take a 

risk-based approach to implementing appropriate and proportionate on-street 

security measures. We will aim to ensure that security measures are: 

• Discreet and installed to avoid reducing the space available to people 

walking, wheeling and cycling, including those using nonstandard cycles 

(see Proposal 24) 

• Multi-functional, incorporating seating, greenery or public art where possible 

to improve the experience of walking, wheeling, cycling and spending time 

on streets 

• Designed and installed to take account of the access needs of disabled 

people 

• Designed and installed to take account of access requirements for servicing 

We will also work with industry partners to develop hostile vehicle mitigation 

standard benches, planters, cycle parking and other street furniture. This will 

include moveable security features to support timed access restrictions for motor 

vehicles. 

 

 

  

Page 203



   66 
 

Proposal 23: Install and operate street lighting in accordance with the 
Lighting Strategy  

The City Corporation has completed its up-grade of street lighting in accordance 
with the City of London Lighting Strategy (City of London Corporation, 2018). In 
2023 the City Corporation adopted a new lighting guidance, which will support its 
net zero ambition. The ‘Lighting SPD’ will provide guidance for developers on 
lighting buildings and the spaces between them, covering the design, delivery, 
operation, and maintenance of artificial light within the City of London. The new 
initiative will also require developers to submit detailed plans to minimise light 
pollution, at the early stages of their planning applications.  
 
The following principles will be embedded in the ongoing operation of street 
lighting and applied to new lighting delivered by transport and public realm projects 
and, through the planning process, developments:  

• Use street lighting to improve the look, feel and ambience of streets  

• Improve the quality of lighting for people walking, wheeling and cycling  

• Reduce road danger through appropriate lighting at areas of higher risk, 
such as junctions 

• Match lighting provision to the City of London Street Hierarchy and the 
character of streets  

• Ensure lighting supports CCTV operation  

• Utilise flexible and intelligent lighting control to support City of London 
Police operations 

• Utilise flexible and intelligent lighting control in accordance with night time 
activity and to support safe travel during winter months and respond to 
community concerns  

• Report on energy savings from new lighting system for Carbon savings  

  

Page 204



   67 
 

Outcome 5: Improve the experience of riding 

cycles and scooters in the City  

Most of the vehicles on the City’s streets will be cycles, with more people choosing to 

cycle and cycles being used for more types of journeys. We want the range of 

people choosing to cycle to match the diversity of people who live, work, study in and 

visit the City. Most people, whether they choose to cycle or not, will consider cycling 

to be a safe, easy and pleasant way to travel around the Square Mile. Reduced 

traffic, slower speeds and a dense network of cycle friendly streets will mean that 

anyone who wishes to cycle is not prevented from doing so because of concerns 

about safety. Over the lifetime of the Strategy we expect scooters and possibly other 

forms of ‘micromobility’ to be legalised for use on street, classified in a similar way to 

cycles.  The cycle network will cater for all types of cycles and scooters, including 

cycles as mobility aids and cargo cycles. Different types of cycles will also be 

available for hire across the City, supporting more flexible cycling. A safer and 

calmer cycling experience will in turn encourage more considerate and appropriate 

cycling behaviour that reflects the priority given to people walking on the City’s 

streets. 

Our recent survey of almost 1000 residents, workers and visitorsfound that 36% of 

people consider the experience of cycling in the City to be pleasant (and 17% 

disagreed)  We want this figure to be 75% by 2044.  33% of respondents agreed that 

it is safe to cycle in the City, but 18% disagreed (SYSTRA, 2023).  

On average, 23 people each year have been seriously injured whilst cycling on our 

streets between November 2021 to November 2023 (Transport for London, 2024). 

We recognise that the current situation on many of our streets is also leading to 

perceived and real conflicts between people who cycle and other streets users, with 

negative interactions between people walking and cycling or using other forms of 

micromobility being raised as a significant issue in public consultations. 

Despite these challenges, the number of people choosing to cycle or use other forms 

of micromobility in the Square Mile has grown significantly over the last 20 years. 

People cycling now make up nearly a third of all vehicular traffic during the daytime 

in the City, compared with less than 4% in 1999 (City of London Corporation, 2023) 

There is significant potential to further increase the number of people cycling. 

Analysis by TfL has found that up to 15,700 trips a day to the City that are currently 

made by motorised modes could potentially be cycled in part or full. Over two thirds 

of these trips are currently made by taxi or car (Transport for London, 2017)  

[The following text will go in a box] 

Micromobility refers to small vehicles that can be safely ridden alongside 

conventional pedal bicycles in cycle lanes. Micromobility includes fully active modes 

like cycling and scooting. It also includes partially active modes, for example electric 

bikes (e-bikes) and electric scooters (e-scooters) (Sustrans, 2019).  Since 2020, a 

trial e-scooter rental scheme has been operational in the City, although it is still 

illegal to use privately-owned e-scooters or other powered transporters on public 

roads. Anything defined by DVLA as a cycle or permitted to use cycle lanes and 

other infrastructure will be included in our cycle network planning.   

Page 205



   68 
 

[End of text box] 

Placeholder for new infographic: 

• % of cycle user increase or definition of adaptive cycles, micromobility, e-

scooters etc 

  

Page 206



   69 
 

Proposal 24: Improve the experience of riding cycles and scooters and 
prepare for future forms of ‘micromobility’  

We will make the Square Mile a safe, attractive, and accessible place to ride 

cycles and scooters by applying a minimum cycling level of service to all streets by 

2035. 

On the streets shown in Figure 10 below, which will form a core cycling and 

scooting network (referred to as the City cycle network throughout this strategy), 

we will ensure that either: 

Motor traffic volumes are kept below 150 vehicles an hour in each direction at the 

busiest time of day and priority is given to people cycling over motor vehicles. If 

necessary, we will introduce traffic management measures to reduce the number 

of vehicles on these streets 

or… 

Protected cycle lanes that are a minimum of 1.5m wide per direction of travel are 

provided, with at least 2m wide protected cycle lanes wherever possible. 

The core network streets meet the LTN 1/20 or London Cycling Design Standards 

(LCDS 2016) and the New Cycle Route Quality Criteria (NCRQC 2019).We will 

align with any future changes to these standards to ensure our approach remains 

consistent with best practice. 

We recognise that initially it may not be possible to achieve this  level of service at 

all locations and will identify mitigating measures in the short and medium term to 

manage this. 

We will prioritise cycling improvements and interventions on the core cycle 

network. This will ensure that nearly all property entrances are within 250m of the 

network, providing access to destinations across the Square Mile and linking with 

the wider London cycle network.  

We will support cycle logistics and the use of cycles and scooters as mobility aids 

by ensuring that all parts of this network are designed to be accessible to non-

standard cycles, such as cargo cycles, adapted cycles and scooters.  

The following parts of the core cycle network will be delivered: 

• Houndsditch C2 to C3 by 2025 

• Aldgate to Blackfriars via Queen Victoria Street by 2028 

• Moorgate by 2028 

• Holborn Circus via Bank including connecting the City Cluster to Cycleway 

(C2) 2 and C6 by 2035 

• City Cluster to St Pauls via London Wall (in conjunction with planned 

network improvements at St Paul’s Gyratory)by 2035 

• Monument Junction to C4 in partnership with TfL by 2030  

• The remaining sections of the core cycle network will be delivered by 2035. 

 

On Local Access streets that do not form part of the core cycling network, we will 

aim to keep motor traffic volumes below 150 vehicles an hour in each direction at 

the busiest time of day to give priority to people cycling and using scooters over 

motor vehicles. For the majority of Local Access streets this will require relatively 

little intervention, other than junction improvements. Traffic levels are already low, 

Page 207



   70 
 

and this Strategy will deliver reductions in traffic volumes (proposal 11) and reduce 

speeds through street design.  In cases where traffic volumes exceed this limit, we 

will seek to reduce traffic volumes through changes to access and traffic 

management.  

On City Access streets, we will aim to meet the standards described above but 

recognise this may not be possible on all streets due to their role in traffic 

movement or space constraints. Other proposals in this Strategy, such as, traffic 

reduction and slower speeds through design, will help make these streets safer, 

more attractive, more inclusive and more accessible places to cycle and scoot. 

We will also seek to limit the speeds of rental e-bikes and e-scooters wherever 

possible to no greater than 15mph through the use of gps-enabled speed limiters 

and geofencing systems and continue to proactively manage where geofenced 

vehicles can and cannot travel through to improve safety and reduce conflict 

between these vehicles and other modes of travel. 

To support the new cycling level of service we will also: 

• Review all shared pedestrian/cycle/scooter spaces, such as Queen Street, 

and contraflow cycle lanes, and where necessary propose physical 

changes, campaigns, education, engagement and enforcement to improve 

interactions between people walking and wheeling, people riding cycles and 

scooters, and people driving 

• Use signage and road markings to emphasise priority for people cycling and 

scooting over motor vehicles. 

• Introduce safety improvements at the priority locations identified in proposal 

20 to ensure they are safe and easy places to cycle and scoot. 

• Trial temporary schemes and infrastructure when appropriate to review 

impacts on other street users and accelerate the delivery of the cycle 

network. 

• Learn from andWork to iIncorporate design standards and guidance, such 

as the TfL Cycle Route Quality Criteria and DfT Technical Note 1/20. , when 

designing and delivering cycling infrastructure improvements in the City. 

 

Additional measures to support the delivery of the core cycle network will include:  

• The use of Construction Logistics Plans and Delivery and Servicing Plans to 

manage the number of freight vehicles using the network, particularly at 

peak times. 

• Enhanced cycle wayfinding and signage, including signage at eye level 

wherever suitable. 

• Working with boroughs neighbouring the City and TfL to improve continuity 

and connectivity between our cycle networks. 

 

Placeholder for figure: 

• Core cycling Network. 

Placeholder for new infographic: 

• Sentiment survey 

  

Page 208



   71 
 

Proposal 25: Increase the amount, variety and quality of cycle and 
scooter parking and facilities in the City  

We will conduct a City-wide cycle parking review and publish a Cycle and Scooter 

Parking Improvement Plan by 2025. This will: 

Review the availability and distribution of both on and off-street public and 

residential cycle and scooter parking provision to ensure adequate provision, 

taking account of forecast demand.  

Review and report on the demand for cycle and scooter parking and identify 

pavement and carriageway space available to accommodate parking that doesn’t 

negatively impact other street uses and users, including for: 

• cargo cycles 

• adapted cycles and scooters 

• dockless hire cycles 

• rental e-scooters 

Review, in collaboration with Network Rail and Transport for London, current 

parking distribution and available potential cycle and scooter parking locations 

around City stations. 

Identify requirements for public and residential cycle and scooter parking that can 

accommodate cargo cycles and adapted cycles, including retrofitting existing cycle 

parking 

Review facilities and demand to promote the use of City Corporation car parks for 

long stay cycle and scooter parking 

Explore the potential for innovative parking solutions that increase the space 

efficiency, security and quality of cycle and scooter parking to mitigate against 

cycle and scooter theft and vandalism. 

Assess the potential for commercially operated cycle parking hubs that provide 

enhanced security and facilities and support provision of these through the 

development and planning conditions process. 

Assess occupancy levels of cycle parking in recently completed commercial 

buildings to understand current use and inform future planning policy on workplace 

cycle and scooter parking 

Further reviews will be conducted on a regular basis, and at least every 5-years. 

We will also lay out the City Corporation’s expected standards for dockless hire 

operators who are active in the City or on our borders, including insisting that: 

• Dockless hire vehicles and schemes fully comply with all local and national 

standards and legislation, especially concerning the construction and safety 

standards of vehicles 

• Dockless hire vehicles and associated infrastructure do not obstruct 

pavements or pedestrian crossings or pose a danger to street users 

• Dockless hire scheme operators cover the costs of any additional 

infrastructure required to facilitate their schemes 

• Dockless hire scheme operators use zero emission capable or preferably 

non-motorised vehicles as part of their operations 

Page 209



   72 
 

• Dockless hire scheme operators actively restrict their users from parking 

outside designated areas and quickly remove vehicles that are not parked 

in these areas 

• Dockless hire scheme operators seek and retain accreditation with 

Collaborative Mobility UK (CoMoUK) 

Further reviews will be conducted on a regular basis, and at least every 5-years. 

Through the planning process we will also work with developers and future 

occupiers to: 

• Ensure all new developments provide secure cycle parking facilities that are 

at least in line with the London Plan’s minimum standards for cycle parking 

including an appropriate mix of foldable bike parking and full-size bike 

parking, have step free access to cycle parking and in particular to non-

standard cycle parking spaces and include lockers and showers in 

commercial developments 

• Ensure that development proposals demonstrate how cycle parking facilities 

will cater for non-standard cycles, including adapted cycles for disabled 

people  

• Encourage the provision of parking facilities that are suitable for non-

standard cycles, including providing off-street storage for cargo bikes and 

hand carts in developments that include ground floor retail and takeaway 

food outlets 

• Provide on-site short stay cycle parking for visitors and, where possible, 

additional public cycle parking and dockless vehicle parking bays in the 

public realm  

• Contribute to improving conditions for cycling on adjacent streets, 

particularly those that connect to or form part of the core cycling network 

• Ensure that cycle parking in new developments minimises potential 

negative interactions between people walking, wheeling and cycling, 

particularly on pavements. 

  

Page 210



   73 
 

New Proposal 26: Support and celebrate micromobility in the City 

We will encourage residents, workers and visitors to ride cycles and scooters to 

and around the Square Mile by: 

• Connecting businesses and residents to additional cycling support services, 

such as maintenance and insurance 

• Support City of London Corporation employees to cycle more and work with 

businesses and heritage and cultural institutions in the Square Mile to 

encourage more of their workers and visitors to cycle and use scooters. 

• Improving people’s awareness of the cycling network and cycle routes to 

the City through promotional activities and wayfinding 

• Supporting organisations and businesses to organise group and guided led 

rides, working with businesses and heritage and cultural institutions to 

promote cycling  

• Supporting London-wide, national and international cycling campaigns and 

hosting periodic cycling events  

• Targeted campaigns and promotional activities to encourage a more 

diverse range of people to cycle and use scooters and promote better 

behaviours when cycling and travelling by scooter. 

 

Placeholder for new infographic: 

• What is Micromobility 

 

 

  

Page 211



   74 
 

Deleted Proposal 27: Promote and celebrate cycling  

 

  

Page 212



   75 
 

Deleted Proposal 28: Improve cycle hire in the City  

 

  

Page 213



   76 
 

Outcome 6: The Square Mile’s air and streets are 

cleaner and quieter  

By 2044, transport related local air pollution and carbon emissions will have been cut 

to virtually zero and streets will be quieter more relaxing places. Together with wider 

action to reduce emissions from buildings and development, this will mean that the 

City enjoys some of the cleanest urban air in the world. There will be fewer motor 

vehicles and those remaining will be powered by electricity or other zero emission 

technologies. Emerging automation technology will reduce speeds and avoid 

aggressive acceleration and braking, leading to less tyre and brake wear. New 

approaches to noise management will mean that street works cause less 

disturbance.   

Poor air quality has been linked to poor respiratory health. A recent report 

highlighted the health inequalities caused by poor air quality and its often 

disproportionate impacts on those with protected characteristics (Greater London 

Authority , 2023). Exposure to high concentrations of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) can 

irritate the airways of the lungs, increasing the symptoms of those suffering from lung 

diseases. Fine particles (PM10 and PM2.5) can be carried deep into the lungs where 

they can cause inflammation and a worsening of heart and lung diseases (DEFRA, 

2024).  

In 2021, 93% of the Square Mile met its target, as set by the UK government, for 

NO2, while PM10 and PM2.5 levels were both below the target. The World Health 

Organization (WHO) recommended Air Quality Guidelines were revised in 2021 and 

are set well below the government targets (World Health Organisation, 2021). 

Current annual mean concentrations of NO2, PM10 AND PM2.5 within the Square Mile 

exceed these and the WHO recognises that there is no safe limit for these pollutants. 

Placeholder for Figure: City of London LAEI mean NO2 concentrations 2025 

projection map.  

(Greater London Authority, 2019) 

In 2019, road transport was responsible for 22% of NOx, 7% of PM10 and 11% of 

PM2.5 in the Square Mile (Greater London Authority, 2019). Since the publication of 

our first Transport Strategy in 2019, data shows improvements in air quality at each 

of our roadside monitoring sites across the City.  However, despite having achieved 

significant improvements  over the last 5 years, current air quality monitoring still 

records exceedances of the annual mean AQO for NO2 close to our busiest streets 

(City of London Corporation, 2024).   

Placeholder for Figure – NO2 at Transport Strategy Air Quality Monitoring Sites  

  

Brake and tyre wear and tiny deposits of material from the road surface mean that 

motor vehicles will also continue to be a significant source of particulate matter even 

once the majority of vehicles are zero tailpipe emission capable. 

Page 214



   77 
 

In  2019, 17% of the Square Mile’s CO2 emissions were produced by motor vehicles. 

The carbon emissions from electric vehicles are dependent on the source of 

electricity. However, electric vehicles are far more efficient in fuel use/CO2 output 

than combustion engines (European Environment Agency, 2016) An EU study based 

on expected performance in 2020 found that an electric car using electricity 

generated solely by an oil-fired power station would use only two-thirds of the energy 

of a petrol car travelling the same distance (European Commission, 2020). However, 

it should be noted that electric vehicles still contribute to non-exhaust emissions 

(which are produced by the wearing down of brakes, tyres, and road dust and can be 

detrimental to human health) so particulate matter must be minimised by an overall 

reduction of vehicle traffic (OECD, 2020).  

The direct health impacts of noise pollution include sleep disturbance, stress, 

anxiety, high blood pressure, poor mental health and school performance, and 

cognitive impairment in children. Risk of cardiovascular disease increases 

significantly when noise levels exceed 60 decibels, as they often do on urban 

streets. Noise can also discourage people from walking, wheeling, cycling and 

spending time on streets (Greater London Authority, 2018).  

  

Proposals relating to air quality directly support the City’s Air Quality Strategy (City of 

London Corporation, 2019), which is undergoing review for the next period 2025 to 

2030. The Air Quality Strategy addresses all sources of air pollution in the Square 

Mile, such as construction machinery, domestic and commercial heating, and 

commercial cooking. Work to monitor and manage cross boundary pollution is also 

included in the Strategy.     

The Air Quality Strategy includes a full monitoring programme, some of which is 

directly related to anticipated changes resulting from Transport Strategy proposals. 

This will inform and quantify the actions and outcomes in the Transport Strategy.   

Placeholder for Figure  

• City of London LAEI mean NO2 concentrations 2025 projection map.  

Placeholder for updated infographic  

• Nox and PM2.5  

Page 215



   78 
 

Proposal 29: Support and deliver air quality improvements  

Through supporting emission controls as part of a new approach to road user 

charging (proposal 11) and City specific measures, we aim for 90% of motor 

vehicles entering the Square Mile to be zero emission capable by 2030. 

 We will support and lobby TfL to introduce an additional charging mechanism that 

supports the existing benefits of the Congestion Charge and the Ultra Low 

Emission Zone (ULEZ) but go further to deter the remaining polluting vehicles from 

driving in London. We will support TfL work to develop the next generation of road 

user charging to achieve traffic reduction, particularly at peak times, to improve 

both air quality and health outcomes. 

In line with the City’s Air Quality Strategy, we will continue to monitor air quality 

across the City, and, where appropriate, use localised emission-based restrictions 

or controls in streets or zones to target particular hotspots of poor air quality, 

where they are in breach of targets set in the City’s Air Quality Strategy.  

We will deliver improvements in air quality by reducing traffic volumes in the City 

and delivering changes to our transport network that prioritise the needs of people 

walking, wheeling and cycling.  

The City’s anti-idling restriction will remain in place and will continue to be 

enforced, and we will continue to support campaigns like anti-vehicle idling and 

National Clean Air Day, as outlined in the City’s Air Quality Strategy. 

  

Page 216



   79 
 

[The following text will go in a box] 

Ultra Low Emission Zone 

ULEZ is the world’s first 24-hour Ultra-Low Emission Zone, implemented and 

managed by TfL. It launched in 2019, covering Central London (including the City), 

before being extended up to the North and South Circular in 2021 and all the way to 

the M25 in September 2023. The ULEZ aims to reduce the proportion of polluting 

vehicles on London’s roads by setting emission-based standards.  Those vehicles 

not meeting the standard set are charged a daily fee.  Compliance with the ULEZ in 

central London has resulted in substantial improvement in Nitrogen Oxides.  

In February 2023, for the inner London area, the Greater London Authority (GLA) 

reported that: 

• 94.4% of vehicles seen driving within the inner London zone met ULEZ 

emissions standards 

• The proportion of diesel cars on London’s roads continues to decrease  

• Pollution emissions have reduced drastically, with nitrous oxide (NOx) 

emissions 26% lower and PM2.5 19% lower in 2023 than in 2019 within the 

inner London ULEZ 

• There has been an overall reduction in vehicles and traffic within the zone 

since its implementation  

 

The Mayor of London has announced that he is not progressing a Central London 

zero emission zone (ZEZ), and analysis shows that ULEZ has had a significant 

impact on air quality. Locally just 7% of the City monitoring points exceed the legal 

NO2 limit of 40 μg/m³ in 2022, compared to 33% in 2019 before the ULEZ was 

introduced.   

ULEZ has been successful in reducing NOx and NO2 and increasing the uptake of 

zero emission vehicles, however the remaining pollutants of concern (PM10 and 2.5) 

tend to be transboundary and need broader measures; this, alongside the difficulty of 

implementing ZEZs that rely on penalty charge notices, means that a different 

approach is required to achieve further reductions in air pollution in the City.  The 

opportunity to develop the next generation of road user charging to be smarter in 

tacking air pollution and traffic reduction will replace previous commitments to local 

zero emission zones.  We will still consider emission-based restrictions if necessary 

after first aiming to reduce overall traffic volumes. We will coordinate proposals with 

TfL, London Councils and London’s boroughs to ensure alignment with other existing 

and planned zero emissions areas and streets. (Greater London Authority, 2023) 

[End of text box]  

 

Placeholder for Figure  

• ULEZ map  

Placeholder for updated infographic  

• ULEZ infographic  

Page 217



   80 
 

Proposal 30: Install additional electric vehicle charging infrastructure   

We will install additional publicly accessible electric vehicle (EV) charge points to 

support the transition to zero emission capable vehicles. An update to the EV 

Charging Action Plan will be published in 2024 based on forecast demand to 2030.  

This will be updated on a minimum of a 5-year basis. This will identify how many 

charge points, including charging hubs, are required up to 2030 as well as longer-

term forecasts. In developing the plan we will consider the charging needs of:  

• residents  

• Blue Badge and Red Badge holders  

• electric wheelchair/mobility scooter users 

• taxis  

• freight and servicing  

• electric motorcycles and mopeds  

• electric cycles and scooters  
 
Locations will be identified through engagement with the TfL, EV Infrastructure 

Taskforce and wider consultation. The first preference will be to install any charge 

points in car parks or other suitable off- street locations. Where it is essential to 

locate on-street, charge points will be installed in the carriageway rather than on 

the pavement and in a way that is sensitive to the streetscape and public realm. 

Up to 5 new locations for rapid charge points on-street will be commissioned by 

2025. 

Through the planning process we will require the installation of rapid charge points 

in new developments with off-street loading. We will also encourage the owners, 

managers and occupiers of existing buildings with loading bays to install rapid 

charge points. 

The provision of charging infrastructure will be kept under review to ensure it is 

sufficient to meet the needs of residents and vehicles serving the City without 

generating additional traffic. Reviews will also consider the need to update, and 

potentially reduce, charging infrastructure as battery technology improves. 

 

[The following text will go in a box] 

Existing electric vehicle charging provision 
Fast charge points are currently available for visitors and residents in all City 
Corporation public car parks and in the Barbican residents’ car park. We are working 
in partnership partnered with TfL to deliver a rapid charging hub for taxis in Baynard 
House car park, and installed a single taxi only rapid charge point on Noble Street.  
 

[End of text box]  

 

  

Page 218



   81 
 

Proposal 31: Request an accelerated roll out of zero emission capable 
buses  

We will urge TfL to prioritise zero emission capable buses on routes through the 

Square Mile, with the expectation that all buses serving the City will be hybrid or 

zero emission by 2025. In the longer-term we will request that all buses serving the 

City are electric or hydrogen by 2030, ahead of TfL’s current commitment for 2034. 

 

  

Page 219



   82 
 

Proposal 32: Support small businesses to accelerate the transition to 
zero emission capable vehicles  

We will work with the Government, TfL and manufacturers to support incentive 

schemes and favourable leasing arrangements that support small businesses in 

acquiring zero-emission capable vehicles. This will include supporting the switch to 

non-motor vehicle alternatives, such as cargo bikes. We will consider 

opportunities, such as preferential pricing for parking/loading for vehicles in this 

category, to provide time limited incentives to invest in zero emission capable 

vehicles. 

We will provide information and support to SMEs and business improvement 

districts (BIDs) through the Climate Action Strategy to assist their transition to 

cargo bike and zero emission vehicles. We support Heart of the City, which 

provides training and mentoring to SMEs in the City to help them do this and 

achieve their net zero goals.    

 

  

Page 220



   83 
 

Proposal 33: Make the City of London’s own vehicle fleet zero emissions  

The City Corporation will upgrade its remaining vehicles, including City Police 

vehicles where appropriate, which operate in the Square Mile to be zero emission 

or zero emission capable as vehicles need replacing and alternatives become 

available. Many trips in the City can be made by cargo bike or other zero emission 

L-category vehicle and the City Corporation will adopt their use wherever possible. 

Contractors’ vehicles that operate within the Square Mile will also be required to 

meet these standards, and the use of cargo bike for the delivery of goods and 

services will be encouraged. Where possible EV charging infrastructure in City 

Corporation operational sites will be made available to contractors’ vehicles. 

 

  

Page 221



   84 
 

Proposal 34: Reduce the level of noise from motor vehicles  

The transition to zero emission capable vehicles and general traffic reduction will 

help to reduce noise from motor traffic. Other measures to reduce noise will 

include: well-maintained carriageway surfaces and utility access covers; 

campaigns to reduce engine idling and the inappropriate use of horns; and working 

with the emergency services to reduce the use and volume of sirens.  

We will work with the City of London Police to undertake targeted noise 

enforcement of motor vehicles that do not comply with legal requirements to 

maintain an appropriate (‘type approved’) exhaust or are not within legal decibel 

limits for the vehicle type. 

In 2022, the Department for Transport (DfT) announced a trial using noise 

cameras, a new technology, to detect when vehicles are breaking legal noise 

requirements. Subject to the outcome of this trial and DfT approving equipment, 

we will seek to obtain the powers to introduce noise enforcement equipment on 

City streets, where noise poses a particular local problem.  

 

  

Page 222



   85 
 

Proposal 35: Reduce noise from streetworks  

The City Corporation will manage and seek to reduce the noise impacts of 

streetworks through the Code of Practice: Minimising the Environmental Impact of 

Streetworks. This requires contractors working for the City Corporation and third 

parties to use the ‘best practicable means’ 

to minimise the effects of noise and dust, including: 

• Restricting periods of operation of noisy activities 

• Undertaking liaison with neighbours 

• Using less noisy methods and equipment 

• Reducing transmission and propagation of noise, for example by using 

noise enclosures or barriers 

• Managing arrangements including contract management, planning of works, 

training and supervision of employees to ensure measures are implemented 

A review of the Code of Practice will be undertaken  in 2024 to ensure it reflects 

best practice, with further updates as required. The review will also consider how 

we can better work with TfL, utility companies and contractors to improve the level 

of adherence to the Code. 

  

Page 223



   86 
 

Proposal 36: Encourage innovation in air quality improvements and 
noise reduction  

We will work with the Government, TfL, industry and other partners to encourage 

the development of innovative solutions to reduce transport related noise and 

emissions. For example, by supporting trials, sponsoring competitions and awards, 

and hosting conferences and seminars. 

  

Page 224



   87 
 

Proposal 37: Ensure street cleansing regimes support the provision of a 
world-class public realm  

Ensure street cleansing regimes support the provision of a world-class public 

realm. The City’s street cleansing regime will ensure all walking routes, cycle 

routes and public realm areas as well as streets are cleaned to a high standard 

and kept free of litter. 

We will reduce litter from smoking, working with Public Health to support 

campaigns and initiatives to stop smoking and, if necessary, prosecuting 

offenders. We will continue to work with businesses to minimise the impact of 

waste collection on the public realm, including through time banded collections that 

restrict the times when rubbish and recycling can be left on the street. 

  

Page 225



   88 
 

Outcome 7: Delivery and servicing needs are met 

more efficiently, and impacts are minimised 

Deliveries and servicing are an essential part of a thriving business district. 

Delivering this Strategy will ensure these needs are met by fewer, quieter, safer and 

cleaner lorries and vans. Deliveries for buildings or areas of the City will be grouped 

together at consolidation centres, meaning fewer, fuller vehicles The lorries and vans 

making these deliveries will use the return journey to transport waste and recycling. 

The Thames will also carry goods into the City as well as waste out, including the 

materials needed for construction projects. Logistics hubs within the City will enable 

deliveries to be made by cargo cycles and pedestrian porters. Cargo cycles will also 

be used for servicing businesses and buildings, with tools and parts securely stored 

at locations within the Square Mile. New technologies will help improve the routing of 

deliveries and make it easier to find a place to park or unload. We endorse and 

support any expansion of deliveries made to the City by rail or river.  

During the day, freight and servicing vehicles make up 30%of motorised traffic in the 

Square Mile. This proportion increases to 39% between 7am and 10am, coinciding 

with the busiest times of day for walking and cycling.  

Projections for 2025 indicate freight and servicing activities are still expected to 

contribute 14% of transport related NOx and 27% of PM2.5 emissions in Central 

London (Greater London Authority, 2019). 

Large goods vehicles make up only 4% of vehicles on the City’s streets (City of 

London Corporation, 2023). However, 17% of collisions that result in someone being 

seriously injured involved a large goods vehicle, during the period November 2018 to 

November 2023 (Transport for London, 2024). 

 

Placeholder for updated infographic  

• Freight % mode share 

  

Page 226



   89 
 

Proposal 38: Reduce the number of freight vehicles in the Square Mile  

We will seek to reduce the number of motorised freight vehicles in the Square Mile 

by 15% by 2030 and by 30% by 2044 and facilitate the transition to ultra-low 

emission and zero emission delivery vehicles. A particular focus of our work will be 

to reduce the number of freight vehicles that pass through the City without an 

origin or destination in the Square Mile. 

To achieve our targets, we will work with businesses, suppliers, the freight industry 

and other relevant partners to deliver an integrated freight programme that 

incorporates retiming, consolidation, last mile logistics, construction logistics, 

better use of the river and smarter procurement practices. These solutions are not 

uniformly applicable to all types of deliveries and we will work with the freight 

industry to target interventions at the most appropriate types of delivery.     

Retiming and rerouting deliveries  

We will explore the potential for area and City-wide timed access and loading 

restrictions for motorised freight vehicles. Our aim is to reduce the number of these 

vehicles on our streets in the peak periods by 50% by 2030 and by 90% by 2044, 

while ensuring businesses and residents can still receive essential deliveries. 

Measures to encourage retiming will include: 

• Permitting night-time deliveries where there will be negligible impact on 

residents both enroute and in the City. Through the planning process we will 

ensure all appropriate new developments have restrictions to limit deliveries 

between 7am-10am, 12pm-2pm and 4pm-7pm 

• Engaging with property managers, occupiers and businesses which may 

wish to retime deliveries and seeking to remove any restrictions in their 

planning consents where there will be negligible impact on residents 

• Integrating out of peak deliveries as part of the sustainable logistics 

programme and identify opportunities for retiming freight on an area basis 

within Healthy Streets Plans (see proposal 12) 

• Working with London Councils, TfL and neighbouring local authorities to 

support the modernisation of the London Lorry Control Scheme (LLCS) to 

generate more opportunities for out of peak and night time deliveries 

following a review of the Exempt Route Network timings and vehicle types. 

We will explore opportunities to influence the routing of freight traffic that continues 

to travel through the Square Mile. Through signage, engagement with the freight 

and haulage industry and engagement with mapping and satellite navigation 

companies we will encourage strategic freight traffic travelling through the City to 

use the Transport for London route network and other London access streets, 

rather than City or Local access. 

Consolidation 

An engagement exercise with City businesses will promote and encourage the use 

of consolidation services. This will include developing a consolidation toolkit for 

Page 227



   90 
 

City businesses, informed by monitoring of the benefits arising from businesses 

that have consolidated their deliveries. 

We will also continue to use the planning process to require all new major 

developments to use a consolidation service to reduce deliveries to their buildings. 

Where developments are applying for planning permission for significant 

expansion or change of use then they will be required to consolidate their 

deliveries. We no longer plan to provide a City Corporation-managed consolidation 

centre as they are well provided by market operators.  We will continue to promote 

and encourage consolidation through the planning system and working with 

partners.  

The City Corporation will work with the Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) to 

trial collective delivery areas, where deliveries and servicing activities are 

consolidated into as few operators as possible. 

Last mile logistics 

We will enable more deliveries within the Square Mile to be made by cargo cycles, 

on foot and by small electric vehicles by: 

Seeking a coordinated approach to last mile logistics across central London, 

working with neighbouring boroughs, Transport for London, the Greater London 

Authority and developers to identify sites that serve the Square Mile, including 

beyond the City boundary.  

• Exploring opportunities to acquire new sites within or adjacent to the Square 

Mile for last mile logistic hubs 

• Working with developers and land owners to integrate last mile logistic hubs 

as part of major City developments 

• Promoting cargo bike usage amongst businesses in the City and 

highlighting businesses that are adopting good practice in relation to cargo 

bike usage 

We will also explore the potential for new and innovative approaches to freight 

consolidation, such as allocating space on street for mobile distribution hubs. 

Increase the use of the River Thames for freight 

We will maximise the potential to use the Thames for the movement of freight by: 

• Maintaining the commercial waste operation at Walbrook Wharf and 

supporting additional waste carried through the Wharf 

• Identifying opportunities to increase the use of the river for freight deliveries 

to the Square Mile, including exploring the potential for inward river freight 

at Walbrook Wharf, which could tie in with the site’s future redevelopment, 

and be operational by the early 2030s 

• Working closely with Thames Tideway to identify future opportunities for 

their wharves and barges once construction is completed 

• Working with river freight operators to ensure that their fleets meet Port of 

London Authority air quality standards and avoid adverse impacts on water 

quality and biodiversity  

Page 228



   91 
 

• Exploring the use of Blackfriars and Tower Piers and a reinstated Swan 

Lane Pier as points to transfer freight for last mile delivery on foot or by 

cargo cycle  

Encourage freight into the City by rail 

We will support any increase in the use of the railways for freight into the City by: 

• Working with Network Rail to explore opportunities for inward freight at 

mainline railway stations in the City, in light of Network Rail’s Rail Freight 

Strategy. Network Rail and TfL are currently joint working on a ‘Rail 

Strategy for London’ 

• Supporting and encouraging rail freight trials undertaken by the logistics 

industry, such as the rail freight opportunity due to be trailed at London 

Waterloo station, and parcel deliveries being trialled at London Liverpool 

Street Station. 

Reducing the impact of construction logistics  

To facilitate future development while minimising the impact of construction 

logistics, we will: 

• Work with TfL to update Construction Logistics Plan guidance and help 

ensure that it is followed in the Square Mile. We will push for updated 

guidance to include stricter expectations for construction consolidation and 

on-site waste compaction, as well as reviewing the potential for emerging 

technology, such as 3D printing or higher payload and carrying potential of 

new rigid axle vehicles to reduce the number of deliveries 

• Work with developers and contractors to adapt and develop construction 

delivery management systems to facilitate retiming of deliveries to outside 

the 7-10am peak 

• Through the planning process, require all development within the City to 

consider use of the River Thames for the movement of construction 

materials and waste. 

Procurement and personal deliveries 

To encourage smarter commercial decision making for our businesses and 

influence how residents and workers get goods delivered, we will: 

• Share information on the impact of personal deliveries on traffic in the City, 

including air quality and road danger and promote the use of click and 

collect services 

• Establish a collaborative procurement programme for the Square Mile by 

2028. This will allow businesses, particularly small and medium sized 

businesses, to share suppliers and waste services. We will work with BIDs 

to trial the programme prior to rolling out the approach more broadly. 

• Identify opportunities for other City Corporation initiatives, such as Plastic 

Free City and our Responsible Business Strategy, to support efforts to 

reduce the number of deliveries and waste collections. 

 

Page 229



   92 
 

[The following text will go in a box] 

Freight consolidation 
Freight consolidation involves routing deliveries to a business, building or area via a 

warehouse where they are grouped together prior to final delivery. This approach 

means that the final stage of delivery is made by fewer, fuller vehicles, significantly 

reducing the number of lorries and vans making deliveries.  

Examples of consolidation include the Bristol and Bath Consolidation Centre, the 

London Borough Consolidation Centre and Regent Street Clipper Consolidation. The 

City Corporation already mandates the use of consolidation centres in planning 

consents, including 22 Bishopsgate and 1 Undershaft, to mitigate the impact of new 

development on City streets. Case studies have shown that freight consolidation can 

reduce the number of vehicle delivery trips by up to 80% (AXA, 2021). Enabling 

freight consolidation is critical to achieving our targets for reducing freight vehicles.  

 

Placeholder for updated infographic  

• Consolidation infographic 

[End of text box] 

Proposal 39: Develop a sustainable servicing programme  

We will work with servicing businesses and facility and property managers to share 

good practice in relation to reducing motor vehicle trips. This will provide examples of 

how to reduce the number of vans and other service vehicles in the Square Mile 

while seeking to improve response times and quality of service. We will work with 

BIDs to promote opportunities for more sustainable servicing practices to businesses 

in their area. 

We will work with TfL and other neighbouring boroughs to inform the development of 

future guidance that draws together case study examples of best practice in 

servicing. We will also explore the potential to provide secure storage space in car 

parks and other underutilised assets.  

 

  

Page 230



   93 
 

Outcome 8: Our street network is resilient to 

changing circumstances  

It is inevitable that people using our streets and transport networks will experience 

occasional disruption. This includes disruption caused by construction and 

streetworks, breakdowns and severe weather. By delivering this Strategy we will 

ensure that these disruptions have as little impact on the ease and experience of 

travelling in the City as possible. Streets will be kept open to people walking and 

cycling during construction and streetworks. Long-term works that require streets to 

be closed to traffic will provide an opportunity for people to enjoy the benefits of a 

traffic-free environment, and to assess the potential for permanent change. When 

necessary, alternative routes will be made available for motor traffic on streets that 

are normally only used for access. The Square Mile will be prepared for the impacts 

of a changing climate or more extreme weather events; enabling people to 

comfortably use the City streets regardless of the weather.  

In 2023/24 the City Corporation received over 10,000 applications for permits to work 

on the highway, approximately half of these are from utility companies, and half for 

street maintenance and improvements. 96% of these applications were approved. 

Since 2021, combining streetworks through collaborative working ‘saved’ 998 

excavation days on City Streets.  

Extreme weather events, including higher rainfall and temperatures, are increasing 

as a result of a changing climate (Buro Happold, 2020) The City Corporation is 

committed to increasing climate resilience through the work of the City’s Climate 

Action Strategy (City of London Corporation, 2020). This includes building climate 

resilience into the design of City streets and public spaces.   

 

Placeholder for updated infographic  

 

  

Page 231



   94 
 

Proposal 40: Allow some Local Access streets to function as City Access 
streets during significant disruption  

We will maintain a primary ‘resilience network’ for motor vehicles that can be 

‘switched on’ in response to significant planned or unplanned disruption (Figure 

12). Local Access streets on the resilience network will be designed to allow 

temporary reopening to through traffic or occasionally accommodate higher 

volumes of motor vehicles. This approach will also ensure that emergency 

services can use these streets when necessary. 

Appropriate management arrangements will ensure streets remain safe for all 
users, such as a clear demarcation of pedestrian space, lower speed limits and 
marshalling. We will explore the use of technology for advanced messaging both 
on-street for all users and through in-vehicle navigation systems to communicate 
and manage changing or temporary arrangements. Monitoring of any uses of 
Local Access streets in this way will be included to ensure management 
arrangements are working well and to ensure any negative effects on the built 
environment and air quality are mitigated. 

 

Placeholder for Figure: 

• Resilience Network map  

Page 232



   95 
 

Proposal 41: Reduce the impact of construction and streetworks  

The needs of people walking and wheeling will be prioritised during streetworks 

and construction, with the aim of maintaining a comfortable and accessible walking 

route on both sides of the street, with space reallocated from general traffic as 

necessary. Accessible diversions must be provided if space constraints do not 

allow an acceptable level of temporary provision.  

We will work with utility companies, contractors, and developers to minimise the 

impact of construction and streetworks on people walking, wheeling and cycling. 

Traffic management plans for construction sites and streetworks will maintain 

access for different users in accordance with the following hierarchy:  

• Walking  

• Cycling  

• Buses and taxis  

• Freight access  

• General traffic  

We have a Network Management Duty which requires us to ensure we apply best 

practice to managing streetworks. We will review this on a regular basis to ensure 

our activity and processes remain up to date and effective.  

Within the context of the Network Management Duty, we will encourage the 

drafting of legislation to allow penalties to be charged against developments that 

overrun their agreed licence periods for scaffolds and hoardings.  

We will review the City’s Guidance Notes for Activities on the Public Highway on a 

regular basis to ensure that guidance is in line with best practice and the 

requirements outlined above. A review will include considering the opportunity to 

introduce lane rental controls on our major streets to further reduce the impact of 

street works. 

We will seek to minimise disruption caused by streetworks by:  

• Encouraging collaborative working and coordinating street works  

• Exploring the potential for new technology to reduce noise and the extent of 

works and speed up delivery  

• Reducing the duration of works by allowing extended and night-time 

working where noise considerations allow, while maintaining protection for 

residents  

• Improving signage and permit information, to include contact details, 

purpose of works and other information such as reason for site inactivity 

• Improving communication through better engagement with businesses and 

residents for longer duration work 

• Work with TfL to improve communication on the impact of streetworks and 

other maintenance on public transport services 

• We will work with TfL to explore the potential to further adjust traffic signal 

timings to reflect actual and modelled traffic flows during periods of network 

disruption. We will also explore new adaptive traffic control technologies as 

they emerge (proposal 43). 

Page 233



   96 
 

We will work with the utilities sector to develop and adopt a Utilities Infrastructure 

Strategy will identify future infrastructure requirements (based on City Plan 2036 

growth forecasts) and a programme of planned investment. This will help improve 

the coordination of large-scale utilities works and minimise associated disruption.  

We will use medium and long-term street closures as an opportunity to open 

streets to people, for example working with businesses to provide temporary 

seating or programmed events. We will also monitor the traffic impacts of long-

term street works to inform transport and resilience planning and assess the 

potential for retaining capacity reductions or access restrictions.   

 

Placeholder for Figure  

• Winter maintenance map – this figure is not referenced in the text 

Placeholder for updated infographic  

• Combining Streetworks infographics  

  

Page 234



   97 
 

Proposal 42: Make the street network more resilient to severe weather 
events  

We will ensure principles of the City's Climate Action Strategy are embedded and 

reflected in transport and public realm interventions. to help reduce the impacts of 

climate change on the City's streets.  This includes:   

• Increasing the resilience of the City's public realm to extreme weather. We 

will mitigate the impact of flooding events by incorporating greening, 

planting and SuDS (such as rain gardens) where feasible into the 

landscape of streets, to better manage surface water from rainfall. 

• Increasing the amount of permeable street surfaces, where possible, to 

minimise rainwater runoff and mitigate flood risk.  

• Planting more trees on City streets, to create more shade and reduce the 

impact of the Urban Heat Island Effect (an impact where the inner-city 

experiences higher temperatures than the surrounding suburbs and 

countryside). We will plant at least 100 new climate resilient street trees by 

2025.  

• Replanting across City Gardens, with climate resilient plants and 

landscaping.  14 locations have been selected to be either partially or fully 

replanted with a more climate resilient palette and to improve biodiversity by 

2024. 

We will continue routine emergency planning for severe weather events, ensuring 

the street network, including pavements, and transport system remains open and 

functional during periods of extreme weather.   

 

Placeholder for new infographic  

• Climate Action Strategy  

 

  

Page 235



   98 
 

Outcome 9: Emerging technologies benefit the 

Square Mile  

The advent of new transport technology innovations, such as autonomous vehicles 

(AVs) and new apps and services, promise to change the way our streets function 

and the way we choose to travel on them. Delivering this Strategy will ensure that 

transport innovations are seamlessly integrated into the fabric of the City and 

improve the experience of travelling and spending time on the Square Mile’s streets. 

We welcome innovative approaches and the potential for partnerships to develop 

them.  We will consider opportunities for testing and supporting new opportunities 

that help deliver our objectives.   

Further investment from central government in the UK was announced in 2023, 

including up to £150 million for Connected and Automated Mobility. The Automated 

Vehicles (AV) Act (UK Government, 2024) became law in May 2024 and is designed 

to deliver a comprehensive legal framework, for self-driving vehicles with safety and 

innovation at its core (Department for Transport, 2024). The Department for 

Transport suggests that self-driving vehicles could be on British roads by 2026.    

Forecasts indicate that a quarter of global new vehicle sales in 2035 will be 

autonomous (Connected Places Catapult, 2020). Disruptive technologies, such as 

Uber, and dockless bikes, have already demonstrated their ability to rapidly change 

how people travel. They have also highlighted the potential negative impacts of 

these changes. While no one is certain of what the future holds the City must be 

ready to respond in a way that supports the successful implementation of this 

Strategy. 

 

Placeholder for infographic  

• Autonomous vehicles 

 

  

Page 236



   99 
 

Proposal 43: Support, enable and facilitate innovation in transport and 
the public realm  

We will engage with industry, academia, government Catapults, local 

governments, and local and international partners to support, enable and facilitate 

transport innovation and technology trials across the City.  

We will prioritise supporting and facilitating innovations and projects that: 

• Enable disabled passengers to hire and travel by taxis and private hire 
vehicles more easily by permitting those vehicles carrying disabled 
passengers through motor vehicle restrictions in parts of the City 

• Ensure kerbside space is used as efficiently as possible through adopting 
new technologies and approaches to booking and reserving kerbside space 
when appropriate 

• Enhance our data collection and processing capabilities, including through 
the use of sensors, AI processing and dashboards 

• Explore the use of GPS-enabled technologies and geofencing to aid the 
regulation of dockless vehicles (proposal 28), drones and droids. 

We recognise the significant potential for new technologies to improve the City’s 

streets and will openly enter into discussion with innovators. Future transport 

innovations will be considered appropriate for trial and use in the City context if 

they support the delivery of Healthy Streets and adhere to the following 

requirements (when applicable): 

• Support priority for people walking and efforts to enable more people to 

choose to walk, cycle and take public transport, and not shift people from 

these sustainable travel modes to unsustainable travel modes  

• Contribute to efforts to reduce motor vehicle volumes and mileage and not 

increase motor traffic volumes  

• Ensure that all users are accommodated and that no street user is excluded  

• Lead to an overall increase in vehicle occupancy and loading  

• Help make our streets safer and not increase road danger, collision rates, 

collision severity, terrorism risk, or the need for additional policing or 

enforcement  

• Reduce vehicle speeds and ensure vehicles travel at speeds appropriate to 

conditions and the City context  

• Minimise obstructions to vehicles and people walking, and not permanently 

obstruct pavements or add clutter  

• Improve the efficiency of kerbside use and not increase parking or loading 

space requirements 

• Help spread travel demand, for both people and goods, more evenly across 

the day, such as outside morning, lunchtime and evening peaks and 

overnight  

• Help make streets and the City’s air cleaner and quieter by reducing 

transport related emissions and noise  

• Improve the experience of using the City’s streets and open spaces and 

support efforts to increase the amount of public space 

Page 237



   100 
 

Additional requirements apply to the introduction of connected and autonomous 

vehicles, drones and droids on our streets: 

• Autonomous vehicles must not require any changes or infrastructure that 
have a negative impact on our streets, such as bollards or barriers  

• Drones must not operate without Civil Aviation Authority and City of London 
permission  

• Droids must not operate on pavements or in such a way as to obstruct or 
pose a danger to any user of our streets. 

• Developers and operators of new transport innovations and services are 
expected to:  

• Share all beneficial data generated or collected with the City Corporation 

to aid in policy and decision making  

• Not discriminate against any potential user, either through active 

discrimination, profiling or algorithmic/AI discrimination or bias  

• Accommodate every user, especially those requiring using wheelchairs 

or mobility aids or with sensory impairments when innovations and 

technologies incorporate motor vehicles. Where possible, manage 

inclusion for those with sensory impairments.   

• Not generate any unreasonable additional costs for the City Corporation 

or users  

• Ensure any supporting digital software and hardware is sufficiently and 

rigorously safeguarded from malicious use or intent that could pose a 

risk to physical or digital safety in the City Readily and proactively 

engage with the City Corporation, City residents and workers, students, 

and other interested parties 

  

Page 238



   101 
 

[The following text will go in a box] 

Emerging transport technologies 

Autonomous vehicles, also known as driverless cars or AVs, are vehicles equipped 

with sensors and on-board computers that allow them to effectively drive 

themselves. There are many levels of automation, from partial automation, which 

can include self-parking cars and adaptive cruise control, to full automation and a 

hands-off driving experience. The autonomous operation of motor vehicles on our 

streets could significantly reduce road danger and improve traffic flow. 

Drones, also known as unmanned aerial vehicles or UAVs, are small flying vehicles 

which rely on remote-controlled piloting or fly using onboard sensors and GPS. The 

operation of drones in the City could improve delivery times of sensitive or high-value 

goods such as medical supplies and may aid in asset inspection, construction site 

monitoring, and emergency services activities. 

Droids are small wheeled vehicles that are controlled by remote-controlled piloting or 

onboard sensors and GPS. The use of droids in the City could include couriering and 

deliveries. 

Shared mobility services are transport services that share the use of a vehicle for 

personal travel, examples include ridesharing and pooled rides.  

[End of text box] 

  

Page 239



   102 
 

 

Proposal 45: Explore the need for legislative change to ensure emerging 
technology and innovation benefits the Square Mile  

We will support and engage with all levels of government, industry and sector 

representatives to develop frameworks and legislation for future transport and 

ensure overall positive outcomes for the Square Mile, London and other cities. We 

will also challenge any new legislation on emerging transport technology that does 

not align with our principles on inclusivity in the City. Initially we will seek local and 

national legislative action on: 

• Licensing for the semi and fully- autonomous vehicle market, alongside 

the development of safety, design, digital security, and supporting 

infrastructure regulations. 

• Strengthening existing Civil Aviation Authority regulations on small 

remotely- piloted aircraft and drones 

• Developing a procedure and clarifying the operating parameters of droids 

and other small autonomous vehicles. 

• Additional regulatory powers to effectively manage current and future 

cycle hire activities on our streets.   

• The formalisation of rental e-scooter trial powers in primary legislation to 

enable the regulation of the rental e-scooter market. 

 

 

  

Page 240



   103 
 

Outcome 10: The Square Mile benefits from better 

transport connections  

Public transport will remain the main way that people travel to the Square Mile and 

continued investment will ensure that the City remains one of the most well-

connected business districts in the world. Over 96% of office floorspace in the City 

lies within a five-minute walk from a National Rail, Underground, Elizabeth Line or 

DLR station.  

Public transport will provide efficient and direct 24-hour connectivity to major local, 

regional, national, and international destinations. The completion of the Elizabeth 

Line added new, accessible platforms at Moorgate/Liverpool Street and Farringdon 

and provides fast and direct connections within Central London and beyond to 

Heathrow Airport, Essex and Berkshire. TfL reported that at Liverpool Street, the line 

opening prompted a 150,000 increase in station movements (entries, exits and 

interchanges) per day in the midweek (Transport for London, 2023). With the 

opening of the Elizabeth Line in 2022, over 6.37 million people of working age can 

now access the City of London within a 1 hour’s public transport journey (City of 

London Corporation, 2023). The opening of this new infrastructure, alongside the 

building of new rail and underground connections, including Crossrail 2, the northern 

line extension to Battersea Power Station and High Speed 2, and improvements to 

bus services in outer London through the Mayor of London’s ‘Superloop’ services, 

will provide the additional capacity people need to get to the City quickly and 

comfortably from across Greater London and the UK. Expanded Night Tube and 24-

hour bus networks will serve and grow the City’s thriving cultural offer and night-time 

economy.   

Although there have been adjustments in the travel to work patterns, forecasts 

indicate that 66,000 more jobs will be created in the Square Mile by 2040, and 

adequate public transport capacity is key to facilitating this (City of London 

Corporation, 2024).  The Mayor and TfL are still committed to expanding the 

Capital’s public transport networks to ensure the service meets the needs of the 

Capital in the longer-term future. We will work with TfL to support the delivery of 

these aspirations.  

 

Placeholder for updated infographics  

• 60 minute journey from the City  

• 96% of office floor space 

  

Page 241



   104 
 

Proposal 46: Support and champion better national and international 
connections to the Square Mile  

We will work with the Mayor of London, TfL, the Government, airport and rail 

operators and other related partners to improve national and international 

connectivity to the City, including through supporting: 

• Increased airport capacity in the Southeast, recognising that this will most 

efficiently be delivered through a third runway at Heathrow, to be delivered 

as soon as possible 

• Improved connectivity to London’s airports through: 

o Increased capacity and additional frequency on the West Anglia Main 

Line to Stansted Airport 

o A new Crossrail station at City Airport, constructed at the same time 

as the delivery of the Ebbsfleet extension 

o Increased DLR frequency to City Airport 

• The delivery of High Speed 2 as quickly as reasonably possible 

• Improved national rail access to London, including electrification, station 

expansions, accessibility and general service improvements. 

  

Page 242



   105 
 

Proposal 47: Support and champion improved connections to the 
Square Mile from Greater London and the surrounding region  

We will work with the Mayor of London, TfL, Government, local authorities 
neighbouring the City and other related partners to improve regional connectivity to 
the Square Mile, including through supporting: 

• Devolution of suburban rail service franchising to TfL, with a view to 
providing a London Suburban Metro service by 2030. 

• Accessibility improvements to rail and Underground stations in the Square 
Mile, as outlined in proposal 19. 

• The delivery of Crossrail 2 as soon as reasonably possible 

• Enhancing the coverage and frequency of 24-hour public transport services 
in central London, including increasing the number of lines operating night 
tube services, enhancing the 24-hour bus network, and improving night-time 
DLR and rail operations, including Crossrail. Any extensions to operating 
hours must take account of the need to avoid noise and other impacts on 
people living in, working in, studying in, and visiting the City the number of 
lines operating night tube services, enhancing the 24-hour bus network, and 
improving night-time DLR and rail operations, including Crossrail. Any 
extensions to operating hours must take account of the need to avoid noise 
and other impacts on people living in, working in, studying in, and visiting 
the City. 

• Enhanced 24-hour bus services to/ from the City. 

• Improvements to Liverpool Street Rail Station, including enhancing step 
free access and improving entry points. This may be achieved through the 
proposed Liverpool Street redevelopment, for which planning permission is 
currently being sought.  

• Exploring the feasibility of Sunday operation of the Waterloo and City Line 
in the longer term, especially in light of the Destination City programme.  

• Improvements to street level interchange between Fenchurch Street and 
Tower Hill, Tower Gateway and Aldgate stations, including wayfinding, as a 
longer-term aspiration.  

• Access and capacity improvements at Aldgate Station and exploration of 
the feasibility of a direct interchange between Aldgate and Aldgate East 
stations.  

• Extending the Metropolitan Line to Watford Junction and the Bakerloo Line 
to Lewisham. 

• The delivery of more high-quality cycling routes to and through central 
London including Quietways and Cycleways.  

• Improved walking connections to boroughs neighbouring the City.  

• Additional Thames Clipper passenger services serving Kent and Essex.  

• Increased inward rail freight to mainline stations in the Square Mile.  
 

 

 

Page 243



   106 
 

Proposal 48: Support the increased use of the Thames for passenger 
services  

We will work with partners including TfL River Services, the Port of London 
Authority and riverboat operators to increase the use of the River Thames for 
passenger services. Activities will include promotion of river services, including the 
expansion of Thames Clippers services to Kent and Essex, enhancing walking 
routes to Blackfriars and Tower piers and improving overall pier efficiency and 
accessibility. We will explore the potential to reinstate Swan Lane pier for leisure 
and passenger services and light freight. We will also work with river passenger 
service operators to ensure that their fleets meet Port of London Authority air 
quality standards and avoid adverse impacts on water quality and biodiversity. We 
will encourage TfL and riverboat operators in the medium term, to introduce more 
affordable fares on river services that are aligned more closely with the rest of the 
TfL network, and to work to ensure river services are accessible.  
 

  

Page 244



   107 
 

Proposal 49: Review bus provision across the City  

We will work with TfL to improve bus journey times to and connectivity through the 

Square Mile by:  

• Reviewing bus routing and frequency throughout the City to ensure they are 
optimised  

• Introducing targeted junction improvements to enhance bus priority where 
possible, recognising that bus priority in the Square Mile is most effectively 
delivered by reducing general traffic 

• Identifying opportunities to improve bus priority when developing and 
implementing Healthy Streets Plans (see proposal 12) and projects 

The key routes for bus priority measures are shown in Figure 14. Improvements to 

these routes will be delivered by 2030. 

 

Placeholder for Figure  

• Bus priority Network 

  

Page 245



   108 
 

Proposal 50: Support the Mayor of London in retaining locally-generated 
taxation  

We will support the Mayor of London and TfL’s efforts to retain additional locally-

generated taxation, such as vehicle excise duty, to fund investment in transport 

infrastructure across the Capital, including investment to help deliver the outcomes 

of this Strategy. 

  

Page 246



   109 
 

Proposal 51: Encourage continued Government investment in major 
London transport projects  

We will continue to encourage the Government to invest directly in strategic 

Healthy Streets projects and programmes and large transport infrastructure 

projects, such as Crossrail 2. Significant investment across Greater London is 

required to ensure the Capital remains an attractive place to live, work, study and 

invest and protect the significant contribution London makes to the national 

economy. 

  

Page 247



   110 
 

Outcome 11: Delivering the Strategy  

Projects and programmes  

The major projects and programmes that will be delivered by the Transport Strategy 

are summarised below. Further details on the projects that will be delivered in the 

first three years will be set out in the Transport Strategy Delivery Plan. The Delivery 

Plan will be published on our website by the end of 2019 and then updated on an 

annual basis. 

Managing delivery 

Further details on the actions and programmes to deliver elements of this Strategy 

will be set out in a series of reviews and delivery plans, including: 

• The Transport Strategy Delivery Plan, a rolling five -year delivery plan that will 

be updated on an annual basis 

• Healthy Streets Plans, providing details of how we will manage the street 

network in areas of the City in accordance with our proposed Street Hierarchy 

(Proposal 12) 

• A City-wide kerbside review to better understand and manage kerbside 

activities on our streets (Proposal 14) 

• Inclusion Action Plan, that will outline the key actions and steps we will take to 

deliver Proposal 1b, alongside a series of qualitative and quantitative metrics 

and measures to keep us transparent and accountable as we implement this 

Strategy.  

• Cargo Bike Action Plan. This document will set out barriers to the use of cargo 

bikes followed by actions to encourage the uptake of their use in the City. It 

will set out ambitious targets for cargo bike usage, and we will monitor 

numbers of bikes through bi-annual counts.  

• Road Danger Reduction Action Plan, a five-year delivery plan for measures to 

achieve Vision Zero and implement the safe systems approach (Proposal 20) 

 

We will continue to engage and consult with City residents, workers, businesses and 

other relevant street users and partner organisations as we develop and deliver this 

Strategy. Any projects that will lead to significant and permanent changes to the form 

or function of our street network will also undergo transport and traffic modelling. 

Impact assessments, including Environmental Impact Assessments and Equality 

Impact Assessments, will be conducted for all relevant projects and proposals. 

These will test options and ensure potential benefits are maximised and any 

potential negative impacts are identified and mitigated. Modelling and assessments 

will consider potential impacts beyond the Square Mile.  

Page 248



   111 
 

Deleted Proposal 52: Use temporary interventions and trials to 
accelerate the pace of delivery   

Page 249



   112 
 

Proposal 53: Improve our monitoring of transport in the Square Mile  

We will improve the quantity and quality of data we hold on transport in the City by: 

• Exploring the potential to improve our City-wide database of vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic counts by increasing count locations and the number of 
count days. 

• Repeating the City Streets survey every two years (as a minimum) to 
understand what people who live and work in, or travel through the Square 
Mile think about transport and streets in the City 

• Ensuring that our data collection is inclusive and captures the views and 
impacts of transport policy and measures on people with different protected 
characteristics including through public perception surveys.  

• Exploring the potential to gather ongoing feedback through web or app-
based surveys and interactive maps 

• Making best use of technological advancements in sensors and other 
monitoring methods to improve both the quality and the quantity of data we 
collect, reduce of the cost of data collection, and increase the speed of data 
processing 

• Sharing data with other organisations that collect metrics on relevant 
indicators  

• Ensuring our data is standardised whenever possible and protected from 
inappropriate use or exploitation 

• Exploring opportunities to make our databases more publicly accessible (in 
compliance with GDPR) when relevant 

• A measure to capture carbon savings associated with traffic reduction and 
the switch to EVs. 

Some of the data used for monitoring and evaluating the Strategy will be provided 

by outside organisations. We will engage with these data owners and sources to 

review our targets and performance indicators as new datasets become available, 

and work with them to obtain data and information that is appropriate, up to date, 

and reliable. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 250



   113 
 

Funding delivery 

The delivery of this Transport Strategy will be funded from a range of sources, 

including: 

Money received from TfL, including: 

• LIP Corridors and Neighbourhoods – an annual allocation that contributes to 

projects identified in our LIP 

• Liveable Neighbourhoods – funding for large projects that encourage walking, 

cycling and the use of public transport, allocated through a bidding process 

• Strategic funding – funding for specific priorities or initiatives, such as cycling 

infrastructure, air quality improvements and bus priority  

• The City Corporation’s on-street parking reserve – reinvesting revenue from 

parking charges and penalty charge notices 

• Contributions from developers through the Community Infrastructure Levy, 

Section 106 and Section 278 

The long-term nature of this Strategy means we have not scoped the full cost for all 

projects and programmes outlined above. However, a core principle will be to 

generate the necessary revenue/funding to make the delivery of this Strategy largely 

self-supporting.  

Measuring and reporting progress 

Progress on delivering this Strategy will be publicly reported to the City Corporation’s 

Planning and Transportation Committee on an annual basis from March 2020. Every 

two years we will publish a City Streets report which will include data on our targets 

set out in Table 2, the key performance indicators set out in Table 3, and analysis of 

traffic trends based on our vehicular and pedestrian traffic counts collected every two 

years.  

The Transport Strategy evidence base is available on our website. This provides 

further details of the analysis that has informed the development of this Strategy.  

 

  

Page 251



   114 
 

City of London Key Targets 

City of London Key Targets  Baseline 2030  2044 

• Reduction in all-day motor 

vehicle traffic volumes  

185k 139k  

(-25%) 

93k  

(-50%) 

• Proportion of people who 

strongly agree that their 

experience of walking in the 

City as pleasant  

28% (2022)  50% 75% 

• Number of kilometres of 

pedestrian priority streets  

25km (25%) 35km 

(33%) 

55km 

(55%) 

• Number of people killed and 

seriously injured on our 

street 

61 - KSIs 20 KSIs 0 KSIs 

• Proportion of people who 

strongly agree that their 

experience of cycling in the 

City as pleasant  

10% (2022) 45%  75% 

• Increase in the number of 

people cycling 

44k 66k  

(+50%)  

88k 

(+100%) 

• Increase in the proportion of 

zero emission capable 

vehicles entering the City  

2022 

baseline 

30% 

90% 100% 

• Reduction in all-day 

motorised freight vehicle 

volumes  

39k -15% -30% 

• Reduction in peak-time 

motorised freight vehicle 

volumes 

18k -50% -90% 

• NEW: Reduction in carbon 

tonnes from transport on 

City streets  

2022 

baseline  

tbc tbc 

• NEW: Disabled people who 

strongly agree that City 

streets as accessible for 

people of all ages and 

abilities’ 

2024 

baseline  

Tbc Tbc 

Page 252



   115 
 

Partnerships and leadership 
We recognise that we cannot deliver this Strategy on our own and will work with a 

range of partners to achieve the vision, aims and outcomes for streets and transport 

in the Square Mile. This will include working in partnership with: 

City residents and residents’ associations 

City businesses and institutions 

The City of London Police  

Business Improvement Districts (BIDs)The Mayor of London and TfL 

London Councils and London’s boroughs 

Property developers and the construction industry 

National rail and river service operators  

Transport industry and representative bodies 

Campaign organisations and special interest groups 

Developers of new transport technologies 

We recognise that our unique position as a global financial district allows us to be 

particularly bold in our proposals for changing and improving streets and transport. 

Nevertheless, the lessons we will learn from delivering this Strategy may be 

insightful and relevant to London’s boroughs and other cities and transport 

authorities. Likewise, we can learn from and be inspired by the experiences of 

others.  

We will share our experiences and identify transferable best practice by:  

Hosting and contributing to conferences, seminars and other events that highlight 

and discuss best practice  

Networking and developing knowledge-sharing relationships with London’s boroughs 

to capture lessons learnt from the development and delivery of this Strategy 

Establishing and maintaining relationships with other cities, both in the UK and 

internationally, and participating in local, national and international networks 

Sharing knowledge with relevant private sector, academic and third sector 

organisations 

  

Page 253



   116 
 

Proposal 54: Support change across London that is aligned with this 
Strategy  

The Square Mile does not exist in isolation and change across the Capital is 

required to maintain the City’s attractiveness as a place to live, work, learn and 

visit. We will support projects and initiatives delivered by TfL and London’s 

boroughs that align with the vision, aims and outcomes of this Strategy. We will 

also support changes to relevant national policy and legislation that will positively 

impact on transport and connections to London. 

  

Page 254



   117 
 

Updating the Transport Strategy 
This Strategy will be reviewed and updated every five years to ensure it reflects the 

priorities of City residents, workers and businesses, changing circumstances and 

developments in transport technology. Updates will be informed by in depth 

engagement and analysis of economic, social and transport trends, and will be 

subject to formal consultation prior to adoption.   

  

Page 255



   118 
 

Glossary  

Accessible: easy to reach, enter and use 

AV: an autonomous vehicle, also known as a self-driving vehicle, is capable of 

sensing its environment and operating without human involvement 

BID: Business Improvement District 

Blue Badge: the Blue Badge scheme helps disabled people park closer to their 

destination  

Cargo bike: a bicycle with a large container attached, designed for transporting 

heavy loads, or passengers, including children  

Climate action: refers to the efforts taken to reduce greenhouse gases and uild 

resilience to adapt to climate change 

Climate change: a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to 

human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in 

addition to natural climate variability over comparable time periods  

Climate resilience: the ability to anticipate, prepare for and respond to hazardous 

events, trends or disturbances related to climate change 

Congestion Charge: a daily charge to be paid by those who wish to drive a vehicle 

inside the Congestion Charge zone, which operates in Central London 

Consolidation centre: a warehouse where lots of deliveries are sorted and grouped 

together prior to a single final delivery 

DfT: Department for Transport  

Droids: small wheeled vehicles that are controlled by remote-controlled piloting or 

onboard sensors and GPS 

Drones: small flying vehicles which rely on remote-controlled piloting or fly using 

onboard sensors and GPS, also known as unmanned aerial vehicles or UAVs 

Equality: ensuring every individual has an equal opportunity to make the most of 

their lives and talents. It is also the belief that no one should be excluded because of 

their protected characteristics. 

Equity: whilst equality means each person is given the same resources or 

opportunities. Equity recognizes that each person has different circumstances and 

allocates the exact resources and opportunities needed to reach an equal outcome. 

Equality Impact Assessments (EQIA): a risk assessment tool that examines whether 

different groups of people are, or could be, disadvantaged by policy and decision 

making within an organisation. It is also an opportunity to identify any positive 

impacts for a protected equality group in line with the three equality aims (eliminate 

unlawful discrimination; advance equality of opportunity; foster good relations) as per 

our Public Equality Duty in the Equalities Act 2010. Engaging and striving to co-

creating EQIA and sharing these with interested groups, and ensuring that the 

findings and mitigations are materially incorporated into our policies and projects. 

Page 256



   119 
 

EV: electric vehicle  

Freight consolidation:  involves routing deliveries to a business, building or area via a 

warehouse, typically located further out of town 

Freight: goods transported in bulk, usually by lorry, van, boat, train or aircraft  

 General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR): the Data Protection Act 2018 is the 

UK’s implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Under the 

Data Protection Act 2018, you have the right to find out what information the 

government and other organisations store about you 

GLA: Greater London Authority 

Healthy Streets Plans: is a set of proposals to redesign streets and manage access 

to make streets more accessible, engaging and safe places for people to walk, cycle 

and spend time in  

Inclusive design: “Inclusive design results in an environment which everyone can 

use, to access and benefit from the full range of opportunities available; confidently, 

independently, with choice and dignity, which avoids separation or segregation and 

is made up of places and spaces that acknowledge diversity and difference, meeting 

the needs of everyone in society”  

KSI: Killed or seriously injured (in a road traffic collision) 

Last mile delivery: refers to the final leg of the delivery process. It usually begins at a 

transportation hub (such as a parcel sorting facility or regional hub) and ends at the 

final destination of the customer's home or business address 

LEZ: the Low Emission Zone covers most of Greater London and is in operation 24 

hours a day, every day of the year, and is in place to encourage the most polluting 

heavy diesel vehicles driving in London to become cleaner  

Logistics: overall process of managing how resources are acquired, stored, and 

transported to their final destination 

NO2: one of a group of highly reactive gases known as oxides of nitrogen or nitrogen 

oxides (NOx). NO2 is used as the indicator for the larger group of nitrogen oxides 

NOx: a mixture of gases that are composed of nitrogen and oxygen 

PM10: inhalable particles, with diameters that are generally 10 micrometers (µm) 

and smaller 

PM2.5: fine inhalable particles, with diameters that are generally 2.5 micrometers 

(µm) and smaller 

Protected characteristic: under the Equality Act 2010, the protected characteristics 

are: age, disability, gender identity or reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 

pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

The public sector Equality Duty: comes from section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 

and require public bodies to publish relevant, proportionate information showing 

compliance with the Equality Duty, and to set equality objectives 

Page 257



   120 
 

Red Badge: the City of London’s Red Badge Scheme provides extra parking facilities 

within the City of London for City residents and workers with disabilities 

Social Model of Disability: an approach that focuses on removing barriers that 

prevent a person from fully taking part in society. 

SME: Small to medium enterprise  

SuDS: Sustainable Drainage Systems, a range of sustainable measures for surface 

water management which reduce the amount, flow or rate of surface water discharge 

into sewers  

Test of Relevance: the screening process of using the Test of Relevance template 

aims to assist in determining whether a full Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) is 

required 

Transport Assessments: an approach that helps identify the transport impacts of a 

new development and ensures planning applications show how the new 

development supports Vision Zero and the Healthy Streets Approach. 

TfL: Transport for London 

UAV: unmanned aerial vehicles, otherwise known as drones, are remote controlled 

pilotless aircraft, or small flying devices  

ULEZ: the Ultra Low Emission Zone refers to a daily charge payable by vehicles that 

do not meet certain emissions standards and covers all London boroughs since 

August 2023   

Walking and wheeling: throughout the Strategy references to people walking and 

wheeling include people using: mobility aids such as wheelchairs and rollators; 

‘invalid carriages’ including mobility scooters designed for use on the footway, and 

people with physical, sensory or cognitive impairments who are travelling on foot. 

The term ‘electric wheelchair’ relates to wheeled mobility aids that are often referred 

to as ‘powered wheelchairs’. It also includes people who are using buggies, strollers, 

prams and pushchairs. 

Wheeling: a term encompassing use of wheelchairs, mobility scooters, pushchairs, 

scooters and other mobility or carrying aids 

ZEC vehicle: zero emission capable vehicles should emit very small quantities of 

CO2, and be capable of being operated with no (zero) exhaust emissions for a 

certain distance 

ZEZ: zero emission zone  

  

Page 258



   121 
 

Bibliography 

Anon., 2019. Tile, link, s.l.: s.n. 

Automated Vehicles Bill, 2023. Automated Vehicles Bill [HL] 2023-24, 

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-, s.l.: s.n. 

AXA, 2021. New sustainable approach to office deliveries at 22 Bishopsgate could 

help city centres stay green and safe post COVID, s.l.: s.n. 

Buro Happold, 2020. City of London Adaptive Pathways Study, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-

adaptive-pathways-study.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

Cities for All, 2019. The Global Compact on Inclusive and Accessible Cities, 

https://www.uclg.org/sites/default/files/the_global_compact_on_inclusive_and_acces

sible_cities-easyread_0.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2018. Light and Darkness in the City: A lighting vision for 

the City of London, https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-

Environment/city-of-london-lighting-strategy.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2018. Traffic in the City, 

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s91800/Appendix+1+-

+Traffic+in+the+City+2018.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2019. City of London Air Quality Strategy: delivering 

healthy air in the City of London, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Business/City-of-London-Air-Quality-

Strategy-2019-24.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2020. Climate Action Strategy 2020-2027, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/climate-action-

strategy-2020-2027-20-10-20.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2020. Thermal Comfort Guidelines, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/thermal-comfort-

guidelines-for-developments-in-the-city-of-london.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2021. Biodiversity Action Plan, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Green-Spaces/city-of-london-biodiversity-

action-plan-2021-2026.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2022. City of London Street Accessibility Tool, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/city-of-london-street-accessibility-

tool. [Online]. 

City of London Corporation, 2023. City Streets 2023 Summary Report, 

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s188792/Appendix%203%202023

_07_18%20City%20Streets%202023%20data%20summary%20report.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2023. Travel Time to the City of London by transit [Map], 

s.l.: s.n. 

Page 259



   122 
 

City of London Corporation, 2024. Air Quality Annual Status Report 2023, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/environmental-health/air-quality/air-quality-

reports, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2024. City Plan 2040 – Offices Topic Paper, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/Office-Topic-Paper-

City-Plan-2040.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2024. Corporate Plan 2024-2029, 

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-us/plans-policies/our-corporate-plan, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2024. Vision Zero action plan, 

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193717/Appendix%201%20Visio

n%20Zero%20Plan%20Nov%20PT%20final.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

City of London Corporation, 2024. Vision Zero Action Plan, 

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193717/Appendix%201%20Visio

n%20Zero%20Plan%20Nov%20PT%20final.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

Connected Places Catapult, 2020. Market Forecast For Connected and Autonomous 

Vehicles, 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5f64af8fd3bf7f7238f230a3/connected-

places-catapult-market-forecast-for-connected-and-autonomous-vehicles.pdf, s.l.: 

s.n. 

Data Protection Act, 2018. https://www.gov.uk/data-protection, s.l.: s.n. 

DEFRA, 2024. Effects of air pollution, https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/effects. 

[Online]. 

Department for Transport, 2018. Inclusive Mobility: a guide to best practice on 

access to pedestrian and transport infrastructure, 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-mobility-making-transport-

accessible-for-passengers-and-pedestrians, s.l.: s.n. 

Department for Transport, 2018. Inclusive Transport Strategy: achieving equal 

access for disabled people, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-

transport-strategy, s.l.: s.n. 

Department for Transport, 2024. Noise camera technology: roadside trial, 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/noise-camera-technology-roadside-

trial#:~:text=The%20Department%20for%20Transport%20(%20DfT,Great%20Yarmo

uth%20and%20Rubery%2C%20Birmingham.. [Online]. 

Department for Transport, 2024. Self-driving vehicles set to be on roads by 2026 as 

Automated Vehicles Act becomes law, https://www.gov.uk/government/news/self-

driving-vehicles-set-to-be-on-roads-by-2026-as-automated-vehicles-act-becomes-

law. [Online]. 

European Environment Agency, 2016. Explaining Road Transport Emissions: A Non-

Technical Guide, https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/explaining-road-transport-

emissions, Copenhagen: European Environment Agency. 

Page 260



   123 
 

Government Equalities Office and Equality and Human Rights Commission, 2013. 

Equality Act 2010: Guidance, https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-

guidance, s.l.: s.n. 

Greater London Authority , 2023. Air quality exposure and inequalities study, 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-

06/Air%20quality%20exposure%20and%20inequalities%20study%20-

%20part%20one%20-%20London%20analysis.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

Greater London Authority, 2018. London Environment Strategy, 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_environment_strategy_0.pdf, 

London: Greater London Authority. 

Greater London Authority, 2018. Mayor's Transport Strategy, 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors-transport-strategy-2018.pdf, s.l.: 

s.n. 

Greater London Authority, 2019. London Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (LAEI) 

2019, https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/london-atmospheric-emissions-inventory--

laei--2019, s.l.: s.n. 

Greater London Authority, 2023. Inner London Ultra Low Emission Zone Expansion 

One Year Report, https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/environment-

and-climate-change/environment-and-climate-change-publications/inner-london-

ultra-low-emission-zone-expansion-one-year-report, s.l.: s.n. 

Heather Walton, D. D. S. B. M. W. P. W. a. A. H., 2015. Understanding the Health 

Impacts of Air Pollution in London for Transport for London and the Greater London 

Authority, 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/HIAinLondon_KingsReport_14072015_fi

nal_0.pdf, s.l.: Kings College London. 

OECD, 2020. Non-exhaust Particulate Emissions from Road Transport: An Ignored 

Environmental Policy Challenge, https://doi.org/10.1787/4a4dc6ca-en.. Paris: OECD 

Publishing. 

Royal National Institute for the Blind, 2023. Key Principles of Inclusive Street Design, 

https://media.rnib.org.uk/documents/Key_Principles_of_Inclusive_Street_Design_1.0

.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

Sustrans, 2019. Our position on micromobility, https://www.sustrans.org.uk/our-

blog/policy-positions/all/all/our-position-on-micromobility/#Summary, s.l.: s.n. 

SYSTRA, 2023. Transport Strategy Research Report, s.l.: s.n. 

Transport for All, 2023. Barriers to transport for disabled people in 2023, 

https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Are-we-there-

yet_Highlights_Large-print.pdf. s.l.:s.n. 

Transport for London, 2017. Analysis of Cycling Potential 2016, 

https://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-cycling-potential-2016.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

Transport for London, 2023. Elizabeth Line Passenger Usage Insight, 

https://board.tfl.gov.uk/documents/s20504/elc-20230725-part-1-item10-elizabeth-

line-passenger-usage-insight.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

Page 261



   124 
 

Transport for London, 2023. London Travel Demand Survey, s.l.: s.n. 

Transport for London, 2023. Travel in London 2023. Focus Report: Elizabeth Lin 

travel trends in the first year of operation, https://content.tfl.gov.uk/travel-in-london-

2023-elizabeth-line-travel-trends-in-the-first-year-of-operation-acc.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

Transport for London, 2024. Equity in Motion, https://content.tfl.gov.uk/equity-in-

motion-full.pdf. s.l.:s.n. 

Transport for London, 2024. Road safety data, 

https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/road-safety. [Online]. 

UK Government, 2024. Automated Vehicles Act 2024, 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2024/10/contents/enacted, s.l.: s.n. 

United Nations, 2006. United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons, 

https://www.un.org/disabilities/documents/convention/convention_accessible_pdf.pdf

, s.l.: s.n. 

University of Oxford, 2019. Inclusive Cities: Framework, 

https://www.compas.ox.ac.uk/wp-

content/uploads/Inclusive_cities_framework_FINAL_web.pdf, s.l.: s.n. 

World Health Organisation, 2021. WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate 

matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon 

monoxide, https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240034228, s.l.: s.n. 

 

 

 

Our Inclusion principles and Proposal have modelled off guidance:  

• UN Secretariat for the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 

(United Nations, 2006) 

• The Global Compact on Inclusive and Accessible Cities (Cities for All, 2019) 

• Inclusive Cities Framework (University of Oxford, 2019) 

• Transport for London’s (2024), Equity in Motion, Issue 2.  

• The Inclusive Transport Strategy: achieving equal access for disabled people 

(Department for Transport, 2018) 

• Key Principles of Inclusive Street Design (Royal National Institute for the 

Blind, 2023) 

• Department for Transport (2021), Inclusive Mobility A Guide to Best Practice 

on Access to Pedestrian and Transport Infrastructure (Department for 

Transport, 2018) 

• Corporate Plan 2024-2029 (City of London Corporation, 2024) 

• Equality Act 2010: Guidance. (Government Equalities Office and Equality and 

Human Rights Commission, 2013) 

• (Data Protection Act, 2018) 

 

Page 262



   125 
 

 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 264



v.April 2019 

 

 

 

 
Committees: 
 

Dates: 
 

Streets and Walkways Committee [for decision] 
Projects and Procurement Sub [for information] 
 

 09 July 2024 
 15 July 2024 
 

Subject: 

Smithfield Area Public Realm and Transportation 

Unique Project Identifier: 

Complex 
Issue Report 
(last report 
Gateway 3 
Issue Report) 

PV Project ID: 11956  

Report of: 

City Operations Director 

For Decision 

Report Author: 
Clarisse Tavin 

PUBLIC 
 

 
1. Status update 

Project Description: The project aims to provide a coordinated 
approach for the delivery of new public spaces and improved 
environment in the Smithfield area. This is to be delivered in line 
with the City Transport Strategy, the Climate Action Strategy, 
and the anticipated major increase in the number of visitors to the 
area following the opening of the new Museum of London (MoL) 
and future transformation of the Meat Market.  

RAG Status: Green (last report: green) 

Risk Status: Low (last report: low) 

Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): £12m 

Change in Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): 
N/A 

Spend to Date: £ 1,088,050  

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: 0 

Funding Source: OSPR 

Slippage: None 

Page 265

Agenda Item 5



v.April 2019 

 

 

 

2. Requested 
decisions 

Next Gateway: Gateway 4 - Detailed Options Appraisal 
(Complex) 

Progress to date 

• The Smithfield Area Public Realm and Transportation 
Project will deliver enhancements in the Smithfield area 
and is currently at RIBA Stage 3. The Stage 3.1 related 
to overarching strategies was completed, and 
engagement has continued. This includes a temporary 
play project for families developed with the MoL Team, 
to be delivered in the area for the London Festival of 
Architecture in Summer 2024.   

• The lighting element of the project was progressed to 
detailed design stage, to align with the phased opening 
of the General Market and Poultry Market as part of the 
Museum’s opening timeline. 

• The MoL S278 project has also progressed since 
Gateway 1/2 was approved in January 2022, and the 
scope of work has been defined. The development of 
the Public Realm project and the S278 project will be 
coordinated to maximise the efficiency of each project.  

• Taking a programmatic approach with integrated project 
management of both the S278 project for the museum 
and the wider public realm projects is the best way 
forward. It is however necessary to report separately on 
these projects as the scope of the Public Realm project 
extends beyond the MoL boundary and beyond the 
lifecycle of the S278 project.    

• The next stage of work has been identified and is split 
between the S278 requirements for the MoL and the 
wider public realm project. The MoL S278 project is the 
subject of a separate report submitted to Streets and 
Walkways Sub Committee in July 2024, to align with 
this report. 

 

1. Project Update 

Smithfield Area Public Realm and Transportation Project : 
1.1 The project is phased to align with key dependencies 
with the museum development and associated s278 
improvements as follow (see Phasing Plan in Appendix 
3):   

- Stage 3.1: Overarching strategies and approaches 
to develop elements of the Concept Design and to 
test feasibility – complete. 

- Stage 3.2a: Developed Designs for Area 1 - around 
the future Museum of London  – General Market site  

Page 266



v.April 2019 

 

 

- Stage 3.2b: Developed Designs for Area 1 -around 
the future Museum of London– Poultry Market site. 

- Stage 3.3: Developed Designs for Area 2 (around 
the Meat Market site)  

1.2  A Gateway 3 Issue report was approved in July 2022 and 
provided an update on the progress made to date.  It 
agreed for this project to restart and run in parallel with the 
requirements for the MoL through their S278 project. 

1.3 The report anticipated that Stage 3.2 of the public realm 
project design would commence when the broad scope of 
the MoL S106 agreement (and within this document the 
outline scope of its associated S278 agreement) is 
understood; with a new report be submitted to Committees.  
We are now at this stage.  A Gateway 3 report for the 
S278 works is also on the agenda for the July 2024 
Streets & Walkways Sub Committee and provides further 
details on this project. 

 
 

  Museum of London Programme: 

1.4 The General Market building is anticipated to open to the 
public in 2026. As part of that phase of opening, West 
Poultry Avenue will be closed to traffic permanently and 
become the main entrance to the Museum.   

1.5 The Poultry Market building is planned to open to the 
public in 2028. As stated above, the Public Realm and 
S278 projects will have to dovetail with these timescales, 
accommodating the use of highway for the completion of 
the building works where needed post 2026, and 
delivering the public realm and S278 works on the public 
highway to facilitate visitors of the Museum between the 
two distinct openings of 2026 and 2028 and then beyond. 
See indicative Phasing Plan in Appendix 3. 

1.6 Timings for the Annexe needs to be confirmed, but City 
Surveyor Team is working with the Environment Team on 
the Marketing & Disposal plan for this asset. 

 
 
  Markets Co-location programme: 

1.7 The project team has continued to liaise with the Market 
Colocation team as key stakeholders to finalise Stage 3.1 
and initiate 3.2. Further engagement will restart when the 
broad scope of the future Meat Market is understood.  

1.8 What is understood is that there will be an operational 
meat market until 2028, and so works around the Museum 
building need to accommodate the market operation 
during this time frame. There is likely to be wider scope for 

Page 267



v.April 2019 

 

 

change in terms of public realm after the meat market is 
vacated.  However, the construction work and S278 for 
any future development of this site will also need to be 
considered.   

 

  2. Next steps 

2.1 Taking the above in consideration, it is now proposed to 
continue the Smithfield Area Public Realm project (Stage 3.2) 
with the design team. 

2.2 This is to be done in coordination with the Museum of 
London S278 project to maximise the efficiency of each project, 
and ensure the programmes align with the Museum development 
and phased openings.   

 
Requested Decisions: 

 
1. That budget of £335k is approved for the Smithfield 

Area Public Realm project to cover the next stage of 
the project, funded from the £12m OSPR funding, 
approved in principle for the project, subject to the 
relevant approvals; 

2. Note the revised project budget of £1,695,014 
(excluding risk), from the £12m estimated budget 
which is unchanged; 

3. Approve £35k in Costed Risk Provision; 
4. Note the revised programmatic approach to 

coordinate projects in Smithfield area, and the 
changes to the delivery plan; and 

5. Note the updates since the last Committee Report. 
 

 

3. Budget 
Funding requested to reach the next Gateway. 

Table 1: funding table to reach next gateway 

 

Item Reason  Cost (£) 

Consultant 
Costs 
(fees)  

Pedestrian modelling, stakeholder 
engagement and consultation, public 
realm design work, COLSAT 
assessment (Long Lane/Aldersgate - 
West Smithfield entrance) 

£140,000* 

P&T Staff 
Costs  

Project management  £75,000 

P&T 
Highways 

Design engineering costs £50,000 

Page 268



v.April 2019 

 

 

Surveys 
(Fees) 

Ground surveys and load testing for 
potential public realm installations 

£50,000* 

Legal fees 
Legal agreements as part of the public 
realm design 

£20,000 

Total   £335,000 

*Shared costs with Museum of London s278 project 

1) Staff time for 1.5 days per week for 6 months (combined 
with the S278 report to make around 3 days per week for 6 
months) 

2) Staff time for a highways engineer to carry out detailed 
design work.   

3) Fees for consultancy services – to be used on pedestrian 
modelling, stakeholder engagement and City of London 
Streets accessibility Tool (COLSAT) assessment. 

4) Fees for civil engineering surveys such as trial holes and 
load tests for lighting as well as ground surveys for any 
public realm installations and utility searches. 

5) Fees for legal agreements that are to be signed for any 
changes to the highway or footway that are required.   

Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: £35k 

 

See detailed Funding tables in Appendix 2. 

 

4. Issue (update) 
description 

4.1 The phasing of the public realm works needs to be aligned 
with the programme of change for the area: 

• the Museum of London’s staggered opening of 2026 
(General Market and West Poultry Avenue) and 2028 
(Poultry Market),  

• the building work and opening of the Annex building on 
West Smithfield (timing to be confirmed),  

• the continued operation of the Meat Market till 2028, and  

• the future redevelopment of the Meat Market building.   

4.2 To carry out the public realm design on the area around the 
MoL site and key routes to the Museum, further funding will be 
required to develop the detailed design of those proposals.  

4.3 It is also suggested that further design work on Long Lane, 
linking the new Elizabeth line entrance to the MoL is also 
developed further to facilitate a more accessible and 
comfortable journey for people walking and wheeling from the 
station towards the MoL entrance.    

4.4 In addition, linking with the Museum of London S278 project, 
the wider public realm project will also benefit from some of 
this work, and can be extended to ensure efficiencies are 
made such as the wider pedestrian modelling, which will show 

Page 269



v.April 2019 

 

 

which routes people are most likely to take to the venue. 
Jointly funding this will bring efficiencies for both projects. 

4.5 The changes in approach to programme described above 
mean that whilst the overall strategy for the area will be kept, 
the delivery of the strategy will need to be completed in 
phases which will be consecutive in nature. This means from a 
governance perspective some of the work will be completed 
before other areas are fully designed, but the concept and the 
vision for the area as a whole remains the same. It is unlikely 
that the full public realm vision for the area will be completed 
before mid 2030. 

4.6 The intention is to share the workload between the Museum of 
London S278 project which mitigate the impact of the 
development, with the wider aspirations for greater public 
realm change for this first phase of work, ensuring the two 
projects align.     

 

 Next steps (to be developed) 
 

The key next steps for the project in the next 12 
months are: 
 

1. Progress Public Realm design for the area around the 
General Market, to be developed to Stage 4. 

2. Stakeholder engagement and public consultation 
where needed, including creative engagement with the 
MoL team, any and changes to bays and parking in 
the area, or any junction changes (if required) . 

3. COLSAT, Healthy Streets Design Checks and EqIA 
assessments to be carried out on Long Lane down to 
the General Market entrance at West Poultry Avenue. 

4. Pedestrian modelling of Smithfield Area to be done – 
this is shared with the S278 as there is a need for 
more granular work on the areas around the Museum 
for the S278. 

5. To put together a design for the area around the 
general market and for the area on Long Lane covered 
by the COLSAT assessment. 

 
 

Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 Project Coversheet 

Appendix 2 Finance tables 

Appendix 3 Location and Phasing Plan  

Appendix 4 Project programme  

Appendix 5 Risk Register 

 
Contact 

Page 270



v.April 2019 

 

 

 
Report Author Clarisse Tavin 

Email Address Clarisse.tavin@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 02073323634 

 

Page 271

mailto:Clarisse.tavin@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 272



 

   

 

Appendix 1: Project Coversheet 
 

Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership 

Unique Project Identifier: 11956  Report Date: 06/06/2024 
Core Project Name: West Smithfield Public Realm 
Programme Affiliation: City Transport Strategy , Climate Action Strategy, 
Destination City 
Project Manager: Clarisse Tavin  
Next Gateway to be passed: 4 

 

[2] Project Brief 

 
Project Mission statement:  
 
To provide new public spaces and improved environment in West Smithfield 
in line with the planned implementation of the Look and Feel Strategy, 
Healthy Streets Plan, the Climate Action Strategy, and the development of 
Destination City. The project will aim to achieve the following outcomes: 

1. The character of the area is revealed, celebrated and protected 
2. People feel safe as a result of high-quality, human-centred, integrated 

security design 
3. There is a well-functioning and accessible public realm which delivers 

aims within the City Transport Strategy and which makes significant 
improvements to the Healthy Streets Indicators for the area 

4. The proposed museum and re-purposed market buildings have the 
best possible journey, arrival, and welcome for all visitors, residents 
and workers 

5. The urban spaces around Smithfield are engaging and allow for 
cultural activity to take place within them 

6. The public realm is flexible and future-proofed, with delivery of change 
in the area phased to align with the needs of the proposed new 
Museum and Central Markets developments 

7. The different building uses within the area of study are understood and 
complement each other, with the public realm successfully knitting 
these buildings together 

8. The public realm is designed to be a leading exemplar for sustainable 
design 

9. The public realm supports communities and businesses in the local 
area by providing an environment that supports well-being and 
economic development 

 
The Look and Feel Strategy objectives that will be achieved through the 
project include: 

- Create a Culture Spine 
- Take the Inside Out 
- Discover and Explore 

 
The project will fulfil the following aims in the City’s Corporate Plan:  

Page 273



 

   

 

1c, 3b, 9d, 10c, 11a. 
 
Definition of need:  
The project respond to several major transformations in the area as follows: 
 

• The City’s Transport Strategy has set out the Barbican and Smithfield 
Area as a site for a ‘Healthy Streets Plan’. This plan will identify 
functional changes to the street/road network to accommodate the 
anticipated transformation of the area. 

 

• The project is also a crucial part of the development of Culture Mile 
and will deliver large parts of the Look and Feel Strategy 
implementation. 
 

• The project is within the emerging Smithfield & Barbican Key Area of 
Change (Policy S23) in the emerging City Plan 2036. 
 

• It is proposed that the Museum of London will move into a new site in 
Smithfield, which currently has poor public realm, a propensity of 
hard landscape, traffic-dominated streets and provides little in the 
way of welcome to the area. The project is needed to transform the 
area into one that is fitting for a major new museum. The whole 
public realm around the full market site – including the buildings 
being developed by the Museum and those considered by the 
Markets Co-location Programme – will necessarily need to change to 
reflect the new uses of the buildings. By aiming to deliver designs for 
the public realm in the West Smithfield area, this project will provide 
the framework for these future changes.  

 

• The City has also established a programme to consider the future of 
Smithfield Market in a new consolidated site along with the City’s 
other wholesale markets. A Markets Co-location Programme (MCP) 
has been initiated to develop suitable options. The relocation of the 
Wholesale Meat and Poultry Market to a different site would create 
the opportunity to redevelop the current market site for a different 
use, and any relocation would have a huge impact on the area of 
Smithfield, including its public realm.  
 

• The City has approved a Climate Action Strategy. The Smithfield 
public realm project an opportunity for local climate action and has as 
a project objective: ‘The public realm is designed to be a leading 
exemplar for sustainable design’. This will be undertaken through 
additional new greening and planting; use of circular economy 
principles; and introduction where possible of Sustainable Urban 
Drainage (SUDs). 

 
Risk 
The relevant references in the Corporate Risk Register that relate to this 
project are: 
CR21 Air Quality, CR20 Road Safety 

Page 274



 

   

 

 
Key measures of success: 
NB - KPIs will be finalised on receipt of the appropriate Baseline information. 
Research to provide this information is ongoing. 
1) Increased high-quality Public realm – materials, space, accessibility, historic 

interpretation elements 

2) Increased quantity of greenery in the area; improved flood risk mitigation 
measures 

3) Improved air quality 

4) Reduction in vehicle movement in line with aims of the transport strategy; 
improved road safety 

5) Number of visitors increases 
 

 

[3] Highlights 

Finance: 
Total anticipated cost to deliver [£]:£12m 

Total potential project liability (cost) [£]: n/a 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]: Maintenance 
costs tbc. 
Programme Affiliation [£]: Culture Mile Programme   
Headline Financial changes: 

Since ‘Project Proposal’ (G2) report:  

◄► 
£90,000 approved at Gateway 1/2. A further £625,000 was requested 
via an Issue Report to progress to Gateway 3. 
Since ‘Options Appraisal and Design’ (G3-4) report:  
£75,000 was approved to progress some works on salvaging surface 
material via an Issue Report in December 2021, and £130,000 were further 
approved in March 2023.   

Since ‘Authority to start Work’ (G5) report:  

n/a  
 

Project Status: 
Overall RAG rating: Green 
Previous RAG rating: n/a 

 

[4] Member Decisions and Delegated Authority 
 

 
 

 

[5] Narrative and change 

Date and type of last report: 
Issue Report in March 2023 

 
Key headline updates and change since last report. 

• A Gateway 3 Issue report was approved in December 2021 and 
provided an update on the progress made to date, outlined the 
programme change, and set out the project next steps 

• The project has been phased to align with key dependencies projects 
as follow (see Phasing Plan in Appendix 3):   

o Stage 3.1: Overarching strategies and approaches to develop 
elements of the Concept Design and to test feasibility 

Page 275



 

   

 

o Stage 3.2: Completed Developed Designs for Area 1 (area 
around the future Museum of London site) 

o Stage 3.3: Completed Developed Designs for Area 2 (area 
around the future Meat Market site) 

• Stage 3.1 is now complete. 

• The Museum of London development in West Smithfield resubmitted 
its application in Autumn 2022. The New Museum of London intends 
to host opening events in late 2025, with the General Market and 
West Poultry Avenue open to the public in mid-2026. 

• It is anticipated that Stage 3.2 of the public realm project design for 
Area 1 will commence when the broad scope of the Museum of 
London S106 agreement (and within this document the outline scope 
of its associated S278 agreement) is understood. 

• Markets Co-location programme: a Bill to Parliament was submitted 
to Parliament in November 2022. The first private bill seeks approval 
to move Smithfield and Billingsgate Markets to Dagenham Dock 
(detailing the proposed new uses of the Grade II* East and West 
Market buildings). The impact on the public realm is that project 
design around the East and West Market Buildings and Rotunda 
(project Area 2) will commence at a later date, once the potential 
future functions of the meat market are better understood. 
 

Headline Scope/Design changes, reasons why, impact of change: 

Since ‘Project Proposal’ (G2) report:  
Extension of scope to include the full West Smithfield area for concept 
design. 

Since ‘Options Appraisal and Design’ (G3-4 report):  
n/a 

Since ‘Authority to Start Work’ (G5) report:  
n/a 

 

Timetable and Milestones:  
Expected timeframe for the project delivery: Area 1 implementation to 
start by 2025/2026; Area 2 implementation to be complete by 2030’s to align with 
the Meat Market programme. 

 
Milestones:  
1) Governance set up and agreed (May 2019) 

2) Project objectives and scope agreed through initial stakeholder engagement 
(May 2019)  

3) Relevant surveys undertaken to inform setting KPIs (September 2019) 

4) Research and Baseline report completed, including traffic surveys (September 
2019) 

5) Procurement of consultants for concept design and developed design stages 
for the public realm (June – December 2019) 

6) Procurement of consultants/ services for transportation surveys to support the 
Healthy Streets (HSP) work (June – July 2019) 

7) Completion of the concept design (October 2020) 

8) Gateway 3 report and stakeholder engagement (December 2020) 

9) Developed design for the public realm for Area 1 and subsequent Gateway 4 
approval (Summer 2023) 

Page 276



 

   

 

10) Technical Design (construction package) for Area 1 and Gateway 5 approval 
(2025) 

11) Construction begins (2025/2026) 

12) Post construction, Gateway 6 report, and monitoring (through 2030’s) 

 
Are we on track for this stage of the project against the plan/major 
milestones? yes 
 

Are we on track for completing the project against the expected 
timeframe for project delivery? yes 
 
 

Risks and Issues 
Top 3 risks:  
 
Risk 1: Funding 

Description The sources of project funding and the 
release of funds is not agreed in time to 
progress the project  

Mitigation Project funding confirmed via committee 
reports in good time. 

 
Risk 2: 
Partnership/ 
Timing 

Description There are many different project 
dependencies and elements to be phased. 
There is a risk that these elements may not 
be complete in a time that is appropriate 
for the dependencies e.g. the Museum of 
London opening.  
There is a risk that the public realm project 
may have to be updated if the dependency 
projects are cancelled 

Mitigation Commission key work, e.g. transportation 
studies and concept design, in a timely 
manner 
Close working with dependency project 
teams to understand programmes and 
risks relating to their work 

 
Risk 3: 
Complexity/ 
Partnerships 

Description Decision-making processes delayed due 
to the complexity of the project 

Mitigation Set up robust governance for the project 
and a clear communications strategy 

Risk 4: 
Reputation/ 
Objections 
 

Description The project may recommend changes 
which may create some opposition from 
groups (i.e. measures to reduce traffic that 
include road closures). 

Mitigation Stakeholder engagement will be thorough 
to understand where this risk may occur 
and plan accordingly; and key messages 
setting out the rationale for change will be 
drafted.   

Risk 5: Scope 
(Environmental) 

Description The scope of the project is scaled back, 
which would mean that the project does 
not deliver the impact required to meet the 
goals in the Transport Strategy and the 
Climate Action Strategy, nor the ambitions 
of Culture Mile.   

Page 277



 

   

 

Mitigation Public Realm consultants are preparing 
design options that meet the ambitious 
scope of the project 

See ‘risk register template’ for full explanation. 
 

Top 3 issues realised  
Issue Description Impact and action taken Realised Cost 

n/a   

   

   

 
Has this project generated public or media impact and response which 
the City of London has needed to manage or is managing?  
Yes- the wider Museum of London project, the MCP, and Culture Mile initiatives are 
generating public interest and have media/ comms strategies in place. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 278



Appendix 2 : Finance Tables 

Table 1: Spend to Date - West Smithfield Area Public Realm & Transportation 
Project - 16800391 

Description 

Approved 
Budget (£) 

Expenditure (£) Balance (£) 

Env Servs Staff Costs 
                     
40,000                       13,043  

                     
26,957  

Legal Staff Costs 
                             
20                               20  

                              
-    

Open Spaces Staff 
Costs 

                     
18,600                         8,039  

                     
10,561  

P&T Staff Costs 
                  
432,797                    434,046  (1,249) 

P&T Fees 
                  
803,597                    632,902  

                  
170,695  

Env Servs Works 
                     
60,000                                -    

                     
60,000  

TOTAL 
               
1,355,014                 1,088,050  

                  
266,964  

    

Table 2: Resources Required to reach the next Gateway 

Description 

Approved 
Budget (£) 

Adjustment Required 
(£) 

Revised Budget 
(£) 

Env Servs Staff Costs 
                     
40,000                       50,000  

                     
90,000  

Legal Staff Costs 
                             
20                       20,000  

                     
20,020  

Open Spaces Staff 
Costs 

                     
18,600                                -    

                     
18,600  

P&T Staff Costs 
                  
432,797                       75,000  

                  
507,797  

P&T Fees 
                  
803,597                    190,000  

                  
993,597  

Works 
                     
60,000                                -    

                     
60,000  

Costed Risk Provision 
                              
-                         35,000  

                     
35,000  

TOTAL 
               
1,355,014                    370,000  

               
1,725,014  

    

Table 3: Revised Funding Allocation 

Funding Source 

Current Funding 
Allocation (£) 

Funding Adjustments 
(£) 

Revised 
Funding 

Allocation (£) 

TC Central Risk 
Budget 

                     
90,000                                -    

                     
90,000  

MCP Recharge 
                     
80,000                                -    

                     
80,000  

OSPR 
               
1,185,014                    370,000  

               
1,555,014  

TOTAL 
               
1,355,014                    370,000  

               
1,725,014 

 

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 280



 

 

Appendix 3: Plans of the area 
 
 

A: Project Area 

 

 

Fig 1. Public Realm Project Area 

Page 281



 

 

B: Implementation Phasing by Area: 

 

 

 
 

Fig 2. Proposed Implementation Areas an 

 

 

 

 

d  

 

Dates 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig 2. Public Realm Project Phases 

  

Area 1a - Museum of London 
GENERAL MARKET + WEST POULTRY AV.  
Opening:  2026 

Area 1: Long Lane 
Implementation tbc; to meet 
1-12 Long Lane Development 
opening 

Area 1: Snow Hill, Giltspur, 
Hosier and Cock Lane  

Area 2: Stage 3.3 Meat market  
Opening: Mid 2030’s 

Area 1b : Museum of London : POULTRY MARKET 
- Opening : 2028 

Page 282



S278 Agreement 

2023

Jan Feb Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov DecMar

2024

Jan Feb Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov DecMar

2025

Jan Feb Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov DecMar Jan Feb Mar

Stakeholders Engagement 

Developed Design –

RIBA Stage 3.1: Area 1

(Museum of London)

Developed Design – RIBA Stage 3.2/4 : Area 1

(Museum of London)

Museum : Structural Repairs +  Detailed Design and Exhibitions 
design

Museum : Tunnels and waterproofing design 

and structural works

PROJECT DEPENDENCIES

Nov 2022
Submission 
of private 
Bill to  
Parliament

Museum Construction Period – due to open late 2025

Passage of Bill and Detailed Design      (Market due to open in 2028)

Transport Studies

Construction Area 1

(Museum of London)

Public 
Consultation 

Update
Commitee
report

Review of MOL 
planning permission

Appendix 4: Smithfield Area Programme for the public realm

S278 development 

G4 
Committee 
Report

Progress/
Issue 
Report

G5 
Committee 
Report

P
age 283



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 284



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

  11956

PM's overall risk rating Minor impact Serious impact Major impact Extreme impact

4 8 16 32

3 6 12 24

Red risks (open) 2 4 8 16

Amber risks (open) 1 2 4 8

Green risks (open)

Costed risks identified (All) 0% Costed risk as % of total estimated cost of project

Costed risk pre-mitigation (open) 0% "  "

Costed risk post-mitigation (open) 0% "  "

Costed Risk Provision requested 0% CRP as % of total estimated cost of project

Number of Open 
Risks

Avg 
Score

Costed impact Red Amber Green

1 16.0 £0.00 1 0 0

3 9.3 £0.00 0 3 0

6 6.7 £0.00 0 4 2

4 10.5 £0.00 1 3 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

2 9.0 £0.00 0 2 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

Extreme Major Serious Minor

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

Open Issues

£0.00

Issues (open)

(1) Compliance/Regulatory
(2) Financial 
(3) Reputation 
(4) Contractual/Partnership
(5) H&S/Wellbeing
(6) Safeguarding

0

(9) Environmental
(10) Physical

(7) Innovation

Possible

Unlikely

Rare

Avg risk pre-mitigation
Avg risk post-mitigation

Likely9.0

5.3

Project name:
Unique project identifier:

Medium

  £12000000

  Smithfield Public Realm

Total est cost (exc risk)
Corporate Risk Matrix score table

(8) Technology

2

12

2

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Total CRP used to date £0.00
Cost to resolve all issues 

(on completion)

0 All Issues

£0.00

All Issues

Page 285



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 
risk rating: 

CRP requested 
this gateway

Open Risks
16

11956 Total CRP used to 
date

Closed Risks
0

Risk 
ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Risk 
score

Costed impact pre-
mitigation (£)

Costed Risk Provision 
requested 
Y/N

Confidence in the 
estimation

Mitigating actions Mitigation 
cost (£)

Likelihood 
Classificati
on post-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificat
ion post-
mitigation

Costed 
impact post-
mitigation (£)

Post-
Mitiga
tion 
risk 
score

CRP used 
to date

Use of CRP Date 
raised

Named 
Departmental 
Risk 
Manager/ 
Coordinator 

Risk owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

Date 
Closed 
OR/ 
Realised & 
moved to 
Issues

Comment(s)

R1 3 (2) Financial 

A - The cost of the project 
goes over the budget        B - 
The sources of project 
funding and the release of 
funds is not agreed in time to 
progress the project 

a) The project scope may 
have to be reduced
b) An additional committee 
may be required, which may 
cause delay of the project

Likely Serious 8 £0.00

Regular budget monitoring, 
checking invoices and POs.
During procurment 
processes, be clear about 
budget constraints.                                       
Project funding confirmed 
via committee reports in 
good time.

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 02/01/20 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin Helen Kearney

R2 3 (4) Contractual/Part
nership

Project Dependencies:          
Partnership management: 
with key stakeholders 
Museum of London, Market 
Co-location Programme and 
City Surveyors (the Annex 
building)

The agreed scope, 
objectives or cost of the 
project changes due to 
partner priorities diverging. 
The priorities change 
regulary.

Likely Major 16 £0.00

Work closely with the team 
throughout the project to 
inform all parties about 
possible changes and to 
understand where there 
are issues arising. Where 
possible come to decisions 
approved by both parties. 
Meetings with partners held 
regularly.

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 13/03/20 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

CPR, Musem of 
London, Market 
Consolidation 
Programme and 
City Surveyors

R3 (4) Contractual/Part
nership

Project Dependencies:      The 
Annex bulding occupancy 
and exact use is unknown at 
this stage of the project

The risk could have an 
impact on scope, budget 
and could create a possible 
delay

Likely Serious 8 £0.00

Ensure that good 
communication and 
regular updates are 
maintained with the City 
Surveyors

£0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 16/03/20 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm and City 
Surveyors

R4 (4) Contractual/Part
nership

Project Dependencies:          
The Market building and the 
Rotunda occupancy and 
exact use is unknown at this 
stage of the project

This risk could have an 
impact on scope, budget 
and reputation. Project could 
be significantly delayed.  
Potential uses of the Market 
and the Rotunda could be in 
conflict with aspiration for the 
Public Realm. 

Possible Serious 6 £0.00

Regular meeting are in 
place and good 
communication is 
maintained with Market Co-
location team and 
Consultants. Three team 
design meetings  
scheduled regulary and the 
client for both projects 
meets weekly. KPI's for 
each project are being set.

£0.00 Likely Serious £0.00 8 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm and 
Market 
Consolidation 
Programme

R5 (3) Reputation 

The design is not delivered 
on time to meet with the 
Parliamentary Bill deadline 
and opening of the New 
Musem of London

If the project does not meet 
important deadlines realitng 
to project dependencies it 
could impact on the City of 
London's reputation and 
cause further delays for all 
related major projects

Unlikely Major 8 £0.00

Ensure project programme 
is up to date and there is 
enough contingency within 
the programme. Ensure 
public engagement on the 
concept design is planned 
well in advance.

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm

R6 (9) Environmental

Scope: improvements need 
to be significant enough to 
meet the Healthy Street plan 
and Culture Spine outcomes

The targets in Transport 
Strategy and Culture Mile 
Look and Feel strategy would 
not be met.

Possible Major 12 £0.00

Continued engagement 
with transportation team, 
transportation consultants 
and Culture Mile team as 
part of the design process.

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm, City 
Transportation

R7 (2) Financial 
City of London not able to 
identify funds for the whole 
project 

The project is not able to fulfil 
its objectives Possible Major 12 £0.00

Close working with Major 
Project team and City 
members.

£0.00 Unlikely Major £0.00 8 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm, Town 
Clerk

R8 (3) Reputation 
Conflicting opinions about 
the scope and objectives of 
the project 

The risk could result in lack of 
consistent decision making. 
This could cause change in 
scope and have an impact 
on cost estimation, time and 
reputation.

Possible Serious 6 £0.00

Ensure that good 
communication is 
maintained and members 
are reciving regular project 
updates. Keep Chief 
Officers updated

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £0.00 2 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm, Built 
Environment 
Director

R9 (3) Reputation Residents object to the 
project

The project is not able to fulfil 
its initial objectives. It could 
have an impact on scope 
and delay the project by 
looking for alternative design 
solutions. 

Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00

Residents Representative to 
sit on Stakeholder Working 
Party. Engagement on 
concept design. Initiate 
communication  with 
residents through e-bulletin, 
letters,  public consultation,  
meeting/events. Comms 
Strategy updated regularly.  

£0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm

R10 (3) Reputation 
Negotiations with traders 
causes problems to City 
Public Realm project

The risk could have an 
impact on scope, cost 
estimate, time and 
reputation. Traders objectives 
could cause issues for all 
parties involved in the 
project. 

Possible Major 12 £0.00

Work closely with the MCP 
team who are leading on 
traders engagement. 
Engagement withMarkets 
team to understand traders' 
business needs. 

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm and MCP 
Team

R11 (3) Reputation 
Local businesses object to 
transportation changes and 
proposed design option

The project is not able to fulfil 
its initial objectives. It could 
have an imapct on scope 
and delay the project by 
looking for alternative design 
solutions. 

Possible Serious 6 £0.00

Ensure good 
communication with local 
businesses through surveys, 
e-bulletin, letters,  public 
consultation, and other 
meeting/events and 
regular project updates are 
in place.

£0.00 £0.00 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm

Smithfield Public Realm Medium

General risk classification

12,000,000£                                  

Project Name: 

Unique project identifier: Total estimated cost 
(exc risk): -£                 

Ownership & ActionMitigation actions

Average 
unmitigated risk 

Average mitigated 
risk score

9.0

5.3

-£                 

P
age 286



R12 (4) Contractual/Part
nership

Problem with decision 
making between three large 
separate consultants teams

Lack of clear lines of 
responsiblities and poor 
communication could cause 
project delay in all 
consultants team. This would 
have an impact on budet 
and reputation. 

Possible Major 12 £0.00

Ensure that good 
communication is 
maintained between three 
separate consultants team 
and regular meetings are in 
place.

£0.00 £0.00 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm, MCP 
team, Museum 
of London team

R13 (2) Financial Issues relating to 
appointment of consultants

Delays cause by problems 
with finalising contracts with 
consultants

Unlikely Major 8 £0.00 City procurement practices 
are in place £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 

Clarisse Tavin
City Public 
Realm

R14 (3) Reputation 
Lack of clear and effective 
comunication with LB 
Islington 

Poor communcation with LB 
Islington could impact scope 
of the project and cause 
delay. It would also impact 
project reputation. 

Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00

Ensure that good 
communication is 
maintained with LB Islington 
and regular meetings are in 
place.

£0.00 £0.00 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm

R15 (1) Compliance/Re
gulatory

The Parliamentary Bill for 
Smithfield Market relocation 
not approved

The project is not able to fulfil 
its objectives. Significat 
changes to scope would be 
introduced.

Unlikely Extreme 16 £0.00

MCP team working closely 
with Remembrancers' dept. 
CPR team to contribute 
required design work in a 
timely manner.

£0.00 £0.00 £0.00 Chris Bonner MCP team

R16 (9) Environmental Covid-19 impacts

Due to Covid 19 and the 
impact of this (e.g. social 
distancing measures and 
contractors stopping work), 
certain elements of the 
project are delayed. Could 
particularly impact on 
Stakeholder engagement 
and transport modelling.

Possible Serious 6 £0.00

Reorder project 
programme to concentrate 
on priorities; ensure that 
transport options are set out 
so that one option is not pre
determined prior to 
engagement.

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 Helen Kearney/ 
Clarisse Tavin

City Public 
Realm

R17 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R18 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R19 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R20 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R21 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R22 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R23 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R24 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R25 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R26 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R27 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R28 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R29 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R30 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R31 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R32 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R33 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R34 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R35 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R36 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R37 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R38 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R39 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R40 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R41 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R42 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R43 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R44 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R45 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R46 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R47 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R48 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R49 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R51 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R52 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R53 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R54 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R55 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R56 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R57 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R58 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R59 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R60 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R61 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R62 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R63 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R64 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R65 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R66 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R67 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R68 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R69 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R70 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R71 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R72 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R73 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R74 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R75 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R76 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R77 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R78 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R79 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R80 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R81 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R82 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R83 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R84 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R85 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R86 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R87 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R88 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R89 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R90 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R91 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R92 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R93 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

P
age 287



R94 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R95 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R96 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R97 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R98 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R99 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R100 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

P
age 288



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Issues Log

Issue ID Risk ID 
(where 
previously 
identified)

Category Description of 
the Issue

Issue Impact 
Description

Impact 
Classification

Control actions Date raised Named 
Departmental 
Issue 
Manager/ 
Coordinator 

Issue owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

Dependencies Status Cost to resolve 
[£] on 
completion

Date Closed Comment(s)

I.01 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.02 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.03 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.04 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.05 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.06 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.07 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.08 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.09 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.10 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.11 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.12 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.13 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.14 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.15 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.16 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.17 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.18 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.19 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental
I.20 (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental (9) Environmental

Ownership & ActionGeneral issue classification

Unique project identifier:    
Project Name:    Smithfield Public Realm

  11956

P
age 289



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Dependencie  

A list of any event or work that are either dependent on the result of your project, or your project will depe   

Dependency ID Category Description of 
the 
Dependency

Dependency 
Impact 
Description

Impact 
Classification

D.1
D.2
D.3
D.4
D.5
D.6
D.7
D.8
D.9

D.10
D.11
D.12
D.13
D.14
D.15

General dependency classificatio

Unique project identifier:    
Project Name:    Smithfield Public Realm

  11956

Page 290



      s Log

                     end on. 

Control actions Response type Confidence in 
the estimation

Date raised Dependency 
owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

    on

    
  

Page 291



Dependency 
owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

Action 
dependencies

Status Date Closed Comment(s)
Ownership & Action

Page 292



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Assumptions Lo

A list of any factors that you are assuming to be in place that will contribute to the successful result of your 

Assumption ID Category Description of 
the 
Assumption

Assumption 
Impact 
Description

Impact 
Classification

A.1
A.2
A.3
A.4
A.5
A.6
A.7
A.8
A.9
A.10
A.11
A.12
A.13
A.14
A.15

General assumption classification

Unique project identifier:    
Project Name:    Smithfield Public Realm

  11956

Page 293



       og

                      project.

Control actions Response type Confidence in 
the estimation

Date raised Assumption 
owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

    n

    
  

Page 294



Assumption 
owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

Action 
dependencies

Status Date Closed Comment(s)
Ownership & Action

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 296



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

 

Committees: 
Streets and Walkways Committee [for decision] 
Projects and Procurement Sub [for information] 
 

Dates: 

09 July 2024 
15 July 2024 

 

Subject:  
Museum of London S278  
 
Unique Project Identifier: 
12375 

Gateway 3: 
Outline Options 
Appraisal 
(Complex) 
 

Report of: 

Executive Director Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
James Aggio-Brewe – City Operations 
 

PUBLIC 
 

 

 
 
 

1. Status update Project Description: Highway and public realm improvements 
to ensure the effective and safe operation of the new Museum 
of London development (General Market, Poultry Market, and 
the Annexe building) via Section 278 obligations.  

Taking a programmatic approach with integrated project 
management of both the S278 project for the museum and the 
wider Smithfield Public Realm and Transportation project is the 
best way forward. It is however important to keep reporting on 
these projects separately as the scope of the public realm 
project extends beyond the Museum boundary and beyond the 
lifecycle of the S278 project.     

 

This Report:  

 

The purpose of this report is to:  

1) To provide an update on the work carried out since the 
last Gateway report (G2 Jan 2023); 

2) To provide an update on the next steps and timescales 
for delivery; and 

Page 297

Agenda Item 6



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

3) Seek approval for the necessary level of funding to 
deliver the next steps and get to the next gateway, which 
will either be a G4 or a G4/5.  

 

RAG Status: Amber (Amber at the last committee) 

Risk Status: Medium (Medium at the last committee) 

Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): £3m - £7m 
Estimated total outturn cost  

Change in Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): 
Increase/Decrease of £0m since last report to Committee. 

Spend to Date: £97,578.54 

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: £0  

Funding Source: S278 Contributions 

Slippage: N/A since the last report 

2. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Requested Decisions:  

Members of the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee are 
requested to 

 

• Approve the additional budget of £335k to reach the 
next Gateway funded from S278 contributions (subject 
to receipt of funding); 

• Note the revised project budget of £435k (excluding 
risk); 

• Note the total estimated cost of the project at £3m - £7m 
(excluding risk); 

• Approve a Costed Risk Provision of £50k (to be drawn 
down via delegation to Chief Officer); 

• Delegate authority to the Executive Director 
Environment, in consultation with the Chamberlain, to 
make any adjustments between elements of the 
approved budget, provided the total approved budget of 
£435k (exc. CRP) is not exceeded.  
 

Next Gateway: Gateway 4: Detailed Options Appraisal 

Next Steps:  

• To review revised plans for the Museum of London 
construction programme and the impact of those changes 
around vacant possession of the footways, loading bays, 
highways, and security of the public realm. 

• To work with the Museum of London to establish the 
phasing of the S278 project to align with the opening of 
the General Market (Mid 2026) and the Poultry Market 
(Q1 2028) - including any interim requirements between 

Page 298



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

when the General Market part of the Museum opens and 
the subsequent opening of the Poultry market in 2028. 

• To carry out the necessary surveys and pedestrian 
modelling to ascertain the detail of the changes to the 
highway, pavements, crossings, and lighting.  

• To continue working closely with the Museum of London 
team and key stakeholders, including London Borough of 
Islington and TfL. 

• To work towards the signing of the S278 agreement 
between the Museum of London and the City.  

• It is proposed to submit a G4 or a G4/5 in late 2024 or 
early 2025. This is to align the S278 works needed for the 
General Market opening (phase 1) with their opening date 
of mid-2026. We would expect all relevant work to be 
complete for Phase 1 by March 2026 in preparation for 
the opening date, excluding any work that is not possible 
due to the continued construction of Phase 2. this 
assumes the public highway is available to us to start 
work on time. 

 

3. Resource 
requirements to 
reach next 
Gateway 

 
Funding: S278 Contributions.  The Museum of London have 
been asked for further evaluation and design contributions 
above the £100k previously agreed as part of their 
S106/unilateral agreement. This is in line with other 
developments of this size, and the agreement provides a 
provision for this. This funding request is subject to the receipt 
of funds.  Work will not be able to progress without this funding. 
 

Item Reason Funds/ 
Source of 
Funding 

 Cost (£) 

P&T Staff 
Costs 

Project 
management 

S278 
Contributions 

£75,000 

Consultant 
Costs (fees) 

Pedestrian 
modelling, 
stakeholder 
engagement 
and 
consultation 

S278 
Contributions 

£75,000 

P&T 
Highways 

Design work S278 
Contributions 

£50,000 

Surveys 
(fees) 

Trial Holes, 
ground 
surveys, load 
testing 

S278 
Contributions 

£135,000 

Page 299



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

Total   £335,000 

  
The proposed budget set out above is funds for: 

1) Staff time for a group manager and project manager for 
1.5 days a week on average for 6-8 months. 

2) Staff time for a highways engineer to carry out detailed 
design work.   

3) Fees for consultancy services – to be used on pedestrian 
modelling (£35k), stakeholder engagement (£20k) and 
security assessments (£20k). 

4) Fees for civil engineering surveys such as, but not 
exclusively, trial holes and load tests for lighting as well 
as ground surveys for any hostile vehicle mitigation or 
lighting columns we may use.  Fees for TfL regarding any 
need for a signalised crossing on Charterhouse Street 
and associated works.   

 
 
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: £50k – 
S278 Contributions (as detailed in the Risk Register – 
Appendix 2) 
 

4. Overview of 
project options 

Background:  
4.1 The project was initiated in January 2023 after the 

revised planning application for the new Museum of 
London complex was granted in April 2023. The Design 
and Evaluation funds (£100k) for the S278 were received 
in Summer 2023.  This allowed officers to start work on 
determining the scope of the S278 and to commission 
pedestrian and traffic surveys and start engagement 
activities. The S278 project is to be developed in phases 
to align with the MoL programme: 

4.2 Phase 1 – General Market opening – Mid 2026,  
4.3 Phase 2 – Poultry Market opening 2028.  
4.4 There will be a minimum 18-month interim period 

between when the General Market part of the Museum 
is open to the public and the subsequent opening of the 
Poultry Market area of the museum. 

4.5 Our outline programme is to start work in Q2 2025 on the 
Phase 1 construction. Phase 2 construction will most 
likely begin in Q3 2026, dependent on the programme of 
works for the Museum.  This is subject to the receipt of 
funds being swift and the release of the public highway 
by the developer. 

4.6 A separate project for the transformation for the 
surrounding public realm was initiated in October 2017. 
This aims to provide new public spaces and improved 
environment in West Smithfield in line with the City 
Transport Strategy and the anticipated major increased 
numbers of visitors in the area. A separate report on the 

Page 300



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

Smithfield Public Realm and Transportation scheme is on 
the same agenda.  This is reported on separately to the 
S278 project for the Museum, however, the two projects 
are aligned with design and delivery coordinated where 
appropriate and possible.   

  
Work completed to date: 
Surveys: 

4.7 Pedestrian surveys and traffic surveys were recently 
undertaken, encompassing the whole market area 
(including the streets around the Meat Market). These 
have helped to clarify data on the numbers of people and 
vehicles that were collected pre-pandemic and formed 
part of the application details, with the current situation.  
Numbers of people and vehicles are down approximately 
around 20%. This allows officers to better understand the 
requirement for the new development, with the additional 
expected flows to and from the Museum.    

 
4.8 Further work is likely to be needed to understand the 

interactions of construction vehicles for the museum 
between Phase 1 and Phase 2 and how the Meat Market 
operation continues, with a focus on the morning peak 
and the surrounding street network to inform our own 
construction work programming.  

 
Programme and phasing: 

4.9 The planning application which granted permission in 
2023 was predicated on all facets of the Museum being 
open at the same time (General Market, Poultry Market, 
and Annexe buildings). This is now not the case. 

 
4.10 Delays in the construction of the Poultry Market 

and the Annexe means that now the General Market will 
be open in mid-2026 with the Poultry Market not being 
open until early 2028. Timings for the Annexe needs to 
be confirmed, but the City Surveyor is working with the 
Environment Team on the Marketing & Disposal plan for 
this asset. Alongside this there is the Meat Market move 
from Smithfield to Dagenham Dock in the LB Barking & 
Dagenham, provisionally expected to be completed in 
2028/9. This adds another layer of complexity in terms of 
phasing. The Meat Market must remain operational until 
the move to the co-located site in Dagenham Dock. Post 
move, the re-use of the building is yet to be established, 
so we do not yet know what is required from the 
highways for any future redevelopment, in particular from 
East Poultry Avenue.  

 
4.11 This complicates the S278 scheme (and the wider 

public realm scheme) as part of the Museum will be open 

Page 301



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

whilst there is still construction work ongoing around the 
site. This may alter pedestrian flows around the buildings 
and may require some temporary measures to ensure 
visitors can arrive safely in the meantime.  

 
4.12 There may also need to be a phased approach to 

any security measures on the public highway and 
possible alternative coach parking maybe required in 
that interim period (post Phase 1) whilst the Poultry 
Market construction and fitting out is completed. The 
crossing points on Charterhouse Street and surrounding 
streets, should the detailed modelling indicate that they 
are required, may also be impacted by the interactions of 
these phases and it may not be possible to deliver that 
until the second phase.  

 
Key stakeholders’ engagement: 

4.13 Officers have been actively engaging with the 
Museum of London project and programme team, and 
their partners such as Momentum and Sir Robert 
McAlpine. We have also presented the high-level 
programme to the New Museum of London board as part 
of the Gateway 2 and will continue to regularly present 
progress at these meetings as needed. 

 
 

4.14 Officers are engaging with the London Borough of 
Islington on potential changes required for the S278 
which may be on their highway, as the borough boundary 
runs along Charterhouse Street, and also on their wider 
plans for the area.  

 
4.15 Officers are also engaging with TfL around our 

S278 works and how to coordinate them with any TfL 
S278 works on Farringdon Street.   

 
 
Lighting:  

4.16 Work on location of the street lighting on West 
Smithfield has progressed and we have a good 
understanding of the design constraints meaning that 
catenary lighting will have to be fixed to the Annexe 
building and the Museum. Further detailed design and 
civil engineering will be carried out as part of the next 
stage of detailed work.  Also, an understanding of the 
future programme for the Annexe building and whether 
this will impact the installation of the catenary lighting. 

Conclusion: 
4.17 The work completed to date provides a good 

understanding of the requirements needed for the full 
S278. This includes but is not limited to increases to 

Page 302



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

pavement widths around the site to ensure that the 
pedestrian comfort levels stay within the guidelines of a 
minimum B+ rating. The addition of a crossing on 
Charterhouse St (location tbc) is likely to be required. 
Installation of cycle parking and the requirements to 
facilitate the ramp servicing on West Smithfield, waiting 
and loading changes and associated traffic order 
changes for the coach bays etc.   

 
4.18 The security plan has been agreed with City of 

London Police Counter Terrorism Security Advisors 
team and with the City Planning team. Further discussion 
is still required on the potential use of public highway to 
facilitate security requirements.  

 
 

4.19 Taking all the points stated in this report into 
account, there is an increase in complexity from when 
the S278 project was first initiated.  there are no specific 
design options to choose between at this stage and the 
S278 project is centred around the functional 
requirements to ensure the museum, when it opens (at 
each stage) is safe, accessible, inclusive and 
accommodates the number of visitors it expects.  The 
wider West Smithfield Public Realm scheme will look to 
enhance these areas to provide a more welcoming and 
fitting public realm for a new world class museum.      

 
.  

5. Recommendation 
5.1 It is recommended to proceed on the basis of 

undertaking further technical work and detailed design of 
the full S278 programme and continue to liaise closely 
with the Museum’s project team on their phasing and 
timelines to be able to break up the required S278 works 
into the appropriate phases to meet the developments 
opening timelines.  The S278 project will work in tandem 
with the wider public realm project sharing efficiencies of 
data collection and design.  

5.2 The additional pedestrian modelling, ground surveys/trial 
holes, investigations, and stakeholder engagement will 
allow the City to de-risk the S278 work and its 
subsequent programme reducing the risk of abortive 
work and cost. 

 

5.3 The additional design and evaluation fee is required to 
ensure that the complexity of all of these moving parts is 
well established and coordinated minimising abortive 
work and ensuring that all stakeholders are fully aware 
of the interactions of the various aspects.  It will also pay 
for the detailed design work to determine the estimated 
cost for this S278 and entering into the S278 agreement. 

Page 303



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

 

6. Risk 
6.1 The main risks for the project throughout the lifecycle are 

changes in the Museum’s programme. This would mean 
we couldn’t start work when we needed to. Whilst this is 
more of a Gateway 5 risk it is important to highlight this 
now as one of the key risks facing the project. As stated 
in this report the programme for the annexe buildings and 
for the Poultry Market have already slipped since project 
initiation. Our mitigation for this is early and continued 
engagement with the Museum project/programme team. 
 

6.2 Another key risk for the project is being able to balance 
out the complex stakeholder demands and ensuring that 
all stakeholders are aligned with the project. The 
Museum has statutory obligations as part of their 
agreement with the City for the S278, but there are also 
other stakeholders in the area such as TfL and London 
Borough of Islington who will either have separate S278 
agreements with the museum or will need to be 
consulted around potential changes to highway adjacent 
or impacting their boundaries. 
 

6.3 There is also a risk that the City is delayed in receiving 
funding to carry out these works. A delay of this type will 
risk the ability for the S278 works to be delivered in time 
for the 2026 opening. The mitigation is continued 
engagement with the Museum and clear communication 
on why funding is required.  
 

6.4 At this gateway there could be challenges with ground 
conditions that mean a re-design may be required for 
hard security measures, kerb alignments, and crossing 
points. We intend to mitigate this by undertaking trial 
holes and surveys to establish the conditions and design 
around them. 

 
 
Costed Risk Provision Utilised at Last Gateway: £0  
Change in Costed Risk: + £50k. 
 
Further information available in the Risk Register (Appendix 2)  

7. Procurement 
approach 

7.1 The procurement approach for any appointment or work 
will be completed in consultation with the City 
Procurement Team following the standard procurement 
approach for the value of work. 

 
7.2 Physical work is intended to be carried out by the City 

Term contractor FM Conway. 

 
Appendices 
 

Page 304



 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

Appendix 1 Project Coversheet 

Appendix 2 Risk Register  

Appendix 3 Finance Table 

Appendix 4 Site plan and Phasing Plan 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author James Aggio-Brewe 

Email Address James.aggio-brewe@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 305

mailto:James.aggio-brewe@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 
 

Version 2 – March 2019 

 

P
age 306



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 

UPI: 12375 
Core Project Name: Museum of London S278 
Programme Affiliation (if applicable):  
Project Manager:  James Aggio-Brewe 
Definition of need: To carry out the S278 for the Museum of London development. 
Highways and footway changes to create a safe, functional environment for the 
ongoing operation of the Museum, discharging our duty as the highway authority.  
Key measures of success:  

1) Scope clearly defined for the S278 and agreed between the Museum and 
the City of London. 

2) To provide a safe, and functional environment for the new Museum of 
London to operate effectively. 
 

Expected timeframe for the project delivery: Phase 1 completed for Mar 2026, 
Phase 2 completed for early 2028 

 
Key Milestones:  
G4/5 – Q4 2024/Q1 2025 

Start Phase 1 construction: Mar 2025 
Phase 1 construction complete: Mar 2026 
Start Phase 2 construction: June 2026 
Phase 2 construction complete: Jan 2028  
 
Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery? Y 
 

Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing?  
The museum development is a high-profile piece of work, and whilst this forms a small part 
of it we do need to make sure all stakeholders are aligned in terms of messaging to the 
public.  
  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 

Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes:  
 

‘Project Briefing’ G1 report (as approved by Chief Officer xx/yy/zz):  

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk):  

• Costed Risk Against the Project: 

• Estimated Programme Dates: 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 

‘Project Proposal’ G2 report (as approved by PSC 17/01/23): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £5m-£10m 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £100k 

• Spend to date: N/A 

Page 307



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: £0 

• CRP Requested: £0 

• CRP Drawn Down: £0 

• Estimated Programme Dates: Q4 2025 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 

 ‘Options Appraisal and Design’ G3-4 report (as approved by PSC xx/yy/zz): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk 

• Spend to date:  
• Costed Risk Against the Project: 

• CRP Requested:  

• CRP Drawn Down:  

• Estimated Programme Dates: 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 

‘Authority to start Work’ G5 report (as approved by PSC xx/yy/zz): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk):  

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk 

• Spend to date:  
• Costed Risk Against the Project: 

• CRP Requested:  

• CRP Drawn Down:  

• Estimated Programme Dates: 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 

 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]: 
Programme Affiliation [£]:  
 

 
 

 
 

Page 308



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 

risk rating: 
CRP requested 

this gateway

Open Risks
6

12375
Total CRP used to 

date

Closed Risks
0

Risk 

ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 

Classificatio

n pre-

mitigation

Impact 

Classificatio

n pre-

mitigation

Risk 

score

Costed impact pre-

mitigation (£)

Costed Risk Provision 

requested 

Y/N

Confidence in the 

estimation

Mitigating actions Mitigation 

cost (£)

Likelihood 

Classificati

on post-

mitigation

Impact 

Classificat

ion post-

mitigation

Costed 

impact post-

mitigation (£)

Post-

Mitiga

tion 

risk 

score

CRP used 

to date

Use of CRP Date 

raised

Named 

Departmental 

Risk 

Manager/ 

Coordinator 

Risk owner   

(Named 

Officer or 

External Party)

Date 

Closed 

OR/ 

Realised & 

moved to 

Issues

Comment(s)

R1 3 (10) Physical

Further Delays to the 

construction of the General 

or Poultry Market

This will result in delays in CoL 

receiving possession of the 

footways and highways and 

therefore delay the 

implementation of the S278

Possible Major 12 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident

Regardless of if this happens 

for this gateway the work 

being carried out won't be 

affected by this. 

£0.00 Possible Major £0.00 12 £0.00 N 05-Apr Ian Hughes
James Aggio-

Brewe

R2 3 (10) Physical

Ground investigations/trial 

holes uncover issues for 

lighting columns or bollards

Any issues will need to be 

mitigated by re-design or 

further trial holes which will 

increase the cost

Possible Serious 6 £25,000.00
Y - for costed impact 

post-mitigation
B – Fairly Confident

This can't really be 

mitigated we would have 

to accept the cost post-

mitigation

£0.00 Possible Serious £25,000.00 6 £0.00 05/04/2024 Ian Hughes
James Aggio-

Brewe

R3 3 (2) Financial 

Delays in receiving the 

funding from the Museum as 

we had at Gateway 2

If the funding is not provided 

by the Museum promptly 

then the S278 work will slip

Possible Major 12 £0.00 N C – Uncomfortable
Early engagement with the 

Museum
£0.00 Unlikely Serious £0.00 4 £0.00 05-Apr Ian Hughes

James Aggio-

Brewe

R4 3
(1) Compliance/Re

gulatory

Finding a way to provide the 

MoL with a waiting area for 

their delivery bay on West 

Smithfield

At the moment we have no 

mechanism to provide this on 

a permanent basis, so we 

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident

This will only really cost 

extra staff time and with 

good planning this can be 

mitigated within existing 

budget

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 05-Apr Ian Hughes
James Aggio-

Brewe

R5 3
(4) Contractual/Part

nership

Engagement from the 

Museum around the S278

There will be parts of the work 

at this gateway where CoL 

and MoL will have to work 

collaboratively. This has been 

challenging so far and should 

this continue we will be 

delayed in completing the 

detailed design

Likely Serious 8 £25,000.00
Y - for costed impact 

post-mitigation
B – Fairly Confident

Whilst CoL can and has 

made every attempt to 

improve this, ultimately we 

cannot mitigate this issue 

fully however we can 

improve communication 

and plan in regular sessions 

with the Museum

£0.00 Possible Serious £25,000.00 6 £0.00 05-Apr Ian Hughes
James Aggio-

Brewe

R6 5 (10) Physical

Unexpected road closures 

due to utility works or urgent 

construction 

Should this occur during a 

period of surveys or during 

MoL construction this may 

delay the project 

Possible Major 12 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident

Regular engagment with 

the Highways team will 

help to mitigate this but 

ultimately utilities can do as 

they please from a 

legislative perspective 

£0.00 Possible Major £0.00 12 £0.00 05-Apr Ian Hughes
James Aggio-

Brewe

R7 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R8 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R9 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R10 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R11 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R12 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R13 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R14 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R15 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R16 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R17 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R18 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R19 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R20 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R21 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R22 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R23 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R24 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R25 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R26 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R27 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R28 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R29 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R30 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R31 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R32 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R33 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R34 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R35 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R36 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R37 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R38 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R39 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R40 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R41 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R42 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R43 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R44 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R45 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R46 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R47 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R48 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R49 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R51 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R52 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R53 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R54 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R55 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R56 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R57 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R58 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R59 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R60 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R61 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R62 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R63 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R64 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

-£                 

Ownership & ActionMitigation actions

Average 

unmitigated risk 

scoreAverage mitigated 

risk score

9.3

7.7

50,000£           Museum of London S278 Medium

General risk classification

5,000,000£                                    

Project Name: 

Unique project identifier: 
Total estimated cost 

(exc risk):

P
age 309



R65 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R66 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R67 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R68 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R69 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R70 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R71 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R72 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R73 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R74 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R75 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R76 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R77 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R78 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R79 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R80 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R81 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R82 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R83 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R84 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R85 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R86 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R87 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R88 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R89 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R90 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R91 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R92 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R93 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R94 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R95 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R96 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R97 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R98 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R99 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R100 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

P
age 310



Description 
Approved Budget 

(£) 
Expenditure (£)  Balance (£) 

Env Servs Staff Costs  2,100                     1,725                     375                         

P&T Staff Costs 37,900                   44,896                   (6,996)

P&T Fees  60,000                   50,957                   9,043                     

TOTAL  100,000                 97,578                   2,422                     

Description 
Approved Budget 

(£) 

Resources 

Required (£) 

Revised Budget 

(£) 

Env Servs Staff Costs  2,100                     50,000                   52,100                   

P&T Staff Costs  37,900                   75,000                   112,900                 

P&T Fees  60,000                   210,000                 270,000                 

Costed Risk Provision  -                          50,000                   50,000                   

TOTAL  100,000                 385,000                 485,000                 

Funding Source 
Current Funding 

Allocation (£) 

Funding 

Adjustments (£) 

Revised Funding 

Allocation (£) 

S278  100,000                 385,000                 485,000                 

Total Funding Drawdown  100,000                 385,000                 485,000                 

Table 1: Spend to date - 16800489: Museum of London S278

Table 2: Resources Required to reach the next Gateway 

Table 3: Revised Funding Allocation 

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 312



Appendix 4: Implementation Phasing by Area:  

Annexe Building - 

TBC 

Page 313



  

 

Annexe Building - 

TBC 

Page 314



 

Committees: Dates: 

Streets & Walkways Sub – for decision 
Natural Environment Board – for decision  
Projects & Procurement Sub – for Information 
 

09 July 2024 
11 July 2024 
23 September 
2024 

Subject:  
Finsbury Circus Access Improvements 
 
Unique Project Identifier: 12455  

Gateway 2-5 
Authority to 
Start Work 
Light 

Report of: 
Executive Director, Environment 
Report Author:  
Clive Whittle 

For Decision 

PUBLIC 
 
 
Recommendations 
 

I. Approval track, 
next steps and 
requested 
decisions 

Project Description: 

In line with the Liverpool Street Area Healthy Streets Plan, this 
project seeks to implement accessibility improvements and to 
rearrange parking to enable improvements and to accommodate 
micromobility (dockless cycles and e-scooter hire) parking. 

The proposals include creating accessible crossing areas at the 
entrances to Finsbury Circus Gardens by raising the 
carriageway and by creating new and widening existing 
pavements. Kerbside parking provision has been 
comprehensively reviewed and will be amended to enable these 
improvements and to accommodate micromobility parking. This 
parking will serve both visitors to the gardens and surrounding 
buildings and people travelling to and from Liverpool Street and 
Moorgate stations.  

This project is subject to the approval of the Liverpool Street 
Area Healthy Streets Plan (HSP) by the Planning and 
Transportation Committee in July, therefore no Gateway 1 
Project Briefing is necessary as this project will follow on as part 
of that approval.   

 

Next Gateway:  Gateway 6 Outcome Report 

 

Next Steps:  

• Complete detailed design and cost estimate. 

Page 315

Agenda Item 7



• Commence legal processes and consultation required to 
install the raised carriageways and amend parking bays 
and the waiting and loading restrictions.  

Requested Decisions:  

Subject to the July 2024 Planning & Transportation 
Committee’s approval of the Liverpool Street Area HSP; 
 

For Streets & Walkways Sub Committee 

1. Agree to the proposal as detailed in Section 6, and to note 
that the making of the necessary traffic orders, subject to 
no objections, or the resolution and consideration of any 
objections arising from the statutory processes, is 
delegated to the Director of City Operations under the 
Scheme of Delegation. 

2. That a budget of £556,000 is approved to reach the next 
Gateway, to be funded from the Liverpool Street Crossrail 
Urban Integration project (Phase 2). 

3. Note the total estimated cost of the project at £556,000 
(excluding risk). 

4. That a Costed Risk Provision of £304,000 is approved (to 
be drawn down via delegation to Chief Officer). 

5. Delegate to the Executive Director Environment authority 
and in consultation with the Chamberlain to approve 
budget adjustments between budget lines and within the 
approved total project budget, above the existing 
authority within the project procedures.  
 

For Natural Environment Board 

6. Agree to the proposed changes to the pathways at the 
entrances inside Finsbury Circus Gardens, to align with 
the adjacent highway measures shown on the plan in 
Appendix 2. 

 
 

2. Budget 
 

Item Reason Funds/ 
Source of 
Funding 

 Cost (£) 

Staff Costs 
(P&T) 

Project 
management  

S106 £15,000 

Staff Costs 
(Highways) 

Completion of 
detailed design   

S106 £20,000 

Staff Costs 
(Highways) 

works 
supervision 

S106 £35,000 

Page 316



and 
coordination 

Fees Topographical 
and radar 
surveys: site 
investigations  

S106 £36,000 

Fees Traffic 
Management 
Orders and 
Public Notices 

S106 £12,000 

Works 
Utilities 

Works by utility 
companies 

S106 £50,000 

Works Construction of 
raised 
carriageways, 
footways, 
tactile paving, 
drainage, road 
markings, and 
signage  

S106 £370,0000 

Maintenance Provision for 
maintenance 
works for 20 
years 

S106 £18,000 

Total   £556,000 

  
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: £304,000 
to be funded from S106 (as detailed in the Risk Register – 
Appendix 5).  
 
The total cost of the project has been estimated at an early stage 
and can deviate significantly. Therefore, the majority of the 
costed risk provisions requested is to cover the higher end of 
estimated cost range to ensure there is sufficient budget for the 
project.  

3. Governance 
arrangements 

a.  Service Committee: Streets & Walkways Sub-
 Committee 

b.  Natural Environment Board (for works inside the 
 Gardens to tie in with levels on the public 
 highway) 

c.  Name of Senior Responsible Officer: Bruce 
 McVean, Assistant Director. 

Page 317



Due to the limited scope of this project, a project board is 
not considered necessary. All other decisions concerning 
this project are delegated to the Chief Officer. 

4. Progress 
reporting 

Although this is a relatively high-cost project, the proposals and 
risks are minor and of a routine nature. No progress report would 
be necessary. Any project changes will be sought by exception 
via an Issues Report to the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee, 
Natural Environment Board or delegated to the Chief Officer as 
appropriate. 

 
 
Project Summary 
 

5. Context The Liverpool Street Area Healthy Streets Plan (HSP) covers 
the area bounded by Bishopsgate to the east, Moorgate to the 
west, London Wall-Wormwood Street to the south, and the City 
of London boundary with the London Boroughs of Islington and 
Hackney at northern edge. 

The plan provides a framework for improvements to the streets 
and spaces within the HSP area. It was approved by the Streets 
& Walkways Sub Committee in May and is due to be considered 
for adoption by the Planning & Transportation Committee in July 
2024. For Finsbury Circus, the plan includes exploring 
opportunities to: 

• Create new and improved public realm around entrances 
to the gardens and provide accessible crossings points to 
access these.  

• Reduce and break up car and motorcycle parking around 
the gardens with greening and seating, reallocate some 
bays to cycle parking and dockless cycle and scooter 
bays (micromobility).  

• Relandscape the western arm, introducing climate 
resilience measures, seating, and planting.  

• Improve the public realm on the eastern arm of Finsbury 
Circus and provide a space for cycle parking and 
micromobility bays.  

Works are currently being carried out in Finsbury Circus 
Gardens to transform it into a tranquil and beautiful environment 
following its occupation by Crossrail. This is due for completion 
later in 2024. Works are also due to commence in the next few 
weeks to relandscape the western arm, with completion also 
expected by the end of 2024. Additionally, routine resurfacing 
works was programmed for Finsbury Circus but in light of this 
project, this has been deferred until February 2025. 

Proposals, in line with the HSP for the rest of the Circus have 
now been developed and are being advanced at pace to co-
ordinate, as far as practical, with the above activities. This would 

Page 318



achieve a greater level of improvements, reduce disruption and 
save on abortive works and costs.  

6. Brief 
description of 
project  

The main proposals include: 

i. Raising of the carriageway at five locations, four of which 
are at the entrances to the garden and the other at the 
eastern end by its junction with Blomfield Street. This will 
improve accessibility by providing levelled-crossing 
points for people walking or wheeling at the key locations. 
The raised carriageways will also reduce traffic speeds 
which should create a safer, calmer and more pleasant 
environment.  
  

ii. New pavements and widening of existing pavements at 
locations where most people will be crossing. This will 
provide space for people waiting, improve visibility and 
access. In conjunction with i. above, it would also improve 
the public realm around and visibility of the garden. 
 

iii. Minor works to raise / adjust the footpath levels inside the 
entrances to the gardens, with alterations to the gates 
and drainage, to join on to the new and widened 
pavements and raised carriageways. This will ensure a 
step free continuation of the levelled crossing points from 
the carriageway and pavements into the gardens.    
 

iv. Parking around the Circus will be re-arranged to 
accommodate the measures detailed above (points i and 
ii), and to provide new and increased provisions for 
micromobility parking. This will necessitate reductions in 
other parking provisions and will be apportioned to reflect 
the various factors including alignment with the Transport 
Strategy. There is no reduction in pay & display bays. 
Further details of the existing and proposed kerbside 
provisions and considerations can be found in Appendix 
4. 
 

v. Changes to the waiting and loading restrictions including 
new “at any time’ waiting and loading restrictions at all the 
raised carriageway locations to keep the junction and 
crossing areas clear of parked vehicles to reduce 
obstruction. 
 

A plan of the existing and proposed layout can be found 
appendix 2 and 3. 

This project is being advanced at pace primarily to co-ordinate, 
as much as possible, with the works at the Gardens, the public 
realm works on the western arm and the resurfacing works, to 
maximise the benefits including reduction in disruption and save 

Page 319



on abortive works and costs, but it is noted that these projects 
and activities are well advanced.   

An Equalities Analysis (EA) Test of Relevance has been carried 
out on the proposals which has identified that a full EA is not 
necessary. 

7. Consequences 
if project not 
approved 

1. Accessibility to the Gardens and at key crossing locations 
would remain sub-optimal. Step free/levelled crossing 
surfaces are ideal for inclusive mobility. 
 

2. The opportunity would be missed to make the garden 
entrances more visible and attractive. 
 

3. Safety would not be improved. Parking close to crossing 
areas can hinder visibility, and crossing distances would 
remain excessively wide. Traffic speeds would remain 
unchanged as there are no speed reduction deterrents. 
 

4. The haphazard kerbside arrangements in the Circus 
won’t be improved. Parking and kerbside use would 
continue as they are which does not make the best use 
of space available or meet demand in micromobility 
parking. Although this could be progressed 
independently, that approach is not optimal or holistic. 
 

5. The opportunity to co-ordinate with the garden and the 
western arm public realm projects and the resurfacing 
works would be missed. 

8. SMART project 
objectives 

The success criteria are as follows: 

• The streets and accesses to the garden are accessible 
and free from obstruction. 

• The accesses to the garden are more visible, attractive 
and inviting.  

• Crossing distances are shorter and easier for people 
walking and wheeling. 

• Adequate parking provisions are provided for 
micromobility users, to accommodate increasing 
demand. Parking for other essential users is retained. 

• The project is advanced at pace to coordinate with works 
in the garden, the western arm and the resurfacing works 
which will reduce disruption and save on abortive works 
and costs. 

9. Key Benefits • Improved public realm, accessibility and visibility to 
Finsbury Circus Gardens. 

• Improved safety, shorter and easier crossing areas for 
people walking and wheeling, and a calmer and more 
pleasant environment.  

Page 320



• Parking reapportioned to create provisions for 
micromobility users which in turn reduces the impact of 
these vehicles left outside of designated bays. 

10. Project 
category 

4a. Fully reimbursable 

11. Project priority B. Advisable 

12. Notable 
exclusions 

None 

 
Options Appraisal 
 

13. Overview of 
options 

 

The scope of this project is defined by the Liverpool Street Area 
HSP. Therefore, only one option has been taken forward. 
However, variations to the option have been considered. These 
include raising the entire carriageway or more sections of the 
carriageway being raised, seating, greening and construction in 
different materials such as in granite setts are all possible but 
would not be cost effective and require more time to progress so 
it would not be possible to co-ordinate with the existing 
projects/planned resurfacing works.  
 
Variations to the positioning and apportionment of parking bays 
has also been considered but the option proposed is considered 
the most optimal as it aligns closest to the Transport Strategy, 
retains space for essential parking, servicing and enables new 
provisions to meet demand for micromobility parking, including 
for people accessing Liverpool Street and Moorgate stations. 
 

14. Risk Overall project risk: Low  

The estimated cost of the project has been provided at an early 
stage and may deviate significantly. To mitigate against this risk, 
an appropriate sum has been included in the Costed Risk 
Provisions. Furthermore, should additional budget be 
necessary, minor alterations to the proposals could be explored 
or an increase in the budget (from available funds) would be 
requested.   
 
Traffic Implications 

The City is under a duty to “secure the expeditious, convenient 
and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including 
pedestrians)” so far as practicable (S.122 Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984). Traffic impact during construction will be 
minimised as far as possible but will require some pavement and 
lane closures to enable the works to be undertaken. 

 
Legal Implications 

Page 321



Statutory processes will be followed to undertake the Traffic 
Management Order changes for the rearranged parking and 
waiting and loading restrictions, and for the public notices for the 
raised carriageways.  

Once the consultation has closed officers will need to consider 
whether a public inquiry should be held and must consider all 
objections duly made and not withdrawn, although it may be 
possible to manage this through dialogue with the objector or 
through minor amendments that do not affect the overall project. 
Consideration or resolution of any objections to the advertising 
of Traffic Orders before making them is delegated to the Director 
of City Operations under the scheme of delegation. 

There could be objections to the proposals, especially in relation 
to the reduction in motorcycle parking provisions. However, 
surveys carried out by officers, have shown that with the existing 
motorcycle spaces currently available (51 meters suspended 
since January 2024 for the Garden works), which is a similar 
amount proposed, spaces were still available. Should demand 
exceed the proposed on-street provisions, users can park in the 
London Wall car park, which is just a short walk to Finsbury 
Circus, free of charge. 
 
Further information is available within the Risk Register 
(Appendix 5).  

 

Resource Implications 
 

15. Total estimated 
cost  

For recommended option  

Total estimated cost (excluding risk): £556,000.   

Total estimated cost (including risk): £860,000 

16. Funding 
strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Is the funding confirmed: 

All funding fully guaranteed 

Who is providing funding: 

External - Funded wholly by 
contributions from external 
third parties 

Recommended option 

Funds/Sources of Funding 
Cost (£) 

Liverpool Street Crossrail Phase 2 S106 
£860,000 

 
 

 
 

Total 
£860,000 

The Liverpool Street Area HSP identified a variety of funding 
sources that could be used. The Liverpool Street Crossrail 

Page 322



 

 

Phase 2 S106 (with £1.64M available) is considered the most 
appropriate and suitable funding to be used for this project.  

 

 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Project Cover Sheet 

Appendix 2 Plan of proposal  

Appendix 3 Plan of Existing Layout 

Appendix 4 Table of changes to parking places 

Appendix 5 Risk Register 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Clive Whittle 

Email Address Clive.whittle@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 07706000265 

 
 
  

Page 323



Options appraisal table.  
 

 
Option 1 

1. Design Summary The project aims to create accessible crossing 
areas at the entrances to Finsbury Circus Gardens 
by raising the carriageway and by creating new 
and widening existing pavements. Kerbside 
parking provision has been comprehensively 
reviewed and will be amended to enable these 
improvements and to accommodate micromobility 
parking. This parking will serve both visitors to the 
gardens and surrounding buildings and people 
travelling to and from Liverpool Street and 
Moorgate stations.  

2. Scope and 
exclusions 

• Installing raised carriageways on Finsbury 
Circus 

• Reallocated parking and changes to waiting 
and loading restrictions 

• Installing new and widened pavements  

• Raising gates and paths, and alterations to 
drainage inside the gardens at the entrance 
points  

Project Planning  

3. Programme and 
key dates  

It is anticipated that construction would start around 
November 2024 for a duration of four months. 

There will be coordination with: 

The City of London Policy and Projects, and 
Highways teams for the improvement works on the 
western arm of Finsbury Circus, from August 2024 

City of London City Gardens and City Surveyor’s for 
the improvement works in Finsbury Circus Gardens, 
currently underway, with completion due in 
November 2024. 

4. Delivery Team City of London Policy and Projects, and Highways 
teams 

5. Risk implications 
Overall project option risk: Low 
 
The main risks are set out in the report, which are: 
 

Project costs increase due to issues identified with 
utilities apparatus during detailed design stage, which 
could increase costs and cause delays. 
 
Objections resulting from objections to the TMOs for 
changes to parking arrangements and to the Public 

Page 324



 
Option 1 

Notices for the raised carriageways. This could cause 
delays and increase costs to address or overrule. 
 
Project costs increase due to unforeseen issues that 
the arise during the detailed design. 

Further information available within the Risk Register 
(Appendix 5). 

6. Benefits  • Improved accessibility 

• Improved safety 

• Improved public realm 

• More visible entrances to the gardens 

• Increased micromobility parking 

7. Disbenefits Reduced motorcycle parking 

8. Stakeholders and 
consultees  

1.  City Gardens 

2.  Access team 

3.  Statutory Traffic Management Order consultees, 
including the emergency services, disability, 
cyclist and motorcycle rider organisations. 

An EA test of relevance has been undertaken. This 
indicates a full EA is not required. 

Resource 
Implications 

 

9. Total estimated 
cost  

Total estimated cost (excluding risk):  £556,000 
(moderately confident) 

Total estimated cost: £860,000 (including risk):  

10. Funding strategy This is to be fully funded from the Liverpool Street 
Crossrail Phase 2 S106 budget, and is fully 
affordable. 

11. Estimated capital 
value/return  

N/A 

12. Ongoing revenue 
implications  

None 

13. Investment 
appraisal  

None. Only one visible option is available.  

 

14. Affordability  Fully affordable  

15. Procurement 
strategy/route to 
market 

This work will be carried out using the Highways 
Term Contractor, with an agreed schedule of rates.  

Page 325



 
Option 1 

Minor work within the gardens may be procured 
using City Gardens contractors. 

16. Legal 
implications  

Statutory consultation is necessary for public 
notices for the introduction of raised carriageways, 
and for traffic orders for the introduction, relocation 
and removal of parking bays, and for changes to 
waiting and loading restrictions. Once the 
consultation has closed officers will need to 
consider whether a public inquiry should be held 
and must consider all objections duly made and not 
withdrawn, although it may be possible to manage 
this through dialogue with the objector or through 
minor amendments that do not affect the overall 
project. Consideration or resolution of any 
objections to the advertising of Traffic Orders before 
making them is delegated to the Director of City 
Operations under the scheme of delegation.  

17. Corporate 
property 
implications  

None.  

 

18. Traffic 
implications 

The City is under a duty to “secure the expeditious, 
convenient and safe movement of vehicular and 
other traffic (including pedestrians)” so far as 
practicable (S.122 Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984). Traffic impact during construction will be 
minimised as far as possible but will require some 
pavement and lane closures to enable the works to 
be undertaken. 

There will be a reduction in space for motorcycle 
parking, however, this will be about the same space 
that has been lost for the past few months for 
suspensions while works are taking place in the 
gardens. There is still a significant amount of space 
available, and many users will have found alternative 
parking or made other travel arrangements. There is 
also spare capacity available nearby in London Wall 
carpark. 

There will also be a reduction in disabled parking bays 
from 10 to 9, however, surveys have shown there is 
an oversupply of these bays in Finsbury Circus. 

19. Sustainability 
and energy 
implications  

None.  

 

20. IS implications  None.  

Page 326



 
Option 1 

 

21. Equality Impact 
Assessment 

• An equality impact assessment will not be 
undertaken. The project will deliver a more 
accessible environment, and an EA test of 
relevance has been undertaken, which indicates 
a full EA is not required. 

22. Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

• N/A. The risk to personal data is less than high 
or non-applicable and a data protection impact 
assessment will not be undertaken 

23. Recommendation Recommended 

 
 
 

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 328



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 
 

Project Coversheet          Appendix 1 
[1] Ownership & Status 
UPI:12455 
Core Project Name: Finsbury Circus Access Improvements  
Programme Affiliation: N/A  
Project Manager: Clive Whittle 
Definition of need: 
To implement improvements on Finsbury Circus as part of the Liverpool Street Area 
Healthy Streets Plan. The proposals include creating new and improved public realm 
around entrances to Finsbury Circus Gardens with raised carriageways and new 
and wider pavements to form accessible and safer crossing points, which will also 
improve safety by reducing vehicle speeds. Parking around the Circus will also be 
re-arranged to maximise kerbside use and will be apportioned to reflect the 
Transport Strategy, which includes new provisions for micromobility parking. There 
will be no reduction in pay & display parking bays. 
Key measures of success: 

• The streets and accesses to the garden are accessible and free from 
obstruction. 

• The accesses to the garden are more visible, attractive and inviting.  
• Road crossing distances are shorter and easier for people walking and 

wheeling. 
• Adequate parking provisions are provided for micromobility users. Parking for 

other essential users is retained. 
• The project is advanced at pace to coordinate with works in the garden, the 

western arm and the resurfacing works which will reduce disruption and save 
on abortive works and costs. 

 
Expected timeframe for the project delivery: July 2024 – Mid 2025 
Key Milestones:  
Gateway 2-5 July 2024 
Detailed design completed October 2024 
Construction substantially complete mid 2025 
Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery? Y 
Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing? No  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 
Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes:  
 
‘Project Briefing’ G1 report (as approved by Chief Officer 21/06/2024:  

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £556,000 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: £304,000 
• Estimated Programme Dates: July 2024 to Mid 2025 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 
None 

Page 329



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 
 

‘Project Proposal’ G2 report (N/A): 
• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £556,000 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £556,000 
• Spend to date: 0 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: £304,000 
• CRP Requested: £304,000 
• CRP Drawn Down: 0 
• Estimated Programme Dates: G2/3/4/5 July 2024 – Mid 2025 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact:  
None 
 ‘Options Appraisal and Design’ G3-4 report (as approved by PSC) N/A: 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £556,000 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £556,000 
• Spend to date: 0 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: £304,000 
• CRP Requested: £304,000 
• CRP Drawn Down: 0 
• Estimated Programme Dates: G2/3/4/5 July 2024, Completion of works, 

Mid 2025 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 
None 
‘Authority to start Work’ G5 report (as approved by PSC) N/A: 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £556,000 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk £556,000 
• Spend to date: £0 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: £304,000 
• CRP Requested: £304,000 
• CRP Drawn Down: 0 
• Estimated Programme Dates: G2/3/4/5 July 2024, Completion of works, 

Mid 2025 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact:  
None 

 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]18,000 Commuted 
maintenance (included above)  

 
 

 
 

Page 330



15

8

Liverpool
New

Finsbury House

1

18 to 20

23 to 25

53

2

Park House

1 to 5

P
la

ce

18

Bandstand

London Wall Buildings

46

16

Broad

114

465

28
 to

 3
1

1

Salisbury House

Bank

olitan
sity

45 to 50
6

16

15

Britannic House

Stre
eton

House

Ward Bdy

BL
O

M
FI

EL
D

 S
TR

EE
T

LB

Station
Cycle Hire

TCB

TCB

12.5m

12.5m

                              Key

Disabled persons' bay

Motorcycle bay

Doctors' bay

Dockless bay

"At any time" waiting &
loading restrictions

Pedal cycle stands

Pay & Display bay Loading bay

Existing loading restrictions
to be revoked

Appendix 2

P
age 331



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 332



15

8

Liverpool
New

Finsbury House

31
 to

 3
4

1

18 to 20

26 to 28

23 to 25

53

2

Park House

1 to 5

P
la

ce

19

20

18

Bandstand

London Wall Buildings

46

Bank

16

Broad

114

465

28
 to

 3
1

1

Salisbury House

Bank

tan
ty

45 to 50

6
16

15

Britannic House

Stre
et

House

Postern
(site of)

Ward Bdy

BL
O

M
FI

EL
D

 S
T

BL
O

M
FI

EL
D

 S
TR

EE
T

C
IR

C
U

S
 P

LA
C

E

LB

Station
Cycle Hire

TCB

TCB

12.5m

12.5m

31
 to

 3
4

S

BL
O

M
FI

EL
D

 S
T

1

Key

Pay & Display bay

Pay & Display bay suspended

Disabled persons' bay

Motorcycle bay

Motorcycle bay suspended

Doctors' bay

E-Scooter/pedal cycle bay

Loading bay

"At any time" waiting
restrictions

Day-time waiting restrictions

At any time loading
restrictions

Dockless / pedal cycle bay 

P
age 333



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 334



 

Existing and proposed kerbside provisions and considerations  Appendix 4 

   
 

 
Table 1: Comparison between Existing (without suspensions) and Proposed kerbside provisions. 
 

Kerbside use Existing  Proposed  

Pay & Display 64 64 

Disabled bays 10  9 

Doctors' bays 2  2  

Loading bays (spaces) Up to 6 Up to 6 

Motorcycle bays 139m (approx. 174 spaces)  86m (approx. 107 spaces)  

E-Scooter / dockless cycle bays 5m 41m 

Bus Stand  41m 21m 

Cycle stands 5 26 

 
 
Table 2: Summary of Kerbside survey  
 

Kerbside Use Existing 
capacity 

Mon 
03/06 
09:15  

Mon 
03/06 
11:00  

Thu 
06/06  
09:30 

Tue 
11/06 
09.30 

Thu 
13/06 
09:30 

Thu 
13/06 
12.00 
noon  

Av. 
parked  

Max.  
parked 

Pay & Display1 46 48 48 50 49 48 48 49 50 

Disabled bays 10  1 2 4 1 4 2 2 4 

Doctors' bays 2  0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 

Loading bays 
(spaces) 

Up to 6 2 0 2 3 3 2 2 3 

Motorcycle bays2 110 (88m)  94 99 105 101 102 103 101 105 

E-Scooter / pedal 
cycle bays3 

10m  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Bus Stand  41m 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 

Parking on yellow 
lines 

Not 
measured 

7 6 4 11 10 3 7 11 

Cycle stands 5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 
1Only 46 Pay & Display bays in use as 18 are currently suspended for works in the Garden. Where parking 
numbers exceed 46, the excess are parked in the suspended bays.  
 
2Only (up to) 110 spaces (88 meters) of motorcycle parking are in use as 64 spaces (51 meters) are currently 
suspended for works in the Garden. 
 
3E-Scooter and cycle parking bays were suspended and barriered off  
 
 
 

Page 335



 

Existing and proposed kerbside provisions and considerations  Appendix 4 

   
 

 
 
Survey observations and considerations: 

 
 All Pay & Display bays were at or exceeded the available capacity (46 in total) leading to some drivers 

parking in suspended bays and, a large proportion, on yellow line restrictions. The existing number of 
Pay & Display bays is therefore retained which, based on the occupancy surveys, meets current 
demand, and has resilience for additional vehicles. 
 

 The majority of users were small to medium size vans such as the Ford Tansits Custom or Connect, 
making up to at least 95% of the motor vehicle composition (excluding motorcycles) in Finsbury Circus. 

 
 Demand for motorcycle parking was at or near capacity with a few spaces remaining. This is despite the 

suspension of 64 spaces (51 meters).  Motorcycle parking tend to be “long stay” and provide no 
opportunity for multiple users of the same space and thus is a less efficient use of the kerbside space 
than other modes. The number of motorcycle parking is to be reduced from 174 spaces (139 meters) to 
107 spaces (86 meters), which is similar to what is available on street now. If more parking spaces are 
needed, the London Wall Car Park has spare capacity and is only a short distance walk to Finsbury 
Circus. 

 
 The Bus Stand was not seen to be used by buses, but TfL has requested that this facility is retained. It 

should also be noted that the original length of the Bus Stand was much shorted (in the region of 25 
meters) but extended over time to accommodate works including to the Liverpool Street Station, which 
affected the bus station. It is proposed to retain the Bus Stand but reduced to 21 meters long. 

 
 There is an over-provision of Disabled Persons Parking bays, with a maximum of four vehicles observed 

using them. However, recent City-wide surveys of disabled parking places indicated that there is a lack 
of these provisions overall. Therefore, it is proposed to retain 9 of these bays, which should provide 
capacity to accommodate future needs.    

 
 Parking for micromobility users such as pedal cycles, E-Cycles and E-Scooters is an important element of 

the Transport Strategy. The massive increase over the past few years has created significant impacts 
and challenges on our streets. Parking for E-Cycles and E-Scooters will increase from 10 meters to 41 
meters, and from 5 cycle stands 26 cycle stands for pedal cycle parking. As well as serving visitors to the 
Gardens and surrounding properties this will also has the potential to serve people using Liverpool 
Street and Moorgate stations.  
 

 

Page 336



2

3

4

6

8

9

10

11
12

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S T U V W Y

City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 
risk rating: 

CRP requested 
this gateway

Open Risks
3

12455 Total CRP used to 
date

Closed Risks
0

Risk 
ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Risk 
score

Costed impact pre-
mitigation (£)

Costed Risk Provision 
requested 
Y/N

Confidence in the 
estimation

Mitigating actions Mitigation 
cost (£)

Likelihood 
Classificati
on post-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificat
ion post-
mitigation

Costed 
impact post-
mitigation (£)

Post-
Mitiga
tion 
risk 
score

CRP used 
to date

Use of CRP Date 
raised

Named 
Departmental 
Risk 
Manager/ 
Coordinator 

Risk owner  
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

Date 
Closed 
OR/ 
Realised & 
moved to 
Issues

Comment(s)

R1 5 (2) Financial

Project costs increase due to 
issues identified with utilities 
apparatus during detailed 
design stage

If the risk is realised and 
becomes an issue needing to 
be resolved, this could 
involve a change of design 
or scope, or additional costs 
and time delays

Possible Minor 3 £200,000.00 Y - for costed impact 
post-mitigation B – Fairly Confident

Regular liaison with 
Highways team to address 
any issues and deal with 
any changes as soon as 
they arise

£5,000.00 Unlikely Minor £100,000.00 2 £0.00
To protect, divert or 

adjust positions of 
utilities apparatus

14/06/2024 Clive Whittle

R2 5 (3) Reputation 

Delays resulting from the 
TMOs for changes to parking 
arrangements and to the 
Public Notices for the raised 
carriageways

This could delay the scheme Possible Minor 3 £10,000.00 Y - for costed impact 
post-mitigation A – Very Confident

Dialogue with objector to 
reach a solution to 
withdraw objection, or 
follow processes to overrule 
objection if this is not 
successful. 

£2,000.00 Unlikely Minor £7,000.00 2 £0.00

To report objections, 
readvertise if necessary 

or make minor 
adjustments to TMOs to 

address objectors' 
concerns

14/06/2024 Clive Whittle

R3 5 (2) Financial

Project costs increase due to 
unforeseen issues that the 
arise during the detailed 
design

This could increase costs as 
proposed designs may need 
to be modified

Possible Minor 3 £97,000.00 Y - for costed impact 
post-mitigation B – Fairly Confident

Regular liaison with 
Highways team to address 
any issues and deal with 
any changes as soon as 
they arise

£5,000.00 Unlikely Minor £50,000.00 2 £0.00

To cover any  unforseen 
construction costs, 
when the detailed 

estimate is produced 

14/06/2024 Clive Whittle

£0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Finsbury Circus Access Improvements Low

General risk classification

556,000£  

Project Name: 

Unique project identifier: Total estimated cost 
(exc risk): -£  

Ownership & ActionMitigation actions

Average 
unmitigated risk 

Average mitigated 
risk score

3.0

2.0

304,000£         

Appendix 5

P
age 337



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 338



 
 

 

Committees: 
Streets and Walkways Sub – For decision 
Projects & Procurement Sub Committee - For information  

Dates: 
9 July 2024 

15 July 2024 

 

Subject:  
 
Creechurch Lane area improvements  
(City Cluster programme)  

Unique Project Identifier: 

City Cluster Vision Phase one – 12072 

Gateway 3/4: 
Detailed Options 
Appraisal 
(Regular) 
 

Report of: 
Executive Director, Environment   
 
Report Author:  
Maria Herrera – Transport and Public Realm Projects, City 
Operations 
 

For Decision 

PUBLIC 
 
 
 

1. Status update 
Project Description:  
 

This project includes public realm and highway improvements 
to the Creechurch Lane, Mitre Street and Bury Street area as 
follows: 

• Accessibility and walking improvements, including 
widened pavements, improved pedestrian crossings and 
sections of raised carriageway. 

• Public realm improvements and planting to provide a 
permanent street layout to replace the temporary 
parklets and planters which were installed in 2021.  

• Relocation of parking, e-scooter & cycle hire bay and 
motorcycle bay to provide additional pavement space. 

  

RAG Status: Green  

Risk Status: Low  

Total Estimated Cost of Projects (excluding risk):  

£650-£750k for Option 1 (detailed design and construction)  

£750-£950k for Option 2 (detailed design and construction) 

Change in Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £500K-
780K, cost range provided at G1-2. 

Page 339

Agenda Item 8



 
 

 

Spend to Date: £ 19,880 (staff costs)  

Funding source: Section 106 contributions that have been 
allocated to the City Cluster Programme along with a funding 
contribution from the EC BID.  

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: NA  

Slippage: NA 

2. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Next Gateway: Gateway 5 – January 2025 (delegated to Chief 
Officer for decision) 

Next Steps:  

• Detailed engagement with stakeholders and occupiers to 
consult on proposals. 

• Draft traffic management orders and statutory advertising 
process. 

• Organise trial holes as required to assess the viability of 
planting trees. 

• Detailed design stage following completion of statutory 
consultation on traffic orders. 
 

Requested Decisions:  

I. Approve recommended Option 1 to reach the next 
gateway, which involves widening of pavements on the 
eastern side of Creechurch Lane, the reallocation of 
parking and paving of carriageway and junction in 
granite setts.  

II. Approve the budget of £60,000 (staff costs and fees) for 
the project to reach the next gateway, funded from the 
Section 106 agreement for the 40 Leadenhall Street 
development.  

III. Note the total estimated cost of the project at £650K-
780K for Option 1 (excluding risk).  

IV. Authorise officers to finalise a funding letter to receive 
the external funding contribution from the EC BID.  

V. Agree to delegate to the Chief Officer the approval and 
drawdown of the costed risk provision at the next 
gateway. 

VI. Agree to undertake the process to prepare the traffic 
orders to relocate payment, motorcycle, e-scooters and 
cycle hire parking in the area in advance of Gateway 5 
stage. 

VII. Authorise the Executive Director Environment to 
consider responses to the traffic order consultation and 
if they consider it appropriate, to make the Order.  

 
 

3. Resource 
requirements to 

 
For recommended Option 1: 
 

Page 340



 
 

 

reach next 
Gateway 

Table 1: Budget required to reach Gateway 5  

Description Resources required to 
reach next Gateway 

(£) 

Highways Staff Costs 18,000 

P&T Staff Costs   25,000  

City Gardens Staff Costs 1,000 

Fees and surveys (including 
traffic management orders, 
detailed design, ground 
investigations and trial holes) 16,000  

TOTAL                     £60,000 

 
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: No risk 
provision is required at this stage.  
 

4. Overview of 
project options 

 
4.1 The Creechurch Lane area improvements are part of the City 
Cluster programme. The project will provide an improved and 
safer environment for people walking, wheeling, cycling and/or 
spending time in the area. There is also the potential to introduce 
greenery and tree planting, subject to underground utilities.  
 
4.2 The pavements and streets in the area are currently in poor 
condition, with narrow pavements, and a lack of accessible 
crossings points. This project seeks to rebalance the 
streetscape to provide additional space on pavements, provide 
level crossings at the junctions with tactile paving, and support 
the local economy by enhancing the area.  
 
4.3 This network of streets contains busy walking routes for 
visitors and workers and is located in the vicinity of a primary 
school and residential flats. This scheme is looking to improve 
the overall quality of the street environment, ensuring it is safe 
and easy to navigate, whilst maintaining the current vehicular 
movements and servicing requirements.  
 
4.4 The two options consider the relocation of payment parking 
bays (previously called pay & display bays), motorcycle and e-
scooter & cycle hire bays to deliver an improved street 
environment. The contraflow cycle lane is also to be retained in 
both options.  
 
 
4.5 The two options are summarised below: 
 
Option 1: 

• Widening the pavement on the eastern side of 
Creechurch Lane to provide additional pavement space 
in the section of street with ground floor activity.  

Page 341



 
 

 

• Resurfacing Creechurch Lane with asphalt and 
introducing a raised junction at Mitre Street and Bury 
Street, paved in granite setts.  

 
Option 2: 

• Includes widening the pavement on both sides of 
Creechurch Lane, and therefore only providing minimal 
pavement gains due to the narrow condition of the street. 
Resurfacing Creechurch Lane with asphalt and 
introducing a raised carriageway section at the junction 
with Mitre Street and Bury Street, paved in granite setts. 

 
 
Project Options, details:  
 
4.6 Option 1. See Appendix 2,3,4 for plans and pictures of the 
area. 
 

• Remove the existing parklets and introduce a wider 
pavement along the eastern side of Creechurch Lane, 
raise the carriageway to the level of the pavement at the 
junction with Creechurch Lane, Mitre Street and Bury 
Street.  

  

• Repave the pavements in York stone and resurface 
Creechurch Lane in asphalt and the raised carriageway 
junction in granite setts.  
 

• Subject to underground conditions, the project will also 
consider tree planting, a sustainable drainage planting 
bed and seating. 
 

• Relocate a payment parking bay, motorcycle bay and e-
scooter & cycle hire bay from Creechurch Lane to nearby 
streets: Billiter Street, Bury Street and Mitre Street.  

 

• Permanent removal of two payment parking bays, where 
the parklets are currently located, to extend the pavement 
and create more space for people walking and wheeling 
and permanent seating and tables and chairs.   
 

• Retain the cycle contraflow route along Creechurch Lane.  
 
 
4.7 Option 2.  
 

• Remove the existing parklets and introduce wider 
pavements along the eastern and western side of 
Creechurch Lane, raise the carriageway to the level of the 
pavement at the junction with Creechurch Lane, Mitre 
Street and Bury Street.   

Page 342



 
 

 

 

• Repave the pavements in York stone and resurface 
Creechurch Lane in asphalt and the raised carriageway 
junction in granite setts.  
 

• Subject to underground conditions, the project will also 
consider tree planting, a sustainable drainage planting 
bed and seating. 
 

• Relocate a payment parking bay, motorcycle bay and e-
scooter & cycle hire bay from Creechurch Lane to nearby 
streets: Billiter Street, Bury Street and Mitre Street.  

 

• Permanent removal of two payment parking bays, where 
the parklets are currently located, to extend the pavement 
and create more space for people walking and wheeling 
and permanent seating.   
 

• Retain the cycle contraflow route along Creechurch Lane 
 
 
4.8 The delivery of this project will be complemented with the 
future changes to Leadenhall Street, which is currently at design 
stage. The Leadenhall Street project looks to widen the 
pavements and narrow the carriageway along the length of the 
Street, accommodating tree planting and greening where 
feasible. It is also intended, that the work on Leadenhall street 
will provide an improved junction with Creechurch Lane and 
provide an additional loading bay on Leadenhall Street for use 
of the local area.   
 
4.9 For the consideration of these two options a traffic survey 

was undertaken to determine the type of vehicles using the 

streets, which has informed the outline design. 

 

4.10 A maintenance budget for granite setts will be considered 

at the next Gateway to ensure sufficient commuted sums are 

allocated to the project.  

 

 

4.11 Healthy Streets Design Check (refer to Appendix 6):  

The current condition of the streets was also assessed utilising 

the Healthy Streets Design Check, and which will be undertaken 

again once the preferred design is developed further.  

 

4.12 The initial evaluation concluded that the Healthy Streets 

scoring of the area will be improved overall as a result of 

providing wider pavements, an improved quality and finish of the 

paving material and carriageway. The introduction of greenery 

Page 343



 
 

 

and seating, and the consideration for raised tables at crossing 

points with tactile paving, also improved the overall outcome of 

the Healthy streets assessment.  

 

 

4.13 City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) (refer to 

Appendix 7) : 

The proposed changes will provide a more accessible street 

environment, with raised pedestrian crossings, tactile paving 

and improved finishes. The summary of the CoLSAT evaluation 

is included in the table below. The remaining 0 and 1 scores are 

largely a result of the narrow pavement on the western side of 

the street which is unchanged by these proposals. This is 

mitigated by the widening of the eastern pavement and inclusion 

of accessible crossings.  

 

Table 1 - CoLSAT Summary Results Table. Creechurch Lane 
improvements  

   
Total 0 scores* – 

severe accessibility 
issue  

Total 1 scores**- 
significant 

accessibility issues  

   Before  After  Before  After  

Electric 
Wheelchair user  

1 0 3 2 

Manual 
Wheelchair user  

1 0 3 2 

Mobility Scooter 
user  

1 0 1 1 

Walking Aid user  0 0 2 2 

Person with a 
walking 
impairment  

1 0 5 4 

Long cane user  1 0 3 2 

Guide Dog user  1 1 1 0 

Residual Sight 
user  

0 0 4 2 

Deaf or Hearing 
impairment  

0 0 3 3 

Acquired 
neurological 
impairment  

1 1 2 1 

Autism/Sensory-
processing 
diversity  

0 0 1 1 

Developmental 
Impairment  

2 0 3 2 

Page 344



 
 

 

Total  9 2 31 22 

 

* This score means most people in this segment would be 

excluded by the street characteristic in the selected 

configuration.  

 

** This score means some people in this segment may be able 

to negotiate the street characteristic in the selected 

configuration, but it would significantly deplete their levels of 

confidence and energy, and they would be likely to give up on 

the journey if they had to negotiate it more than once or twice.  

 

5. Recommended 
option  

 

Option 1 is recommended. See Appendix 4 for pictures and 
visuals.  

5.1 Option 1 is recommended as it creates an accessible 
pavement (i.e. 2m+ on the eastern side of Creechurch Lane 
where there are a concentration of restaurants and bars. Option 
2 widens the pavement on both sides but there are remaining 
pinch points below 1.5 m.  

 

5.2 Option 1 maximises the potential for pavement widening on 
the side of the street with active frontages, and provides 
opportunities for seating, tables and chairs, and greening.  

Option 2, whilst making small improvements to the width of 

pavement on both sides of the street, would leave both sides 

facing a number of pinch points.  Option 1 does not negate all of 

the issues for people walking and wheeling along the whole 

length of the eastern pavement, but it does make a more 

significant difference.  The only way to make the street truly 

accessible for people walking and wheeling would be to 

pedestrianise it. This is not feasible with the need to access 

business premises. 

5.3 Improving accessibility to only one side of the street is 
mitigated by the accessibility improvements to the crossing 
points at the junctions so that people can cross to the eastern 
side.  

5.4 Option 1will include removal of the existing parklets and 
planters and will also retain the existing cycling contraflow 
provision on Creechurch Lane.  

5.5 The permanent removal of two payment parking bays is 
proposed where the current parklets are located.  This is 
necessary to create space that can be used for people walking 
and wheeling and supports the local retail economy. The two 
payment parking bays have been suspended since 2021 when 

Page 345



 
 

 

the parklets were first installed.  The area has been able to 
operate effectively without these bays to date.  

5.6 Option 1 includes the use of granite setts for the raised 
junction at Creechurch Lane, Mitre Street and Bury Street. This 
is a conservation area with an important listed church and the 
high-quality materials will enhance the setting of the buildings 
and provide a more pleasant street environment. 

6. Risk 
6.1 The main risks are as follows: 
 

• Underground conditions impact on project scope and 
cost; Due to existing underground conditions, greening 
interventions may need to be adapted in certain 
locations or may not be feasible.  

 

• Construction sites in the area impact programme; On-
going development construction in the area has the 
potential to affect or delay the project.   

 

• Objection to traffic orders could impact the design and 
scope of the project.  

 
Further information is available in the risk register in the 
appendix 5. 
 
Costed Risk Provision Utilised at Last Gateway: None 
requested at previous gateway report.  
 
Change in Costed Risk: NA 
 
Costed Risk requested: A costed risk provision will be 
allocated at Gateway 5. This report recommends Executive 
Director delegation to approve and drawdown the funds.   
 

7. Procurement 
approach 

7.1 Management and coordination of the project will be 
undertaken by the Transport and Public Realm Projects team, 
in consultation with Highways, City Gardens and the City’s 
highway term contractor.  
 
7.2 Stages of the design work will be undertaken in-house by 
officers and external consultants will be brought in as required 
to provide specialist services. 
 
7.3 Construction works are to be implemented by the City’s 
highway term contractor, working in collaboration with City 
Gardens for the delivery of the soft landscaping elements.  
 
7.4 Appointment of external consultants will be carried out in line 
with the City’s procurement guidelines for capital projects.  
 

 

Page 346



 
 

 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 Cover Sheet 

Appendix 2 General arrangement plan  

Appendix 3 Proposed parking arrangements 

Appendix 4. Pictures of the area and proposed improvements.  

Appendix 5. Risk Register 

Appendix 6.  Healthy Streets Check; summary diagram 

Appendix 7. COLSAT assessment 

 
 
Contact 

Report Author Maria Herrera 

Email Address Maria.herrera@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 07526 201100 

 

Page 347



 
 

 

Options Appraisal Matrix 
 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

1. Brief description 
of option 

The project considers improving the pedestrian 
environment along Creechurch Lane and at the 
junctions with Mitre Street and Bury Street. This will 
be achieved by: 

• Creating accessible crossing facilities at 
junctions, with an area of raised 
carriageway at the Creechurch lane/Bury 
Street and Mitre Street.  
 

• Providing a wider pavement along the 
eastern side of Creechurch lane  

 

• Resurfacing the carriageway and repave 
the pavements with Yorkstone.  

 
The project will investigate opportunities for tree 
planting and the introduction of sustainable urban 
drainage, subject to further site investigations of 
underground conditions. The ECBID have 
expressed strong support for the introduction of 
greening as part of their funding contribution. 
 
The temporary parklets currently located on 

Creechurch Lane have proved to be a popular 

amenity with the local visitors and workers. This 

project aims to deliver permanent changes 

As per option 1, with the difference being that this 
option evaluated widening both, eastern and 
western pavement along Creechurch Lane.  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

P
age 348



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

following the trial to support the local retail economy 

and provide space for people to walk and spend 

time.  

 

A review of the parking/loading provision and traffic 

flows in the area has been undertaken. The 

proposed changes are as follows:  

 

• Permanent removal of two pay and display 
bays (CL3 and CL4) which have been out of 
use since 2021 where the parklets are 
currently located to extend the pavement 
and create more space for people walking, 
planting and to support the local businesses. 

 

• Relocation of one pay & display (CL2) which 
has been out of use since 2021 due to the 
parklets from Creechurch Lane to Mitre 
Street.  

 

• Relocation of a motorcycle bay (MCL1) from 
Creechurch Lane to Billiter Street. This 
revised location is better suited to 
accommodate motorcycle parking as it is a 
servicing street with loading bays to nearby 
office buildings. This will also help to reduce 
noise and air pollution in the residential and 
ground floor retail cluster on Creechurch 

P
age 349



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

Lane and provide a better street 
environment for users.  

 

• Relocation of a dockless bike and scooter 
bay from Creechurch Lane to Bury Street to 
consolidate the provision of space for 
dockless bikes and scooters in the area.  
 

• Retention of contraflow cycle lane on 
Creechurch Lane.  

 
Please refer to plans in appendix 2 and 3. 
 
Materials: 

• This option considers the resurfacing of 
Creechurch Lane in asphalt. 

• Providing a raised carriageway section 
paved in granite setts at the junction with 
Bury Street and Mitre Street.  

 

• Pavements are to be paved in York stone in 
line with the City Public Realm Toolkit 
(2024). 

 
The use of granite setts will enhance the setting of 
the conservation area and improve the setting of 
the listed church (St Katherin Cree). The high-
quality paving materials will enforce the sense of 

P
age 350



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

place and provide an improved street 
environment. 
 

2. Scope and 
exclusions 

Estimated cost ranges have been provided to 
account for detailed design, implementation, and 
maintenance of the project.   
 
The project includes re-paving the pavements 
along Creechurch Lane and at the junctions with 
Mitre Street and Bury Street. It also includes the 
resurfacing of Creechurch Lane in asphalt and 
creating a raised junction paved in granite setts.  
 
The scope includes consideration for areas of 
planting subject to underground utilities and 
available pavement space. 
 
See appendix 2 for scope of project and plans. 
 
The project does not include works to the entire 
length of Bury Street and Mitre Street.  
  
The relocation and removal of parking, motorcycle 
and e-scooter and dockless bays is subject to 
undertaking the statutory traffic management 
consultation process.  
 

As per option 1.  
 
With the difference being that this option evaluates 
widening both pavements on Creechurch Lane.  

Project Planning   

P
age 351



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

3. Programme and 
key dates  

July - December 2024: 

• Detailed engagement with stakeholders and 
occupiers to consult on proposals. 

• Draft traffic management orders and 
statutory advertising process. 

• Organise trial holes as required to assess 
the viability of planting trees. 

• Detailed design stage following completion 
of statutory consultation on traffic orders. 

• Submission of Gateway 5 report 
 

 

As per option 1. 

4. Risk implications  
Overall project option risk:  Low 
 

• Underground conditions impact on project 
scope and cost; Due to existing 
underground conditions, greening 
interventions may need to be adapted in 
certain locations or may not be feasible.  

 

• Construction sites in the area impact 
programme; On-going development 
construction in the area has the potential to 
affect or delay the delivery of projects.  

 

• Objection to traffic orders could impact the 
design and scope of the project.  

As per option 1. 

P
age 352



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

 

Refer to risk register in appendix 5. 
 

5. Stakeholders and 
consultees 

 
The project is part of the City Cluster programme 
and has been developed in close consultation with 
the EC BID and the outline design has been 
shared with the City Cluster programme board, 
who oversee the development of projects in the 
area.  
 
An initial localised public consultation has been 
undertaken as part of the temporary installations 
and ongoing communication has been maintained 
to inform stakeholders on the proposed changes.  
 
Officers will continue to engage to ensure the 
permanent changes are communicated and 
discuss with businesses and residents.   
 

As per option 1. 

6. Benefits of 
option 

1. Deliver attractive and inclusive spaces for 
people to walk and spend time in, with a 
significantly wider pavement (on the 
eastern side of Creechurch Lane.  
 

2. Provide greenery and provide spaces for 
people to rest, creating a local destination 
for city workers and visitors.  
 

1. Deliver attractive and inclusive spaces for 
people to walk and spend time in, with 
wider pavements of approximately 1.8-2m 
on both sides of Creechurch Lane. 
 

2. Provide greenery and spaces for people to 
rest, creating a local destination for city 
workers and visitors.  
 

P
age 353



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

3. Provide a high-quality environment to 
enhance the setting of the conservation 
area and listed buildings.  

 

4. Contribute to the well-being of local users 
by offering outdoor spaces to rest, work 
and spend time in, including space for 
cafes to install outdoor seating. 

 

5. This option has a lower cost due to the 
works being focussed on the eastern 
pavement. 

 

3. Provide a high-quality environment to 
enhance the setting of the conservation 
area and listed buildings.  

 

4. Contribute to the well-being of local users 
by offering outdoor spaces to rest, work 
and spend time in. 

 

 

7. Disbenefits of 
option 

This option will only provide a wider pavement to 
the eastern side of Creechurch Lane, with other 
surfacing improvements on the western pavement.  
 
This however is the recommended option as it will 
provide the space where the active frontages are 
located and where most people use.   
 
The western pavement has no active frontages 
and has the service entrance from the building.  
 

This option is more expensive due to the desire to 
realign both kerbs along Creechurch lane. It also 
provides a marginal gain to both pavements 
without providing the space on the eastern side of 
the street, where the local activity and residential 
buildings are located.  

This option will not provide sufficient space for 
cafes to obtain licences for outdoor seating. 

This option has a higher cost due to the need to 
alter pavements on both sides and associated 
levels, drainage and utilities costs. 

  

P
age 354



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

 

Resource 
Implications 

  

8. Total estimated 
cost  

Estimated cost (excluding risk): £650-£780k for 
the implementation including maintenance. 
 
 
 

Estimated cost (excluding risk): £780-£950k for 
the implementation including maintenance. 
 

9. Funding strategy   This project is proposed to be funded by: 

• S106 funding (40 Leadenhall Street) 

• External contribution from EC BID 

The forthcoming Gateway 5 report will set out 
detailed cost estimates, including costed risk 
provision funded from the same source: alongside 
a construction programme.  
 

As per option 1, with a potential need to secure 
further funding sources due to the additional cost of 
realigning both pavements on Creechurch Lane.  

10. Investment 
appraisal  

NA As per option 1. 

11. Estimated capital 
value/return 

NA  As per option 1. 

12. Ongoing revenue 
implications  

The streets under consideration are already being 
maintained by the city. There is a risk that 
maintenance costs could increase in the coming 
years and any new green infrastructure and 

As per option 1. 

P
age 355



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

paving will include a maintenance provision within 
the cost estimate.  
 

13. Affordability  
Details of the funding strategy are set out above. 
 
Funding for this project is secured as part of the 
wider programme.  
 

As per option 1. 

14. Legal 
implications  

A legal agreement is required to be completed 
with the EC BID to receive the contribution 
towards the project.  
 

As per option 1. 

15. Corporate 
property 
implications  

None  As per option 1. 

16. Traffic 
implications 

Traffic management orders will be required for the 
proposed changes in parking provision, location of 
motorcycle bays, and loading restrictions.  
 
 

As per option 1. 

17. Sustainability 
and energy 
implications  

Material specification is in line with the City Public 
Realm Toolkit and standards form the City’s term 
contractor. Works on site will be managed to 
minimise disruption and make efficient use of 
paving and modules to reduce waste. 

 

As per option 1. 

P
age 356



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1- Recommended  

(See Appendix 2-3 for plans of the area) 

Option 2 

Subject to underground conditions, greening and 
tree planting will be explored as part of the next 
stage of work.  
 

18. ARE implications  NA As per option 1. 

19. Equality Impact 
Assessment 

The project will deliver more accessible and 
welcoming spaces for all user groups and provide 
areas where people can spend time outside their 
workplace environment. Pedestrian crossings 
would be improved across the project area, 
introducing tactile paving where required. 

 The removal of parking is mitigated by the 
existence of pay&display and disabled bay in the 
nearby area, and the relocation of the motorcycle 
bay will be to a section of a street nearby. 

A “Test of Relevance: Equality Analysis” has been 
undertaken and the outcome is that given the 
scale and scope of the scheme a full Equalities 
impact assessment is not required at this stage.  

 

The project will deliver a minor increase in footway 
space due to the narrow condition of the 
streetscape.   

Pedestrian crossings would be improved across 
the project area, introducing tactile paving where 
required.  

The removal of parking is mitigated by the 
existence of pay&display and disabled bay in the 
nearby area, and the relocation of the motorcycle 
bay will be to a section of a street nearby. 

 

20. Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

NA As per option 1. 

21. Recommendation Recommended Not recommended 

 

P
age 357



 
 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 358



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 

UPI: 
Core Project Name: Creechurch Lane area improvements  
Programme Affiliation (if applicable):  
Project Manager:  Maria Herrera – Transport and Public Realm projects, Environment 
Department.  
 

Definition of need:  
 

• Existing pavements are narrow and in poor condition, with a lack safe 
pedestrian crossings. 
• There is an absence of dropped kerbs or raised crossing points and this 
needs to be addressed, including consideration of road safety and the proximity 
to a local school and residents.   
• Replacement of temporary parklets with a permanent design is required to 
enhance the public realm, provide a permanent seating area with greening. 

 
Key measures of success:  

• People are safe and feel safe  
• People have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and reach their full 
potential.  
• We have clean air, land and water and a thriving and sustainable natural 
environment  
• Our spaces are secure, resilient and well maintained.  

 
Expected timeframe for the project delivery: 12-18 months, subject to statutory 
consultation on traffic orders. Gateway 5 is estimated for November 2024. 

 
Key Milestones:  

• Detailed engagement with stakeholders  
• Draft traffic management orders and statutory advertising process.  
• Organise trial holes as required to assess the viability of planting trees, 
introducing low-level planting and a rain garden.  
• Detailed design stage following completion of statutory consultation on 
traffic orders.  

 
 
Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery?  
Yes. 
 

Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing?  
No media attention.  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 

Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes: Update relevant section post 
report approval. Add multiple entries to relevant box if issues reports are approved. Note 

Page 359



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

this section is to tell the 'project story' of how we reached the current position outlined in the 
main report.  
 

‘Project Briefing’ G1-2 report (as approved by Streets & Walkways sub 
committee, 26 September 2023)  

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £500-£780k  

• Costed Risk Against the Project: None at this stage.  

• Estimated Programme Dates: Gateway 3-4 in Q2-2024. 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: NA 

 

 ‘Options Appraisal and Design’ G3-4 report (PENDING; submitted for 
approval May 2024) 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk):  

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk 

• Spend to date:  
• Costed Risk Against the Project: 

• CRP Requested:  

• CRP Drawn Down:  

• Estimated Programme Dates: 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 

‘Authority to start Work’ G5 report (as approved by PSC xx/yy/zz): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk):  

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk 

• Spend to date:  
• Costed Risk Against the Project: 

• CRP Requested:  

• CRP Drawn Down:  

• Estimated Programme Dates: 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 

 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]:<Current Range> 
Programme Affiliation [£]:<(If applicable) What is the estimated total programme cost 
including this project:>  
 

 
 

 
 

Page 360



12

House

Mitre

16

8

14

88

4
22

18

13

Hall

80

PH

20

27 to 31

14
12

32

2
Cree Church

10

31

St Katharine

Church Yard

C
un

ar
d 

Pl
ac

e

CR
EE

CH
UR

CH
 L

AN
E

MITRE STREET

Sugar Bakers Court

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

DateRev No.

Revision

Description By

Environment Department

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2018. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2018.

Sheet:

PROJECT:

City

of

London

20.06.24

--1:500@A1

BM

OK

23.04.24

Outline Design

COL/000/1

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2
DESCRIPTION_2 BY

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2
DESCRIPTION_2 BY

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2 BYDESCRIPTION_2

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2 BYDESCRIPTION_2

Improvement works

Creechurch Lane

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2 BYDESCRIPTION_2

Key:

Proposed 65mm thick (300 x
200mm) Scoutmoor York stone
setts

Proposed 150mm thick (150 x
300mm) 2 colour Mix Granite
setts with Mid-Grey boarder

150 x 300mm fine picked silver
grey granite kerb

Notes:

1. No information to be scaled from this drawing.

2. Works shall comply with the current City of
London Specification for Highway works.

3. All road markings refer to the "Traffic Signs
Regulations and General Directions 2016". Refer to
drawing number 1200/16800457/RM

4. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant drawings

5. The Contractor will be held responsible for any
damage caused to private highways and privately
owned street furniture.

Existing kerb line

Proposed SUDs planter

Proposed HRA Carriageway
surfacing

Raised Table

Raised table

Tactile crossing

Possible Suds garden location

Granite setts

Tactile crossing

Tactile crossing

4.5m

3m

2.09m

1.97m

1.35m
1.6m

1.56m

1.44m

3.43m

3.49m

4.76m

2.82m

1.63m

1.67m

1.18m

1.6m

1.58m

P
age 361

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
VERIZON

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
LE

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
MERC

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
GAS



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 362



notes

1. Drawing based on Topographical Survey

received from SES, dwg no. SES-10709-001 (Jan

2020) and Topocrew, dwg no. LES-TOP-297-2D

(April 2022)

2. Works shall comply with the current City of

London Specification for Highway Works.

Private works

MH

BT

FE
NC

HU
RC

H 
ST

RE
ET

BILLITER STREET

LE
AD

EN
H

AL
L 

ST
R

EE
T

FE
N

C
H

U
R

C
H

 A
VE

N
U

E

CREEDCHURCH LANE

FENCHURCH BUILDINGS

1.
6

1.
8

1.
5

WV

FH

BT
BT

FH

BT

WV

WM

BT

GV

MH

G

WVWV WV
WV

WV

MH

MH

MH

WV

U

UGV

WV

WVWV

WV

WV

TANET

WV

WV

WV

FH

PG

MH

BT

COLT

BT

BT

BT

BT

BT

U

BT

U

BT

BT

GBT

BT

BT

MH
FH

BT

TANETBT

BT

U

E

WV WV

BT

VODA

BT

BT

U
U

BT
BT

BT

BT

E

FH

BT

U

MMC

3

60 to 63

58

St Katherine's Row

25

4 5

St K
atherines

4

67

65

10
6

56
52 to 54

10
5

10
7 

to
 1

12
PH

2

C
re

e 
C

hu
rc

h

St
 K

at
ha

rin
e 106

PH

68 to 71

Row

10
4

20

38

N

Maylim to carry out kerbing/
paving works in highlighted area

Maylim to carry out paving works
in highlighted area

5

3

60 to 63

3

Lloyd's Registry

58

St Katherine's Row

LLOYD'S AVENUE

FENCHURCH PLACE

Fen Court

Dixon

78 to 79

30

32
25

4 5

4

100

2

Marlow

94

St Katherines

50

88

98

107

67

65

106
69

House

56
52 to 54

Bank

71 to 77

105

72 to 75

51

107 to 112

80

PH

65 to 68

2

Cree Church

100

St Katharine

House

1

106

PH

95

10

1

68 to 71

Row

104

28

20

27

Willis Building

38

Church Yard

LI
M

E 
ST

RE
ET

NORTHUMBERLAND ALLEY

Alley

LEADENHALL STREET

FENCHURCH AVENUE

Northumberland Alley

AVENUE

FENCHURCH STREET

H
arts

LLOYD'S

Horn

Fe
n 

C
ou

rt

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

DateRev No.

Revision

Description By

Department of The Built Environment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2022. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2022.

Sheet:

PROJECT:

City

of

London

SHEET 1 of 1

--1:250 @ A1

BM

KE

JAN 2024

Phasing Programme

100-16800456-PH

Section 278

Scheme

Highway Enhancement

40 Leadenhall

Section 278 - To be delivered by CoL Contractor
Private Land -To be delivered by Private Contractor
Proposed Highway Boundary

P
age 363

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
RL31

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
RL32

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
RL33

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
RL34

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
RL35

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
RL37

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
RL38

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
RL41

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
ITS

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
CCTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
IBO

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
ENERGIS

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
VERIZON

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
THUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
CW

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
LEVEL3

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
VERIZON

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
STN12

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
STN11

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
TFL

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
MERC

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
GPEC

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
INTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
INTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
PLAQ

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
PLAQ

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
PLAQ

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
PLAQ

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
IBO

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
Loop box

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
VERIZON

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
VERIZON

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
VERIZON

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
temporary

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
temporary

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
W

maria herrera
Polygonal Line

maria herrera_1
Callout
Proposed location for motorcycle bay



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 364



CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

DateRev No.

Revision

Description By

Environment Department

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2018. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2018.

Sheet:

PROJECT:

City

of

London

SHEET 1 of 1

11:500@A1

BM

OK

15.04.24

Parking bay proposal

COL/000/1

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2
DESCRIPTION_2 BY

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2
DESCRIPTION_2 BY

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2 BYDESCRIPTION_2

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2 BYDESCRIPTION_2

Creechurch Lane

- DATE DESCRIPTION_2 BYDESCRIPTION_2

E-scooter bay to be
relocated Bury Street

Motorcycle bay to be 
relocated to Billiter Street

1no.Pay&display bays 
to be relocated.
2no.Pay&display bays 
to be removed.

Proposed relocation 
of one pay&display 
bay 

Proposed  location for 
E-scooter bay, 
alternative location in 
Billiter Steet will also 
be explored.

P
age 365

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
C&W

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
EDF

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
Pavement plaque

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
FP

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
LVL3

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
yorkstone sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
BR

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
Communicaton Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
ITS

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
Sensor

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
Bench

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
VERIZON

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
COLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
FP

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
VODAFONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
FP

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
EL

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
FP

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
concrete paving slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
yorkstone sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
yorkstone sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
granite sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
granite sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
blockpaving

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
granite sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
granite sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
yorkstone sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
CL4

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
CL3

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
CL2

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
MCL1

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
SOLO MOTORCYCLES ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
E-SCOOTER CYCLE HIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
ESCL1

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
TRBY1

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
BY1

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
BY2

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
BY5

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
BY6

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
CL5

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
CL6

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
MHL1 SOLO MOTORCYCLES ONLY MHL1

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
DCL2 DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
DMT1 DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
MT1

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
MT2

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
MERC

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
LE

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
MERC

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
MERC

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
FP

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
FP

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
Col.

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
Col.

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
Column

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
h=0.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
h=0.65m

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
W=0.15/0.30 concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
W=0.15/0.30 concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
W=0.70/1.00 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
W=0.70/1.00 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
W=0.70/1.00 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
W=0.70/0.75 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
W=0.70/0.75 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
W=0.70/0.75 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
W=0.70/1.10 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
W=0.70/0.75 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
W=0.70/1.00 marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
W=0.40/0.45 brick F=1.10 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
W=0.40/0.45 concrete F=0.90 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
W=0.40/0.35 concrete F=0.90 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
W=0.40/0.40 concrete F=0.90 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
W=0.40/0.30 concrete F=0.90 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
W=0.40/0.35 concrete F=0.90 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
W=0.40/0.25 concrete F=0.90 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
W=0.40/0.30 concrete F=0.90 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
W=0.40/0.40 concrete F=0.90 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
W=0.30/0.30 marble F=1.40 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
W=0.30/0.30 marble F=1.40 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
W=0.30/0.20 marble F=1.40 iron

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
smoke outlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
smoke outlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
metal

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
metal

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
wooden terrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
Cycle stands 4 pcs.

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
Column

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
yorkstone sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
yorkstone sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
Coal chute

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
smoke outlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
smoke outlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
smoke outlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
smoke outlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
smoke outlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
smoke outlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
Coal chute

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
LHP

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
Cycle stands 5 pcs.

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
granite sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
granite sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
granite sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
CREECHURCH LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
CREECHURCH LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
CREECHURCH LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
BURY STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
BURY STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
BURY STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
BURY STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
MITRE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
15.720

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
15.738

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
15.751

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
15.454

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
15.446

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
15.425

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
15.406

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
15.394

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
15.496

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
15.525

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
15.548

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
15.551

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
15.553

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
15.633

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
15.623

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
15.598

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
15.343

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
15.392

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
15.438

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
15.466

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
15.186

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
15.224

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
15.260

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
15.275

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
14.899

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
14.901

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
15.537

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
15.516

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
15.465

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
15.475

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
15.411

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
15.358

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
15.341

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
15.332

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
15.321

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
15.299

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
16.406

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
16.358

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
16.348

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
16.240

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
15.906

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
15.977

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
15.929

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
15.855

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
15.830

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
15.811

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
15.782

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
15.725

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
15.583

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
15.687

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
15.614

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
15.459

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
16.222

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
16.136

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
16.080

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
16.028

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
15.951

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
15.845

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
15.793

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
15.778

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
15.708

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
15.589

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
14.902

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
14.913

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
14.961

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
14.963

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
14.977

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
14.998

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
14.994

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
15.027

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
15.015

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
15.010

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
15.022

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
14.987

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
14.966

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
14.950

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
14.925

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
14.915

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
14.894

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
14.695

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
14.680

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
14.684

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
14.678

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
14.647

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
14.734

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
14.786

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
14.834

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
14.871

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
24.536

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
24.553

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
19.432

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
17.435

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
17.809

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
17.809

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
17.817

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
17.809

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
17.807

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
17.809

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
17.815

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
17.816

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
17.816

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
17.818

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
17.826

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
14.657

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
14.633

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
15.049

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
15.573

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
15.577

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
15.576

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
15.049

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
15.003

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
15.003

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
14.685

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
14.685

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
14.657

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
14.633

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
14.596

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
14.596

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
h=1.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
h=1.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
h=1.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
h=1.20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
h=1.20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
15.205

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
15.167

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
15.200

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
19.415

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
yorkstone sets

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
yorkstone slabs

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
HENEAGE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
CREECHURCH PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
mastic

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
17.811

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
17.810

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
17.812

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
17.809

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
y.s.

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
luxcrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
CUNARD PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
BROWN'S BUILDINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
B

maria herrera_2
Line

maria herrera_3
Rectangle

maria herrera_4
Rectangle

maria herrera_5
Rectangle

maria herrera_6
Polygonal Line



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 366



Appendix 4. 
Creechurch Lane.

Site images and proposed 
improvements. 

P
age 367



Creechurch Lane. 2019
Previous site condition, with parking along the eastern side of the street. 

P
age 368



Creechurch Lane. Current situation. 
Installation of parklets and greenery in 2020; as part of the Covid19 response 
strategy in order to to provide additional space for people to enjoy. 

P
age 369



Creechurch Lane. Current situation. 
Installation of parklets and greenery in 2020; as part of the Covid19 response 
strategy in order to to provide additional space for people to enjoy. 

P
age 370



Creechurch Lane. Proposed permanent improvements
Looking north towards Bury Street.
- Providing wider footways along eastern footway of Creechurch Lane
- Introducing a raised crossing at the junction with Bury Street and Mitre Street
- Exploring opportunities for tree planting and a rain garden. 

P
age 371



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 372



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 

risk rating: 

CRP requested 

this gateway
Open Risks 7

Total CRP used to Closed Risks 0

ID 

Number 

In line with corporate 

classifications 

The Officers specific description of the 

risk to the project (and potentially to 

if the risk is realised and becomes an 

issue needing to be resolved.  This 

Likelihood 

Classification the 

of the risk should it 

be realised, 

calculate

d from 

the potential financial cost to 

resolve the risk in full should it 

Not all risk estimations are comparable, 

some project elements may be more 

The actions or approach which 

could be taken to reduce or clarify 

The cost of the 

risk mitigation 

Likelihood 

Classification 

Impact of the 

risk should it be 

The revised ‘costed 

impact’ of a risk if 

calculate

d from 

The department who 

would be responsible 

The stakeholder who 

would be responsible 

If risk has 

occurred and 
Free comment section

Risk 

ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 

Classificatio

n pre-

mitigation

Impact 

Classificatio

n pre-

mitigation

Risk 

score

Costed impact pre-

mitigation (£)

Costed Risk 

Provision requested 

Y/N

Confidence in the 

estimation

Mitigating actions Mitigation 

cost (£)

Likelihood 

Classificat

ion post-

mitigation

Impact 

Classificat

ion post-

mitigation

Costed 

impact post-

mitigation (£)

Post-

Mitiga

tion 

risk 

score

CRP used 

to date

Use of CRP Date 

raised

Named 

Departmental 

Risk 

Manager/ 

Coordinator 

Risk owner   

(Named 

Officer or 

External 

Party)

Date 

Closed 

OR/ 

Realised & 

moved to 

Issues

Comment(s)

R1 2 (10) Physical
Project impacted by nearby 

developments.

There is a possibility that the 

project programme could be 

impacted by nearby 

developments adjacent to 

the project area which are 

undergoing planning 

permission. Timescales for 

delivery of those projects is 

yet unkown. 

Likely Minor 4 £0.00

Keep in regular contact 

with  stakeholders and 

planning colleagues and 

be informed of any 

changes to their 

programme and take 

actions accordingly. 

£0.00 Likely Minor £0.00 4 £0.00 8/10/2023 DBE Maria Herrera

R2 2 (10) Physical

A delay in establishing 

vehicular servicing and 

parking needs in the area. 

To deliver the full scope of 

benefits the project a traffic 

assessment is required of the 

parking, loading/unloading, 

and servicing needs of the 

area. If this wasn't 

completed, the project is 

unable to progress with a 

feasible design. 

Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00 N

City officers have 

undertaken an initial 

desktop assessement of the 

current provision of parking 

and servicing needs. This 

information will be progress 

further at the next 

stage,alongsde 

engagement with 

stakeholders.

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £0.00 2 £0.00 8/10/2023 DBE Maria Herrera

R3 2
(4) Contractual/Part

nership

Procurement of materials 

causes delays on project 

delivery.

A significant delay to the 

receipt of materials will 

impact the programme for 

implementation.

Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00 N

Agree priorities with the 

CoL Chamberlain and 

maintain dialogue with 

Highways Manager/ Term 

Contractor to establish 

procurement targets to 

inform the programme and 

meet  stakeholders 

expectations.

£0.00 Likely Minor £0.00 4 £0.00 8/10/2023 DBE Maria Herrera

R4 2 (5) H&S/Wellbeing Noisy Works

Noisy Works could generate 

complaints from local 

occupiers and delay the 

programme.

Likely Minor 4 £0.00 N

All noisy works times will be 

agreed with Environmental 

Health Officers and 

communicated with local 

occupiers. Flexibility is also 

built in to allow for these 

times to be altered 

accordingly.

£0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 8/10/2023 DBE Maria Herrera

R5 2
(4) contractual / 

partnership

Stakeholder support is not 

secured. 

The project includes the 

review of current parking 

and loading provision, which 

could change the current 

vehicular traffic flows. 

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N

The CoL team wll 

undertake close 

consultatio with local 

occupiers to ensure their 

needs are accounted for as 

well as the needs to the 

functionality of the streets. 

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 8/10/2023 DBE Maria Herrera

R5 2
(4) Contractual/Part

nership

External funding from EC BID 

is withdrawn. 

External funding from the EC 

BID has been secured via an 

agreement in principle. A 

funding letter is yet to be 

completed at the next stage.

Rare Minor 1 £0.00 N

The agreement for the 

additional funding has 

been agreed in principle 

by the Board of the EC BID. 

The letter of agreement will 

follow to receive the funds 

in due course. If funding 

was to be withdrawn, the 

project could be scaled to 

be delivered within the 

available budget. 

£0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 8/10/2023 DBE Maria Herrera

R6 2 (2) Financial 

CoL Capital Bid is 

unsuccessfull and project 

cannot go ahead. 

The project funding strategy 

is subject to a capital bid 

being confirmed. If funding is 

not secured, the project will 

need to be re-evaluated in 

the context of the wider City 

Cluster programme of work.

Possible Major 12 £0.00 N

A funding bid has been 

submitted and is due to be 

reviewed in Autumn 2023. 

All paperwork and 

associated informaiton has 

been prepared in 

accordance to the 

guidelines. 

£0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 8/10/2023 DBE Maria Herrera

Creechuchurch Lane area improvements Low

General risk classification

500,000£                                       

Project Name: 

Unique project identifier: Total estimated cost -£                

Ownership & ActionMitigation actions

Average 

unmitigated risk Average mitigated 

5.0

3.6

P
age 373



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 374



Page 375



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 376



Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 

characteristics for the section being analysed

v 0.1 BEFORE. Creechurch Lane

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2

Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4

Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0

Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3

Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3

Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3

Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3

Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3

Island Type No island 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3

Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3

Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop > 1/6 incline 1 1 2 1 3 3 2 3 1 3 2

Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1

Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2

Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4

Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Asphalt 4 " 4 3 4 4 4 2 4 4 4 3 3

Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3

Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing kerb 150 mm + 0 0 0 2 0 1 3 1 2 2 3 0

Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 150 mm + 2 2 3 3 2 1 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1

Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 2 1

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3

Cafe Tables Cafe tables without 'protection' 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 3 3

Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4

Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3

Contrast Low tonal contrast with paving 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 2 2

Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3

Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 " 3 3 4 4 4 3 3

Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3

Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3

Camber (across footway) Camber 1/20 to 1/50 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover dropped 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 3 2 3 3

Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb > 150 mm 4 4 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3

Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3

Bus Stop Type No shelter + seat 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 3 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4

Changing Places Toilets Within 500 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 

segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 

in the segment are affected by the feature

Appendix 7. COLSAT assessment tool 

P
age 377



Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 

characteristics for the section being analysed

v 0.1 AFTER. Creechurch Lane

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2

Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4

Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (partial width) 3 3 3 3 3 1 2 3 3 3 3 4

Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3

Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3

Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3

Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3

Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3

Island Type No island 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3

Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3

Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6 to 1/12 incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3

Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2

Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4

Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 " 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3

Pattern Pattern in paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3

Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4

Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3

Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1

Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 2 1

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3

Cafe Tables Cafe tables without 'protection' 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 3 3

Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4

Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3

Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3

Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3

Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 " 3 3 4 4 4 3 3

Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3

Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3

Camber (across footway) Camber 1/20 to 1/50 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb > 150 mm 4 4 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3

Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3

Bus Stop Type No shelter + seat 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 3 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4

Changing Places Toilets Within 500 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 

segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants in 

the segment are affected by the feature

Appendix 7. COLSAT assessment tool 

P
age 378



v.April 2019 

Committees: 
Streets and Walkways Sub (for decision) 
Projects and Procurement Sub (for information) 
 

Dates: 

09 July 2024 
15 July 2024 
 

Subject:  

Climate Action Strategy, Cool Streets and Greening Programme 
– Phase 4 SuDS (Sustainable Urban Drainage) for Climate 
Resilience 

Unique Project Identifier: 

PV Project ID 12267 

Gateway 4: 
Detailed Options 
Appraisal 

Report of: 

Executive Director Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Marta Woloszczuk, Policy and Projects, City Operations 

PUBLIC 
 
 
 

1. Status update Project Description 

 
1.1. Cool Streets and Greening is a £6.8m Climate Action 

Strategy programme to pilot climate resilient streets and 
open spaces in the Square Mile.  
 

1.2. In November 2023 a Gateway 4 report was approved for 
Phase 4 which set out proposals for six SuDS projects. 
This report specified that further details of the designs for 
Ludgate Broadway, St Andrew’s Hill and Lloyds Avenue 
would be brought back to this Committee for consideration. 

 
1.3.  Detailed designs for Ludgate Broadway and St Andrew’s 

Hill have now been prepared and this report seeks 
approval to progress these to Gateway 5. A separate 
Gateway 4 report for Lloyds Avenue will follow in the 
autumn. 

 
1.4. Ludgate Broadway 

Replacing the current temporary 'parklet' with a permanent 
design comprising a widened pavement, a raingarden and 
tree planting. Associated accessibility and paving works 
with a raised carriageway and new raised crossing points 
at Pilgrim Street and Carter Lane junctions are also 
included.  Two options have been prepared for Members 

Page 379

Agenda Item 9



v.April 2019 

consideration – set out in the Options appraisal section. 
 

1.5. St Andrew’s Hill 
Introduction of a rain garden and tree planting, with 
associated pavement adjustments. This project requires 
the relocation of a parking bay to facilitate the rain garden. 

RAG Status: Green (Amber at last report to Committee) 

Risk Status: Medium (Medium at last report to committee) 

Total Estimated Cost of Project post-Gateway 5 (excluding 
risk):  

Ludgate Broadway: £440,000 - £475,000 (Option 1) 

St Andrew’s Hill: £190,000 – £220,000 

Change in Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): 
N/A 

Spend to Date: £594,824 as part of the whole Cool Streets 
and Greening programme preparation and design 

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: None  

Funding Source: Cool Streets & Greening Programme 
(OSPR), S106, S278 

Slippage: The project has been delayed due to the need to 
assess design options in more detail, to ensure that proposed 
option best meets the needs of all users. The projects are now 
expected to be completed by spring 2025.  

2. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Next Gateway: Gateway 5 (Authority to start work) – 
delegated to Chief Officer 

Next Steps:  

• Finalise construction package produced in collaboration 
with Highways Team 

• Undertake and finalise the legal processes including 
statutory public consultation to relocate the parking bays 
and introduce waiting and loading restrictions for the 
raised carriageway. 

• Undertake trial holes and infiltration tests to confirm the 
design of the raingardens 

• Develop construction programme with the City’s 
Highways Term contractor. 

• Gateway 5 approval (October 2024) 

• Construction – start on site early 2025 utilising City’s 
Highways Term contractor 
 

Requested Decisions:  

It is recommended that the Streets and Walkways Sub-
Committee: 

 

Page 380



v.April 2019 

I. Approve the budget adjustment/increase as per the 
Table 2 in Appendix 4 in order to fund the staff costs 
and fees required to reach the next gateway (£35K 
budget adjustment and £40K budget increase). 
 

II. Approve the design of the projects as set out in this 
report, including recommended option 1 for Ludgate 
Broadway; 
 

III. Approve the funding strategy for the Ludgate Broadway 
project as set out in Table 4 in Appendix 4 and note the 
total estimated project cost (excluding risk) is £440,000 - 
£475,000 for Option 1. 
 

IV. Note that the cost of the improvements at St Andrew’s 
Hill is £190,000 – £220,000. 
 

V. Delegate approval and drawdown of the Costed Risk 
Provision to the Chief Officer if sought at Gateway 5. 
 

VI. Approve to undertake and complete the statutory 
processes and consultation for the proposed relocation 
of parking bays, changes to the waiting and loading 
restrictions and the raised carriageways, as set out in 
this report. 
 

VII. Authorise the Executive Director Environment to 
consider responses to the traffic order consultation and 
if they consider it appropriate, to make the Order.  
 
 

3. Resource 
requirements to 
reach next 
Gateway 

Table 2: Adjustment Required to reach the next Gateway 

Description 

Approved 
Budget (£) 

Adjustment 
Resources 

Required (£) 

Revised 
Budget (£) 

16800454: CAS - Cool Streets & Greening 

Env Servs Staff Costs           101,000  
           

10,000  
         

111,000  

Open Spaces Staff Costs 
             

15,000                      -    
           

15,000  

P&T Staff Costs           140,000  
           

10,000  
         

150,000  

P&T Fees           379,000  
           

13,000  
         

392,000  

Smart Sensors           165,000  (35,000) 
         

130,000  

Total 16800454           800,000  (2,000)         798,000  

16100454: CAS - Cool Streets & Greening 

P&T Fees 
             

10,000                      -    
           

10,000  

Total 16100454             10,000                      -               

Page 381



v.April 2019 

10,000  

Ludgate Broadway SUDs 

Env Servs Staff Costs                      -    
           

10,000  
           

10,000  

P&T Staff Costs                      -    
           

10,000  
           

10,000  

P&T Fees                      -    
           

22,000  
           

22,000  

Total Ludgate Broadway                      -    
           

42,000  
           

42,000  

GRAND TOTAL           810,000  
           
40,000          850,000  

 
Additional fees and staff costs are required to reach the next 
gateway. This will include trial holes and infiltration tests as 
well as engagement with local occupiers, project management 
and finalisation of design.  
 
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: None 
 

4. Overview of 
project options 

4.1. Ludgate Broadway 
 
Both options include replacing the current temporary 
'parklet' with a permanent design comprising a widened 
pavement, a raingarden and tree planting. Various 
configurations have been worked through to optimise the 
space available for people walking and wheeling, whilst 
also providing greenery, sustainable drainage and space for 
tables and chairs from the adjacent cafes. Essential space 
for on-street loading has also been retained.  It is 
acknowledged that there are a lot of competing demands 
within this small area for kerbside space. 
 
During the design development, an option was considered 
to omit the raingarden and instead provide more pavement 
space for people walking and wheeling, or to accommodate 
more café tables and chairs. However, additional greenery 
in this location will enhance the local environment and 
introduce climate resilience into the streetscape which is a 
key objective of the Climate Action Strategy and Corporate 
Plan. Greening in this location was also strongly supported 
in the recent consultation on the Fleet Street Healthy 
Streets Plan where comments were also made about 
encouraging a ‘public space’ feel in the street. It is 
acknowledged that a wider pavement here will provide 
more space for walking or for café tables and chairs. 
However, on balance, it is considered that the modestly-
sized raingarden provides additional environmental and 
public realm benefits and therefore, this proposal is 
recommended. 
 
Both options in this report include raising and resurfacing 

Page 382



v.April 2019 

the carriageway along the entire length of Ludgate 
Broadway, to create an accessible and more comfortable 
street environment for people walking and wheeling. This 
encompasses the junction with Carter Lane at the southern 
section and both junctions with Pilgrim Street at the 
northern section. The resurfacing material options for the 
carriageway that are being considered are granite setts or 
asphalt (see options below).  
 
This scheme is proposed to be delivered using a mix of 
different funding sources. The Cool Streets and Greening 
programme will fund the raingarden, planting and 
associated pavement alterations. The Pilgrim Street S278 
project (which has already been approved and the scope is 
fully incorporated within the design of this project) will fund 
the raised crossing and associated changes at the junction 
with Pilgrim Street and the remainder of the costs will be 
funded from S106 receipts that have been allocated to the 
Fleet Street area programme along with an underspend 
from the Barts Close S106 that the developer has agreed 
can be used for this project. The funding strategy and the 
various funding sources are detailed in Appendix 4. 
 
4.2. Option 1 
 

Recommended: Ludgate Broadway carriageway 
resurfacing is recommended to be finished in granite setts 
and raised. There are three areas adjacent to Ludgate 
Broadway that already have granite setts, so the 
recommendation is to keep a consistent design throughout 
the scheme. Also, the S278 for Pilgrim Street has already 
been agreed as granite sets. Furthermore, this is a 
conservation area, so traditional, high-quality granite setts 
are more appropriate here. 

 
A maintenance sum for granite setts is included in the 
budget. Some of the existing granite setts are planned to be 
relayed to get a more uniform finish which will assist with 
maintenance in the future. This also aligns with the circular 
economy approach.  
 
4.3. Option 2 
 

Not recommended: Ludgate Broadway carriageway 
resurfacing to be done as asphalt and raised. This option is 
a lower-cost option (by approx. £65K). However, it is not 
recommended as it will not enable the ‘joining up’ of the 
existing areas of granite setts thereby resulting in a 
patchwork appearance that is not ideal for this conservation 
area.  
 
 

Page 383



v.April 2019 

4.4. Ludgate Broadway and Pilgrim Street: Healthy 
Streets Design Check (refer to Appendix 5):  
 

The current condition of the streets and the proposed 
changes were assessed using the Healthy Streets Design 
Check. 
 
The evaluation has concluded that the Healthy Streets 
scoring of the area will be improved as a result of providing 
wider pavements, raised crossing points with tactile paving 
and an improved quality and finish of the paving materials. 
The introduction of permanent greenery and seating also 
improved the outcome of the Healthy streets assessment.  
 
There are remaining 0 scores in the assessment as a result 
of some sections of the pavement still being less than 1.5m 
wide.  These cannot be addressed because of the narrow 
width of the streets and the continued need for vehicle 
access which does not leave enough space to widen the 
pavements. 

 

4.5. Ludgate Broadway and Pilgrim Street: City of 
London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT): 
 

The proposed changes will provide a more accessible 
street environment, with raised pedestrian crossings, tactile 
paving and improved finishes. The summary of the CoLSAT 
evaluation is included in the table below. 
 
The remaining 0 and 1 scores are largely a result of the 
remaining sections of narrow pavement as mentioned 
above in the Healthy Streets analysis. The carriageway has 
been raised to mitigate the impacts of the narrow 
pavements. However, it is recognised that the raised 
carriageway and resultant removal of the kerb upstand will 
result in a 0 score for long cane users walking alongside the 
flush kerb. However, this short street has very low vehicle 
numbers and vehicle speeds and tactile paving is being 
introduced at crossing points. 
 
The proposals for Pilgrim Street crossings also result in a 
notable improvement for most users. 
 

Table 1 - CoLSAT Summary Results Table. Ludgate Broadway 
improvements  

   
Total 0 scores* – 

severe accessibility 
issue  

Total 1 scores**- 
significant accessibility 

issues  

   Before  After  Before  After  

Electric 
Wheelchair 
user  

0 0 3 3 

Page 384



v.April 2019 

Manual 
Wheelchair 
user  

0 0 2 2 

Mobility 
Scooter user  

0 0 1 1 

Walking Aid 
user  

0 0 2 2 

Person with a 
walking 
impairment  

0 0 4 3 

Long cane 
user  

1 1 2 2 

Guide Dog 
user  

1 1 1 1 

Residual Sight 
user  

0 0 3 2 

Deaf or 
Hearing 
impairment  

0 0 4 3 

Acquired 
neurological 
impairment  

1 1 1 1 

Autism/Senso
ry-processing 
diversity  

0 0 2 2 

Development
al 
Impairment  

1 0 4 5 

Total  4 3 29 27 

 

Table 2 - CoLSAT Summary Results Table. Pilgrim Street 
improvements  

   
Total 0 scores* – 

severe accessibility 
issue  

Total 1 scores**- 
significant accessibility 

issues  

   Before  After  Before  After  

Electric 
Wheelchair 
user  

0 0 4 3 

Manual 
Wheelchair 
user  

0 0 3 2 

Mobility 
Scooter user  

0 0 1 1 

Walking Aid 
user  

0 0 2 2 

Person with a 
walking 
impairment  

0 0 5 3 

Long cane user  2 1 2 2 

Guide Dog user  2 1 1 1 

Residual Sight 
user  

0 0 4 2 

Page 385



v.April 2019 

Deaf or Hearing 
impairment  

0 0 4 3 

Acquired 
neurological 
impairment  

1 1 2 1 

Autism/Sensor
y-processing 
diversity  

0 0 2 2 

Developmental 
Impairment  

1 0 6 5 

Total  6 3 36 27 

 

 
4.6. St Andrew’s Hill 
 
The proposal incorporates a raingarden, a tree (subject to 
trail hole) and widened pavement on the western side, 
along with the re-positioning of cycle racks. The location of 
the interventions is in the central section of the street 
adjacent to the existing motor vehicle closure point. The 
raingarden will extend into an existing parking bay, which 
will be relocated to the northern part of St Andrew’s Hill, 
thereby providing the space needed for the raingarden 
whilst still retaining space for loading/unloading. The 
proposal also retains pedal cycle access. Subject to further 
investigation, a  new tree will be planted in the pavement on 
the south side of the raingarden. A single seat will also be 
provided. There is also an opportunity to introduce 
permeable paving (subject to underground utilities). This 
proposal is a relatively simple intervention, therefore only 
one option is being proposed. 
 
It is recognised that there is a need to carry out further 
accessibility improvements on this street. However, at 
present there are no funds allocated for these works. 
Funding sources will be investigated as part of the ongoing 
Fleet Street area programme. 
 
4.7. St Andrews Hill: Healthy Streets Design Check 

(refer to Appendix 5):  
 

The current condition of the street and the impact of the 
proposals were assessed utilising the Healthy Streets 
Design Check. The evaluation concluded that the Healthy 
Streets scoring of the area will be improved as a result of 
providing greenery and seating. 
 
There are remaining 0 scores as a result of some sections 
of the pavement still being less than 1.5m wide.  These 
cannot be addressed because of the narrow width of the 
street and the continued need for vehicle access and 
parking which does not leave enough space to widen the 

Page 386



v.April 2019 

pavements. 
 
4.8. St Andrews Hill: City of London Street Accessibility 

Tool (CoLSAT): 
 

A CoLSAT evaluation has been undertaken which has 
shown little change to the scores because of the minor 
nature of the changes to the small section of the street. 
However, the provision of seating and some widening of the 
pavements will provide more space to walk, wheel and rest 
which is an improvement over the existing street layout. 

 
Table 3 - CoLSAT Summary Results Table. St Andrews Hill 

improvements  

   
Total 0 scores* – 

severe accessibility 
issue  

Total 1 scores**- 
significant accessibility 

issues  

   Before  After  Before  After  

Electric 
Wheelchair 
user  

0 0 3 3 

Manual 
Wheelchair 
user  

0 0 2 2 

Mobility 
Scooter user  

0 0 1 1 

Walking Aid 
user  

0 0 2 2 

Person with a 
walking 
impairment  

0 0 2 2 

Long cane 
user  

3 3 1 1 

Guide Dog 
user  

2 2 2 2 

Residual Sight 
user  

0 0 4 4 

Deaf or 
Hearing 
impairment  

0 0 3 3 

Acquired 
neurological 
impairment  

1 1 1 1 

Autism/Senso
ry-processing 
diversity  

0 0 2 2 

Development
al 
Impairment  

1 1 6 6 

Total  7 7 29 29 
 

5. Recommendation 
5.1. Ludgate Broadway: Option 1 is recommended for the 

reasons set out above. 
 

5.2. St Andrew’s Hill: Approval is also sought for the design 
to be taken forward to the next gateway. 

Page 387



v.April 2019 

 

6. Risk 
6.1. The main risks are as follows: 

 

• Utilities and underground structures restrict the ability to 
implement the schemes. 
 
Response: Ground investigations including radar surveys 
have been carried out for all sites. Further trial holes are 
needed to confirm underground conditions. 

 

• Objections from local occupiers  
 
Response: Initial consultation has been undertaken with 
local occupiers with positive responses and further 
engagement is planned as the designs are developed. 

 

• Cost escalation as a result of inflation or other factors 
 
Response: initial cost estimates have been produced and 
the proposed cost range is sufficient to cover the project 
costs including maintenance of planting and paving. 

 
6.2. Costed Risk Provision Utilised at Last Gateway: None 

Change in Costed Risk: None 
 
Further information is available in the Risk Register (Appendix 
2)  
 

7. Procurement 
strategy 

7.1. A procurement exercise will be undertaken to appoint a 
SuDS consultant to provide technical advice on the 
design. 
 

7.2. All works will be undertaken by the City’s highway term 
contractor FM Conway 

 

 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Project Coversheet 

Appendix 2 Risk Register  

Appendix 3 Plans and Sketches 

Appendix 4 Finance Tables 

Appendix 5 Healthy Street Assessment 

Appendix 6 CoLSAT Summary 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Marta Woloszczuk 

Email Address marta.woloszczuk@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 020 7332 3986 

 

Page 388

mailto:marta.woloszczuk@cityoflondon.gov.uk


v.April 2019 

Options Appraisal Matrix – For Ludgate Broadway only (there is only one option proposed for St Andrew’s Hill) 
 
 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 

1. Brief description 
of option 

This option proposes a raised carriageway in granite 
setts.  

The scheme aims to replace the current temporary 
'parklet' with a permanent design comprising a widened 
pavement, a raingarden and tree planting. Associated 
accessibility, increased waiting and loading restrictions 
and paving works with a raised carriageway are 
proposed in granite sets. Additionally, there are new 
raised crossing points at Pilgrim Street (approved for 
implementation) and Carter Lane junctions also 
proposed in granite sets.  

This option proposes a raised carriageway in 
asphalt.  

The scheme aims to replace the current temporary 
‘parklet’ with a permanent design comprising a 
widened pavement, a raingarden and tree planting. 
Associated accessibility, increased waiting and 
loading restrictions, and paving works with a raised 
carriageway are proposed in asphalt. Additionally, 
there would be new raised crossing points at Pilgrim 
Street (approved for implementation) and Carter 
Lane junctions proposed in asphalt. 

2. Scope and 
exclusions 

Please see plans and sketches in Appendix 3 

 

A separate plan has not been produced for this 
option as the difference in design only relates to 
materials  

Project Planning   

3. Programme and 
key dates  

Key dates: 

• Finalise drawings and surveys – September 2024 

• Traffic Order Process – July - October 2024 

• Gateway 5 delegated to Chief Officer – October 
2024  

Same as Option 1 

P
age 389



v.April 2019 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 

• Start on site early 2025  

4. Risk implications  
Please refer to the main report 

Same as Option 1 

5. Stakeholders and 
consultees 

Local occupiers and stakeholders were consulted in 
autumn 2023 on the concept design and further 
consultation will be carried out in July 2024 on the 
detailed design once approved. 
This includes letters posted to all local occupiers and 
information on the website. 

Same as Option 1 

6. Benefits of 
option 

This option proposes granite setts to the carriageway 
and a raised carriageway to provide one level. The 
benefits of this option are as follows: 

- A consistent design approach to join up existing 
areas of granite setts at Carter Lane and 
Blackfriars Lane.  

- Raised carriageway enables people walking or 
wheeling to get past narrow pavements.  

- The S278 design for Pilgrim Street junction has 
already been agreed as granite setts 

- This is a conservation area and so traditional 
high-quality materials are more appropriate here 

- This area has a very low amount of traffic and is 
not a through-route. It also has a number of retail 
and café facilities, therefore the granite setts will 
create an enhanced public realm and pedestrian 
environment. 

- The waiting and loading restrictions keep 

This option proposes standard asphalt to the 
carriageway and a raised carriageway to provide 
one level. The benefits of this option are as follows: 

- This is a lower cost option (approx. £65K less 
than Option 1) 

- Raised carriageway enables people walking 
or wheeling to get past narrow pavements.  

- Black asphalt provides a higher visual 
contrast with York Stone which is beneficial 
for people with certain visual impairments. 

- The waiting and loading restrictions keep 
essential crossing areas clear of obstruction 
particularly for people crossing. 

- Space is retained to accommodate local 
servicing requirements.   

 

P
age 390



v.April 2019 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 

essential crossing areas clear of obstruction 
particularly for people crossing. 

- Space is retained to accommodate local 
servicing requirements.   

 

7. Disbenefits of 
option 

This option proposes granite sets to the carriageway. 
The disbenefits of this option are as follows: 

- Higher cost (approx. £65K higher than Option 2) 
- Lower visual contrast with York Stone (for those 

that require visual contrast to navigate the 
streets) 

- More expensive and disruptive to maintain. 
 

This option proposes standard asphalt to the 
carriageway. The disbenefits of this option are as 
follows: 

- The opportunity to provide a consistent 
material and appearance to join up the 
existing areas of granite sets will be missed 
resulting in a patchwork appearance  

- This is a conservation area and the 
aesthetics of this finish are less attractive 
than higher-quality granite setts 

- The design for the S278 for Pilgrim Street has 
already been agreed to be constructed in  
granite sets 

 

Resource 
Implications 

  

8. Total estimated 
cost  

Total estimated cost post Gateway 5 (excluding risk): 
 £440,000 - £475,000  

 

Total estimated cost post Gateway 5 (excluding 
risk): 
£385,000 - £410,000 

P
age 391



v.April 2019 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 

9. Funding strategy   
The table below sets out the funding strategy for the 
project post Gateway 5: 
 

Table 4: Funding Strategy - Ludgate Broadway 

Funding Source Amount (£) 

OSPR - CAS: Cool Streets and 
Greening 

                 
250,000  

Pilgrim Street S278 
                 
150,000  

S106 - Barts Close - 
12/00256/FULEIA - Transport 

                    
66,156  

S106 earmarked for Fleet 
Street Area Healthy Streets 
Plan Delivery* 

                      
8,844  

TOTAL 
                 
475,000  

 
 
*This is the funding source identified for the CRP if one 
is required at Gateway 5 
 

If this option is chosen the Cool Streets and 
Greening Programme allocation and S278 allocation 
will be reduced 

10. Investment 
appraisal  

N/A 
N/A 

11. Estimated capital 
value/return 

N/A  
N/A 

P
age 392



v.April 2019 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 

12. Ongoing revenue 
implications  

The cost estimate includes maintenance for 20 years  The cost estimate includes maintenance for 20 
years 

13. Affordability  
The funding strategy has been agreed through the 
previous committee approvals.  

The funding strategy has been agreed through the 
previous committee approvals. 

14. Legal 
implications  

N/A If the asphalt option is chosen the S278 for Pilgrim 
Street will need to be renegotiated 

15. Corporate 
property 
implications  

None  
None 

16. Traffic 
implications 

Loading and waiting restrictions are proposed to ensure 
crossing points are key areas are not obstructed by 
vehicles.  
 
The area available for loading and unloading has 
reduced but it is envisaged that remaining space 
together with those available nearby should be sufficient 
to accommodate the demand.  

Loading and waiting restrictions are proposed to 
ensure crossing points are key areas not obstructed 
by vehicles. 
 
The area available for loading and unloading has 
reduced but it is envisaged that remaining space 
together with those available nearby should be 
sufficient to accommodate the demand. 

17. Sustainability 
and energy 
implications  

Rain gardens are shallow planting beds, designed to 
collect rainwater run-off from adjacent paved areas and 
thereby slow the movement of rainwater into the sewer 
system. The added benefits of these gardens are that 
they also soften the urban environment, enhance the 
public realm, support climate resilience and enhance 
biodiversity.  
 

Rain gardens are shallow planting beds, designed to 
collect rainwater run-off from adjacent paved areas 
and thereby slow the movement of rainwater into the 
sewer system. The added benefits of these gardens 
are that they also soften the urban environment, 
enhance the public realm, support climate resilience 
and enhance biodiversity.  
 

P
age 393



v.April 2019 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 

These SuDS schemes will help to establish a new way 
of designing the City’s public realm whereby 
environmental resilience measures including SuDS and 
planting are a high priority and therefore become more 
prevalent, enabling the City to better adapt to climate 
change. These features aim to reduce the rates of 
surface water entering the combined sewer systems, 
reducing the impact of intense rainfall.  

These SuDS schemes will help to establish a new 
way of designing the City’s public realm whereby 
environmental resilience measures including SuDS 
and planting are a high priority and therefore 
become more prevalent, enabling the City to better 
adapt to climate change. These features aim to 
reduce the rates of surface water entering the 
combined sewer systems, reducing the impact of 
intense rainfall. 

18. IS implications  
N/A 

N/A 

19. Equality Impact 
Assessment 

The Equality Impact Assessment has been completed 
and the design adapted to take it into account.  
 
The proposed improvements are likely to positively 
benefit people of all ages, including the elderly and 
younger people.  
 
The proposals to improve the pavements and crossings 
along Ludgate Broadway, would benefit both elderly and 
younger users and help to address some of the key 
barriers to active travel for the elderly population. The 
flush surfaces of the raised carriageway sections will 
also benefit all users but particularly those who have 
limited mobility, are reliant on mobility aids or are 
travelling with young children in pushchairs.  
 

 

The Equality Impact Assessment has been 
completed and the design adapted to take it into 
account. 
 
The proposed improvements are likely to positively 
benefit people of all ages, including the elderly and 
younger people.  
 
The proposals to improve the pavements and 
crossings along Ludgate Broadway, would benefit 
both elderly and younger users and help to address 
some of the key barriers to active travel for the 
elderly population. The flush surfaces of the raised 
carriageway sections will also benefit all users but 
particularly those who have limited mobility, are 
reliant on mobility aids or are travelling with young 
children in pushchairs. 

P
age 394



v.April 2019 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 

20. Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

N/A N/A 

21. Recommendation Recommended Not recommended 

 
 
 

P
age 395



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 396



V14 July 2019 
 

Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 
UPI: 12267 
Core Project Name: Climate Action Strategy, Cool Streets and Greening 
Programme – Phase 4  
Programme Affiliation (if applicable): Climate Action Strategy, Cool Streets and 
Greening Programme and Fleet Street Programme 
Project Manager: Marta Woloszczuk 
Definition of need: The Climate Action Strategy Cool Streets & Greening 
programme is introducing climate resilience measures into the City’s public realm to 
avoid future disruption from climate risks. This report (July 2024) focuses on two 
projects, Ludgate Broadway and St Andrew’s Hill. 
Key measures of success: Installation of SuDS and climate resilience measures, 
widening the pavement and improving accessibility. 
Expected timeframe for the project delivery: 2022-2025 
Key Milestones:  

• GW2/3 – November 2022 Programme level 
• GW 4 – Summer 2023 Programme level (delayed to Nov 2023 as a result of 

survey delays and site constraints) 
• GW 4 – Ludgate Broadway and St Andrew’s Hill (July 2024) 
• GW5 – Autumn 2024  
• Implementation early 2025 

Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery? N 
The project has been delayed as a result of survey delays, site constraints and 
internal design reviews.  
Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing?  
No 
  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 
Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes:  
 
‘Project Briefing’ G1 report (as approved by Chief Officer 30/09/20):  

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): Cool Streets and Greening 
Programme approved at total cost of £6.8m (all Phases) 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: none 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 2021-2025 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 
‘Project Proposal’ G2/3 report (as approved by PSC 23/11/22): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £2.4m for Phase 4 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £185K 
• Spend to date: N/A 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: None 
• CRP Requested: None 
• CRP Drawn Down: None 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 2023-2024 

Page 397



V14 July 2019 
 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: N/A 
 Detailed Design’ G4 report (as approved by S&W 07/11/23): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £1.4m - £1.7m 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk: £95K 
• Spend to date: £93,495. 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: None 
• CRP Requested: None 
• CRP Drawn Down: None 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 2024-2025 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: Reduced number of sites and extended 
programme due to utilities constraints and survey delays 
Detailed Design’ G4 report Ludgate Bradway and St Andrew’s Hill (this 
report): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £630,000 - £695,000 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk: £75K 
• Spend to date: £594,824 as part of the development for Cool Streets and 

Greening programme 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: None 
• CRP Requested: None 
• CRP Drawn Down: None 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 2024-2025 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: This report focuses only on Ludgate 
Broadway and St Andrew’s Hill and includes detailed design approval. 

 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]: Included in the project 
cost range  
Programme Affiliation [£]: Cool Streets and Greening £6.8m programme, Fleet 
Street Area Programme 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 398



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 
risk rating: 

CRP requested 
this gateway

Open Risks
10

PV12267 Total CRP used to 
date

Closed Risks
0

Risk 
ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Risk 
score

Costed impact pre-
mitigation (£)

Costed Risk 
Provision requested 
Y/N

Confidence in the 
estimation

Mitigating actions Mitigation 
cost (£)

Likelihood 
Classificat
ion post-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificat
ion post-
mitigation

Costed 
impact post-
mitigation (£)

Post-
Mitiga
tion 
risk 
score

CRP used 
to date

Use of CRP Date 
raised

Named 
Departmental 
Risk 
Manager/ 
Coordinator 

Risk owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External 
Party)

Date 
Closed 
OR/ 
Realised & 
moved to 
Issues

Comment(s)

R1 2 (2) Financial Funding not available Project will not progress Rare Minor 1 £0.00 N A – Very Confident Climate Action Strategy 
funding identified £0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 0 10/01/2023 DBE Gordon Roy

R2 2 (1) Compliance/Re
gulatory

Delays due to governance 
& sign off procedures Project will be delayed Possible Minor 3 £0.00 N A – Very Confident Steering Group 

governance structure £0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 0 10/01/2023 DBE Gordon Roy

R3 2 (4) Contractual/Par
tnership

Contract or partnership 
problems Project will be delayed Rare Minor 1 £0.00 N A – Very Confident

Procurement and 
comptrollers will oversee 
contracts and partnership 
arrangements

£0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 0 10/01/2023 DBE Gordon Roy

R4 2 (4) Contractual/Par
tnership Skills shortage Project delayed Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N A – Very Confident

Skills available for this 
phase, but key officers left/ 
being recruited. Use 
consultants if needed

£0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 0 03/07/2023 DBE Gordon Roy

R5 2 (9) Environmental
Minimal opportunities for 
resilience measures due to 
utilities

find alternative sites and 
liaise with engineers Likely Serious 8 £0.00 N A – Very Confident

Carry out this phase as 
preparation avoiding 
costly design for individual 
sites

£0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 0 03/07/2023 DBE Gordon Roy

R6 3 (9) Environmental
Minimal opportunities for 
resilience measures due to 
environmental constraints 

It may not be possible to 
implement resilience 
measures due to unforseen 
underground structures

Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00 N A – Very Confident

Close laison with project 
managers will enable early 
redesign  before costs are 
incurred

£0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 0 03/07/2023 DBE Gordon Roy

R7 4 (3) Reputation Objections from local 
occupiers

Design adaptations may be 
needed Possible Minor 3 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident Consult with local 

occupiers £0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 0 04/09/2023 DBE Gordon Roy

R8 4 (2) Financial Unexpected cost increases
Review of scope may be 
required and identification 
of additional funding

Possible Major 12 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident

Avoid project delays, 
regular meetings with 
contractors, regular cost 
reviews

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 0 04/09/2023 DBE Gordon Roy

R09 4 (2) Financial Utilities relocation cost 
Utilities relocation cost may 
be more costly than 
expected

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N A – Very Confident

Ensure ongoing 
engagement with utility 
companies to establish the 
cost

£0.00 Rare Serious £0.00 2 £0.00 0 11/06/2024 DBE Gordon Roy

R10 4 (1) Compliance/Re
gulatory

The traffic orders may cause 
a public enquiry to be held

Public objection to the new 
traffic orders Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00 N A – Very Confident Ongoing public 

engagement £0.00 Rare Serious £0.00 2 £0.00 0 11/06/2024 DBE Gordon Roy

R12 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R13 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R14 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R15 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R16 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R17 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R18 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R19 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R20 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R21 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R22 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R23 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R24 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R25 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R26 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R27 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R28 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R29 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R30 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R31 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R32 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R33 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R34 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R35 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R36 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R37 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R38 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R39 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R40 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R41 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R42 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R43 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R44 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R45 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R46 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R47 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R48 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R49 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R51 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R52 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R53 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R54 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R55 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R56 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R57 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R58 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R59 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R60 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R61 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R62 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R63 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R64 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R65 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R66 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R67 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R68 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R69 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
R70 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Cool Streets & Greening Medium

General risk classification

1,700,000£                                 

Project Name: 

Unique project identifier: Total estimated 
cost (exc risk): -£               

Ownership & ActionMitigation actions

Average 
unmitigated risk 

Average 
mitigated 

4.8

1.7

-£               

P
age 399



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 400



Appendix 3 Plan and Sketches 

Ludgate Broadway / Pilgrim Street - GA 

 

P
age 401



Ludgate Broadway / Pilgrim Street - Sketch 

 

 

 

 

P
age 402



St Andrew’s Hill - GA 

 

Existing cycle racks to be 
relocated away from the 
pavement 

P
age 403



 

St Andrew’s Hill Sketch 

 

P
age 404



Appendix 4: Finance Tables 

Table 1: Expenditure to Date 

Description 
Approved Budget 

(£) 
Expenditure (£) Balance (£) 

16800454: CAS - Cool Streets & Greening 
Env Servs Staff Costs                  101,000                      79,837                      21,163  
Open Spaces Staff Costs                     15,000                      10,964                        4,036  
P&T Staff Costs                  140,000                      87,751                      52,249  
P&T Fees                  379,000                   332,893                      46,107  
Smart Sensors                  165,000                      83,379                      81,621  

Total 16800454                  800,000                   594,824                   205,176  
16100454: CAS - Cool Streets & Greening 
P&T Fees                     10,000                              -                        10,000  

Total 16100454                    10,000                              -                       10,000  
GRAND TOTAL                  810,000                   594,824                   215,176  

    

Table 2: Adjustment Required to reach the next Gateway 

Description 

Approved Budget 
(£) 

Adjustment 
Resources 

Required (£) 

Revised Budget 
(£) 

16800454: CAS - Cool Streets & Greening 
Env Servs Staff Costs                  101,000                      10,000                   111,000  
Open Spaces Staff Costs                     15,000                              -                        15,000  
P&T Staff Costs                  140,000                      10,000                   150,000  
P&T Fees                  379,000                      13,000                   392,000  
Smart Sensors                  165,000  (35,000)                  130,000  

Total 16800454                  800,000  (2,000)                  798,000  
16100454: CAS - Cool Streets & Greening 
P&T Fees                     10,000                              -                        10,000  

Total 16100454                    10,000                              -                       10,000  
Ludgate Broadway SUDs 
Env Servs Staff Costs                             -                        10,000                      10,000  
P&T Staff Costs                             -                        10,000                      10,000  
P&T Fees                             -                        22,000                      22,000  

Total Ludgate Broadway                             -                       42,000                     42,000  
GRAND TOTAL                  810,000                     40,000                   850,000  

   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 405



Table 3: Revised Funding Allocation 

Funding Source 
Current Funding 

Allocation (£) 
Funding 

Adjustments (£) 
Revised Funding 

Allocation (£) 
16800454: CAS - Cool Streets & Greening 
OSPR - CAS: Cool Streets and 
Greening                  800,000  (2,000)                  798,000  

Total 16800454                  800,000  (2,000)                  798,000  
16100454: CAS - Cool Streets & Greening 
OSPR - CAS: Cool Streets and 
Greening                     10,000                              -                        10,000  

Total 16100454                    10,000                              -                       10,000  
Ludgate Broadway SUDs 
OSPR - CAS: Cool Streets and 
Greening                             -                          2,000                        2,000  
S106 - Barts Close - 
12/00256/FULEIA - Transport                             -                        40,000                      40,000  

Total Ludgate Broadway                             -                       42,000                     42,000  
TOTAL                  810,000                     40,000                   850,000  

    

Table 4: Funding Strategy - Ludgate Broadway 
  

Funding Source Amount (£) 
  

OSPR - CAS: Cool Streets and 
Greening                  250,000  

  

Pilgrim Street S278                  150,000  
  

S106 - Barts Close - 
12/00256/FULEIA - Transport                     66,156  

  

S106 earmarked for Fleet 
Street Area Healthy Streets 
Plan Delivery                       8,844  

  

TOTAL                  475,000  
  

 

Page 406



Appendix 5 – Healthy Street Check 

Ludgate Broadway 

 

 

Pilgrim Street 

 

 

 

Page 407



 

St Andrew’s Hill 

 

Page 408



Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment b

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point

Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2

~3m uncontrolled crossing at the Ludgate Broadway 
junction with Carter Lane, with no entry for motor 
vehicles via Carter Lane (except cycles).  

Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4

No protected space for cyclists throughout, noted that 
cyclists would bike directly along the Ludgate 
Broadway carriageway during the site visit. 

Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0

No tactile edge marking at the Ludgate Broadway 
junction with Carter Lane. Raised table present at this 
junction, making the carriageway and footway flush 
(setts).  

Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3

Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4
Note: CoL Standard Details 11 (SD 11) suggest max 
fall of 1:12, ideal fall of 1:20.

Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) No Audible 3 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 1
Count Down No count down 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 2
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material

Surface Type York Stone with gaps/bumps 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 3 3

York Stone along the majority of the footway along 
Ludgate Broadway along the western side, with 
asphalt paving along the footway on the eastern side. 

Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 York Stone and asphalt paving is varying in colour. 

Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3

High contrast between York Stone and asphalt paved 
carriageway. Lower contrast between asphalt used on 
footway and carriageway.

Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Single yellow lines present along all road edges with 
the exception of Carter Lane which changes into 
double yellow lines. 

Kerb

Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing Upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3

Footway is flush with carriageway with a raised table 
at the Ludgate Broadway junction with Carter Lane 
(uncontrolled crossing point). 

Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width

Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1
~1.2m minimum footway width along both sides of 
Ludgate Broadway. 

Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 1 1 ~1.8m between building line and bollard. 

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3 C3 bollards located along Ludgate Broadway. 
Cafe Tables Cafe tables without 'protection' 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 3 3

Temporary Items Temporary, obstructions, non chapter 8 2 2 3 2 3 1 2 2 2 2 2 2
Multiple dockless bikeshare bikes parked on Ludgate 
Broadway carriageway, adjacent to seating. 

Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

C3 bollards along both sides of Ludgate Broadway, 
and temorary bollards adjacent to benches and 
planters on the eastern side of the Ludgate Broadway 
carriageway. 

Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Black C3 bollards contrast with York Stone and 
asphalt. 

Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3
Benches located directly along the eastern side of the 
Ludgate Broadway carriageway and footway.

Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 4 4 3 3

Three benches on the Ludgate Broadway carriageway, 
three individual moveable timber seats without 
backing, and an additional three backless benches 
along the footway adjacent to the restaurants. 

Bench Seat Height Benches seat height > 50 cm 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Located near to Ludgate Hill which is a major through 
route with high traffic flows and poor air quality. In 
addition to this the benches are located within the 
carriageway boundary, although it is important to note 
that the number of vehicles (vpd) using Ludgate 
Broadway is likely to be minimal. 

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 Assumption based on site visit and google. 
Camber (across footway) Camber 1/20 to 1/50 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 Assumption based on site visit and google. 

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1

One disabled parking bay is present on Black Friars 
Lane, located approximately 140m from the Ludgate 
Broadway junction with Carter Lane. Two disabled 
parking bays are present on Playhouse Yard, located 
approximately 130m from the Ludgate Broadway 
junction with Carter Lane. See here for more details: 
https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/m
apping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_la
yer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Blue%20
Badge%20Bays%20layers

Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxis are permitted to drop off on the single yellow 
lines along Ludgate Broadway.

Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb < 100 mm 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3

Nearest bus stop is located on Ludgate Hill (140m / 4-
minute walk) from the Ludgate Broadway junction with 
Carter Lane.

Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets

Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4

Accessible toilets are available at the Manoj Coffee 
and Cuts which is located 15m (1-minute walk) away 
from the Ludgate Broadway junction with Carter Lane, 
found using the following tool: 
https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/m
apping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_la
yer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Toilets%
20layers

Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Changing Places toilets are available at the Tate 
Modern which is 850m (12-minute walk) away from 
the Ludgate Broadway junction with Carter Lane, 
found using the following tool: https://www.changing-
places.org/find

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the City 
of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

Appendix 6 - COLSAT Assessments SuDSs

Ludgate Broadway - Existing

Page 409



Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment b

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point

Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
No controlled or uncontrolled crossing along this 
section. 

Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 No protected space for cyclists throughout.

Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (partial width) 3 3 3 3 3 1 2 3 3 3 3 4
No controlled or uncontrolled crossing along this 
section. 

Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour as per guidance (red at contr. buff at uncontr.) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4 No dropped kerbs. 
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) No Audible 3 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 1
Count Down No count down 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 2
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material

Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3

Scoutmoor York Stone Tactile Paving Slabs (400mm x 
400mm x 63mm deep) laid on 50mm larsens fine 
bedding concrete placed along all footways. 

Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

New scoutmoor York Stone Tactile Paving Slabs 
(400mm x 400mm x 63mm deep) laid on 50mm 
larsens fine bedding concrete placed along all 
footways. 

Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
High contrast between York Stone and granite setts on 
carriageway. Uniform on both sides of footway. 

Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Single yellow lines present along all road edges with 
the exception of the eastern side of Ludgate Broadway 
adjacent to the SUDs and Carter Lane which changes 
into double yellow lines. 

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 2 2 0 1 3 3 2 2 1

Footway Width

Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1

 ~1.5m minimum footway width along both sides of 
Ludgate Broadway (pinch point adjacent to SuDS). 
This does go up to 1.6m and 2.23m further south, still 
adjcent to the SuDS.  

Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 1 1
 ~1.5m as bollards have been removed in the 
proposed scheme.

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3 Scheme proposes to remove existing bollards. 
Cafe Tables Cafe tables without 'protection' 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 3 3

Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Recommended that dedicated parking bays are 
explored to avoid obstructions from dockless 
bikes/scooters. 

Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3

Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3

Public seating proposed adjacent to the SuDS. 
Existing benches also located adjacent to cafés and 
restaurant on the eastern side of Ludgate Broadway. 

Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 4 4 3 3

Proposed public seating adjacent to SuDS will have 
arms and backrests. Benches located adjacent to 
cafés and restaurant on the eastern side of Ludgate 
Broadway, do not have arms and backrests. 

Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 Estimated. 

Bench Sensory Experience Good sensory experience (textures, planting, sound, colour) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 3

Located near to Ludgate Hill which is a major through 
route with high traffic flows and poor air quality. 
However, some improvements to the sensory 
experience with addition of seating, SUDs and 
associated planting which creates a barrier between 
the benches and the carriageway. Carriageway is 
narrowed also which reduces dominance of vehicles, 
improving the pedestrian experience. 

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1

One disabled parking bay is present on Black Friars 
Lane, located approximately 140m from the Ludgate 
Broadway junction with Carter Lane. Two disabled 
parking bays are present on Playhouse Yard, located 
approximately 130m from the Ludgate Broadway 
junction with Carter Lane. See here for more details: 
https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/m
apping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_la
yer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Blue%20
Badge%20Bays%20layers 

Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Taxis are permitted to drop off on the single yellow 
lines along Ludgate Broadway; single yellow lines 
retained in proposal. 

Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb < 100 mm 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3

Nearest bus stop is located on Ludgate Hill (140m / 4-
minute walk) from the Ludgate Broadway junction with 
Carter Lane.

Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets

Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4

Accessible toilets are available at the Manoj Coffee 
and Cuts which is located 15m (1-minute walk) away 
from the Ludgate Broadway junction with Carter Lane, 
found using the following tool: 
https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/m
apping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_la
yer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Toilets%
20layers

Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Changing Places toilets are available at the Tate 
Modern which is 850m (12-minute walk) away from 
the Ludgate Broadway junction with Carter Lane, 
found using the following tool: https://www.changing-
places.org/find

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the City 
of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

Ludgate Broadway - Proposed

Page 410



Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment b

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point

Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing 6 m to 8 m road width 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 2 3 2
Uncontrolled crossing at the Pilgrim Street junction 
with Pageantmaster Court is approximately 9m. 

Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4

No protected space for cyclists throughout. Contraflow 
cycle facility starts on Pilgrim Street at the junction 
with Ludgate Broadway (no protection). 

Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0
No tactile paving present at the Pilgrim Street junction 
with Pageantmaster Court. 

Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3

Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop > 1/6, 9.5 deg, 17% incline 1 1 2 1 3 3 2 3 1 3 2

Steep incline along eastern kerb at the Pilgrim Street 
junction with Pageantmaster Court. (Note: CoL 
Standard Details 11 (SD 11) suggest max fall of 1:12, 
ideal fall of 1:20).

Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Dropped kerb without tactiles at the Pageantmaster 
Court junction with Pilgrim Street. 

Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) No Audible 3 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 1
Count Down No count down 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 2
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material

Surface Type York Stone with gaps/bumps 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 3 3

York Stone along the majority of the footway along 
Pilgrim Street within the section, with the york stone 
changing to asphalt paving on the eastern side of 
Pilgrim Street. 

Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Some variation given asphalt and York Stone are 
used. 

Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4

York Stone footway has a high contrast with asphalt 
carriageway paving, however the asphalt footway on 
the eastern side of Pilgrim Street has a lower contrast 
with the asphalt carriageway paving. 

Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 Single yellow lines at road edge. 

Kerb

Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 3 4 0 0 1 2 4 2 1
Dropped kerb at the Pilgrim Street junction with 
Pageantmaster Court (no tactile paving). 

Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width

Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1
~2m footway width along Pilgrim Street and 
Pageantmaster Court. 

Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 1 1 ~1.6m between building line and bollard. 

Street Furniture

Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3

C3 bollards at the Pilgrim Street junction with 
Pageantmaster Court junction approximately 0.5m 
away from kerb. 

Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4

Temporary Items Temporary, obstructions, non chapter 8 2 2 3 2 3 1 2 2 2 2 2 2
Dockless bikeshare bike left on Pageantmaster Court 
footway, thus narrowing footway. 

Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
C3 bollards along Pageantmaster Court and Pilgrim 
Street  > 0.9m in height. 

Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 Black C3 bollards contrast with York Stone paving. 

Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3

Benches located along Ludgate Broadway 
approximately 35m (1-minute walk) from the Pilgrim 
Street junction with Pageantmaster Court. 

Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 4 4 3 3

Three benches on the Ludgate Broadway carriageway, 
three individual moveable timber seats without 
backing, and an additional three backless benches 
along the footway adjacent to the restaurants. 

Bench Seat Height Benches seat height > 50 cm 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Located near to Ludgate Hill which is a major through 
route with high traffic flows and poor air quality. In 
addition to this the benches are located within the 
carriageway boundary, although it is important to note 
that the number of vehicles (vpd) using Ludgate 
Broadway is likely to be minimal. 

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 Assumption based on site visit and google. 
Camber (across footway) Camber 1/20 to 1/50 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 Assumption based on site visit and google. 

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1

One disabled parking bay is present on Black Friars 
Lane, located approximately 190m from the Pilgrim 
Street junction with Pageantmaster Court.  Two 
disabled parking bays are present on Playhouse Yard, 
located approximately 180m from the Pilgrim Street 
junction with Pageantmaster Court. See here for more 
details: 
https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/m
apping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_la
yer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Blue%20
Badge%20Bays%20layers

Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxis are permitted to drop off on the single yellow 
lines along Pilgrim Street.

Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb < 100 mm 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3

Nearest bus stop is located on Ludgate Hill (120m / 2-
minute walk) from the Pilgrim Street junction with 
Pageantmaster Court.

Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets

Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4

Accessible toilets are available at the Manoj Coffee 
and Cuts which is located 33m (1-minute walk) away 
from the Pilgrim Street junction with Pageantmaster 
Court, found using the following tool: 
https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/m
apping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_la
yer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Toilets%
20layers

Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Changing Places toilets are available at the Tate 
Modern which is 1.0km (14-minute walk) away from 
the Pilgrim Street junction with Pageantmaster Court, 
found using the following tool: https://www.changing-
places.org/find

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the City 
of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

Pilgrim Street - Existing

Page 411



Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment b

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point

Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing 6 m to 8 m road width 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 2 3 2

Uncontrolled crossing at the Pilgrim Street junction 
with Pageantmaster Court is approximately 8m. The 
proposed uncontrolled crossing at the northern end of 
Ludgate Broadway is roughly 8m also. 

Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4

No protected space for cyclists throughout. Contraflow 
cycle facility will be retained, which starts on Pilgrim 
Street at the junction with Ludgate Broadway (no 
protection). No cycle infrastructure proposed as part of 
these works. 

Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (partial width) 3 3 3 3 3 1 2 3 3 3 3 4

Tactile edge markings provided along both sides of 
Pilgrim Street uncontrolled junction with 
Pageantmaster Court, and at the northern end of 
Ludgate Broadway. This entire section will be a raised 
table (flush carriageway and footway) therefore the 
tactiles only cover a small section of the flush area - 
this can be a significant issue for those who are 
visually impaired as they're unable to detect where the 
footway stops and where the carriageway begins. 

Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4

Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour as per guidance (red at contr. buff at uncontr.) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Buff Scoutmoor York Stone paving at uncontrolled 
crossing. 

Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4 Entire section is flush. 
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) No Audible 3 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 1
Count Down No count down 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 2
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material

Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3

Scoutmoor York Stone Tactile Paving Slabs (400mm x 
400mm x 63mm deep) laid on 50mm larsens fine 
bedding concrete placed along all footways. 

Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

New Scoutmoor York Stone Tactile Paving Slabs 
(400mm x 400mm x 63mm deep) laid on 50mm 
larsens fine bedding concrete placed along all 
footways. 

Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
High contrast between York Stone and granite setts on 
carriageway. Uniform on both sides of footway. 

Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Double yellow lines are proposed to replace the 
existing single yellow line markings. Double kerb blips 
proposed also.

Kerb

Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Raised granite table is proposed on Pilgrim Street 
means footway and carriageway will be flush. 

Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 2 2 0 1 3 3 2 2 1

Footway Width

Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1
~2m footway width along Pilgrim Street and 
Pageantmaster Court. 

Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 1 1

~2m footway width along Pilgrim Street and 
Pageantmaster Court as bollards have been removed 
in the proposed scheme. 

Street Furniture

Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Scheme proposes to remove existing bollards, 
retaining some at the junctions only. 

Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4

Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Recommended that dedicated parking bays are 
explored to avoid obstructions from dockless 
bikes/scooters. 

Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3

Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3
Benches located adjacent to cafés and restaurant on 
the eastern side of Ludgate Broadway. 

Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 4 4 3 3
Benches located adjacent to cafés and restaurant on 
the eastern side of Ludgate Broadway. 

Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3

Bench Sensory Experience Good sensory experience (textures, planting, sound, colour) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 3

Located near to Ludgate Hill which is a major through 
route with high traffic flows and poor air quality. 
However, some improvements to the sensory 
experience with addition of SUDs and associatged 
planting which creates a barrier between the benches 
and the carriageway. Carriageway is narrowed also 
which reduces dominance of vehicles, improving the 
pedestrian experience. 

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber 1/20 to 1/50 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1

One disabled parking bay is present on Black Friars 
Lane, located approximately 190m from the Pilgrim 
Street junction with Pageantmaster Court.  Two 
disabled parking bays are present on Playhouse Yard, 
located approximately 180m from the Pilgrim Street 
junction with Pageantmaster Court. See here for more 
details: 
https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/m
apping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_la
yer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Blue%20
Badge%20Bays%20layers 

Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Taxis are permitted to drop off on the single yellow 
lines along Pilgrim Street which are being retained as 
part of the proposed scheme.

Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb < 100 mm 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3

Nearest bus stop is located on Ludgate Hill (120m / 2-
minute walk) from the Pilgrim Street junction with 
Pageantmaster Court.

Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets

Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4

Accessible toilets are available at the Manoj Coffee 
and Cuts which is located 33m (1-minute walk) away 
from the Pilgrim Street junction with Pageantmaster 
Court, found using the following tool: 
https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/m
apping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_la
yer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Toilets%
20layers

Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Changing Places toilets are available at the Tate 
Modern which is 1.0km (14-minute walk) away from 
the Pilgrim Street junction with Pageantmaster Court, 
found using the following tool: https://www.changing-
places.org/find

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the City 
of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

Pilgrim Street - Proposed

Page 412



Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment b

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 Crossing point at modal filter is less than 6m. 
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 Mixed traffic. Shared use within the filtered section. 

Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0
Nothing delineating the cycle facility within the shared 
use section and the footway. 

Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) No Audible 3 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 1
Count Down No count down 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 2
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material

Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Existing is smooth Yorkstone, with some minor 
defects. 

Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 Uniform - all Yorkstone. 
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 Single and double yellow lines. 

Kerb

Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 3 4 0 0 1 2 4 2 1
Shared use is all one level, no delineation between 
cycle facility and the footway. 

Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 2 2 0 1 3 3 2 2 1 As above. 

Footway Width
Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1 The minimum width is less than 1.5m 

Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 1 1
Sections of footway are obstructed with either bollards 
or lamp columns. 

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture > 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 2 3 3 2 3 3 2 2 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 Bollards >0.9m in height. 
Contrast Low tonal contrast with paving 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 2 2 Black bollards contrast with york stone paving. 

Bench Spacing Bench between 150 m and 400 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Public seating is provided in the St Andrew by the 
Wardrobe Churchyard 

Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 4 4 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3

Bench Sensory Experience Good sensory experience (textures, planting, sound, colour) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 3

Benches are adjacent to busy junction however small 
green space with trees and vegetation planted creates 
a positive sensory experience, especially as the 
benches are set back from the road by >6m.

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1

Blue Badge parking on Queen Victoria Street, 
Knightrider Crescent, Blackfriars Lane, Playhouse 
Yard. 

Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Taxis permitted to drop off on the double yellow/single 
yellows on St Andrew's Hill. Taxi rank southeast of St 
Andrew's Hill on Queen Victoria Street also.  

Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb < 100 mm 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Dedicated taxi drop off point / taxi rank 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 As above. 
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3 On Queen Victoria St.
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets

Accessible Toilets Within 100 m 4 4 3 4 4 3 3 4 4 4 3 3
Accessible toilet in The Rising Sun pub on Carter 
Lane.

Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1
The nearest Changing Places toilets are in Tate 
Modern

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was developed 
by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the City of London 
Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

St Andrew's Hill - Existing

Page 413



Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment b

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 Crossing point at modal filter is less than 6m. 
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 Mixed traffic. Shared use within the filtered section. 

Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0

Remains unchanged from existing. Cycle facility lacks 
delineation with the footway within the shared use 
section. 

Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) No Audible 3 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 1
Count Down No count down 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 2
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material

Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Proposals to repave some sections to smooth York 
Stone. 

Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 Uniform - all York Stone. 
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 Single and double yellow lines. 

Kerb

Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 3 4 0 0 1 2 4 2 1

Shared use is all one level, no delineation between 
cycle facility and the footway. Largely unchanged from 
existing. 

Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 2 2 0 1 3 3 2 2 1 As above. 

Footway Width
Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1 The minimum width is less than 1.5m 

Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 1 1

Sections of footway are obstructed with either bollards 
or lamp columns. Two additional bollards proposed at 
the northern end of the extended shared use, adjacent 
to the planter. 

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture > 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 2 3 3 2 3 3 2 2 3 3

Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Remains unchanged from existing - no tables 
proposed. 

Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 Bollards >0.9m in height. 
Contrast Low tonal contrast with paving 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 2 2 Black bollards contrast with york stone paving. 

Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3
Seating proposed as part of the design. Type and 
numbers to be confirmed. 

Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 As above. 
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 As above. 

Bench Sensory Experience Good sensory experience (textures, planting, sound, colour) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 3

Good sensory experience expected due to this being a 
no through route for motorised traffic. Seating is 
adjacent to a tree and new planter also. 

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1

Blue Badge parking on Queen Victoria Street, 
Knightrider Crescent, Blackfriars Lane, Playhouse 
Yard. 

Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Taxis permitted to drop off on the double yellow/single 
yellows on St Andrew's Hill. Taxi rank southeast of St 
Andrew's Hill on Queen Victoria Street also.  

Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb < 100 mm 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Dedicated taxi drop off point / taxi rank 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 As above. 
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3 On Queen Victoria St.
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets

Accessible Toilets Within 100 m 4 4 3 4 4 3 3 4 4 4 3 3
Accessible toilet in The Rising Sun pub on Carter 
Lane.

Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1
The nearest Changing Places toilets are in Tate 
Modern

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was developed 
by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the City of London 
Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

St Andrew's Hill - Proposed

Page 414



 

Committees: 
Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee [for decision] 
Projects and Procurement Sub-Committee [for information] 

Dates: 
09 July 2024 
15 July 2024 
 

Subject:  
2 Aldermanbury Square 

Unique Project Identifier: 
12359 

Gateway 3: 
Outline Options 
Appraisal 
(Regular) 

Report of: 
Interim Director Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Andrea Moravicova 

PUBLIC 
 

1. Status 
update 

Project Description: Deliver changes to the public highway in the vicinity 
of the development at 2 Aldermanbury Square, also known as City Place 
House, through a Section 278 agreement that is fully funded by the 
developer. 
RAG Status: Green (Green at last report to Committee) 
Risk Status: Low (Low at last report to committee) 
Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): £833,060 - £1,204,096 
Change in Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): The total 
estimated cost of the project remains within the range provided at Gateway 
2. 
Spend to Date: £56,639 
Costed Risk Provision Utilised: None 
Slippage: None 

2. Next steps 
and 
requested 
decisions  

Next Gateway: Gateway 4: Detailed Options Appraisal 
Next Steps:  

• Complete relevant surveys and assessments. 
• Continue developing proposed designs. 
• Continue negotiations of the Section 278 agreement with the 

developer. 
Requested Decisions:  

1. Approve that officers continue with the design of all three options 
whilst necessary surveys are undertaken and analysed, and 
negotiations with the developer are concluded; 

2. Approve the budget adjustment related to fees to be actioned as 
outlined in Appendix 2; 

Page 415

Agenda Item 10



 

3. Authorise officers to invoice the developer any reasonable costs 
necessary to progress to the next gateway (Detailed Options 
Appraisal), in advance of the full S278 payment to avoid delays to 
the programme. The amount would be deducted from the full S278 
works implementation payment; 

4. Note the total estimated cost of the project for Option 1 at 
£1,204,096 (excluding risk). 

3. Resource 
requiremen
ts to reach 
next 
Gateway 

Expenditure to date is £50,087.59. Activities completed include radar and 
topographic surveys, development of the design and negotiations with the 
developer regarding these proposals and Section 278 agreement, liaison 
with officers in Legal, Structures and Transportation teams on design 
proposals and their wider impact. 

Table 1 outlines the costs necessary to reach the next Gateway (Detailed 
Options Appraisal). 
The staff costs will cover project management, detailed design and 
construction package completion, local stakeholder liaison, developer 
negotiations and report writing. 
Fees will cover structural surveys to establish a potential impact of 
introducing one traffic lane in westbound direction on London Wall, on the 
structure of the car park. 

Table 2 indicates an estimate of the overall costs of the project, including 
maintenance, for an implementation of a desired Option 1. 
Table 1: Revised budget to reach next Gateway 
Item Funds received 

to date (£) 
Resource 
required to 
reach next 
gateway (£) 

 Revised 
budget to 
next gateway 
(£) 

Staff costs 60,000 -23,000 37,000 

Fees 40,000 23,000 63,000 

Total 100,000 0 100,000 
 
Table 2: Estimated overall costs for Option 1 
Item Cost (£) Funds/ Source of 

Funding 

Staff costs 187,000 

S.278 

Fees 88,830 

Works 794,094 

Utilities 95,000 

Maintenance 39,172 

Total 1,204,096 
  
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: £0 

Page 416



 

4. Overvie
w of 
project 
options 

The project aims to deliver a well-functioning street environment that improves 
the usability and safety of the area for people walking, wheeling and cycling. 
The scope of the project was outlined within the Section 106 Agreement. 

When developing the design options, officers liaised with the developer and 
other City departments and divisions and considered the existing street layout 
together with the changes brought by the new development.  

Three options have been outlined and are proposed to be taken to the next 
stage of the design. 

All three options have the same design proposed for Basinghall Street but 
differ in the proposals for London Wall and are shown in Appendix 3. 

Option 1 (preferred - aligns to the scope outlined in the Section 106 
agreement) 

• Widen the southern pavement on London Wall between the access 
road to 1 Coleman Street and Brewers Hall Gardens. 

• Widen the central reservation at the two raised table points on London 
Wall to provide additional space for people waiting to cross. 

• Reduce road width of London Wall to one lane westbound. 
• Introduce a section of hatched lining to separate cycle lane from motor 

traffic lane along the westbound cycle lane to enhance safety for 
people cycling. 

Option 2 (also reflects the scope of works outlined in the Section 106 
agreement but with limited scope compared to Option 1)  

• Widen the central reservation at the two raised table points on London 
Wall to provide additional space for people waiting to cross. 

• Reduce road width of London Wall to one lane westbound. 
• Introduce a section of hatched lining to separate cycle lane from motor 

traffic lane along the westbound cycle lane to enhance safety for 
people cycling. 

Option 3 (minimal changes to London Wall area, due to potential issues with 
loading on the underground structure) 

• Retain two lanes of traffic 
• Repave the southern pavement on London Wall between the access 

road to 1 Coleman Street and Brewers Hall Garden. 
• Introduce a mandatory cycle lane on London Wall westbound. 

Legal implications 
In making determinations in respect of traffic orders or changes to the 
highway, regard must be had to the duty to secure the efficient use of the road 
network, avoiding congestion and disruption, and the duty to secure the 
expeditious convenient and safe movement of traffic, having regard to effect 
on amenities, as set out Section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act. 
Equalities implications 
Tests of relevance assessing the impact of all three options on protected 
characteristics concluded that all options, albeit in varying extent, could 
improve walking and wheeling experience on people with protected 

Page 417



 

characteristics. However, removal of a lane of traffic may increase the travel 
times and costs, and therefore negatively impact some people with protected 
characteristics of age, disability, and pregnancy and maternity, who may be 
more reliant on a motor vehicle as a mobility aid.  
The options will continue to be reviewed as design progresses and a full 
Equality Impact Assessments will be undertaken prior to Gateway 5. 
The Option 1 proposal was also assessed using the City of London Streets 
Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT), which enables street designers to identify how 
street features impact on the different needs of disabled people. The tool 
recognises that the needs of different groups of disabled people can be 
contradictory; that improving accessibility for one group may decrease 
accessibility for another. CoLSAT identifies trade-offs that may be needed to 
ensure no one is excluded from using the City’s streets and provides the basis 
for engagement and discussions to maximise the benefits for all. 

The Options 2 and 3, which retain two-lane of motor traffic westbound will 
likely result in slightly lesser improvement on London Wall for people walking 
and wheeling as the road width remains unchanged.  

CoLSAT Summary Results Table. 

 
Total 0 scores – severe 
accessibility issue  

Total 1 scores - significant 
accessibility issues 

 Basinghall 
Street 

London Wall Basinghall 
Street 

London Wall 

 Before After Before After Before After Before After 
Electric 
Wheelchair 
user  

1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 

Manual 
Wheelchair 
user  

1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 

Mobility 
Scooter user  1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 

Walking Aid 
user  0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 

Person with a 
walking 
impairment  

0 0 0 0 2 2 3 3 

Long cane 
user  1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 

Guide Dog 
user  1 0 0 0 2 1 3 2 

Residual Sight 
user  0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 

Deaf or Hearing 
impairment  0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 

Acquired 
neurological 
impairment  

0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 

Autism/Sensory
-processing 
diversity  

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 

Developmental 
Impairment  2 0 0 0 3 1 4 2 

Total 7 0 1 0 16 4 16 7 

The table above shows the severe and significant issues identified through 
the CoLSAT assessments of the existing condition and proposed design. The 
proposed scheme has a potential to improve the walking and wheeling 

Page 418



 

experience for all assessed characteristics. The scheme, however, will be 
unable to resolve several significant accessibility issues. These relate to: 
maintaining or introducing tactile paving to the crossing points, taxi drop-off 
locations, level crossovers and distance to changing places toilets, which may 
have potential implications for people with walking impairment and / or guide 
dog users. 
Healthy Streets assessment 
A Healthy Streets Design Check was undertaken on the current arrangements 
in London Wall and Basinghall Street and the preferred proposal (Option 1) 
listed in this report. 
The results of this check suggest a slight improvement to the area after the 
implementation of the scheme, although two “zero” scores from the current 
layout on London Wall, related to the vehicle volumes and ease of crossing 
between junctions remain featuring in all proposed designs. The ‘wheel’ below 
provides a summary of the results. The Options 2 and 3 are likely to score 
slightly lower than Option 1, as the road width that people walking and 
wheeling are expected to cross remains unchanged.   

Healthy Street score for London Wall comparing the existing situation 
(faded colour) and Option 1 (bold colour) 

 

The results also suggest that the area of Basinghall Street between 
Aldermanbury Square and Basinghall Street Avenue will be improved 
through implementation of the proposed scheme. The three “zero” scores 
from the current layout on Basinghall Street remain unaddressed in all 
options; these relate to ease of crossing at junctions and missing tactile 
paving at some crossing points, which were identified within the assessment 
area, but are outside the S278 project scope.  The space for cycling also 
remains similar to existing arrangements due to the available traffic lanes 
widths.  Officers will investigate if any alternative funding is available to 

Page 419



 

undertake these small elements of work at the same time as the S278 
project. 

Healthy Street score for Basinghall Street comparing the existing 
situation (faded colour) and Option 1 (bold colour) 

 

5. Recomm
endation 

It is recommended that designs are progressed for all outlined options while 
further analysis and surveys are undertaken. These will inform the 
recommendation at the next gateway, when detailed options appraisal is 
presented to Members for consideration. 

6. Risk 1. Developer disagrees with the upper cost estimate of the project. 
Risk response: accept 
All options were designed to align with the scope defined within the S106 
agreement to mitigate the impact of the development.  As the design 
progresses the costs will be refined. The negotiations with the developer 
are progressing and are planned to be concluded prior to the detailed 
options appraisal report. This report will recommend the most viable option 
to committees for consideration. 

2. Delay to the Section 278 agreement sign-off. 
Risk response: reduce 
Negotiations and close liaison with the developer on designs for the 
developed options will continue to ensure project associated costs are 
defined as accurately as possible and Section 278 agreement is finalised 
before September 2024. 

3. Underground structures condition prevents the implementation of a desired 
option. 
Risk response: reduce 
The works area in London Wall lays directly above an underground 
structure which may be negatively impacted by the proposed changes to 

Page 420



 

loading on these structures. Officers are liaising with the City Structures 
team and commissioning relevant surveys to determine the impact and 
will report the outcome of the survey to the committees at the next stage 
of reporting. An option which does not change the impact on the 
structures is being progressed alongside the desired option to minimise 
the risk to the programme. 

4. Programme delays. 
Risk response: reduce 
Delays to the implementation of the Section 278 works may impact the 
developer’s desired date for occupation and presents a reputational risk to 
the City Corporation. This has been mitigated by the inclusion of some out 
of hours working costs in the estimate and consideration to allocate 
additional resources to each phase of works.  

 
Further information is available in the Risk Register (Appendix 4). 

7. Procur
ement 
approa
ch 

The design is being developed in-house by the Highways team, although a 
specialist consultant was appointed to propose new seating arrangements in 
Aldermanbury Square. 
All construction is expected to be implemented by the City’s term contractor 
and nominated sub-contractor or statutory undertaker as necessary, under 
the supervision of the Environment Department, and in line with the 
developer’s programme and considering other major works planned in the 
London Wall area. 

 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 Project coversheet 
Appendix 2 Finance tables 
Appendix 3 Proposed options plans 
Appendix 4 City of London Streets Accessibility Tool checks 
Appendix 5 Risk register (for preferred option) 

 
Contact 
Report Author Andrea Moravicova 
Email Address Andrea.moravicova@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
Telephone Number 02073323925 

Page 421



 

Options Appraisal Matrix 
 
Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

1. Brief description 
of option 

Section 278 highway works in the immediate vicinity of the new development at 2 Aldermanbury Square. 
All three options have the same design proposed for Basinghall Street but differ in the proposals for London Wall. 

2. Scope and 
exclusions 

Proposal consistent with the scope 
outlined in the Section 106 
agreement. Design deemed to have 
the most positive impact on people 
walking, wheeling and cycling. 

• Changes to junction of 
Basinghall Street and Basinghall 
Avenue  

• Improvements to cycle provision 
on London Wall westbound. 

• Repaving surfaces in the City 
standard palette  

• Widening of the southern 
pavement on London Wall 
between the access road to 1 
Coleman Street and Brewers 
Hall Garden. 

• Widening the central reservation 
at the existing raised tables on 
London Wall. 

Proposal aligns to the scope outlined 
in the Section 106 agreement, but 
with no changes to the southern 
pavement on London Wall. 

• Changes to junction of Basinghall 
Street and Basinghall Avenue  

• Improvements to cycling provision 
on London Wall westbound. 

• Repaving surfaces in the City 
standard palette  

 
Exclusions: 
• Widening the southern pavement 

on London Wall 

Proposals meet the requirements of 
the Section 106 agreement but with 
minimal adjustments to the area of 
London Wall due to potential issues 
with loading on an underground 
structure.  

• Changes to junction of Basinghall 
Street and Basinghall Avenue 

• Improvements to cycling provision 
on London Wall westbound. 

• Repaving surfaces in the City 
standard palette 

 
Exclusions: 
• Widening the southern pavement 

on London Wall 
• Widening the central reservation at 

the existing raised tables on 
London Wall. 

Project Planning    

3. Programme and 
key dates  

Expected completion: 2026 (dates TBC to align with development programme) 

Key dates: 

• Finalise S278 Agreement – September 2024 
• Gateway 4 report – October 2024 
• Draft Construction package – November 2024 

P
age 422



 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

• Gateway 5 report – Q1 2025 
• Issue Construction package – March 2025 
• Pre-construction planning – April / June 2025 
• Project construction starts – summer 2025 
• Construction completion – summer 2026 
• G6 report – Q4 2026 

4. Risk implications  Overall project option risk: Low 
1. Delay to the Section 278 agreement sign-off 
2. Underground structures condition prevents the implementation of a desired option. 
3. Programme delays 
Further information available within the Risk Register (Appendix 2). 

5. Stakeholders and 
consultees 

• Developers 
• Local businesses 
• City divisions and departments, including Planning & Development, Remembrancer, Chamberlain and 

Comptroller & City Solicitor; 
• Transport for London 
• Culture Mile BID 

6. Benefits of option • Surfaces in the immediate 
vicinity of the development 
upgraded to the standard 
palette of high quality materials. 

• The proposed design for the 
immediate vicinity of the 
development helps promote 
active travel. 

• Level crossings at the 
Basinghall Street / Basinghall 
Avenue junction improves the 
public realm for people walking 
and wheeling. 

• Surfaces in the immediate 
vicinity of the development 
upgraded to the standard palette 
of high quality materials. 

• The proposed design for the 
immediate vicinity of the 
development helps promote 
active travel, albeit to a lesser 
extent than Option 1 due to 
minimal changes proposed for 
London Wall. 

• Level crossings at the Basinghall 
Street / Basinghall Avenue 
junction improves the public 

• Surfaces in the immediate vicinity 
of the development upgraded to 
the standard palette of high 
quality materials. 

• Level crossings at the 
Basinghall Street / Basinghall 
Avenue junction improves the 
public realm for people 
walking and wheeling, which 
helps promote active travel. 

• Provision of a mandatory cycle 
lane. 

P
age 423



 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

• A hatched area to separate the 
cycle lane from motor vehicles 
on London Wall could 
contribute to safer cycling 
experience. 

• Wider pavement on London 
Wall for people walking and 
wheeling between the access 
road to 1 Coleman Street and 
Brewers Hall Garden. 

• Widened central reservation at 
two raised table points on 
London Wall to facilitate safer 
crossing of the road for people 
walking and wheeling. could 
also contribute to reducing 
vehicles speed in the area. 

realm for people walking and 
wheeling. 

• A hatched area to separate the 
cycle lane from motor vehicles 
on London Wall could contribute 
to safer cycling experience. 

 

7. Disbenefits of 
option 

• Only one lane available to 
westbound motor vehicles 
could potentially increase travel 
times for people using motor 
vehicles. 

 

• Only one lane westbound 
available to motor vehicles, that 
could potentially increase travel 
times for people driving. 

• Does not improve the current 
environment for people walking 
and wheeling when crossing 
London Wall. 

• Only minor improvements for 
people walking, wheeling and 
cycling are delivered. 

• Does not improve the current 
environment for people walking 
and wheeling when crossing 
London Wall. 

Resource Implications 

8. Total estimated 
cost (including 
maintenance) 

£1,204,096 £857,023 £833,060 

9. Funding strategy   The project will be fully funded by external contribution from the developer through Section 278 agreement. 

P
age 424



 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

10. Investment 
appraisal  

None required – scheme is fully funded by Section 278 with the developer. 

11. Estimated capital 
value/return 

N/A 

12. Ongoing revenue 
implications  

The cost of the scheme includes the commuted sum which accounts for the anticipated replacement of the materials 
and street furniture for 20 years. 

13. Affordability  The scheme options offer good value for money and have been deemed affordable by the developer. 

14. Legal 
implications  

A Section 278 agreement will be entered into with the developer to secure payment for the works and comply with an 
obligation of the Section 106 agreement. 

15. Corporate 
property 
implications  

None 

16. Traffic 
implications 

Space for motorised traffic reduced 
to one lane westbound between 
access road to 1 Coleman Street 
and Brewers Hall Garden. This will 
mirror the arrangements on the 
eastbound carriageway. 
Wider pavement and central 
reservation are likely to improve the 
permeability in the area for people 
walking and wheeling. 
 

Space for motorised traffic will be 
reduced to one lane westbound 
between access road to 1 Coleman 
Street and Brewers Hall Garden. This 
will mirror the arrangements on the 
eastbound carriageway. 

No changes to the traffic movement 
as two lanes will be maintained as 
per existing arrangements. 

17. Sustainability 
and energy 
implications  

Use of high-quality standard pallet materials specified within the will contribute to the longevity of the surfaces post 
construction and better maintenance. The project will endeavour to re-use suitable materials wherever possible. 

18. IS implications  N/A 

P
age 425



 

Option Summary Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

19. Equality Impact 
Assessment 

The proposal aims to improve 
accessibility for people walking, 
wheeling and cycling. 
 
The test of relevance assessment 
concluded that the design of this 
option will have the most positive 
impact on people with the following 
protective characteristics: age, 
disability, pregnancy and maternity. 
 
It shows neutral impact on people 
with other protected characteristics. 

The test of relevance assessment 
concluded the proposed changes will 
have either positive of neutral impact 
on people with protected 
characteristics, although to a slightly 
lesser degree, particularly in the 
London Wall area, when compared 
with the Option 1 design. 

Despite minimal changes proposed 
as part of this option to the area of 
London Wall, the Test of relevance 
concluded that the changes will have 
either positive or have neutral impact 
on people with protected 
characteristics. 

20. Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

N/A 

21. Recommendation It is recommended all three options are progressed whilst feasibility continues to be assessed. 

 

P
age 426



Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 
UPI: 12359 
Core Project Name: 2 Aldermanbury Square S278 
Programme Affiliation: N/A 
Project Manager:  Andrea Moravicova 
Definition of need: The developer is obligated by the Section 106 agreement to 
fund works to the public highway which are considered necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms through entry into a Section 278 
agreement. 
Key measures of success: 

1) Improvements to walking and cycling conditions in the vicinity of the 
development. 

2) Integration of the new pedestrian route, between London Wall and 
Basinghall Street, with the surrounding public highway. 

3) Ensuring the new building can be adequately access and serviced. 
Expected timeframe for the project delivery: works expected to start in mid-2025, 
in line with practical completion of the development. 
Key Milestones: 

• Finalise S278 Agreement – September 2024 
• Gateway 4 report – October 2024 
• Draft Construction package – November 2024 
• Gateway 5 report – Q1 2025 
• Issue Construction package – March 2025 
• Pre-construction planning – April / June 2025 
• Project construction starts – summer 2025 
• Construction completion – summer 2026 

Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery? Yes 

Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing? No  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 
Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes: 
‘Project Briefing’ G1 report (as approved by Chief Officer):  

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £0.6M - £1.5M 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: N/A 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 

o Lower range estimate: works start mid-2025 
o Upper range estimate: works start late 2025 / early 2026   

‘Project Proposal’ G2 report (as approved by Streets and Walkways Sub 
Committee on 06/09/2022 and Operational Property & projects Sub 
Committee on  26/09/2022): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £0.6M - £1.5M 

Page 427



• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £0.1M 
• Spend to date: £0 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: None 
• CRP Requested: £0 
• CRP Drawn Down: £0 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 

o Lower range estimate: works start mid-2025 
o Upper range estimate: works start late 2025 / early 2026 

Scope/Design: 
The project will deliver changes to the public highway in the vicinity of the 
development at 2 Aldermanbury Square, also known as City Place House. 
The scope is defined within the associated Section 106 agreement and includes, 
but is not limited to: walking and cycling improvements to London Wall, including 
widening and greening the footways and introduction of cycle infrastructure 
mirroring the cycle lane on the north side of the street; redesigning junction of 
Basinghall Street and Basinghall Avenue; works to integrate a new pedestrian 
route through the development site and; other changes deemed necessary as part 
of the development. 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]: None 
Programme Affiliation [£]: N/A 

 
 

 
 

Page 428



Appendix 2

Description
Approved Budget 

(£)
Expenditure (£) Balance (£)

Env Servs Staff Costs                    25,000                      8,501                    16,499
P&T Staff Costs                    35,000                    19,336                    15,664
P&T Fees                    40,000                    28,802                    11,198

TOTAL                  100,000                    56,639                    43,361

Description 
Approved Budget 

(£) 
Resources 

Required (£) 
Revised Budget 

(£) 
Env Servs Staff Costs                    25,000 -                   11,000                    14,000
P&T Staff Costs                    35,000 -                   12,000                    23,000
P&T Fees                    40,000                    23,000                    63,000

TOTAL                  100,000                           -                  100,000

Funding Source 
Current Funding 
Allocation (£) 

Funding 
Adjustments (£) 

Revised Funding 
Allocation (£) 

S278                  100,000                           -                  100,000
Total Funding Drawdown                  100,000                           -                  100,000

Table 1: Expenditure to Date: 2 Aldermanbury Square S278 - 16800476

Table 2: Resources Required to reach the next Gateway 

Table 3: Revised Funding Allocation 

Page 429



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 430



LP

LP

LP

LP

LP
LP

RS

SC's

SOF

SOF

SOF

SOF

13.86

SOF

WMSC's

SC's

FH
SV

WM

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

WM

SC
SC's

SC's

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

FH

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

RL 36.59

TW 37.19

RL 35.42

RL 35.42

TW 33.69

TW 33.68
RL 33.29

LONDON WALL

2 ALDERMANBURY SQUARE

BASINGHALL STREET

ALDERMANBURY
SQUARE

BASINGHALL AVENUE
BASIN

G
H

ALL ST

AL
DE

RM
AN

BU
RY

BREWERS HALL
GARDEN

LP

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

DateRev No.

Revision

Description By

Department of The Built Environment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2016. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2016.

Sheet:

PROJECT:

City

of

London

SHEET 1 of 1

--1:200@A1

BB

MAY 24

on London Wall

with Enhanced Works 

100/16800476/GA/EW

General Arrangement

S278

2 Aldermanbury Square

Key
N

Proposed line marking

Proposed raised section of
carriageway

Proposed replacement tree

Proposed new C3 removable
bollard in NAL socket

Proposed replacement cycle
stands

Proposed new kerb line

Proposed blister tactile paving

New Yorkstone paving

Proposed new crossover with
crimped mastic surfacing

Proposed new drainage catch
pit

Proposed new drainage
connection

Section of footway to be
constructed to carriageway
specification

Existing bollard to be retained

Existing sign post to be
retained

DRAFT

Proposed yorkstone surface
drinage channel

Proposed new wier gully in
kerb line
Proposed new footway
drainage catch pit

Structural joint footway cover

Proposed carriageway
resurfacing

Proposed new mastic footway

For continuation
east see inset

INSET
N

Cost of this section to be covered
by separate funding source

Appendix 3
Option 1 

P
age 431

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
DBS3  DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
Cycle lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
Stop

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
B



LP

LP

LP

LP

LP
LP

RS

SC's

SOF

SOF

SOF

SOF

13.86

SOF

WMSC's

SC's

FH
SV

WM

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

WM

SC
SC's

SC's

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

FH

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

RL 36.59

TW 37.19

RL 35.42

RL 35.42

TW 33.69

TW 33.68
RL 33.29

LONDON WALL

2 ALDERMANBURY SQUARE

BASINGHALL STREET

ALDERMANBURY
SQUARE

BASINGHALL AVENUE
BASIN

G
H

ALL ST

AL
DE

RM
AN

BU
RY

BREWERS HALL
GARDEN

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

DateRev No.

Revision

Description By

Department of The Built Environment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2016. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2016.

Sheet:

PROJECT:

City

of

London

SHEET 1 of 1

--1:200@A1

BB

MAY 24

Working Drawing

General Arrangement

100/16800476/GA/CW

S278

2 Aldermanbury Square

Key
N

Proposed line marking

Proposed raised section of
carriageway

Proposed replacement tree

Proposed new C3 removable
bollard in NAL socket

Proposed replacement cycle
stands

Proposed new kerb line

Proposed blister tactile paving

New Yorkstone paving

Proposed new crossover with
crimped mastic surfacing

Proposed new drainage catch
pit

Proposed new drainage
connection

Section of footway to be
constructed to carriageway
specification

Existing bollard to be retained

Existing sign post to be
retained

Proposed carriageway
resurfacing

DRAFT

Option 2

P
age 432

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
DBS3  DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
B



LP

LP

LP

LP

LP
LP

RS

SC's

SOF

SOF

SOF

SOF

13.86

SOF

WMSC's

SC's

FH
SV

WM

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

WM

SC
SC's

SC's

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

SC

FH

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

Col

RL 36.59

TW 37.19

RL 35.42

RL 35.42

TW 33.69

TW 33.68
RL 33.29

LONDON WALL

2 ALDERMANBURY SQUARE

BASINGHALL STREET

ALDERMANBURY
SQUARE

BASINGHALL AVENUE
BASIN

G
H

ALL ST

AL
DE

RM
AN

BU
RY

BREWERS HALL
GARDEN

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

DateRev No.

Revision

Description By

Department of The Built Environment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2016. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2016.

Sheet:

PROJECT:

City

of

London

SHEET 1 of 1

--1:200@A1

BB

MAY 24

2 lanes in London Wall

General Arrangement

100/16800476/GA/CW2L

S278

2 Aldermanbury Square

Key
N

Proposed line marking

Proposed raised section of
carriageway

Proposed replacement tree

Proposed new C3 removable
bollard in NAL socket

Proposed replacement cycle
stands

Proposed new kerb line

Proposed blister tactile paving

New Yorkstone paving

Proposed new crossover with
crimped mastic surfacing

Proposed new drainage catch
pit

Proposed new drainage
connection

Section of footway to be
constructed to carriageway
specification

Existing bollard to be retained

Existing sign post to be
retained

Proposed carriageway
resurfacing

DRAFT

Option 3

P
age 433

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
WG

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
DBS3  DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
B



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 434



  

   Before  After Before  After 

Electric Wheelchair user  1 0 1 0

Manual Wheelchair user  1 0 1 0

Mobility Scooter user  1 0 1 0

Walking Aid user  0 0 1 0

Person with a walking 
impairment 

0 0 1 2

Long cane user  1 0 0 0

Guide Dog user  1 0 2 1

Residual Sight user  0 0 3 0

Deaf or Hearing impairment  0 0 2 0

Acquired neurological 
impairment 

0 0 1 0

Autism/Sensory-processing 
diversity 

0 0 0 0

Developmental Impairment  2 0 3 1

Total  7 0 16 4

CoLSAT Summary Results Table. Basinghall Street 

Total 0 scores* – 
severe accessibility 

issue 

Total 1 scores**- 
significant 

accessibility issues 

* This score means most people in this segment would be excluded by
the street characteristic in the selected configuration.

** This score means some people in this segment may be able to
negotiate the street characteristic in the selected configuration, but it
would significantly deplete their levels of confidence and energy, and
they would be likely to give up on the journey if they had to negotiate it
more than once or twice.  

Appendix 4

Basinghall Street

Page 435



Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Basinghall Street 
Before v.1

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing 6 m to 8 m road width 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 2 3 2
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4
Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0
Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6 to 1/12 incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type York Stone with gaps/bumps 2 " 2 3 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 3 3
Pattern Pattern in paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
0 0 0 2 2 2 3 1 2 2 3 0Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing  kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 

Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 1.5 m to 2 m 3 3 3 2 2 4 3 3 2 2 3 3
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 2 1

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture > 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 2 3 3 2 3 3 2 2 4 3
Cafe Tables Cafe tables without 'protection' 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 3 3
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast Low tonal contrast with paving 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 2 2
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 " 3 3 4 4 4 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber 1/20 to 1/50 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover level 3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 4 3 2 2
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb > 150 mm 4 4 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 4 3 4
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Type Shelter + perch seat 3 3 3 3 2 3 4 3 4 3 3 3

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Total number of 0: 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 2
Total number of 1: 1 1 1 1 1 0 2 3 2 1 0 3

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 
segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 436



Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

1 AFTER. Creechurch Lane

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing 6 m to 8 m road width 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 2 3 2
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4
Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (full width of flush are 3 3 4 3 1 3 3 4 3 3 4 3
Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12 incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 " 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Pattern Pattern in paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3
Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture > 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 2 3 3 2 3 3 2 2 4 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 " 3 3 4 4 4 3 3
Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3

Contrast
Bench Spacing
Bench Design
Bench Seat Height 
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber 1/20 to 1/50 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover level 3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 4 3 2 2
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Shelter + perch seat 3 3 3 3 2 3 4 3 4 3 3 3

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Total number of 0: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total number of 1: 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 
segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 437



  

   Before  After Before  After 
Electric Wheelchair 
user 

0 0 0 0

Manual Wheelchair 
user 

0 0 1 0

Mobility Scooter user  0 0 1 0

Walking Aid user  0 0 1 0

Person with a walking 
impairment 

0 0 3 3

Long cane user  1 0 1 0

Guide Dog user  0 0 3 2

Residual Sight user  0 0 0 0

Deaf or Hearing 
impairment 

0 0 0 0

Acquired neurological 
impairment 

0 0 1 0

Autism/Sensory-
processing diversity 

0 0 1 0

Developmental 
Impairment 

0 0 4 2

Total  1 0 16 7

Table 1 - CoLSAT Summary Results Table. London Wall  

Total 0 scores* – 
severe accessibility 

issue 

Total 1 scores**- 
significant 

accessibility issues 

* This score means most people in this segment would be
excluded by the street characteristic in the selected
configuration.

** This score means some people in this segment may be able
to negotiate the street characteristic in the selected
configuration, but it would significantly deplete their levels of
confidence and energy, and they would be likely to give up on
the journey if they had to negotiate it more than once or twice.  

London Wall

Page 438



Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

London Wall Before v.1

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing > 8m road width 3 2 3 1 2 0 2 2 3 1 3 1
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4
Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (full width of flush are 3 3 4 3 1 3 3 4 3 3 4 3
Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type Island with tactile 4 3 4 4 2 4 4 4 3 3 4 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6 to 1/12 incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Asphalt 4 " 4 3 4 4 4 2 4 4 4 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture > 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 2 3 3 2 3 3 2 2 4 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items Temporary, obstructions, Chapter 8 2 1 1 2 2 1 1 2 2 2 1 1
Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 " 3 3 4 4 4 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover level 3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 4 3 2 2
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off 100 m to 250 m away 3 2 3 2 1 3 1 2 2 2 2 2
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Type Shelter + perch seat 3 3 3 3 2 3 4 3 4 3 3 3

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Total number of 0: 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total number of 1: 0 1 1 1 3 1 3 0 0 1 1 4

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 
segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 439



Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

London Wall After v.1

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4
Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (full width of flush are 3 3 4 3 1 3 3 4 3 3 4 3
Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type Island with tactile 4 3 4 4 2 4 4 4 3 3 4 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6 to 1/12 incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 " 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Pattern Pattern in paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3
Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture > 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 2 3 3 2 3 3 2 2 4 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bench Design Benches with arms + Backrests 3 3 4 4 4 " 3 3 4 4 4 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber 1/20 to 1/50 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover level 3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 4 3 2 2
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off 100 m to 250 m away 3 2 3 2 1 3 1 2 2 2 2 2
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height 125 mm to 140 mm 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Type Shelter + perch seat 3 3 3 3 2 3 4 3 4 3 3 3

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Total number of 0: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total number of 1: 0 0 0 0 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 
segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 440



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

  PV12359

PM's overall risk rating Minor impact Serious impact Major impact Extreme impact

4 8 16 32

3 6 12 24

Red risks (open) 2 4 8 16

Amber risks (open) 1 2 4 8

Green risks (open)

Costed risks identified (All) 0% Costed risk as % of total estimated cost of project

Costed risk pre-mitigation (open) 0% "  "

Costed risk post-mitigation (open) 0% "  "

Costed Risk Provision requested 0% CRP as % of total estimated cost of project

Number of Open 
Risks

Avg 
Score

Costed impact Red Amber Green

1 3.0 £0.00 0 0 1
2 4.5 £0.00 0 1 1
3 3.0 £0.00 0 0 3
3 3.0 £0.00 0 0 3
0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0
0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0
0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0
0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0
0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0
6 6.2 £0.00 0 4 2

Extreme Major Serious Minor

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

Open Issues

£0.00

Issues (open)

(1) Compliance/Regulatory
(2) Financial
(3) Reputation 
(4) Contractual/Partnership
(5) H&S/Wellbeing
(6) Safeguarding

0

(9) Environmental
(10) Physical

(7) Innovation

Possible

Unlikely

Rare

Avg risk pre-mitigation
Avg risk post-mitigation

Likely4.5

2.4

Project name:
Unique project identifier:

Low

  £1204096

  2 Aldermanbury Square Section 278

Total est cost (exc risk)
Corporate Risk Matrix score table

(8) Technology

0

5

10

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Total CRP used to date £0.00
Cost to resolve all issues 

(on completion)

0 All Issues

£0.00

All Issues

Appendix 5

Page 441



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 
risk rating: 

CRP requested 
this gateway

Open Risks
15

PV12359 Total CRP used to 
date

Closed Risks
0

Risk 
ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Risk 
score

Costed impact pre-
mitigation (£)

Costed Risk Provision 
requested 
Y/N

Confidence in the 
estimation

Mitigating actions Mitigation 
cost (£)

Likelihood 
Classificati
on post-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificati
on post-
mitigation

Costed 
impact post-
mitigation (£)

Post-
Mitiga
tion 
risk 
score

CRP used 
to date

Use of CRP Date 
raised

Named 
Departmental 
Risk Manager/ 
Coordinator 

Risk owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

Date 
Closed 
OR/ 
Realised & 
moved to 
Issues

Comment(s)

R1 2 (3) Reputation 

Delay to progress or 
vacation of worksite due 
to external events and 
occurences

Should such an event 
happen, a number of 
possibilities could occur:
* Change in project 
scope
* Budget and 
programme
*	Change in project 
resources Possible
*	Change in project 
delivery
*	Pause to project whilst 
situation is assessed
*	Increased costs

Possible Minor 3 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident £0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R2 2 (1) Compliance/
Regulatory

Issues or delays in 
obtaining any required 
consents, such as 
planning or works 
permits cause delays to 
project delivery.

It is likely the project may 
suffer from some form of 
unplanned delay, 
additional works and / or 
costs.

Possible Minor 3 £0.00 A – Very Confident £0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R3 2 (3) Reputation 

Issues with external 
engagement and buy-in 
lead to project delays / 
incresed costs

Further time and 
therefore resource may 
be required if planned 
engagement work with 
local external 
stakeholder didn't go as 
expected.

Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00 N A – Very Confident £0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R4 2 (4) Contractual/
Partnership

Gateway 1-6 - project 
supplier delays, 
productivity or resource 
issues impact negatively 
on project delivery

Alternative 
arrangements which 
require additional 
resource may be 
required if a potential or 
existing supplier is 
unable to deliver as 
agreed

Unlikely Minor 2 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident £0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R5 2 (2) Financial 

Gateway 1 to 6 -  
Inaccurate or 
Incomplete project 
estimates, including 
inflationary issues, leads 
to budget increases

If an estimate is found at 
a later date to be 
inaccurate or 
incomplete, more 
funding and/or time 
resource would be 
needed to rectify the 
issue or fund/ underwrite 
the shortfall. More 
specifically, inflationary 
amounts predetermined 
earlier in a project may 
be found to be 
insufficient and require 
extra funding to cover 
any shortfall.

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident £0.00 Unlikely Serious £0.00 4 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

2 Aldermanbury Square Section 278 Low

General risk classification

1,204,096£                                  

Project Name: 

Unique project identifier: Total estimated cost 
(exc risk): -£               

Ownership & ActionMitigation actions

Average 
unmitigated risk 

Average mitigated 
risk score

4.5

2.4

-£               

P
age 442



R6 2 (10) Physical

Gateway 1 to 5 - Utility 
and utility survey issues 
lead to increased costs/ 
scope of works

At the earlier stages of a 
project, delays could 
occur which result 
unplanned costs if utility 
companies don't 
engage as expected. 
Also, extra resource 
would be needed if 
further surveys are 
required. During 
construction, any issues 
with required utility 
companies could result 
in extra resources being 
required.

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N A – Very Confident £0.00 Unlikely Serious £0.00 4 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R7 2 (4) Contractual/
Partnership

Gateway 1 to 6 -  Third 
party delays impact 
negatively on project 
delivery (time & cost)

A CoL project may 
require a third party to 
complete its work before 
it cn proceed. Should 
this work be delayed in 
anyway, its likely to 
impact (time and cost-
wise) on a project.

Possible Minor 3 £0.00 N A – Very Confident £0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R8 2 (10) Physical

Gateway 4 to 6 - 
Network accessibility 
before and during 
construction causes 
project delay and / or 
increased costs

should part of the road 
network be or become 
unavaailable when 
required, this could 
cause delays and cost 
increase to the project

Possible Minor 3 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident £0.00 Unlikely Minor £0.00 2 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R9 2 (10) Physical

Unforseen technical and 
/ or engineering issues 
identified during 
implementation

Late identification of 
any engineering or 
technical issues will 
disrupt delivery and may 
increase costs and 
timelines.

Possible Major 12 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident £0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R10 2 (3) Reputation 

Accident during 
construction impacts the 
project delivery and 
costs

Regardless of whether it 
will be a member of 
public or a contractor 
on site, should an 
accident occur in or 
around site delays are 
likely to occur, and 
reputational damage is 
likely to be experienced 
by the City, its 
contractors. This can 
also have a potential 
negative impact on the 
developer and 
therefore future business 
relation ship could also 
be damaged.

Rare Serious 2 £0.00 N A – Very Confident £0.00 Rare Serious £0.00 2 £0.00 N/A 04/08/2022
Andrea 
Moravicova

R11 3 (10) Physical

Accident during 
construction impacts the 
project delivery and 
costs

Regardless of whether it 
will be a member of 
public or a contractor 
on site, should an 
accident occur in or 
around site delays are 
likely to occur. 

Rare Major 4 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident

*	Site visits during 
development's 
construction
*	Consider regular site 
visits with the Principal 
Designer should it 
become

£0.00 Rare Serious £0.00 2 £0.00 N/A 14/06/2024
Andrea 
Moravicova

R12 3 (4) Contractual/
Partnership

Project design team are 
unable to attend or do 
not contribute to key 
team meetings

Delays to the project 
and affects the 
achievement of key 
milestones

Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00 N A – Very Confident

Schedule Design team 
meetings in 
advance,proposing 
numerous dates for the 
meeting and offering 
remote connections to 
the meeting

£0.00 Rare Serious £0.00 2 £0.00 14/06/2024
Andrea 
Moravicova

P
age 443



R13 3 (2) Financial 
Developer disagrees 
with the upper cost 
estimate of the project. 

proposals may not be 
implemented ot 
thedesired extend.

Possible Minor 3 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident

All options were design 
to align with the scope 
defined within the S106 
agreement to mitigate 
the impact of the 
development.  As the 
design progresses the 
costs will be refined. 
The negotiations with 
the developer are 
progressing and are 
planned to be 
concluded prior to the 
detailed options 
appraisal report.

£0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 14/06/2024
Andrea 
Moravicova

R14 3 (10) Physical Delays to the Section 
278 agreement sign-off

Delays to the project 
timeline and potential 
increase of cost.

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N A – Very Confident

Negotiations and close 
liaison with the 
developer on designs 
for the developed 
options will continue to 
ensure project 
associated costs are 
defined as accurately 
as possible and Section 
278 agreement is 
finalised before 
September 2024

£0.00 Unlikely Serious £0.00 4 £0.00 14/06/2024
Andrea 
Moravicova

R15 3 (10) Physical

Underground structures 
condition prevents the 
implementation of a 
desired option.

negative impact on 
proposed changes to 
the public highway, 
delays to the 
programme.

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N B – Fairly Confident

The works area in 
London Wall lays 
directly above an 
underground structure 
which may be 
negatively impacted 
by the proposed 
changes to loading on 
these structures. 
Officers are liaising with 
the City Structures 
team and 
commissioning 
relevant surveys to 
determine the impact 
and will report the 
outcome of the survey 
to the committees at 
the next stage of 
reporting. An option 
which does not 
change the impact on 
the structures is being 
progressed alongside 
the desired option to 
minimise the risk to the

£0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 14/06/2024
Andrea 
Moravicova

P
age 444



 
 

v.April 2019 

 

Committees: 
Streets and Walkway Sub Committee - for decision 

Projects and Procurement Sub Committee – for information 

 

Dates: 

9 July 2024 
15 July 2024 

Subject:  
Temple Avenue improvements 
(Fleet Street Area programme) 
 
Unique Project Identifier: 12452 

Gateway 2: 
 
Project Proposal 
Regular 

Report of: 

Interim Executive Director, Environment  
 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Maria Herrera – Environment Department 
 

 

PUBLIC 

 
Recommendations 
 

1. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Project Description:  

Public realm, climate resilience, greening and accessibility 
improvements to Temple Avenue to provide an enhanced 
street environment and to support this key north-south 
connection from the Victoria Embankment to the 
Whitefriars and Fleet Street Area.  

This project has been identified as a high priority project 
following the completion of the Fleet Street Area Healthy 
Streets Plan in 2023 and it is funded by various sources 
including the Cool Streets and Greening programme and 
section 106 contributions.  

 

The project will aim to deliver public realm enhancements, 

climate resilience, greening and accessibility measures, 

and will include consideration for the following:  

• Relocation of cycle racks and parking bays to a nearby 

location to provide space for trees, planting and climate 

resilience measures in the southern section of the 

street.  

• A permanent design to replace the temporary parklets 

installed in 2021/2, as part of the Covid19 response.  

• Accessibility and walking improvements to include the 

provision of raised crossing points where feasible.  

• Cycle access through the street will be maintained. 

Page 445

Agenda Item 11



 
 

v.April 2019 

 

Next Gateway:  

 Gateway 3/4 - Options Appraisal (Regular)  

Next Steps:  

• Undertake Healthy Streets Design Check and City of 
London Street Accessibility Tool baseline 
assessments. 

• Undertake a review of parking provision, usage, and 
kerbside activity to identify if there are any 
opportunities to relocate parking bays in the area.  

• Commission topographical and radar surveys to 
assess viability of in-ground planting (including trees).  

• Undertake stakeholder engagement.  
 

Funding Source: Cool Streets and Greening Programme 
(On Street Parking Reserve - OSPR) and S106 receipts 
allocated to the Fleet Street Area Programme, as well as 
additional external contributions which are yet to be 
determined.  The scope of the project can be adapted to 
meet the available budget.  

Requested Decisions:  

Members are asked to: 

• Approve the initiation of this project. 

• Approve the budget of £80,000 (staff costs and fees) 

for the project to reach the next Gateway 3/4, funded 

from the Cool Streets and Greening Programme 

(OSPR) (£50,000) and S106 receipts allocated to the 

Fleet Street Area Programme (£30,000).  

• Note the total estimated cost of the project at £350K-
750K (excluding risk). 
 

2. Resource 
requirements to 
reach next 
Gateway 

 

Item Reason Funds/ 
Source of 
Funding 

Cost (£) 

Staff time 

P&T 

Project 
management, option 
appraisal, 
stakeholder 
engagement and 
report writing.  

OSPR and 
S106 
receipts.  

35,000 

Staff time 

Highways  

Technical guidance 

and feasibility 

design.  

20,000 

Page 446



 
 

v.April 2019 

Fees Survey work, design 
consultancy and 
related services. 

 25,000 

Total   80,000 

  
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: A 
costed risk provision is not required at this stage of the 
project. 
 
 

3. Governance 

arrangements 

This project forms part of the Fleet Street Area 
Programme which has an established working group with 
members from the Fleet Street Quarter BID, local 
stakeholders and Ward Members.  

The Service Committee is the Streets and Walkways Sub-
Committee 

The Senior Responsible Officer is Bruce McVean, 
Assistant Director, Policy and Projects 

 

 
 
Project Summary 
 

4. Context 
4.1 The Temple Avenue improvements project is part of the Fleet 
Street Area Healthy Streets Plan adopted in November 2023. The 
public consultation undertaken with the Healthy Streets plan, 
indicated strong support to improve Temple Avenue and create a 
new public space, particularly adding greening.   
 
4.2 The street is an important north-south walking, wheeling, and 
cycling route from the Victoria Embankment into the Whitefriars and 
Fleet Street Area.  The improvements on Temple Avenue will also 
support the connection with the new Thames Tideway public space 
and the Embankment cycleway.  
 
4.3 The street is currently closed to motor vehicle access at the 
southern end, hence the potential to create a new public space with 
greening at this location.  
 
4.4 This area includes several residential buildings. The proposals 
will need to take this into account, along with the requirements for 
kerbside vehicle loading and turning space. 

 

Page 447



 
 

v.April 2019 

5. Brief 
description of 
project  

5.1 Initial evaluation work through the preparation of the Healthy 
Streets Plan has identified the following considerations and 
opportunities:  

5.2 There is an absence of greenery in the area and a desire to 
rectify this by introducing trees and planting. 

 
5.3 This street is within the City Flood Zone, parts of the street are at 

risk from surface water/ sewer flooding during larger storms and 
the introduction of climate resilience measures should be 
considered.  

 

5.4 In 2021, two parklets were installed on Temple Avenue as part of 

the City’s Covid-19 response to provide safe outdoor space to 

socialise and support local businesses. The parklets have proven 

to be successful and well utilised. This project will look to 

undertake permanent improvements in place of the temporary 

parklets. This could include widening of footways, planting, and 

provision of street furniture.  

 

5.5 There is an absence of dropped kerbs and raised crossing points 

which needs to be addressed to improve accessibility for people 

walking and wheeling. The project will seek to introduce raised 

crossings and crossovers where feasible. 

 

5.6 The street is closed to motor vehicles at the southern end and is 

primarily used by servicing vehicles and for parking purposes. 

Consideration for areas of loading, unloading, and parking is 

required. The surveys undertaken as part of the Healthy Streets 

Plan identified potential new kerbside parking locations on Tallis 

Street, Carmelite Street, Bouverie Street and on Bridewell Place. 

The relocation of parking bays would provide the required space 

for planting and climate resilience measures. This also needs to 

be considered in the context of the need to provide dockless 

cycles and e-scooter bays. 

 

5.7 This is a conservation area with an attractive townscape. It is 

desirable that the street environment is enhanced to provide a 

higher quality public realm. 

 
5.8 This is a residential area and so any public seating will need to 

be carefully positioned.  

 

6.  
Consequences 

6.1 Stakeholder and Member engagement through the Fleet Street 

Area HSP and working group has indicated strong support for 

the improvement of this street. If this project proposal is not 

Page 448



 
 

v.April 2019 

if project not 
approved 

approved, aspirations from stakeholders to deliver a green and 

more welcoming environment wouldn’t be met.   

6.2 As part of the Covid19 City’s response two parklets were 

installed on Temple Avenue to support local businesses. The 

aim is to replace the parklets with permanent improvements 

which will require less maintenance and deliver long lasting 

benefits for the area. If this project is not approved, the delivery 

of permanent improvements wouldn’t be feasible.  

6.3 The area will not meet the required standards for accessibility, 

with a lack of dropped kerbs and safe crossing points on desire 

lines.  

  

7. SMART project 
objectives 

7.1 Introduce greenery and tree planting in line with the Climate 
Action Strategy, where feasible.  

7.2 Provision of additional pavement space for walking, seating and 
tables and chairs to support local businesses.  

7.3 Optimise loading and parking provision to ensure the needs of 
local occupiers are met, whilst providing an improved 
environment for people walking, wheeling and spending time in 
the area.  

7.4 Accessibility improvements to provide safer crossing points for 
all users.  

 

8. Key benefits 8.1 Public realm, greening and climate resilience measures are to 
be introduced contributing to the Climate Action Strategy 
outcomes. 

8.2 Improved environment for people walking, wheeling, cycling and 

spending time in the area. An accessible public realm with wider 

pavements and safe crossing points which are clearly 

demarcated to contribute to the Transport Strategy Outcomes 

8.3 Stakeholder’s aspirations will be met, ensuring the area remains 

attractive and the local economy is supported.  

8.4 A high quality design will be delivered in line with the historic 

setting of the streets with nearby listed buildings. 

 

9. Project 
category 

7a. Asset enhancement/improvement (capital) 

 

10. Project priority B. Advisable 

 

Page 449



 
 

v.April 2019 

11. Notable 
exclusions 

None noted 

 
 
Options Appraisal 
 

12. Overview of 
options 

12.1 Options for the introduction of trees, planting and climate 

resilience measures will be considered subject to ground 

conditions. Permanent improvements to replace the temporary 

parklets will be explored. 

12.2 Opportunities for wider pavements, introduction of raised tables 

or where not achievable, dropped kerbs at desire lines will be 

explored.  

12.2 Options regarding re-location of parking bays, loading and 

unloading provision will be reviewed as part of the design 

development stage.  

12.3 The project scope will be adapted to meet the available budget 

by prioritising the various design elements in terms of benefits 

achieved and affordability.  However, it is intended to design 

the street holistically with all needs in mind so that, if 

necessary, it can be added to as funding becomes available   

 

 
 
Project Planning 
 

13. Delivery period 
and key dates 

Overall project: The assessment of options will be undertaken 

during summer/autumn 2024. Stakeholder engagement to review 

options is planned for late 2024. Once a preferred option has been 

established it will be developed and presented for Member 

approval.  

Key dates: A Gateway 3-4 report is expected in early 2025. 

Other works dates to coordinate: The implementation of the 

highway and public realm works will be coordinated with nearby 

developments and other highway improvements in the local area.   

14. Risk 
implications 

Detailed project risk register is included in Appendix 3.  

Overall project risk: Low  

Project RAG status: Green 
 

• Stakeholders object to the design proposals  

Risk response: reduce. 

Page 450



 
 

v.April 2019 

Options will be considered and discussed with stakeholders 
as the project is developed, including reviewing parking 
provision and the introduction of greenery.   
 

• Works adversely impact flooding hotspot. 
Risk response: reduce.  

Designs will be carefully considered to ensure that they only 
beneficially impact the flooding hotspot and that designs which 
could result in increased risks to surrounding property by 
altering the flow paths of flood water are not taken forward. 
 

15. Stakeholders 
and consultees 

 

15.1 External consultees: 

• Residents 

• Local businesses and occupiers 

• Developers with an interest in the area  

• Fleet Street Programme Working Group 

 

15.2 Internal consultees:  

• City of London Environment Department (including 

Highways, Cleansing, City Gardens) 

• Ward Members 

 
 
Resource Implications 
 

16. Total estimated 
cost  

Likely cost range (excluding risk): £350 - £750k. 

 

17. Funding strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Choose 1: 

Partial funding confirmed 

Choose 1: 

Mixture - some internal and 
some external funding 

Funds/Sources of Funding 
Cost (£) 

Cool Streets and Greening 
Programme 
 
(Funding strategy is proposing to 
utilise Cool Streets and Greening 
Programme funding which 
Members have agreed at Streets 
and Walkways Sub Committee in 
May 2024.) 
 
 

£350k 

 

Page 451



 
 

v.April 2019 

 

*Additional funding is also available from S106 receipts that have 

been allocated to the Fleet Street Area Programme. Further 

external contributions from businesses and the local BID will also 

be explored which could provide additional improvements. 

The Fleet Street Area Working Group will be consulted on 

options ahead of the next gateway. 

The project scope can be adapted to deliver a minimum set of 

design considerations in the southern section of the street. This 

would include climate resilience measures, tree planting and 

accessibility improvements, which can be implemented within the 

confirmed budget as per the above table.  

S106  
(A minimum set of interventions 
to improve accessibility, such as 
raised crossings and dropped 
kerbs will be explored as part of 
the options evaluation stage.) 
 

£400k 

External contributions* 
 

TBC 

Total 
£350- £750k 

18. Investment 
appraisal 

Not Applicable 

On-going revenue implications 

18.1 Revenue implications for highways and soft landscaping 
maintenance, and cleansing will be confirmed at the next 
Gateway and will be included within the project budget.  

 

19. Procurement 
strategy/route to 
market 

19.1 It is anticipated that all works will be undertaken by the 

City’s Highways term contractor, FM Conway’s.  

 
19.2 The design work is proposed to be carried out in-house by 

the Highways and the Policy & Projects team in 

collaboration with stakeholders. There may also be a 

requirement for a landscape architect to be appointed, 

subject to scope and resourcing. It may be necessary to 

undertake further data collection with regards the kerbside 

use by an external provider.  These external consultants’ 

input would follow the standard procurement process. 

 
19.3 The materials and specification of the design will be the 

City’s standard specification, in accordance with the City 
Public Realm Toolkit (2024).  

 

20. Legal implications None  

Page 452



 
 

v.April 2019 

21. Corporate property 
implications 

None. 

22. Traffic implications 22.1 Options regarding consideration of parking provision, 

loading, and unloading will be reviewed as part of the 

design development. Any proposed changes would be 

subject to statutory consultation processes 

23. Sustainability, 
climate and energy 
implications 

23.1 It is anticipated that all materials will be sustainably 
sourced where possible and be suitably durable for 
construction purposes. 

23.2 Climate Change resilience measures and planting will be 
considered as part of the design development such as rain 
gardens and tree planting.  

23.3 The southern part of Temple Avenue is in the City flood 
risk zone. This means that designs will need to carefully 
consider the topography of the street network and 
drainage available as well as opportunities for increased 
greening to mitigate the issues. 

24. IS implications None. 

25. Equality Impact 
Assessment 

A test of relevance will be undertaken during the next stage of 
work which will inform whether a full assessment is required. 

City of London Streets Accessibility Tool will be used to 
undertake a baseline assessment and review the proposed 
design.  

26. Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

None 

 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Plan of the project area   

Appendix 2 Project Briefing 

Appendix 3 Risk Register 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Maria Herrera 

Email Address maria.herrera@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 07526 201100 

 

Page 453

mailto:maria.herrera@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 454



Temple Avenue
enhancement

scheme
Created by:

28 May 2024Date Created:

Maria Herrera 

© Crown copyright
and database

rights 2024 OS AC
0000825908

0

Metres

2512 50City of London 
Boundary

Temple Avenue. Project scope
Page 455

maria herrera_7
Polygonal Line

maria herrera_8
Polygonal Line



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 456



v.09 

Project Briefing 

 

Project identifier 

[1a] Unique Project 
Identifier 

TBC [1b] Departmental 
Reference Number 

NA 

[2] Core Project 
Name 

Temple Avenue area improvements 
 

[3] Programme 
Affiliation 
(if applicable) 

Fleet Street Area programme  

 

Ownership 

[4] Chief Officer has 
signed off on this 
document 

Ian Hughes  

[5] Senior Responsible 
Officer 

Bruce McVean 

[6] Project Manager Maria Herrera 
 

 

Description and purpose 

[7] Project Mission statement / Elevator pitch 

Public realm, climate resilience, greening and walking improvements to Temple 
Avenue (south), to provide an enhanced street environment and support this key 
north-south connection from the Victoria Embankment to the Whitefrairs and Fleet 
Street Area. This project has been identified as a high priority project following the 
completion of the Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan in 2023.   

[8] Definition of Need: What is the problem we are trying to solve or opportunity 
we are trying to realise (i.e. the reasons why we should make a change)? 

• There is an absence of greenery in the area and a desire to rectify this by 
introducing trees and planting. 

• Existing pedestrian crossings need improvement.  

• There is an absence of dropped kerbs or raised crossing points and this needs to 
be addressed for improved accessibility. 

• Consideration of areas for loading, unloading, and parking is required.  

• Replacement of temporary parklets with a permanent design is required to 
enhance the public realm. 
 

[9] What is the link to the City of London Corporate plan outcomes? 

Leading Sustainable Environment (Action 5) 
Vibrant Thriving Destination (Acton 11) 
Flourishing Public Spaces (Action 6) 

Page 457



v.09 

 
 

[10] What is the link to the departmental business plan objectives? 

Deliver Key Strategies: Climate Action, City Plan, Transport, Air Quality, 
Volunteering. 

[11] Note all which apply: 

Officer:  
Project developed 
from Officer 
initiation 

Y Member:  
Project developed 
from Member 
initiation 

 Corporate:  
Project developed 
as a large scale 
Corporate initiative 

 

Mandatory:  
Compliance with 
legislation, policy 
and audit 

 Sustainability:  
Essential for 
business continuity 

 Improvement:  
New opportunity/ 
idea that leads to 
improvement 

Y 

 

Project Benchmarking: 

[12] What are the top 3 measures of success which will indicate that the project 
has achieved its aims? 
<These should be impacts of the activity to complete the aim/objective, rather than ‘finishes on time 
and on budget’>> 
1) Introduce greenery and climate change resilience measures.  

2) Improve safety for people walking and cycling.  

3) Deliver an efficient servicing and parking provision strategy to better manage the 
area.  

[13] Will this project have any measurable legacy benefits/outcome that we will 
need to track after the end of the ‘delivery’ phase? If so, what are they and how 
will you track them? (E.g. cost savings, quality etc.) 

- Cost savings of improvements due to the removal of temporary infrastructure 
(parklets) and the introduction of permanent features.  

-  

[14] What is the expected delivery cost of this project (range values)[£]? 

£350-£750k 
 

[15] Total anticipated on-going revenue commitment post-delivery (lifecycle 
costs)[£]: 

TBC it is expected theat any greening infrastructure will require ongoing maintenance 

[16] What are the expected sources of funding for this project? 

OSPR and Section 106 contributions, and external funding 

[17] What is the expected delivery timeframe for this project (range values)? 
Are there any deadlines which must be met (e.g. statutory obligations)? 

Spring 2025 (subject to consultation on traffic orders and stakeholder input) 

 

Project Impact: 

Page 458



v.09 

[18] Will this project generate public or media impact and response which the 
City of London will need to manage? Will this be a high-profile activity with 
public and media momentum?  

NA 

[19] Who has been actively consulted to develop this project to this stage?  
<(Add additional internal or external stakeholders where required) > 
Policy and projects Gillian Howard, Sam Lee and Bruce McVean.  

Chamberlains: 
Procurement 

Darshika Patel  

Corporate Property  

External  Fleet Street Working group (Local stakeholders, Fleet Street 

Quarter BID, Ward Members and City officers) 

[20] Is this project being delivered internally on behalf of another department? 
If not ignore this question. If so:  
 Please note the Client supplier departments. 
 Who will be the Officer responsible for the designing of the project? 
 If the supplier department will take over the day-to-day responsibility for 
the project,  when will this occur in its design and delivery? 

Client Environment Department 

Project Design 
Manager 

Melanie Charalambous / Maria Herrera 

Design/Delivery 
handover to Supplier 

Delivery - FM Conway 
 

 

 

Page 459



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 460



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 

risk rating: 

CRP requested 

this gateway
Open Risks 6

Total CRP used to Closed Risks 0

ID 

Number 

In line with corporate 

classifications 

The Officers specific description of the 

risk to the project (and potentially to 

if the risk is realised and becomes an 

issue needing to be resolved.  This 

Likelihood 

Classification the 

of the risk should it 

be realised, 

calculate

d from 

the potential financial cost to 

resolve the risk in full should it 

Not all risk estimations are comparable, 

some project elements may be more 

The actions or approach which 

could be taken to reduce or clarify 

The cost of the 

risk mitigation 

Likelihood 

Classification 

Impact of the 

risk should it be 

The revised ‘costed 

impact’ of a risk if 

calculate

d from 

The department who 

would be responsible 

The stakeholder who 

would be responsible 

If risk has 

occurred and 
Free comment section

Risk 

ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 

Classificatio

n pre-

mitigation

Impact 

Classificatio

n pre-

mitigation

Risk 

score

Costed impact pre-

mitigation (£)

Costed Risk 

Provision requested 

Y/N

Confidence in the 

estimation

Mitigating actions Mitigation 

cost (£)

Likelihood 

Classificat

ion post-

mitigation

Impact 

Classificat

ion post-

mitigation

Costed 

impact post-

mitigation (£)

Post-

Mitiga

tion 

risk 

score

CRP used 

to date

Use of CRP Date 

raised

Named 

Departmental 

Risk 

Manager/ 

Coordinator 

Risk owner   

(Named 

Officer or 

External 

Party)

Date 

Closed 

OR/ 

Realised & 

moved to 

Issues

Comment(s)

R1 2 (10) Physical
Project impacted by nearby 

construction sites. 

There is a possibility that the 

project programme could be 

impacted  by development 

activity in the area, due to its 

proximity to sites currently 

under construction. 

Unlikely Minor 2 £0.00

Keep in regular contact 

with  stakeholders and 

planning colleagues and 

be informed of any 

changes to development 

activity. 

£0.00 Likely Minor £0.00 4 £0.00 5/16/2024
Environment 

Dept
Maria Herrera

R2 2 (10) Physical

A delay in establishing 

vehicular servicing and 

parking needs in the area. 

To deliver the full scope of 

benefits the project a traffic 

assessment is required of the 

parking, loading/unloading, 

and servicing needs of the 

area. If this wasn't 

completed, the project is 

unable to progress with a 

feasible design. 

Unlikely Serious 4 £0.00 N

City officers have 

undertaken an initial 

desktop assessement of the 

current provision of parking 

and servicing needs. This 

information will be progress 

further at the next 

stage,alongsde 

engagement with 

stakeholders.

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £0.00 2 £0.00 5/16/2024
Environment 

Dept
Maria Herrera

R3 2
(1) Compliance/Re

gulatory

Traffic orders for review of 

parking and loading are not 

successfull. 

Submission of traffic orders is 

required to adjust the parking 

provision in the area and 

create spaces for  greening 

and an enhanced 

environment. 

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N

Undertake early traffic data 

to asses options to relocate 

parking bays. Engage with 

local stakeholders to 

review provision and meet 

local demand. 

£0.00 Likely Minor £0.00 4 £0.00 5/16/2024
Environment 

Dept
Maria Herrera

R4 2 (5) H&S/Wellbeing

Noisy Works could delay the 

project due the site being 

next a residential cluster. 

Noisy Works could generate 

complaints from local 

occupiers and residents and 

delay the programme.

Likely Minor 4 £0.00 N

All noisy works times will be 

agreed with Environmental 

Health Officers and 

communicated with local 

occupiers. Flexibility is also 

built in to allow for these 

times to be altered 

accordingly.

£0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 5/16/2024
Environment 

Dept
Maria Herrera

R5 2
(4) contractual / 

partnership

Stakeholder support is not 

secured. 

The project includes the 

deliveyr of new public 

spaces, introduiton of 

greenery through a review of 

current parking and loading 

provision.

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N

The CoL team wll 

undertake close 

consultatio with local 

occupiers to ensure their 

needs are accounted for as 

well as the needs to the 

functionality of the streets. 

£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 5/16/2024
Environment 

Dept
Maria Herrera

R5 2 (2) Financial 

Additional funding is not 

secured and the project 

scope needs to be reduced. 

Additional funding is yet to 

be secured to deliver all of 

the aspirations for the 

project. 

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N

The greening elements can 

be delivered with the 

current project budget, 

however if additional 

funding is not secured,   the 

project could be scaled 

and other accessibility 

improvements would not 

be feasible. 

£0.00 Possible Minor £0.00 3 £0.00 5/16/2024
Environment 

Dept
Maria Herrera

R6 £0.00

Temple Avenue improvements Low

General risk classification

750,000£                                       

Project Name: 

Unique project identifier: Total estimated cost -£                

Ownership & ActionMitigation actions

Average 

unmitigated risk Average mitigated 

4.7

3.7

P
age 461



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 462



 
Committees: 
Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee [for decision] 
Projects and Procurement Sub-Committee [for information] 

Dates: 
09 July 2024 
15 July 2024 

Subject:  
21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue S278 
Moor Lane Environmental Enhancements (Area A - S278) 
Unique Project Identifier: 
12252 
9441 

Gateway 6: 
Outcome Report 
Regular 

Report of: 
Interim Director of Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author: 
Andrea Moravicova 

PUBLIC 
 
Summary 

1. Status 
update 

21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue Section 278 project and Area A – 
Section 278 part of the Moor Lane Environmental Enhancement project 
are associated with the 21 Moorfields development. 
The related works, fully funded by the developer through Section 278 
agreement, have now been implemented. 

21 Moorfields and Fore Street 
Avenue Section 278 project 
Project Description:  
Enhancements to pedestrian 
environment without 
compromising the required 
security in Moorfields and Fore 
Street Avenue. 

RAG Status:  Green (Amber at 
the last report to Committee) 
Risk Status: Low (Medium at 
last report to committee) 
Costed Risk Provision 
Utilised: None 
Final Outturn Cost: £596,964  

Moor Lane Environmental 
Enhancement (Area A – S278) 
Project Description:  
Public realm enhancements in Moor 
Lane to provide greening and improve 
the walking environment. The scope, 
as approved in December 2020, 
includes S278 works delivering 
security for the 21 Moorfields 
development on Moor Lane (referred 
to as Area A and subject of this 
report). 
RAG Status:  Green (Green at the last 
report to Committee) 
Risk Status: Low (Medium at last 
report to committee) 
Costed Risk Provision Utilised: 
None 
Final Outturn Cost: 1,264,860 

Page 463

Agenda Item 12



 
2. Next steps 

and 
requested 
decisions  

Requested Decisions:  
1. Note the contents of this report. 
2. Approve the budget adjustment related to staff costs to be 

actioned as outlined in the Appendix 2. 
3. Authorise transfer of £80,500 (including staff costs for a 

supervision of works) from the Moor Lane S278 budget, to cover 
the planned resurfacing of Moor Lane, to the Moor Lane S106 
project budget. 

4. Agree to close the 21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue Section 
278 project. 

5. Agree to close the Area A – Section 278 part of the Moor Lane 
Environmental Enhancement project. 

6. Authorise return of unused funds to the developer, including any 
accrued interest as per the Section 278 agreement once the final 
accounts for these projects are completed. 

3. Key 
conclusions 

The projects were delivered within their respective budgets, at Gateway 
5, and in line with their main objectives. 
The programme was adjusted to coincide with the development’s 
timelines. This delayed the start of the implementation by nine months. 
Further delays were caused by several risks that materialised and these 
are described in Section 11 below. 
Minor adjustments to works’ phasing were required throughout the 
construction to accommodate fit out and related works as well as other 
activities in the vicinity. 
Works to Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue were substantially 
completed in September 2023, and to Moor Lane in February 2024. 
Key learning and recommendations for future projects (with more detail 
in sections 15 and 16): 

• Closer involvement of the City Operations Division in early 
planning stages may have highlighted potential issues that 
impacted highway / public realm construction.  

• Ongoing dialogue between the Planning & Development and City 
Operations divisions regarding the scope of Section 278 works 
may have aided negotiations with the developer. 

• Integrating the design for the Section 278 works scope into the 
public consultation materials for the wider Moor Lane 
enhancement scheme would have assisted with aligning the 
stakeholders’ expectations to the site constraints and 
opportunities from the start of the project. 

  

Page 464



 
Main Report 

 
Design & Delivery Review 

4. Design into 
delivery  

The design was developed in-house in liaison with the developer. This 
allowed the project team to ensure that any carriageway and footway 
changes made as a result to the new development tie in with the 
surrounding Moorgate Crossrail and Moor Lane S106 enhancement 
works. 
 
Works were undertaken in phases to minimise disruption to the 
activities of the new development and neighbouring premises. 
 
A slight adjustment to the footway and carriageway design in Moorfields 
was made to account for a new utility chamber installed for the new 
development. 

5. Options 
appraisal 

The chosen options met the projects’ objectives to enhance pedestrian 
environment addressing projected increase in demand on public realm 
and provide security for the development. 
The reconstructed footways in Moorfields contribute to a more unified 
and permeable space for people walking and wheeling outside the 
Moorgate Crossrail station. 
The design of the east footway on Moor Lane considered the 
aspirations to improve environment for people walking and wheeling 
and create a greener street, without compromising the needs of the 
development. 
The materials used adhere to the City’s standards, with the works 
delivering the scope of the project. 

6. Procurement 
route 

• The construction package was prepared in-house by the 
Highway Engineer and work on site undertaken by the City’s term 
contractor. 

• Security measures were delivered and implemented by a 
specialist contractor. 

• A consultant was appointed to design the concrete cladding for 
planters installed on Moor Lane, who also managed their 
manufacture and install by a specialist contractor. 

• Planting was design and fulfilled by the City Gardens team. 

7. Skills base • The project team has the skills, knowledge and experience to 
design and manage delivery of this and similar future projects. 

• Specialist contractors were used to manufacture and install 
specific elements of the scheme, including planters on Moor 
Lane. 

• Specialist advice on structures and loading was also sought 
externally. 

Page 465



 
8. Stakeholders • The project was delivered in close liaison with the developer and 

stakeholders to ensure the proposals meet their needs as far as 
possible. 

• Following stakeholder engagement, four planters and two street 
trees were incorporated within the design in Moor Lane, to soften 
the hard landscaping around the new development. 

 
Variation Review 

9. Assessment 
of project 
against key 
milestones 

• The implementation in Fore Street Avenue and Moorfields started 
approximately six months later than expected at Gateway 5 to 
align with the developers’ schedule. 

• Works in Fore Street Avenue started in March 2023, and in 
Moorfields from May 2023. 

• Moor Lane implementation commenced in October 2023 as 
opposed to October 2022, and works were substantially 
completed at the end of February 2024. The start of work was 
affected by delayed site release from the developer. Snagging, 
planting and minor surfacing works were completed in June 2024. 
This aligns with the expected duration reported on at Gateway 5 
(October 2022. - June/July 2024). 

10. Assessment 
of project 
against 
Scope 

The projects’ scope remained unchanged and is summarised below: 

• The surfaces were upgraded to the City’s standard palette 
ensuring consistency and a high-quality streetscape that provides 
a more pleasant environment for walking and wheeling. 

• Greening elements were introduced in Moor Lane. 

• The planters design aimed to be sympathetic to the Barbican 
architecture. 

• The requirements of the new development at 21 Moorfields were 
accommodated within the design.  

11. Risks and 
issues 

Several risks have materialised, including: 
• Delays to public realm works starting on site due to changes in 

the development’s programme. The implementation programme 
was adjusted according to the new development’s schedule. 

• Unforeseen technical / engineering issue related to a newly 
installed utility chamber was identified whilst working in 
Moorfields. This required a slight adjustment to the footway and 
carriageway design at the northern section of the project’s 
boundary. To minimise delays, officers agreed with the developer 
to progress other phases of works, while the design was adjusted. 

• Increase in utility diversion costs. This was a direct result of the 
changes to the development’s schedule and the increased costs 
were fully covered by the developer. 

Page 466



 
• Delays in supply. Adverse weather conditions in Winter 2023/24 

impacted manufacture and delivery of concrete panels for 
planters installed in Moor Lane. The freezing temperatures in 
January delayed the pour of concrete into the custom-made 
moulds for the panels. To ensure the panels quality and to 
prevent cracking, the temperatures need to be above 5 degree C. 
This subsequently impacted the planting works, which were 
completed in April rather than in February. 

 
Value Review 

12. Budget  21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue Section 278 project 
• Estimated Outturn Cost at G2: £900,000 - £1,000,000 

Item At G5 Authority to 
Start work (£) 

Final Outturn 
Cost (£) 

Fees 32,313 21,699 
Staff Costs 102,561 110,823 
Works 454,666 426,422 
Costed Risk Provision 52,000 0 
Maintenance 38,020 38,020 
Total 679,560 596,964 

 
The final accounts for this project are yet to be verified. An existing fees 
commitment related to Traffic Regulation Order, accounted for in the 
overall project outturn costs, is yet to be receipted. 
 
Project accounts will be closed once all final invoices are received, in 
line with the Chamberlain project’s account processes. Any 
underspend, together with all accrued interest, will be refunded to the 
developer as per provision in the Section 278 agreement. 
 
Moor Lane Environmental Enhancement Area (A – S278) 

• Estimated Outturn Cost at G2: £900,000 - £1,000,000 
 
Item G5 At Authority to 

Start work (£) 
Final Outturn 
Cost (£) 

Fees 27,800 27,446 
Staff Costs 129,231 139,430 
Works (hard & soft 
landscaping, security measures) 

845,640 860,734 

Utilities 387,355 160,553 
Maintenance 76,697 76,697 
Total 1,466,723 1,264,860 

 
The project is substantially completed with resurfacing of Moor Lane 
between Silk Street and Fore Street deferred, as per an agreement with 
the developer, until works to the west footway are implemented. 
A total of £80,500 (including staff costs for a supervision of works) will 
be required for resurfacing works and their supervision, which has been 

Page 467



 
included in the final outturn cost in the table above. It is requested that 
this sum is transferred to the Moor Lane S106 project budget. 
Project accounts are yet to be verified and will be closed once all final 
invoices are received, in line with the Chamberlain project’s account 
processes. Any underspend, together with all accrued interest, will be 
refunded to the developer as per provision in the Section 278 
agreement. 

13. Assessment 
of project 
against 
SMART 
objectives 

Both projects delivered against their objectives to prioritise people 
walking and wheeling by delivering high quality pedestrian environment, 
whilst accommodating the security and servicing requirements of the 
development at 21 Moorfields. 
The project also increased greening by introducing two street trees and 
four multi-stem trees and low-level bedding plants in planters 
interspersed with the bollards. 

14. Key benefits 
realised 

Key benefits outlined in the Gateway 2 reports were realised, with the 
schemes meeting the needs of the new development and providing 
enhanced public realm around the Moorgate Crossrail station. 
The projects designs sought to balance a variety of requirements, 
provide a series of positive benefits and minimise impacts of necessary 
changes to ensure these meet the objectives set in the Transport 
Strategy. 

 
Lessons Learned and Recommendations 

15. Positive 
reflections  

• Good working relationship and open communication with the 
developer contributed to: 

o their active participation in the design process and 
assistance with obtaining third party agreements. 

o successful negotiation of changes to the design outlined in 
the S106 agreement, particularly interspersing the line of 
bollards with planters in Moor Lane. 

• Release of facades in Moorfields and Moor Lane earlier than 
expected helped keep the proposed duration of the works 
unchanged. 

• The developer procured some of the items for 21 Moorfields and Fore 
Street Avenue project directly, whilst details of Section 278 
agreement were finalised. This helped with keeping the Section 278 
start date in line with their desired programme. 

16. Improvement 
reflections 

• Potential issues with access provision to the highwalk from Moor 
Lane could have been identified in early stages through early liaison 
between the Planning and City Operations divisions, and addressed 
as a part of a building design process. 

• Assumptions made at early stages of the approved development, 
without liaising with the Operations division, led to lengthy 
negotiation process to agree details of the Section 278 agreement. 

Page 468



 
This required variation to Section 106 agreement and inclusion of 
additional provisions to the Section 278 agreement. 

• Direct management / liaison with a specialist contractor would help 
foster working relationships and provide the project team with a 
better overview of the manufacture and delivery of specialist 
elements. 

• Undertaking the necessary surveys and utility searches in 
Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue by the project team, rather than 
using information provided by the developer, may have saved some 
time and costs. It would have also aided with producing more robust 
cost estimates. The surveys provided by the developer proved to be 
inaccurate and some re-work was required during the detailed 
design prior to Gateway 5 approval, with minor adjustments needed 
during implementation. 

• New connections to the development to be undertaken in advance 
to avoid changes to phasing plan and resourcing schedule and 
potential cost increase due to contractor standing down. 

• Integrating the design for the Section 278 works scope into the 
public consultation materials for the wider Moor Lane enhancement 
scheme would have assisted with aligning the stakeholders’ 
expectations to the site constraints and opportunities from the start 
of the project. 

17. Sharing best 
practice 

Information will be disseminated through team and project staff 
Briefings. 
A lessons’ learnt workshop will be held with the relevant planning teams 
to discuss the issues experienced, particularly on Moor Lane Section 
278 project. 

 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue S278 project coversheet 
Appendix 2 Moor Lane Environmental Enhancement project coversheet 
Appendix 3 Photos before and after 

 
Contact 
Report Author Andrea Moravicova 
Email Address andrea.moravicova@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
Telephone Number 020 7332 3925 

 
 

Page 469



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 470



 
 

21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue 
Section 278 Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 
UPI: 12252 
Core Project Name: 21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue S278 
Programme Affiliation (if applicable): linked with Moor Lane environmental 
enhancements S278 
Project Manager:  Gillian Howard 
 
Definition of need: 21 Moorfields Section 278 works are required to facilitate 
the development to allow occupation of the building.  It will ensure that 
required security measures are in place around the development, whilst 
tying in with local Moorgate Crossrail station works to ensure good pedestrian 
permeability. 
Key measures of success:  

• Meet the needs of and enable the developer to complete the 
development within the agreed timeframes.  

• Ensure the 21 Moorfields works do not detract from the pedestrian 
environment and maintains permeability and accessibility meeting 
the objectives set in the Transport Strategy.  

• Provide an enhanced public realm around the Moorgate Crossrail 
station. 

Expected timeframe for the project delivery: Substantial completion of works 
by mid-December 2022 (changed in May 2022 following delay in building 
completion from end of October 2022) 
 
Key Milestones:  

• Construction starts on Moorfields October 2022 (Was July 2022) 
• Construction starts on Fore Street Avenue September 2022 (was 

August) 
• Construction substantially complete mid-December 2022. (was end of 

October) 
 
Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for  
project delivery? y 
 
Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing?  
No  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 
Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes:  
 
‘Project Briefing’ G1 report (as approved by Chief Officer 23/12/20):  

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £900,000-1,100,000 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: £0 
• Estimated Programme Dates: February 2021 to November 2022 

Page 471



 
 

 
‘Project Proposal’ G2 report (as approved by PSC 23/02/21): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £900,000 to 1,100,000 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) £103,390 
• Spend to date: £56,865 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: N/A 
• CRP Requested: N/A 
• CRP Drawn Down: N/A 
• Estimated Programme Dates: February 2021 to November 2022 

 
‘Authority to start Work’ G5 report (approved by delegated decision 4 
August 2024) 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £666k 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) £563k 
• Spend to date: £56,865 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: N/A 
• CRP Requested:  £52k 
• CRP Drawn Down: £0 
• Estimated Programme Dates:  

 
Scope / design change and Impact: The design aligns with the brief 
described within the Evaluation report. 
 
Due to delays in getting information to finalise designs regarding utility 
locations etc, the developer has taken on some of the longer lead in times 
for Cadent, UKPN and bollard delivery ahead of the agreement for the 
S278. This has reduced the budget envelope being costed for this part of 
the S278. 
Approximately four months delay for Gateway 5 approval; development 
timeline also slipped by approx. four months with a current revised 
completion date of December 2022. Cadent and UKPN works need to be 
completed prior to site being released to the City and its contractor. 

 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]: 
Commuted sum of £38,020 for maintenance is included in the project cost 
estimate (£680k) 
 
Programme Affiliation:  Links with S278 works on Moor Lane. 

 
 

  

Page 472



 
 

Moor Lane environmental enhancement 
Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 
UPI: 9441 
Core Project Name: Moor Lane Environmental Enhancements 
Programme Affiliation (if applicable): Culture Mile  
Project Manager:  Andrea Moravicova 
 
Definition of need:  
Moor Lane has been identified as an area for improvement for several years, 
initially identified as a high priority project as part of the ‘Barbican Area 
Streets and Walkways Enhancement Strategy’ approved in 2008. Moor Lane 
presents an opportunity to respond to community priorities by increasing 
greening in the area and prioritising more space for pedestrians.  
 
A scheme was developed and approved in 2011, which resulted from 
extensive consultation and proposed the creation of a linear park along 
Moor Lane. The proposals were to be funded by the Section 106 agreement 
for the Milton Court development and approval was granted to implement 
the scheme on site. However, the scheme was paused in light of the 
emerging 21 Moorfields development which is now under construction.  
 
The City is now in a position to recommence work on this project and 
proceed with a review of the design for Moor Lane, to ensure it responds to 
the needs of the development and mitigates the development’s impact on 
the local environment. There is strong stakeholder support for improvements 
to Moor Lane and an expectation for the scheme to finally be completed. 
  
Key measures of success:  

• Moor Lane is a green, biodiverse and environmentally resilient street 
through the introduction of trees and planting. Both the local 
community and the developer’s priorities are met, by ensuring the 
security needs and desires for an improved pedestrian environment 
are delivered in coordination with the completion of 21 Moorfields. A 
welcoming, accessible and safe pedestrian environment is created on 
Moor Lane with widened footways to prioritise pedestrian movement.  

 
Expected timeframe for the project delivery: 
Implementation of Area A (eastern footway and carriageway) is expected 
to commence in October 2022. Implementation of Area B will follow as 
closely as possible subject to further design and public engagement. 
 
Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery?  
A number of factors delayed the overall project. 
The project was paused and in 2020 was proposed to be recommenced with 
implementation in Spring – late Autumn 2022  

Page 473



 
 
A public consultation exercise for Area B, taking the requirements for Area A 
into consideration, was undertaken in late 2021. Feedback from the 
consultation was fed into the design process for both areas. Further design 
works and public engagement will be undertaken before implementation of 
the Area B can commence. The implementation of Area A was aligned with 
the developer’s schedule. 
 
Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing?  
No  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 
Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes:  
The project is part of the Barbican Area Streets & Walkways Enhancement 
Strategy and was approved as one of the strategy’s high priority schemes 
by the Court of Common Council in 2008 following a public consultation 
exercise. 

In July 2011 an evaluation report was approved by Members to implement 
environmental enhancements on Moor Lane.  

Approval was granted to progress to detailed design stage, seek relevant 
permissions and implement the scheme. A budget of £1,391,136 was made 
available following the report approval. 
Evaluation report – approval for implementation (as approved by Street & 
Walkways Sub-committee 18/07/11)*: 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £1.55M  
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £1.45M 
• Spend to date: £257,526 
• Estimated Programme Dates: Works were intended to commence in 

2012. 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: Create a linear park, with trees and 
planters, along the west footway on Moor Lane. 
 
*It should be noted that the evaluation report approved in 2011 predated 
the current Gateway reporting procedure. 
 
Gateway 3 - Issue report (as approved by Project Sub-committee on 30 
November 2020 and Streets and Walkways Sub-committee 1 December 
2020)* 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £1.7-£2.2M 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £230,382 (£128,566 

from approved Section 106 budget and £101,816 funded through 21 
Moorfields Section 278 agreement) 

• Spend to date:  
• Costed Risk Against the Project: 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 

o Design review & surveys: Dec 2020 - Mar 2021 
o Consultation: Mar – May 2021 

Page 474



 
 

o Detail design: Jun – Sept 2021 
o Gateway 4/5: Sept 2021 
o Construction package: Oct 2021– Feb 2022 
o Phased implementation (minimum 6 months): Spring 2022 – 

late 2022/Early 2023 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: The design aligns with the brief 
described within the Evaluation report, whilst considering the stakeholders’ 
feedback to date, the changing context of the area and the 
development of the site at 21 Moorfields. The scope was increased to 
include the Section 278 works to east footway adjacent to the 21 
Moorfields development. 
An increase to the overall project budget has been incurred due to the 
revised scope, although this increase is fully funded through a Section 278 
agreement. 
 
*Upon approval of the 2011 report, officers were given authority to 
proceed with detail design and implement the scheme, however, several 
modifications required to the scheme outlined in the issue report, officers 
considered the existing scheme to be at Gateway 3 stage. It was, 
therefore, proposed that the next report to Members is a Gateway 4/5, 
outlining the detail design and requesting authority to start work. 
 
Gateway 4c-5 – Authority to start work in Area A (as approved by Streets 
and Walkways Sub-Committee on 5 July 2022 and Operational Property and 
Projects Sub-Committee on 20 July 2022. 

• Total Estimated Cost Area A (excluding risk): £1.7-£2.2M 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £ (£ from approved 

Section 106 budget and £1,448,680 funded through 21 Moorfields 
Section 278 agreement) 

• Spend to date (Area A): £364,588 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: £50,000 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 

o Completion of Section 278 agreement & receipt of funding: 
July 2022 

o Procurement of materials (Area A): July 2022 
o Finalise construction package for Area A: August 2022 
o Phased implementation of Area A (minimum 6 months): 

October 2022 – June/July 2023 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: The design aligns with the brief 
described within the Evaluation report. 

Gateway 4-5 – Authority to start work in Area B (as approved by Streets and 
Walkways Sub-Committee on 23 May 2023 and Operational Property and 
Projects Sub-Committee on 5 June 2023) 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £2,958,680 

Page 475



 
 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk): £1,450,000 (from 
approved S106 and Climate Action Strategy Cool Streets 
programme budget to implement Area B) 

• Spend to date (Area B): £330,556 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: 
• Estimated Programme Dates: 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: The design aligns with the brief 
described within the Evaluation 

Gateway 5 Progress report - Area B (as approved by Streets and Walkways 
Sub-Committee on 26 September 2023)  
Reporting period: May 2023 – September 2023  
Update on activities undertaken to date in relation to Area B (west footway 
on Moor Lane). These mainly involved discussions on the design and 
greening with representatives of Willoughby House and the Heron, and the 
Barbican Association. It also highlighted the next steps, which included 
further discussion on greening with local stakeholders, and development 
of greening proposals in consultation with the City’s Garden’s team and a 
consultant.  

Gateway 5 Issues report - Area B (as approved by Streets and Walkways 
Sub-Committee on 30 January 2024 
Reporting period: September 2023 – January 2024 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risks): £2,968,680 

The total cost for Area A, funded through Section 278 agreement, is 
estimated at £1,508,680 (including costed risk provision of £100k).  

The total budget for Area B, funded through Milton Court 
Environmental Improvement Works (Section 106) payment and 
Climate Action Strategy Cool Streets programme, is set at 
£1,560,000. 

• Spend to Date (Area B): £398,907 
• Estimated programme dates (Area B): Project expected to 

recommence in autumn 2024.  
 
The Sub-Committee approved recommendation to revert the Area B to 
the Gateway 3/4 Options Appraisal stage, to allow revision of the 
proposed design for Area B in line with the Healthy Neighbourhood 
programme and consideration of traffic management changes along 
Moor Lane. 

 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]: 
Revenue implications for highways maintenance are anticipated to be of 
minimum impact and will be confirmed at respective Gateway 5 when the 
detailed design will be finalised. 

Page 476



 
 
These costs will be assessed and covered by the project budget, thereby 
mitigating the impact on local risk budgets. The maintenance costs for Area 
A were calculated at £76,697. Invoice to the developer will be issued upon 
completion of works. 
Increased greening will entail an Open Spaces maintenance commitment 
and a provision for this will be included in the project budget. It should be 
noted that the proposed implementation of Sustainable Urban Drainage 
System (SUDS) in the scheme is expected to reduce the overall maintenance 
commitment. 
 
Programme Affiliation: Culture Mile – the programme budget is assessed by 
financial year depending on the projects approved for delivery. 
Also linked to 21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue Section 278 works.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 477



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 478



Description Approved Budget (£) Expenditure (£) Balance (£)
Env Servs Staff Costs 29,823 29,822 1 
P&T Staff Costs 23,207 23,206 1 
P&T Fees 15,714 15,713 1 

TOTAL 68,744 68,741 3 

Description Approved Budget (£) Expenditure (£) Balance (£)
Env Servs Staff Costs 38,606 38,606 0 
P&T Staff Costs 19,925 19,189 736 
P&T Fees 7,599 1,250 6,349 
Env Servs Works 454,666 426,422 28,244 
Cost Risk Provision 52,000 - 52,000 

TOTAL 572,796 485,467 87,329 

Description Approved Budget (£) Expenditure (£) Balance (£)
Env Servs Staff Costs 75,500 79,563 (4,063)
P&T Staff Costs 53,000 57,867 (4,867)
Open Spaces Staff Costs 731 2,000 (1,269)
P&T Fees 27,800 27,446 354 
Env Servs Works 845,640 800,734 44,906 
Utilities 387,355 160,553 226,802 

TOTAL 1,390,026 1,128,163 261,863                 

Description Approved Budget (£) Adjustment (£) Balance (£)
Env Servs Staff Costs 75,500 4,063 79,563
P&T Staff Costs 53,000 4,867 57,867
Open Spaces Staff Costs 731 1,269 2,000
P&T Fees 27,800 - 27,800
Env Servs Works 845,640 (10,199) 835,441
Utilities 387,355 - 387,355

TOTAL 1,390,026 - 1,390,026              

Table 1: Expenditure to Date: 21 Moorfields & Fore Street Avenue - 16800445

Table 2: Expenditure to Date: 21 Moorfields & Fore Street Avenue - 16100445

Table 3: Expenditure to Date: Moor Lane Environmental Enhancements S278 - 16100449

Table 4: Budget Adjustments Required: Moor Lane Environmental Enhancements S278 - 16100449

Appendix 2

Page 479



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 480



Moor Lane looking north from Fore Street 

   
Before          After 

P
age 481



Appendix 3
Moor Lane images

P
age 482



Moor Lane looking south from New Union Street 

(before) (after) 

P
age 483



Moor Lane looking south 

Before 

After 

Page 484



Bollards in Moor Lane were interspersed with planters. 

P
age 485



P
age 486



 

Committee: 
Streets & Walkways Sub Committee  

Dated: 
09/07/2024 

Subject: Advertising Board Update Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

Vibrant thriving destination 
Diverse and Engaged 
Community 
Providing excellent services 
 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? £ 

What is the source of Funding? n/a 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N 

Report of: Executive Director Environment For Information 

Report author: Andrea Larice, City Operations  

 

Summary 

Advertising boards or A-boards pose safety and accessibility issues, particularly for 

visually and mobility-impaired individuals. The Planning & Transportation committee 

approved a City-wide ban in March 2020 to ensure clear and accessible pavements. 

However, the implementation was delayed during the COVID 19 Pandemic and to 

allow time for footfall to recover post-pandemic.  

Not allowing A-boards to be placed on any streets improves the user experience of 

people walking, those with sight and mobility impairments, people wheeling prams 

and using mobility aids. Footfall is increasing and the working population is forecast 

to continue rising. The maintaining of clear and accessible pavements has particular 

importance to creating “inclusive environments”, which enable people to navigate 

their surroundings independently and safely.  

Following discussions with members at the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee in 

May 2024, officers will start an engagement phase between July and December 

2024 to communicate the A-board ban to businesses, landowners, and the 

community. Scheduling visits to businesses, maintaining an engagement log and 

communicating that A-boards are an obstruction to people walking and wheeling, 

and can be a trip hazard and a particular issue for people with visual impairments.  

An update will be brought to this committee in January 2025 ahead of the 

enforcement phase commencing.   

Page 487

Agenda Item 13



Recommendation(s) 

Members of the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee are asked to note the report. 

Main Report 

Background 

1. A-boards are usually used by shops and businesses to advertise and promote 

their business at pavement level. They are typically a simple stand-alone board on 

a heavy 'A' shape frame, which businesses place across the pavement and in the 

way of people, to attract their attention. Their size and type differ across a broad 

range of business activities.  

 

2. Many businesses report that A-boards help generate business, which the City 

Corporation want to support. However, this need must be balanced against 

complaints, implications for planning policy and the assessment that A-boards are 

a highway obstruction and a trip hazard for people with mobility and visual 

impairments.  

 

3. The Planning & Transportation committee approved a City wide ban of A-boards 

in March 2020. However, the implementation was delayed during the COVID 19 

Pandemic and to allow time for footfall to recover post-pandemic.  

 

4. A local authority wide ban on A-boards is in place in Hackney. Hackney Council 

introduced a borough-wide ban on A-boards in 2017 to ensure pavements remain 

accessible for all, particularly for people with disabilities, parents with prams, and 

those with visual impairments. This ban aims to reduce street clutter and maintain 

clear pathways. 

 
5. Other local Authorities enforce bans on areas where footfall is high. For example, 

Westminster City Council has enforced a ban on A-boards on Oxford Street, 

Regent Street, and in Soho. Camden Council has restrictions on A-boards, 

especially in areas with high pedestrian traffic to maintain accessibility and reduce 

clutter. 

 

6. Transport for London (TfL) actively enforces a prohibition or restriction of "A" 

boards on the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN, also known as Red 

Routes). Businesses found violating these regulations may face penalties or be 

required to remove their advertising boards. 

 

7. The Royal National Institute of Blind People (2014) have been advocating for a 

complete ban stating that it is essential for blind and partially sighted people to 

have a clear route along the pavement. They note: “The proliferation of A-boards 

Page 488



can make it difficult for those with sight difficulties to negotiate the path. This can 

result in them walking into A-boards and injuring themselves, or inadvertently 

walking into the road whilst attempting to avoid these obstructions. Falling over or 

bumping into an A-board can be painful and can adversely affect blind and 

partially sighted people’s confidence and mobility. The over use of A-boards can 

restrict their freedom and opportunity to participate in their local community.”   

 

8. Transport for all (2014) welcome a ’Zero-tolerance’ on A-boards stating that it is 

essential for disabled people to have a clear route along the pavement. “Street 

clutter is not just a problem for visually impaired people, but a problem for 

wheelchair users, scooter users, buggy users and older people too. Transport for 

All welcome this ‘zero-tolerance’ approach to businesses which repeatedly flout 

rules on keeping the pavement clear. Not everyone can step down into the road to 

bypass an A-board or other obstacle”. 

 
9. In October 2021 the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee approved our 

commitment to Transport for All’s Equal Pavements Pledge. to the pledge 
includes “Operate a zero-tolerance approach to street clutter. Issue warnings to 
businesses that obstruct pavements with A-boards, and follow up with fines.” 
(Transport for All , 2021) 

 
10. Pressure on City pavements is increasing, with 24-hour footfall level now at 72% 

of 2019 levels.  

 

11. Over the period of the City Plan, the GLA projections suggest that 104,000, or 

14.2% more people will be working in the City of London by 2041 (City 

Corporation, 2023). It is imperative that we have accessible pavements that help 

people to navigate their surroundings independently and safely.  

 
12. With Effect from 2 April 2024, the Pavement Licence Guidance has been updated 

to state that: “Advertising boards are not included in the definition of furniture 

within the pavement licensing regime. As well as needing consent under the 

Highways Act 1980, advertising boards also require express advertising consent 

under the Town and Country Planning Regulations 2007.”  

 
13. Prior to 2 April, A-boards were not expressly prohibited and there may be some 

licences that have A-boards within the pavement licence area. These licences 

expire on the 30 September 2024. This means that no business should have an 

A-board under their licence post 30 September 2024. 

Implementation and delivery approach  

14. We will take a phased approach, working towards enforcement by City 

Corporation Street Environment Officers.  

 

Page 489



15. Phase 1 – Project development 

• Develop the appropriate process, ensuring any legal issues considered, to 

enforce against A-boards on public highways and develop the project plan.  

• Notify committee members of the project plan, timeline for engagement and 

enforcement.  

 

16. Phase 2 – Engagement with City Businesses 

• Develop and disseminate key messages through various channels to ensure 

that all affected parties understand the new regulations and their importance. 

• Engage with City Businesses and communicate why A-boards are being 

removed and their impact on accessibility and inclusivity. 

• Identify challenges and concerns around enforcement within six months. 

• Explore potential wayfinding options for businesses severely impacted by the 

ban. 

 

17. Phase 3 – Enforcement 

• Begin enforcement actions by City Corporation Street Environment Officers to 

support the creation of accessible, clutter-free pavements that enhance the 

user experience for everyone.  

Engagement approach  

18. Key Messages are being finalised for our various audiences supporting our 

ambitions for clear and accessible pavements for everyone. This will focus on 

notifying business that: 

• The City Corporation are contacting businesses to remind them that A-boards 

cannot be placed on City of London footways and pavements. 

• A-boards obstruct people walking and wheeling or using mobility aids and are 

a trip hazard for people with sight loss. A survey from the RNIB found that 95 

per cent of blind and partially sighted people had collided with an obstacle in 

their local neighbourhood over a three-month period, of which 1 in 3 were 

injured (Royal National Institute for Blind People, 2021). 

• City Corporation is working to ensure we have clear and accessible 

pavements support independent and safe navigation. 

• City Corporation is giving businesses notice that we intend to commence 

enforcement in the new year. 

 

19. We will request landowners’ support us in asking their tenants to remove them to 

create more accessible and welcoming places in the city. There is a strong 

correlation between catering for greater diversity and financial performance. 

Becoming a disability-confident employer opens your business to a broader 

customer base.  

 

Page 490



20. For businesses that currently have pavement licence, which contains an 

advertising board, officers will still ask businesses to remove it.  

Engagement timeline 

21. Timeline is as follows: 

Date Activity 

May – July 2024 • Validate committee approval and enforcement 
approach. 

• Develop communication materials (leaflets, 
letters) for businesses. 

• Target audience identification, developing a list 
of businesses and streets affected. 

• Sign-off to ensure all documents and 
assessments are approved. 

July 2024 • Update report to Streets & Walkways.  

July – December 2024 
 

• Notify relevant partners, including the Business 
Improvement Districts. 

• Schedule engagement visits to businesses. 

• Repeat visits to maintain engagement logs and 
discuss concerns with businesses. 

January - February 2025 • Collate feedback  

• Report if required 

Spring 2025  • Begin enforcement 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 

22. A-board ban supports the delivery of Corporate Plan Outcome: Vibrant thriving 

destination, and supporting a Diverse and Engaged Community by, improving the 

user experience of all pedestrians including those with sight and mobility 

impairments. Where everyone can travel independently, safely and without 

restriction. 

 

23. The City of London Transport Strategy (Our streets are accessible) sets out our 

approach to improving accessibility in the Square Mile. The removal of A-boards is 

included in Proposal 17: Keep pavements free of obstructions.  

Financial implications 

24. None, enforcement will be undertaken by existing staff resource.  

Legal implications 

25. Approval for a City-wide ban on A-boards was granted in 2020. There are further 

steps to ensure due process is taken ahead of any formal enforcement action, 

which will be established with and agreed with legal advice as necessary.  

Page 491



Legislation relevant to enforcement is summarised below with further details in 

Appendix 1.  

 

26. Town Police Clauses Act 1847 S28 states that it is an offence for a person in 

any street, to cause an obstruction, annoyance, or danger of the residents or 

passengers.  

 

27. Traffic Management Act 2004 places a duty on the Local Traffic Authority to 

manage its highway network to “secure the expeditious movement of traffic”. The 

Act explicitly states that “traffic” includes pedestrians. It is therefore consistent, 

with this duty, for the City Corporation to seek to improve the pedestrian 

environment on its footways and in its pedestrian zones by removing unlawful 

obstruction that can have a detrimental effect on the free flow of pedestrians and 

those with impaired mobility.  

 
28. Highways Act 1980: It is an offence under Sections 137 and 148 of the Highways 

Act 1980 to wilfully obstruct the highway without lawful excuse, punishable by a 

fine not exceeding £1,000. Sections 143 and 149 give the Highway Authority 

powers to remove any items which have been placed on the highway.  

Risk implications 

29. There is a possible reputational risk to the City Corporation if the accessibility of 

our streets is not carefully considered. It is imperative that we have accessible 

pavements that help people to navigate their surroundings independently and 

safely. 

 

30. There are also possible reputational risks if small to medium sized businesses do 

not feel supported and there are potential adverse impacts if the communication of 

A-board removals and enforcement are not carefully managed.  

Health Implications 

31. Removing A-boards may have the potential to reduce injury caused by 

obstruction to people who are blind or visually impaired (RNIB, 2021).  And help 

provide a street environment that allows all people to walk or wheel around the 

city more comfortably. 

Equality Implications 

32. The Equality Act 2010 S20 (4) provides support to remove A-boards. The Act 

requires that where a physical feature puts a disabled person at a substantial 

disadvantage in relation to a relevant matter in comparison with persons who are 

not disabled, to take such steps as it is reasonable to have to take to avoid the 

disadvantage. The Act states that: 

Page 492



(2)The duty comprises the following three requirements: 

(3)The first requirement is a requirement, where a provision, criterion or 

practice of A's puts a disabled person at a substantial disadvantage in 

relation to a relevant matter in comparison with persons who are not 

disabled, to take such steps as it is reasonable to have to take to avoid 

the disadvantage. 

(4)The second requirement is a requirement, where a physical feature 

puts a disabled person at a substantial disadvantage in relation to a 

relevant matter in comparison with persons who are not disabled, to take 

such steps as it is reasonable to have to take to avoid the disadvantage. 

(5)The third requirement is a requirement, where a disabled person 

would, but for the provision of an auxiliary aid, be put at a substantial 

disadvantage in relation to a relevant matter in comparison with persons 

who are not disabled, to take such steps as it is reasonable to have to 

take to provide the auxiliary aid. 

Climate implications 

33. None identified at present. 

Conclusion 

34. Not allowing A-boards to be placed on any streets improves the user experience 

of people walking, those with sight and mobility impairments, people wheeling 

prams and using mobility aids. Maintaining of clear and accessible pavements has 

particular importance ensuring “The Square Mile is accessible to all” and is central 

to the Transport Strategy’s Vision.  

 

35. Officers will start engagement phase between July and December 2024 to 

communicate with businesses, landowners, and the community about the A-board 

ban. The engagement approach will be developed with the support of legal 

advice.  

 
36. An update will be brought to this committee in January 2025 ahead of the 

enforcement phase commencing.   

Appendices  

• Appendix 1: City Solicitor notes on relevant legislation  

Background Papers 

Page 493



• March 2020, Advertising Aboard Policy, Planning and Transportation 

committee report, Agenda Item 2 (available on request) 

• October 2021, Transport for All Equal Pavements Pledge, Streets and 

Walkways committee report: 

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s159929/TFA%20E

qual%20Pavements%20Pledge.pdf 

 
Andrea Larice 
Strategic Transport Planner 
Environment Department 
E:  strategic.transportation@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

References 

Royal National Institute for Blind People, 2014. What can I do about - Advertising 
boards (A-boards), s.l.: 
https://committees.oldham.gov.uk/documents/s96883/RNIB%20A%20Boards.pdf. 
Royal National Institute for Blind People, 2021. Seeing Streets Differently, s.l.: 
https://media.rnib.org.uk/documents/Seeing_Streets_Differently_report_RNIB_2021.
pdf. 
Transport for All , 2021. Equal Pavements Pledge, s.l.: 
https://www.transportforall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Equal-Pavements-
Pledge-full-A4-WITH-LOGOS.pdf. 
Transport for all, 2014. ’Zero-tolerance’ on A-boards welcomed by disabled people, 
s.l.: https://www.transportforall.org.uk/news/zero-tolerance-on-a-boards-welcomed-
by-disabled-people/. 
 

  

Page 494

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s159929/TFA%20Equal%20Pavements%20Pledge.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s159929/TFA%20Equal%20Pavements%20Pledge.pdf


Appendix 1: Consideration of the legal implications and legal options available 

for a ban of A-boards. 

The following pieces of legislation are relevant for the consideration of the legal 

options available and ramifications of enforcing a ban of A-boards: 

Town Police Clauses Act 1847 S28 states that it is an offence for a person in any 

street, to cause an obstruction, annoyance, or danger of the residents or passengers 

and will be liable to a penalty not exceeding level 3 which is  £1000. There is the 

possibility of imprisonment up to 14 days for the contravention of this Act but that is 

at the discretion of the judge. 

The Equality Act 2010 S20 (4) provides support for blanket ban on A-boards given 

the needs of disabled pedestrians. The Act requires that where a physical feature 

puts a disabled person at a substantial disadvantage in relation to a relevant matter 

in comparison with persons who are not disabled, to take such steps as it is 

reasonable to have to take to avoid the disadvantage. The Act states that: 

(2)The duty comprises the following three requirements: 

(3)The first requirement is a requirement, where a provision, criterion or 

practice of A's puts a disabled person at a substantial disadvantage in relation 

to a relevant matter in comparison with persons who are not disabled, to take 

such steps as it is reasonable to have to take to avoid the disadvantage. 

(4)The second requirement is a requirement, where a physical feature puts a 

disabled person at a substantial disadvantage in relation to a relevant matter 

in comparison with persons who are not disabled, to take such steps as it is 

reasonable to have to take to avoid the disadvantage. 

(5)The third requirement is a requirement, where a disabled person would, 

but for the provision of an auxiliary aid, be put at a substantial disadvantage in 

relation to a relevant matter in comparison with persons who are not disabled, 

to take such steps as it is reasonable to have to take to provide the auxiliary 

aid. 

Reasonable steps may be taken by COL to impose a blanket ban and 

produce a policy setting out steps for notification of contravention and removal 

of the A-boards if the above criteria is met. 

Traffic Management Act 2004 places a duty on the Local Traffic Authority to 

manage its highway network to “secure the expeditious movement of traffic”. The Act 

explicitly states that “traffic” includes pedestrians. It is therefore consistent, with this 

duty, for COL to seek to improve the pedestrian environment on its footways and in 

its pedestrian zones by removing unlawful obstruction that can have a detrimental 

effect on the free flow of pedestrians and those with impaired mobility. The Act also 

Page 495



includes provisions for the management of bus lanes, cycle lanes, and pedestrian 

areas, which are designed to improve safety and accessibility for non-motorized road 

users. 

Highways Act 1980: It is an offence under Sections 137 and 148 of the Highways 

Act 1980 to wilfully obstruct the highway without lawful excuse, punishable by a fine 

not exceeding £1,000. Sections 143 and 149 give the Highway Authority powers to 

remove any items which have been placed on the highway. The boards may be 

removed and a fee charged for the storage and administration of collection. Liability 

arising from an accident involving an A-board remains with the owner of the A-board. 

Any damage caused to the A-board in removal would also be covered by the owner’s 

insurance. If the bill is not paid, then an order may be obtained from the magistrates 

to recover the costs and to ask for a disposal order. 

CPN to Prosecution 

 The owner may be issued with a warning or a CPN. A warning may be given 

requesting that the item is removed and that they will be issued with a CPN. If the 

board is not removed (they will be issued with a FPN of £100 or could face 

prosecution). If it is not removed (or the owner has already been issued with a CPN) 

then evidence will be taken for breaching the notice. The owner may be informed of 

the breach and will be given a fixed penalty notice to discharge their liability for 

prosecution for this offence. If the fixed penalty notice is not paid then this will be 

followed up with prosecution action. If the item is not removed then an application 

may be made to the Justice of the Peace for a seizure order under section 51 of the 

Anti-Social Behaviour and Crime and Policing Act 2014 which will be followed up 

with prosecution action within 28 days.  

Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 

Regulations 2007: Advertisements in the form of A-Boards will result in one or more 

offences depending on the advertisement and nature of the location concerned. A-

Boards are not excluded by Schedule 1 (exempt advertisements) or able to be 

subject to deemed consent under Schedule 3 of the 2007 Regulations, as such they 

require express consent before being allowed to be displayed.  

Clean Neighbourhood and Environment Act 2005: Section 43, enables the 

Council, to serve a Fixed Penalty Notice where advertisements have been deemed 

to be displayed unlawfully (same approach is utilised to deal with fly posters).   

Section 224, Town & Country Planning Act 1990 makes it an offence for any 

person to display an advertisement contrary to the 2007 Regulations. In the absence 

of any offence being able to be resolved through the Fixed Penalty Notice, legal 

action could be taken under the following: i. The maximum penalty under this section 

is £2,500, and in the case of a continuing offence a further fine of up to one-tenth for 

each day the offence continues after conviction.  

Page 496



Section 225, Town & Country Planning Act 1990 enables the Council using a 

Notice, to recover any costs incurred with the obliteration/removal of any 

advertisements displayed contrary to the Town & Country Planning (Control of 

Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

Page 497



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 498



Committee(s): 
Streets And Walkways Sub Committee – For Information 

Dated: 
09/07/2024 

Subject: Bank Junction Improvements Project: Next 
steps following the outcome of the Traffic and Timing 
Review 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

Vibrant Thriving Destination, 
Flourishing Public Spaces 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

Y 

If so, how much? £ TBC 

What is the source of Funding? Capital Bid for OSPR in next 
round 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N 

Report of: Interim Executive Director Environment For Information  

Report author: Gillian Howard Policy and Projects, City 
Operations, Environment. 
 

 
 
 

Summary 
 

The Court of Common Council decided on 20 June 2024 to “pursue a change to the 
restrictions [at Bank junction], under an experimental traffic order, to allow taxi 
access at all times while continuing to restrict other traffic, including private hire 
vehicles and powered two wheelers, between 7am-7pm Monday to Friday, except for 
access to Cornhill from Princes Street. (This is subject to further modelling, design 
work and approvals)” 

 
This paper sets out the indicative timetable for this work to be undertaken as 
included in the appendices of the June 2024 Court of Common Council paper. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to: 
 

• Note the report. 

• Note the indicative timetable and next steps as set out in Appendix 1 of this 
paper. 

 
 

Page 499

Agenda Item 14



 

 

 

 

 

Main Report 

 

Background 
 
 
1. The traffic mix and timing review for restrictions at Bank Junction has concluded.  

A new phase of the project to deliver the Court Of Common Council’s decision to 
pursue an experimental change to Bank to allow taxi access is being progressed. 

 
Current Position 
 
2. The indicative timeline and outline tasks can be found in Appendix 1 of this 

report. 
3. Further funding will be required to Implement the Experimental Traffic Order, as 

previously set out.  Costs are being finalised and a bid for funds from the On Stret 
Parking Reserve will be submitted for consideration by Priorities Board, Resource 
Allocation Sub Committee and Policy and Resources in due course. 

 
Options 
 
4. The next stage of work will identify the practical options of allowing taxis through 

Bank, and a Gateway 3-4 report (options appraisal) will be submitted in 
November 2024 for Members decision.    

5. It is at this stage that a final option for which arms of the junction taxis are 
allowed to use will be recommended. This will be informed by the next phase of 
traffic modelling which will identify the potential journey time benefits and impacts 
of making changes.  The next phase of traffic modelling is currently being 
commissioned with the consultant and TfL. 

 
Proposals 
 
6. To note the indicative time frame and steps in Appendix 1 with a view to an 

experimental traffic order being operational in Spring 2025. 
 
Key Data 
 
7. N/A 
 
Corporate & Strategic Implications  
 
Financial implications 

Page 500



8. A bid for further funding to implement the changes of an experimental order, 
monitor, enforce, consult and report back whether the experiment has been 
successful is going to be required.  These costs are currently being finalised 
ready to submit a bid for funding at the next available round.   

 

Resource implications 

9. As set out in the May report there is a need for more internal resource than is 
currently available to deliver the experiment and continue all current workload 
commitments. Consideration as to how this is managed, for example by 
reprioritising other work or through additional consultancy support is taking place. 
Additional resource may be required within the parking enforcement team to 
implement and manage the change to the enforcement of the restrictions for the 
experiment. Discussions as to what might be required is taking place. 

10. It should also be noted that progressing the traffic modelling work with TfL 
requires them to have sufficient staff resource to undertake their assessment and 
audits. They are aware of the outcome of the Court of Common Council decision 
and meetings with the relevant teams are being set up to agree the work 
programme. The capacity of the traffic modelling consultant would also be 
required.  The commissioning process for this is currently taking place.       

 

Legal implications 

11.  No implications for consideration in this update report 

 

Risk implications 

12. £150,000 of costed risk has been allocated to cover potential costs associated 
with a legal challenge. 

13. There remains a risk that TfL do not agree to the TMAN application when 
submitted. This would be mitigated by pursuing an experimental scheme with 
defined outcomes and agreed monitoring strategy and continuing to work closely 
with TfL throughout the development of the proposals.   

 

Equalities implications   

14. A further Equalities analysis for the experiment will be undertaken in due course. 

 

Climate implications 

15. N/A 

 

Security implications 

16. N/A 

 
Conclusion 
 

Page 501



17. Note the contents of this report and the indicative timeline and next steps in 
Appendix 1 

 
Appendices 
 
• Appendix 1 – Indicative timeline and next steps for the experiment. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Court of Common Council paper 20 June 2024 
Agenda item - Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at Bank) - Modern Council 
(cityoflondon.gov.uk) 
 
Gillian Howard 
Head of Transport and Public Realm Projects / Environment 
 
T: 020 7332 3139 
E: Gillian.howard@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 502

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=152846
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=152846


Appendix 1 

Indicative timeline and next steps to implement an Experimental Traffic Order at 

Bank Junction. 

Date Action/task 

June 2024 Court of Common Council decides that 
a change to the traffic restrictions at 
Bank is required. 
 
This will start the detailed design 
process for a change to the traffic 
orders. 

June/July 2024 Officers undertake the relevant 
commissions to continue the traffic 
modelling process to the next stage and 
agree programme with TfL. 

June to November 2024 City and TfL continue working together 
on the Base and Future Base traffic 
modelling submissions and audits. 
 
Consultants run scenario tests for 
consideration setting out likely 
implications for traffic signal timing, 
journey time impacts and benefits of 
different routing options.   
 
Engagement with local stakeholders on 
the progress of the scenarios and likely 
recommendations to committee with 
any feedback incorporated into the 
committee report 

November 2024 Progress report to Streets and 
Walkways Sub Committee for 
consideration of the scenarios tested 
and a decision on the preferred routing 
for the restrictions to be ‘relaxed’. 
This routing will then be progressed 
through the last stages of traffic 
modelling approvals.   

November 2024 to January 2025 Submission of the proposed traffic 
model for TfL audit and sign off. 
 
Discussion of agreeable success criteria 
and likely monitoring strategy for the 
traffic experiment between the City and 
TfL. 
Continued engagement with local 
stakeholders  

Page 503



January 2025 Streets and Walkways consider final 
‘design’ (what changes to the traffic 
signal timings would need to be 
undertaken, likely impact on journey 
times, updated Equalities analysis and 
the success criteria and monitoring 
strategy etc.) and authority to progress 
to the implementation of the experiment 
(subject to the successful sign off from 
TfL) 

February 2025 TfL prepare internal Scheme impact 
assessment Report for final sign off of 
the Traffic Modelling process.  

March 2025 If required, scheme presented at TfL 
Roads Space Performance Group 
(RSPG) ahead of City formally 
submitting its Traffic management 
(TMAN) application. 

April to May 2025 Lead up to the experiment going live, 
new signage ordered, Traffic Order 
notice processed, stakeholder 
engagement and communications 
campaign launched. 

May 2025 Experimental scheme goes live. 
 
Monitoring and statutory and public 
consultation begins. 
 
The experiment will run for up to 18 
months before a final decision is taken 
based on meeting the success criteria 
and consideration of the monitoring 
information. 

 

Page 504



 

 

 

Committee: 
Streets & Walkways Sub Committee  
 

Dated: 
9 July 2024 

Subject: Update on actions for improving dockless e-bike 
hire in the City  

PUBLIC 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

Vibrant thriving destination 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? n/a 

What is the source of Funding? n/a 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Y/N 

Report of: Executive Director Environment For Information  

Report author: Giacomo Vecia, Senior Strategic 
Transportation Officer 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report provides an update on actions agreed at this Committee in January 2024 
for improving dockless cycle hire operations in Square Mile. The actions required 
immediate operational changes from Lime and Forest to improve their schemes and in 
particular parking compliance across the City.  
 
Several agreed actions have been undertaken, including clarifying our requirements 
with operators in writing, updating internal and external resources on reporting 
inappropriately-parked dockless bikes, ensuring operators are enforcing against poor 
user behaviours and finalising our micromobility-related studies. Other actions are 
ongoing, including delivering new dockless vehicle parking bays and working with 
operators to improve their warning, fining and banning procedures. 
 

 
Recommendation(s) 

 

Members of the Streets and Walkways Sub Committee are asked to note the content 
of the report. 

 
Main Report 

 
Background 
 

1. Micromobility is a term that refers to modes of transport using lightweight and 
low speed vehicles such as bicycles or scooters, especially electric ones, that 
may be hired for short-term use. This includes dockless cycle hire and rental e-
scooters. 

 
2. The fact that no on-street docking infrastructure is required for dockless cycle 

hire and rental e-scooters offers users more flexibility and avoids the risk of not 

Page 505

Agenda Item 15



 

 

being able to end a ride due to a docking station being full. It also represents a 
challenge, as users of dockless cycle hire can leave bikes anywhere, potentially 
obstructing pavements.  

 
3. While rental e-scooter schemes are, on a trial basis, regulated by the 

Department for Transport and Local Highways Authorities, dockless cycle hire 
schemes fall outside the existing legislative framework. The City Corporation 
does not have powers to prevent dockless cycle hire schemes from operating in 
the City. A summary of our legal powers relating to dockless cycles is provided 
in Appendix 1. 

 
4. We have agreed that two dockless cycle hire operators – Lime and Forest – can 

operate in the City with our approval. As noted above, the City does not have 
powers to prevent dockless cycle hire schemes from operating in the City. We 
have given this approval despite the legal limitations to improve engagement 
with Lime and Forest and seek additional voluntary financial contributions from 
them to support micromobility in the City.  

 
5. Since their approval statuses were first granted in 2020, Lime and Forest 

dockless bikes have been used for an estimated two million trips by City 
residents, workers and visitors and demand continues to grow. It is estimated 
that on average over 100,000 journeys are now made by dockless bikes in the 
City every month. This has contributed to both the increase in cycling observed 
in the City over the last three years and to challenges around parking supply 
and inappropriately parked dockless bikes on City streets. 
 

6. We are working with Lime and Forest to ensure that best practice and 
innovation introduced by one operator is adopted by the other. We are also 
working closely with TfL and other London boroughs who have agreement with 
Lime, Forest or other dockless cycle hire scheme operators active in London to 
ensure industry best practice is adopted in the City. 

 
7. In January 2024, Members agreed a series of actions relating to improving 

parking compliance, including: introducing a City-wide no parking zone (among 
other scheme improvements); expanding our data collection and reporting over 
the short term; increasing the number of dockless vehicle parking locations in 
the medium term; and, over the longer term, facilitate ongoing collaboration with 
TfL, London Councils and central Government to support and champion 
additional regulatory, contractual and other powers to better manage dockless 
operations and operators.  

 
8. An update on progress with implementing the immediate and short-term actions 

is provided below. 
 

9. As dockless cycle hire schemes fall outside the existing legislative framework 
and the City Corporation does not have powers to prevent dockless cycle hire 
schemes from operating in the City (as outlined in Appendix 1), many agreed 
actions were dependent on compliance by operators. 

 
10. In June 2023, London Council’s Transport and Environment Committee agreed 

in principle to a single contract approach for e-bikes and e-scooters and to work 

Page 506



 

 

with TfL and London local authorities on the design of the scheme, with the 
hopes of enabling a transition to a single contract in 2025.  
 

11. In May 2024, Members agreed to signal our intention to join the proposed 
contract, should it be brought forward. Further details of this approach can be 
found under Background Papers 

12. In advance of this contract coming into effect and/or the Government 
introducing planned legislation, individual agreements with operators remain the 
most effective mechanism for managing dockless cycle hire in the City. 
 

13. Our cleansing arrangements, including how Street Enforcement Officers report 
dockless bikes to operators, remains in effect. Full details on our existing 
cleansing and enforcement arrangements can be found in Appendix 2. 
 

Update on immediate actions to be implemented in early 2024 
 

14. The following immediate actions were outlined in the January 2024 report: 
a. A City-wide no-parking zone outside of approved parking areas 
b. Rapid response locations  
c. Review warning, fining and banning procedures  

 
15. In addition to the above, as previously agreed in July 2023, dockless bikes were 

allowed to be parked at pre-approved and under-utilised Sheffield stands and 
cycle parking areas on a temporary basis while additional dedicated dockless 
parking areas are identified. 

 
16. It was noted that it may take time for compliance to improve following the 

implementation of these actions and that there may be complaints for hire 
scheme users as behaviours and habits adjust.  

 
17. Officers have met with and written to both Lime and Forest this spring to 

communicate the City’s requirements, including the implementation of a City-
wide no-parking zone except for approved parking areas. In their written 
responses, both operators confirmed that they have implemented a City-wide 
no-parking zone and issue warnings and penalties to anyone who parks outside 
of approved areas, including bans for repeat offenders.  

 
18. Both operators also stated they were unable to meet the requirement that they 

cap their fleet size in the City at 150 vehicles each. Officers wrote back to both 
Lime and Forest to express our disappointment at this and reiterate the need for 
operators to manage their fleets in line with available parking capacity.  
 

19. Officers have developed a map of priority response areas in the City where any 
e-bike left outside of approved parking areas would always be obstructive, 
irrespective of how the e-bike is parked. Users leaving bikes in these areas 
would automatically receive a higher fine and bikes would be prioritised for 
removal by the operators.  
 

20. This map was developed by overlaying streets where pavement widths are less 
than 2m, sensitive areas such as St. Paul’s Cathedral, areas where bikes are 
not permitted to be ridden such as the Barbican Highwalks and Podium, and 

Page 507



 

 

other areas requested by external partners such as the City of London Police or 
Transport for London. The final priority areas map is included in Appendix 3. 
 

21. We have written to operators to inform them of these priority response areas. 
We are awaiting confirmation from both operators on implementation and note 
that operators already include some of these areas in their enhanced fining 
areas, such as the Barbican podium.  

 
22. We are also working with operators by suggesting changes to existing penalty 

structures and procedures to improve user behaviours and parking compliance 
in the City, in particular as they relate to our new priority areas. 

 
Update on short term actions to be implemented by mid-2024 
 

23. The following short-term actions were outlined in the January 2024 report: 
a. New dockless vehicle parking spaces  
b. Audit kerbside space availability and parking occupancy 
c. Member walkabouts and information gathering  
d. Dedicated dockless webpage  
e. Additional data collection and reporting 
f. Cycle and e-scooter campaigns  

 
Update on the kerbside review and provision of new dockless vehicle parking 
spaces  
 

24. In March 2024, a kerbside review was carried out to identify potential spaces for 
micromobility parking. This study assessed over 200 kerbside locations that are 
free from parking and loading restrictions and outside of the rental e-scooter’s 
no-go zones. 
 

25. The review of 200 locations identified 75 streets which may be suitable for 
installing a new parking bay. All other locations were considered not suitable 
due to competing street user demands. The 75 locations were overlaid with 
areas of high cycle hire demand to prioritise sites for new parking bays. See 
Appendix 4 for further details. 
 

26. 26 locations have been shortlisted for the next batch of parking bays to be 
delivered this financial year. See Appendix 5 for further details. Each bay will 
have a minimum of 12 bike or 20 scooter spaces.  
 

27. The estimated cost for delivering these 26 parking bays is £125,000. A funding 
bid for this amount has been submitted to TfL with the outcome expected by 
August 2024. If this is unsuccessful or the full bid amount is not received, then 
we will seek contributions from operators to deliver these bays.    
 

28. It should be noted that additional spaces are also being considered and where 
possible delivered as part of projects. For example, the Finsbury Circus Access 
Improvements project includes three large bays (equivalent to 7 standard bays) 
and will provide space for at least 82 rental bikes or 143 scooters.   
 

Page 508



 

 

29. The entire micromobility parking programme aims to deliver up to 75 parking 
bays by December 2026, subject to funding being provided by either operators 
or TfL.  
 

30. New dockless vehicle parking bays can be implemented under existing 
delegated powers.  

 
Update on the Cycle Parking Occupancy Review  

 
31. In February 2024, a cycle parking occupancy survey was carried out to audit the 

current infrastructure and occupancy of the cycle parking locations. The survey 
aimed to identify opportunities where underutilised cycle racks could be 
reallocated could be reallocated for dockless cycle hire parking.  
 

32. Officers consider cycle parking locations with at least six cycle racks (12 
spaces) and a parking occupancy of 20% or less could be suitable for 
reallocating 50% of the spaces to dockless cycle hire. This approach aims to 
provide a minimum of six spaces each for private bicycles and dockless cycle 
hire, ensuring a balance between the two parking types and potentially 
improving the regulation of dockless cycle hire parking in the area. The 20% 
parking occupancy threshold accounts for increases in private bicycle parking 
demand during the summer.     
 

33. For instance, if a location had 10 cycle racks (20 spaces) and had a 20% 
occupancy (4 bicycles parked), the reallocation of 5 cycle racks (10 spaces) for 
dockless cycle hire would be considered.      
 

34. The survey identified eight locations that meet these criteria. Officers have 
assessed these locations and now propose reallocating parking spaces for 
dockless cycle hire at five of these locations which would provide additional 
parking for up to 54 dockless cycle hire bicycles. Details of the locations are 
shown in Appendix 6.  

 
Dockless bike scheme monitoring and data collection 
 

35. Operators periodically share operational and compliance data with Officers as 
part of ongoing monitoring and evaluation of their schemes. The quality and 
extent of this data sharing has varied over time. Officers have continued to 
request extensive data on scheme operations and parking compliance, 
including on compliance rates, number of penalties issued, number of retrieval 
tasks initiated as a result of obstructive dockless vehicle parking or 
abandonment, and number of retrieval tasks completed. 

 
36. Officers wrote to Lime and Forest requesting a data transfer in May and June 

2024. No operator responses were received at time of writing. We will continue 
to write to operators to insist they provide this data to us. 

 
37. City Officers undertake periodic bay occupancy audits to understand parking 

compliance and activity levels in and around our approved parking areas. 
Beyond this, at present there are limited cost- and resource-efficient methods 
available to verify or audit data shared with us by operators. 
 

Page 509



 

 

38. On 18 June 2024, an informal audit of our dockless vehicle parking bays was 
conducted between 13:00 and 16:00. Out of 16 carriageway bays audited, eight 
were found to be over-capacity, with some bays overcapacity by 30-60 bikes. 
Several under-capacity bays had no e-bikes recorded in them, suggesting the 
location of these bays may be poor or in low-demand areas. Relocation of some 
bays may improve their usage over time. 
 

39. Officers will continue to undertake periodic sampling to capture numbers of both 
inappropriately and appropriately parked bikes in small areas. This data may 
allow us limited ability to verify and audit operator data on percentages of 
dockless bike journeys that end with a bike appropriately or inappropriately 
parked, noting that data collected in this way is unable to account for bikes that 
are moved after a journey is ended. Spot checks will also be undertaken to 
audit operator response times for removal of e-bikes causing an obstruction, 
particularly in our new priority areas. 
 

40. Officers will begin undertaking “mystery shopper” rides where e-bike hire rides 
are ended outside of bays to check warning and fining procedures are being 
applied. Officers will also periodically request anonymised warning and fining 
information on specific bikes through providing operators with serial numbers of 
inappropriately parked or abandoned bikes.  

 
41. London Councils and Transport for London are working to expand existing data 

sharing platforms, including PowerBI dashboards and the BlueSystems tool in 
use for the rental e-scooter trial, to better incorporate dockless bike data. 
However, without powers to compel operators to share this data there has been 
limited success in incorporating auditable data sources into these platforms. 
 

42. Data auditing and verification is likely to improve considerably once the joint 
dockless micromobility contract is live. These challenges and issues do not 
exist for rental e-scooter data that is already shared and managed through the 
BlueSystems platform. 

 
43. City Officers will continue to work with London Councils, Transport for London 

and dockless operators to improve data sharing agreements and will seek to 
find alternative, cost- and resource-effective ways to better audit and verify the 
data that operators share with us. 
 

44. City Officers will update Members of this Committee on an annual basis as part 
of Transport Strategy annual reporting to share the data that we receive from 
operators and that we collect internally as part of our cleansing and 
enforcement procedures. 

 
Update on other short term actions 
 

45. A dedicated City of London dockless e-bike webpage launched this spring 
(https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/dockless-cycle-hire-in-the-city-
of-london). The webpage includes extensive information on micromobility 
regulations, reporting procedures, what enforcement powers are and aren’t 
available to the City Corporation and general Q&As on dockless e-bikes and e-
scooters.  

 

Page 510

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/dockless-cycle-hire-in-the-city-of-london
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/dockless-cycle-hire-in-the-city-of-london


 

 

46. Officers have developed standardised complaint responses procedures to help 
improve response timeframes to Members and members of the public. 

 
47. We are continuing to work with operators to formalise our requirements and 

operational relationship. Given any potential pan-London non-docked 
micromobility scheme is not set to launch before 2025, we are exploring the use 
of Memorandums of Understanding (MoUs) as an interim solution.  
 

48. Targeted social media posts were also undertaken during bike week to help 
raise awareness of appropriate riding and parking behaviours.  A further cycle 
roadshow is planned for 27th June during Climate Action Week and will include 
training and messaging around appropriate behaviour.   

 
Central government micromobility legislation 
 

49. The Government has stated its plans to introduce controls to enable the 
regulation of the dockless rental market. This would extend to rental bikes and 
e-bikes as well as e-scooters. The timetable for the legislative process as not 
yet been confirmed and no relevant legislation was included in the King’s 
Speech in Autumn 2023. 
 

50. As discussed at the last meeting of this Committee the Policy Chairman has 
written to the Secretary of State for Transport to highlight our concerns around 
the delay to this legislation. 
 

51. City Corporation Officers will continue to work with TfL, London Councils and 
operators to support and champion for primary legislation focussed on 
micromobility providing regulatory and other powers for local authorities to 
manage dockless vehicle schemes following the upcoming General Election. 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 

52. Dockless cycle hire supports the delivery of Corporate Plan Outcome: Vibrant 
thriving destination. 
 

53. The City of London Transport Strategy (Proposal 28) sets out our approach to 
improving cycle hire in the Square Mile. The need for designated parking areas 
is also included in Proposal 17: Keep pavements free of obstructions.  

 
54. Micromobility schemes including dockless cycle hire helps inform the Future 

City Streets Programme (Proposal 42). 
 

55. Dockless cycle hire also supports our Climate Action Strategy through providing 
a potentially zero emission alternative to short car, private hire and taxi trips. 

 
56. There is a possible reputational risk to the City Corporation if innovative 

approaches to increasing sustainable and healthy transport modes are not 
carefully considered. There are also possible reputational risks if potential 
adverse impacts of dockless cycle hire operations are not carefully managed.  

 
Legal implications  
 

Page 511



 

 

57. Dockless cycle hire schemes which do not necessitate any infrastructure being 
placed on the highway fall outside the existing legislative framework and do not 
need the City Corporation’s consent to operate in the City, as outlined in 
Appendix 1.  

 
58. In the event of loss, injury or damage being caused by dockless cycles, the 

person responsible would depend on the circumstances of each case. For 
example, if a cycle had remained in a dangerous position for days without the 
highway authority taking steps despite complaints, some liability would be 
likely to rest with the highway authority. If an accident occurred a few moments 
after the cycle was left in a dangerous position and the highway authority had 
no reasonable opportunity to identify and remedy the danger, it is unlikely any 
liability would rest with the highway authority, and therefore would be more 
likely to rest with the user and/or operator.  
 

59. The steps proposed to secure the co-operation of operators in ensuring safe 
practices would help demonstrate that the City is taking reasonable measures 
consistent with its responsibilities outlined in Appendix 1. 

 
60. Data collected from dockless cycle hire operations will also help inform 

Corporation policy and possible representations on and consultations to future 
legislation to regulate the dockless hire market. 
 

61. The signing of any Memorandums of Understanding (MoUs) with active 
operators in the City will include favourable break clauses so as to not 
compromise our ability to join any potential future pan-London non-docked 
micromobility scheme or contract.  
 

62. Any MoU will not hold sufficient legal status to provide the City Corporation with 
additional regulatory or enforcement-related powers.  

 
Financial implications 
 

63. Operators covered the costs of the studies referenced in Paragraphs 24-34, 
which will help identify additional parking areas for delivery and appropriate 
Sheffield stands for interim use ahead of new parking bay implementation.  
 

64. We are now seeking additional contributions to cover the costs of proposed new 
dockless vehicle bays. Bays that are currently being delivered are funded 
through existing e-scooter trial income.  

 
65. Additional costs will be incurred if the City Corporation must relocate or remove 

dockless bikes deemed to be causing a danger from the streets in default of the 
operator removing them. Removal and storage costs would be incurred in these 
circumstances and will be recovered through charging operators for removal.  

 
66. There will be some additional impact on cleansing teams as in some locations 

when dockless parking areas are full it is more difficult for cleansing team to 
access the area. This is an issue for any vehicle parked areas if occupied whilst 
cleansing operatives are carrying out work. Further details are included in 
Appendix 2. 

 

Page 512



 

 

Health Implications 
 

67. Well managed dockless cycle hire schemes have the potential to reduce the 
number of car journeys within central London, and potentially shift journeys from 
short car, taxi, private hire and public transport trips, with associated benefits to 
air quality and public health.  

 
Equality Implications 
 

68. A detailed Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken in consultation 
with internal and external stakeholders on a similar scheme – the City of 
London’s rental e-scooter trial. Lessons and mitigations from that EqIA have 
been taken into consideration wherever appropriate and related to dockless 
cycle hire. 

 
69. Dockless cycle hire activity in the City is being monitored to understand impacts 

on protected characteristic groups (e.g. visually impaired, wheelchair users). 
This is consistent with the public sector equality duty. 

 
70. The City of London rental e-scooter trial EQIA identifies a number of issues, 

particularly around safety of e-scooter users and other road users, which can 
help better understand and develop mitigations for dockless cycle hire 
schemes, including:   

• Speeding and irresponsible riding behaviours 

• Irresponsible parking leading to dockless cycles being abandoned and 
becoming street litter that could causing obstructions or injury 

• Increased fears for people’s safety and wellbeing on the City’s Streets 

• Increased risk of collisions for those riding dockless cycles 

• Increased risk to people walking on our streets, due to dockless cycles not 
being seen or heard, dockless cycles speeding in shared use areas, and/or 
illegal or poor rider behaviour 

  
71. Engagement and enforcement against illegal and unsafe use of dockless cycles 

will be undertaken in partnership with City of London Police.   
 

72. In summary, we have concluded that the application of mitigation measures and 
the benefits from safe use of a dockless cycles outweigh the negative impacts, 
or potential impacts of those in protected characteristics groups. 

 
Conclusion 
 

73. The progress outlined in this report is part of our ongoing efforts to improve 
parking compliance and scheme operations across the Square Mile. We will 
continue to make progress on agreed actions with a focus on improving parking 
compliance and delivering new dockless vehicle spaces as outlined in 
Paragraphs 24-30.  
 

74. The delivery of up to 26 new dockless vehicle parking bays this financial year 
(and up to 75 bays over the next 3 years) will help us meet the rising demand 
for dockless vehicles in the City while minimising the obstructions and visual 
clutter dockless e-bikes can cause.  
 

Page 513



 

 

75. Officers will continue to monitor Lime and Forest’s performance in the City and 
work with both operators and TfL/London Councils to improve data collection, 
sharing, analysis and verification across all dockless modes.  
 

76. While the situation is not perfect at present, this approach continues our formal 
relationships with operators, allowing us to continue to work constructively with 
them to raise issues and discuss potential solutions while recouping some of 
the costs associated with mitigating the impacts of dockless cycle hire in the 
City. Not working with operators would likely also lead to a free-for-all 
environment. 
 

77. The City Corporation is also seen as an important dockless vehicle policy 
knowledge base both within London and nationally. Continuing our engagement 
with operators in London and the dockless industry more widely will help us 
maintain and elevate that status and the leverage it affords the City Corporation 
in influencing wider policy and legislation.  
 

78. We will continue to bring updates to this Committee on dockless scheme 
operational performance in the City on an annual basis as part of the Transport 
Strategy Annual Report.  
 

79. An additional report will be brought to this Committee ahead of the finalisation 
or signing of any potential pan-London non-docked micromobility scheme 
contract documents. 

 
Background Papers  
 

• Private - Non-docked micromobility scheme Statement of Intent – 14 May 2024 

• General micromobility update and actions for improving dockless bike hire in the 

City - 30 January 2024 

• Extended Review of Dockless Operator Lime - 4 July 2023 

• Dockless cycles policy and legal powers update - 17 January 2023 

• London rental e-scooter trial and dockless vehicle update - 19 July 2022 

• Dockless cycle hire trial outcomes and next steps - 12 December 2019 

 
Appendices  

 
Appendix 1 – Legal implications: advice from the Comptroller and City Solicitor 
Appendix 2 – Existing cleansing and enforcement arrangements 
Appendix 3 – Dockless vehicle priority removal areas 
Appendix 4 – Prioritised parking 
Appendix 5 – Cycle rack reallocation 
Appendix 6 – Shortlisted parking 
 

 

Giacomo Vecia  
Senior Strategic Transport Officer  
Environment Department 
 
T: 020 7332 1489  
E: giacomo.vecia@cityoflondon.gov.uk   

Page 514

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s187772/040723%20SW%20Extended%20Review%20of%20Dockless%20Operator%20Lime%20Final.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s187772/040723%20SW%20Extended%20Review%20of%20Dockless%20Operator%20Lime%20Final.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s187772/040723%20SW%20Extended%20Review%20of%20Dockless%20Operator%20Lime%20Final.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s180496/SW170123%20Dockless%20vehicle%20policy%20update%20report%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s172592/190722%20PT%20Dockless%20vehicle%20policy%20update%20report%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s126675/Dockless%20Cycle%20Trial%20Outcomes%20Report%20for%20PT%20Dec%2019.pdf
mailto:giacomo.vecia@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 1 – Legal implications: advice from the Comptroller and City 
Solicitor 

 
Statutory duties 

 
The City Corporation has a duty under s.130 of the HA 1980 to assert and protect 
the rights of the public to the use and enjoyment of any highway for which they are 
the highway authority. 

 
It also has a network management duty under s.16 of the Traffic Management Act 
2004. This requires it to manage its road network with a view to achieving, so far as 
may be reasonably practicable having regard to their other obligations, policies and 
objectives, the following objectives: 

 
a. securing the expeditious movement of traffic on the authority's road network; and 

b. facilitating the expeditious movement of traffic on road networks for which 

another authority is the traffic authority. 

 
Under section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 local authorities are 
under a duty to exercise functions conferred on them under that Act so far as 
practicable, having regard to matters specified in subsection (2), to secure the 
expeditious, safe and convenient movement of traffic (including pedestrians). 

 
The City Corporation is also subject to the public sector equality duty under section 
149 of the Equalities Act 2010. This means that in the exercise of its functions it must 
have due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. This 
includes removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics (such as visual or mobility disabilities). 

 
An unmanaged proliferation of bikes on the highway arising from dockless bike hire 
schemes may compromise compliance with the above statutory duties. 

 
Statutory powers to deal with bikes on highway 

 
Dockless cycle hire schemes which do not necessitate any infrastructure being 
placed on the highway fall outside the existing legislative framework and do not need 
the City Corporation’s consent to operate in the City. However, there are some 
existing statutory powers available where bikes are left so as to cause an 
obstruction, nuisance or danger. 

 
1. Section 137 HA 1980 – If a person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way 

wilfully obstructs the free passage along a highway he is guilty of an offence and 

liable to a fine not exceeding Level 3 on the standard scale (currently up to 

£1000.00.) 

 
2. Section 148(c) HA 1980– if, without lawful authority or excuse a person deposits 

anything whatsoever on a highway to the interruption of any user of 

Page 515



 

 

the highway he is guilty of an offence and liable to a fine not exceeding 
Level 3 on the standard scale. 

 
3. Section 149 HA 1980 – if anything is so deposited on a highway as to constitute a 

nuisance, the highway authority for the highway may by notice require the person 

who deposited there to remove it forthwith. In the event of non-compliance, a court 

order may be obtained authorising the removal and disposal of the offending item. 

If the highway authority has reasonable grounds for considering the item 

constitutes a danger (including a danger caused by obstructing the view) to users 

of the highway and ought to be removed without the delay of seeking a court 

order it can remove the item forthwith and, ultimately, seek a court order for its 

disposal. 

 

A highway nuisance can be defined as  ‘any wrongful act or omission upon or near a 

highway, whereby the public are prevented from freely, safely and conveniently 

passing along the highway’. So it is something that causes an interference with the 

public right of way along a highway.  

 

Obstructions are defined in TfL’s ‘Dockless Bike Share Code Of Practice 

For Operators In London 2018 ’as a situation arising from the deposit of a bike or 

bikes (whether by reason of its or their position, their number, or otherwise) so as to 

adversely affect the free use of a highway (including a footway or a carriageway), or 

adversely affect the free use of any other public or private land (including river, 

canal and park environments which is not specifically assigned for the purposes of 

dockless bikes, without lawful authority or excuse’. (This is not a legal definition but 

it provides a useful guide). 

 

What constitutes a danger will need to be considered on the facts of each situation 

but a number of dockless vehicles left fallen across a footway so as to cause a trip 

hazard may be considered to be a danger. Where a substantial part of the footway is 

blocked that may also constitute a danger if pedestrians could be forced into the 

street. Location specific reasons may also be a factor as to whether left vehicles are a 

danger such as the width of the footpath and the level of footfall. 

 
Street trading and ‘waste’ 

 
Consideration has been given to whether the provision of dockless cycles for hire 
is caught by local legislation which makes it unlawful for any person to engage in 
unauthorised street trading in the City. “Street trading” is defined in the City of 
London (Various Powers) Act 1987 to mean the selling or exposing or offering for 
sale of any article or thing in a street. However, dockless cycle hire schemes 
involve bikes being available on the highway (or on private land with the consent of 
the owner) for temporary hire by members of the public, with payment being made 
via an App, and no person in the street engaged in the hiring out of the bikes. As 
the 1987 Act prohibits a person from selling etc. items in the street, not the 
temporary hiring of bikes in the way proposed which is more in the nature of a 
service (and not dissimilar to the existing Santander cycle hire scheme except that 
there are no docking stations), the activity would not amount to unauthorised 
street trading. 

 

Page 516



 

 

Consideration has been given to whether definitions of “waste” or “litter” in 
legislation apply. It is considered that these terms are not intended to cover 
bicycles left temporarily on the highway and which are in use for the benefit of the 
operators and their customers and officers are not aware of any decisions on this 
point. It is not considered that this adds significantly to the City’s statutory powers 
to deal with bikes on the highway. 

 
Regulation by making byelaws 

 
Government guidance states that byelaws are considered measures of last resort 
after a local council has tried to address the local issue the byelaw applies to 
through other means. A byelaw cannot be made where alternative legislative 
measures already exist that could be used to address the problem. Byelaws should 
always be proportionate and reasonable. 

 
It follows that there is a risk that the case for making a byelaw to regulate 
dockless bike hire could be undermined if all bikes on City streets were to be 
classed as obstructions and removed under existing powers.  
 

It is understood that action proposed to establish a regulatory framework for 
dockless vehicle schemes by way of a London-wide byelaw has been deferred as 
the Government has indicated that it intends to introduce controls to regulate the 
market. These regulations have been pushed back to at the earliest the next 
parliamentary session in 2023. 

 
Liabilities 

 
In the event of loss, injury or damage being caused by the cycles, the person 
responsible would depend on the circumstances of each case. For example, if a 
cycle had remained in a dangerous position for days without the highway authority 
taking steps despite complaints, some liability would be likely to rest with the 
highway authority. If an accident occurred a few moments after the cycle was left in 
a dangerous position and the highway authority had no reasonable opportunity to 
identify and remedy the danger, it is unlikely any liability would rest with the 
highway authority, and therefore would be more likely to rest with the user and/or 
operator. In addition, the steps proposed to secure the co-operation of operators in 
ensuring safe  practises would help demonstrate that the City is taking reasonable 
measures consistent with its responsibilities. 

  

Page 517



 

 

Appendix 2 – Existing cleansing and enforcement arrangements 
 
Our current approach to enforcing against inappropriately parked dockless bikes 
consists of reporting issues and incidents directly to operators and, if possible, 
immediately moving or relocating bikes to more appropriate locations. We do not 
currently undertake significant legal enforcement action against dockless cycle hire 
schemes. 
 
While City Corporation staff are unable to unlock dockless cycles to relocate them to 
approved parking areas, they will attempt to lift bikes (which can weigh up to 20kg) 
while they are locked to move them to more appropriate nearby locations.  The 
relocation is limited to the nearest safe location, as bikes are heavy and locked, 
needing two people to move them.  These bikes are then reported immediately to the 
responsible operator to attend to. 
 
The City Corporation has limited powers to enforce against dockless cycles that 
pose nuisances, obstructions or dangers on City streets. Enforcing against dockless 
cycles that pose an obstruction involves notifying operators of any obstructions and 
providing them a reasonable timeframe for removing the obstruction. If the 
obstruction is not removed in a reasonable timeframe the City Corporation can seek 
a court order to enable us to remove the obstruction ourselves. 
 
Any dockless cycles that pose a danger on our streets may be removed immediately. 
While no standard definition of how dockless cycles may constitute a danger on UK 
highways exists, potential scenarios have been identified as part of legal advice 
sought out regarding this. 
 
Officers have not regularly enforced against bikes that pose a danger due to: 

a. Limited secure storage for removed bikes due to changes at Walbrook 
Wharf  
b. Updated costs associated with enabling the IDOX cleansing system to 
facilitate dockless cycles removals 
c. Limited cleansing staff resource 
d. A lack of formal legal and policy guidance on how to appraise whether 
an inappropriately parked dockless bike constitutes a danger or an obstruction 
e. Concerns around legal challenges should operators wish to challenge 
our definition of dangerously parked dockless bikes 
f. Awareness that most bikes are re-hired or removed before City 
cleansing staff are able to attend to sites with inappropriately parked bikes 
with the necessary removal vehicle and teams 

 
City staff will continue to report inappropriately parked bikes to operators, move 
those bikes when possible and work with operators to improve their compliance and 
response times. 
 

Page 518



Dockless Priority Removal Areas
Pavements less than 2 metres wide
Priority dockless vehicle removal areas
City of London Boundary

±

0 250 500 750 1,000125
Meters

P
age 519



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 520



 

Prioritised Delivery of Potential Micromobility Parking 

Delivery 2024/25 
Delivery 2025/26 
Delivery 2026/27 

P
age 521



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 522



 

           Shortlisted micromobility parking bay 

Proposed Shortlisted Micromobility Parking 

P
age 523



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 524



Proposed cycle rack
location to be partly 
reallocated to dockless 
cycle hire

8
8

12

8

18

12 Number of parking spaces 
reallocated for dockless
cycle hire

Cycle Parking Reallocation 

KEY

P
age 525



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 526



v.April 2019 

 
Committees: 
Streets and Walkways Sub - For Information 
Projects and Procurement Sub - For information 

Dates: 
09 July 2024 
15 July 2024 

Subject:  
Dauntsey House, Frederick’s Place - Public Realm 
Improvements (S278) 
 

Unique Project Identifier:12411 

Gateway 1/2 
Light 
Progress Report 
 

Report of:  
Bob Roberts, Interim Executive Director for 
Environment 
 

For Information 

Report Author:  
Emmanuel Ojugo 

PUBLIC 
 

1. Status update Project Description: Public realm improvements related to the 
redevelopment of Dauntsey House, 4A & 4B Frederick’s Place, are 
captured in Schedule 9 of the Section 106 Agreement and read as 
follows: 
 

Schedule 9: Indicative Description of the Section 278 Works 
The Section 278 Works may include but will not be limited to: 
1. Works to Ironmonger Lane in accordance with the approved 

Cheapside & Guildhall Area Strategy, including new paving and a 
raised section of carriageway or a raised table, to cater for new 
and existing pedestrian movement between Frederick's Place, St 
Olave's Court and Prudent Passage; 

2. New lighting around the development; 
3. Any works necessary to accommodate pedestrian movement 

immediately south of the Development around the private loading 
area; 

4. Works to accommodate waiting and loading restrictions; and 
5. Any other works that the City Corporation considers necessary 

to make the Development acceptable in planning terms. 
 

Current Position 
The Dauntsey House development is nearing completion. The 
developer has recently confirmed that hoarding/scaffolding currently 
erected around the site, particularly in a section of Ironmonger Lane 
is expected to be removed by the end of July 2024. The City will soon 

Page 527

Agenda Item 16



v.April 2019 

be able to access the site to progress design and evaluation further. 
This will inform the content of the Section 278 Agreement currently 
being drafted in accordance with the approved Section 106 
Agreement and the resources required to implement works. 
RAG Status: Green  
Risk Status: Low  
Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): The previous 
report (Gateway 1/2) suggested the project could be delivered within 
the budget range of £350K - £600K. The resources required to 
implement the project will be confirmed at the next reporting stage. 
Spend to Date: £5,938 
 

Table 1: Spend to date - 16800500: Dauntsey House S278 

Description  Approved 
Budget (£)  

Expenditure 
(£)  

Balance 
(£)  

Env Servs Staff Costs  8,000  3,253  4,747  
P&T Staff Costs 12,000  2,685  9,315  
P&T Fees  5,000  -    5,000  

TOTAL  25,000  5,938  19,062  

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: N/A  
2. Key points to note Next Gateway: Gateway 3/4/5  

Key Points:  
On 19 March 2024, Members of the Streets and Walkways sub-
Committee approved the initiation of a traffic experiment to reopen 
Old Jewry to all traffic in a southbound direction, at all times.  
 
The same report noted that, while there was not a need to directly 
link improvements to Ironmonger Lane with the Old Jewry 
experiment, there was the potential to improve accessibility and 
increase pedestrian priority on Ironmonger Lane.  
 
In accordance with the March report, it is proposed to widen the 
scope of this project to accommodate the whole of Ironmonger Lane 
(see Appendix 2), subject to a bid for On-Street Parking Reserve 
(OSPR) or alternative.  
 
The redevelopment of Dauntsey House includes the opening of a 
pedestrian through-route linking Fredericks Place and Ironmonger 
Lane and will likely change pedestrian flows in the area. This project 
looks to accommodate that change. 
 
The development also provides a colonnade on Ironmonger Lane for 
people walking within the curtilage of the building, adjacent to what 
will be a new retail offer. 
   

Page 528



v.April 2019 

Ironmonger Lane has characteristically narrow pavements and does 
not meet minimum requirements for accessibility. Initial proposals 
would concentrate on improving accessibility for walking and 
wheeling along the whole length of Ironmonger Lane by raising the 
carriageway to footway level where possible.  
It is worth noting the indicative description of Section 278 Works, 
summarised in paragraph 1: Status Update, stated that improvement 
works would be in accordance with the Cheapside & Guildhall Area 
Strategy (2015).  The Strategy summarises the following 
opportunities for Ironmonger Lane:  

• Raise carriageway to footway level to improve walking route; 
• Introduce traffic management, subject to studies to restrict vehicle 

access while allowing access to essential servicing; 
• Promote the use of the additional space for the retails to provide 

al-fresco dinning. 
 

The Section 106 Agreement suggests raising a section of Ironmonger 
Lane. Whilst the Strategy aspiration is to raise the Ironmonger Lane 
carriageway to footway level in its entirety, initial proposals 
concentrated on raising the carriageway adjacent to the Dauntsey 
House footprint between 4a and 4b Fredericks Place. (see plan in 
Appendix 2). 
 
Recommendation: 
 

 

• To note this progress report. 
 

3. Reporting period 
 

This is a progress report, updating Members about necessary 
changes to the design evaluation methodology to accommodate 
looking at the whole length of Ironmonger Lane following the March 
2024 report. 
 
The next report is likely to be a Gateway 3-5 anticipated in November 
2024. 

4. Progress to date 
 

4.1. Following, the March report to Committee, it was necessary to 
re-evaluate the proposals for Ironmonger Lane which were 
being considered as part of the S278 proposals.  

 
4.2. In early June 2024, City Officers met with the developer of 

Dauntsey House at 4a and 4b Fredericks Place, to ascertain 
their programme.  They expect to dismantle the hoarding and 
scaffolding by the end of July 2024. 

 
4.3. Officers are now evaluating the needs of the street beyond the 

existing Dauntsey House footprint and considering how these 
are to be incorporated into a wider scope for Ironmonger Lane. 
Options will be developed as part of this process and reported 
to Members in November 2024 with a view to extending the 
scope of the project subject to a funding bid for additional 
resources to accommodate the wider ambition. 

Page 529



v.April 2019 

 
 

5. Next steps 
 

5.1. Following the removal of hoarding/scaffolding on Ironmonger 
Lane the project needs to fully evaluate the resources required 
to carry out the proposed improvement works, both within the 
red line boundary of the Dauntsey House development (S106); 
and a further proposal to extend beyond the Section 278 
Works boundary to improve accessibility for people walking 
and wheeling. 
 

5.2. This may include looking at restricting traffic on Ironmonger 
Lane for part of the day to accommodate people walking, 
wheeling and cycling along here in the busier parts of the day. 

 
5.3. Healthy Street Design Checks, City of London Streets 

Accessibility Tool and a test of relevance for equalities will be 
undertaken.  
 

5.4. Complete the Section 278 Agreement as stated in the 
approved Section 106 Agreement for Dauntsey House. 
 

5.5. Prepare a funding bid for improvements to incorporate the full 
length of Ironmonger Lane subject to statutory approvals; to be 
taken forward as part of an expanded scope for the existing 
project to deliver the Section 278 for Dauntsey House.  We 
expect to be able to bid for funding in autumn of this year. 
 

5.6. Submit a further report in November 2024 seeking approval of 
designs and/or implementation with an anticipated construction 
period starting in February 2024. 

 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 Project Coversheet 
Appendix 2 Site Location Plan 
Appendix 3 Images 

 
Contact 
 
Report Author Emmanuel Ojugo 
Email Address emmanuel.ojugo@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
Telephone Number 07597 425 829 

 
 

Page 530



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 

UPI: 
Core Project Name: Frederick's Place S278 
Programme Affiliation (if applicable): N/A 
Project Manager:  Emmanuel Ojugo 
Definition of need: The project seeks to deliver changes to areas of public highway in 
the vicinity of the development at Dauntsey House, 4A & 4B Frederick’s Place. The project 
is to be fully funded by the developer through a Section 278 agreement. 
 

Ironmonger Lane is a street with low volumes of traffic and it is typified by narrow footways 

that are not accessible as a result. The street was identified in the Cheapside and 

Guildhall Area Enhancement Strategy (2015), as a location that would benefit from the 

carriageway being raised to footway level. 

The scope of the project is referred to in schedule 9 of the associated Section 106 

agreement, and is as follows: 

 

INDICATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE SECTION 278 WORKS 
 

The Section 278 Works may include but will not be limited to: 

 
1. Works to Ironmonger Lane in accordance with the approved Cheapside & 

Guildhall Area Strategy, including new paving and a raised section of 

carriageway or a raised table, to cater for new and existing pedestrian movement 

between Frederick's Place, St Clave's Court and Prudent Passage; 
 

2. New lighting around the development; 
 

3. Any works necessary to accommodate pedestrian movement immediately south 

of the Development around the private loading area; 
 

4. Works to accommodate waiting and loading restrictions; and 
 

5. Any other works that the City Corporation considers necessary to make the 

Development acceptable in planning terms. 

 

Other Considerations 

It should be noted that proposals must consider planned improvements to Old Jewry as 
part of the ongoing Healthy Streets programme and other areas of highway activity in the 
wider Guildhall/Bank area. 
 

Key measures of success:  
1) Improvements to walking and cycling conditions to streets and spaces in the 

vicinity of the development. 
2) Integration of new pedestrian routes with the surrounding public highway 
3) Improved greening, and opportunities to increase local biodiversity in keeping with 

City’s policies to respond to Climate Change. 
 

Expected timeframe for the project delivery: Quarter 4 2024 and Quarter 1 2025 

Page 531



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

Key Milestones: Completion of the City Walkway Agreement and Section 278 
Agreements – Quarter 3/4, 2024. 
 
Completion of the design Quarter 3-4, 2024 
 

Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery? Y, However, this is dependant upon the developer’s programme, 
namely confirming occupation, fitting out of units, obtaining the necessary approvals and 
completing legal agreements. Officers have tried to facilitate by meeting with the developer 
to ascertain details of their programme.  

Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing? No  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 

Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes: The previous report to Committee 
in November 2023 suggested the expected cost range to implement the project was 
between £350K-£600K. The final figure for implementing the project will be confirmed prior 
to the next reporting stage. 

‘Project Briefing’ G1 report (as approved by Chief Officer 07/11/23):  

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £350K-£600K. 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: N/A 

• Estimated Programme Dates: 
o Carry out site surveys - Q2 2024 
o Outline design for local consultation - Q3 2024  
o Gateway 3/4 – Q4 2024 

 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: It was suggested that the scope of the project 
would be increased to take in the rest of Ironmonger Lane. However, this is subject 
to securing an additional funding bid. 

‘Project Proposal’ G2 report (as approved by PSC xx/yy/zz): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £350K-£600K 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) £25K 

• Spend to date: £5,938 of £25K for Evaluation and Design 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: N/A 

• CRP Requested: £0 

• CRP Drawn Down: £0 

• Estimated Programme Dates: 
o Carry out site surveys - Q2 2024 
o Outline design for local consultation - Q3 2024  
o Gateway 3/4 – Q4 2024 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: It was suggested that the scope of the project 
would be increased to take in the rest of Ironmonger Lane. However, this is subject 
to securing an additional funding bid.  

 ‘Options Appraisal and Design’ G3-4 report (as approved by PSC xx/yy/zz): 
tbc 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): N/A 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) N/A 

Page 532



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

• Spend to date: N/A 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: N/A 

• CRP Requested: N/A 

• CRP Drawn Down: N/A 

• Estimated Programme Dates: N/A 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 

‘Authority to start Work’ G5 report (as approved by PSC xx/yy/zz): tbc 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): N/A 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) N/A 

• Spend to date: N/A 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: N/A 

• CRP Requested: N/A 

• CRP Drawn Down: N/A 

• Estimated Programme Dates: N/A 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: N/A 

 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]:It is expected that there 
will be a small uplift in the ongoing post delivery costs given the simplicity of the project 
against additional retail vendors in the area. Maintenance costs are expected to compare 
favourably with the existing maintenance regime in the area.  
 
Programme Affiliation [£]:Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme – Old Jewry, Streets 
& Walkways Sub Committee, 30/01/2024 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 533



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 534



Page 535



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 536



APPENDIX 3: IMAGES | DAUNTSEY HOUSE, FREDERICK’S PLACE 

 

Dauntsey House – Frederick’s Place | Looking west from Old Jewry 

Pedestrian Walkway 

Page 537



APPENDIX 3: IMAGES | DAUNTSEY HOUSE, FREDERICK’S PLACE 

 

Ironmonger Lane | Looking north towards Dauntsey House  

New Colonnade  

Page 538



APPENDIX 3: IMAGES | DAUNTSEY HOUSE, FREDERICK’S PLACE 

 

Ironmonger Lane | Dauntsey House Colonnade, recently completed 

Page 539



APPENDIX 3: IMAGES | DAUNTSEY HOUSE, FREDERICK’S PLACE 

 

Ironmonger Lane | Hoarding to be removed to initiate improvements  

Page 540



Committee: 
Streets & Walkways Sub Committee  

Dated: 
09/07/2024 

Subject: Red Badge Holder Survey  Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

Vibrant thriving destination 
Diverse engaged 
communities 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? £ 

What is the source of Funding? n/a 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N 

Report of: Interim Executive Director Environment For Information 

Report author: Andrea Larice, City Operations  

 

Summary 

In Summer 2023 the City of London Corporation conducted a survey to gain insights 

into the parking experiences of Red Badge holders in the City of London. The survey 

findings will inform the wider Disabled Parking Review, as part of the ongoing review 

on kerbside space and its utilisation in the City, as outlined in the Transport Strategy. 

The Survey was sent to all 154 registered Red Badge holders, with options to 

respond online, via paper, or over the phone. Respondents were asked to reply to 

ten questions that collected both quantitative and qualitative data on their 

experiences and were given six weeks to complete the Survey. The City Corporation 

received 54 completed surveys (a 35% response rate).  

Analysis of responses found general satisfaction with current parking provision and 

availability while also highlighting several specific challenges and opportunities for 

improvement. Seven key actions were developed in response to survey findings. 

These include: 

• Further examining parking occupancy data against the findings of the survey 

to determine if additional bays are needed.  

• Consider parking distribution to identify areas that need additional bays.  

• Implementing stricter enforcement to prevent the misuse of disabled parking 

bays.  

The Disabled Parking Review will ensure disabled parking provision better meets the 

needs of disabled individuals, ensuring a more inclusive and efficient use of kerbside 

space.  

Page 541

Agenda Item 17



Final recommendations will be brought to this committee for decision as part of the 

Disabled Parking Review in January 2025 

Recommendation(s) 

Members of the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee are asked to note the report. 

Main Report 

Background 

1. The kerbside is an important area public space that serves a variety of functions 

and purposes, including for public transport, loading and servicing activities, 

greenery, public amenities, space for people walking and a variety of other uses. 

 

2. As part of a wider review of how kerbside space is used the City Corporation is 

assessing how Disabled Parking is utilised. To inform this review it was important 

to engage with Red Badge holders to better understand their experiences of 

parking in the City of London.  

 
3. A local Red Badge parking scheme applies in the City with specific criteria and 

restrictions different to those for the national Blue Badge scheme. The Red Badge 

parking concession scheme is for City workers and residents. The Blue Badge 

scheme applies but with more limited benefits.  

 

4. Currently, to qualify for a Red Badge the applicant must meet the following 

criteria: 

• Live within the City of London or work on a permanent basis at least 21 

hours per week in the City of London; and 

• Be in receipt mobility allowance or the higher rate of the mobility 

component of the disability living allowance and provide satisfactory proof 

that they are in receipt of this. 

 

5. The Contact Centre (City of London Police) is responsible for the administration of 

the Blue Badge Scheme for City residents and the Red Badge Scheme for City 

residents and permanent City workers. This includes making decisions on who is 

eligible for a badge, carrying out residency and identity checks, and dealing with 

applications and telephone enquiries from applicants for both schemes. 

 

6. A survey of Red Badge holders was carried to:  

• Explore perceptions of the amount of disabled parking in the City of 

London 

• Identify barriers to disabled people parking in the City, including but not 

limited to availability of spaces, and potential solutions for removing / 

reducing these. 

Page 542



• Gather insight around the impact of other travel modes and issues on 

disabled people. 

• Capture participants’ ideas for any further actions to improve parking in the 

City of London, which may include action in relation to specific bays. 

• Gather insight around the impacts on disabled people of being able to / not 

being able to park in a suitable location for an end destination in the City. 

The results of the survey are summarised below and provided in full in Appendix 1. 

7. Red Badges are valid for one year and as of July 2023, when this survey was 

undertaken’ there were 154 Red Badges on issue. 

Red Badge holder survey methodology  

8. The survey was developed with the support of Transport for All, a “disabled-led 

group breaking down barriers and transforming the transport system so disabled 

people can make the journeys we want, with freedom, dignity, ease and 

confidence”. Transport for All gave feedback on questions, ensured language was 

inclusive, and advised on the survey distribution to ensure it reached as wide an 

audience as possible.  

 

9. The survey was circulated to 154 Red Badge holders in July 2023 who were given 

six weeks to respond. The survey was made available in a range of formats to 

encourage participation including:   

• An online Microsoft Form survey 

• A paper survey posted to each Red Badge holders registered address, 

with a prepaid return envelope 

• an option to complete the survey via telephone 

 

10. Posters were displayed in the Barbican, Shoe Lane and Artizan Libraries to help 

remind badge holders to respond to the survey, where to obtain one if they did not 

receive it, and who to contact if they preferred to have help filling it. 

 

11. The survey asked ten questions using both open text and closed questions, 

collecting both quantitative and qualitative data from respondents.  Analysis of all 

qualitative data received through responses to open text questions were 

processed using an open text coding analysis method called Response Coding. 

For this purpose, a code is a word or short phrase that describes something that is 

characterised in the data. The code captures the meaning or the aspects that are 

relevant to the question within that data segment. Open coding adopts an 

inductive approach, requiring officers to examine the data with as few 

preconceived notions as possible.  

Red Badge holder survey key findings  

Page 543



12. The City Corporation received 54 completed Surveys representing a 35% 

response rate. 19 surveys were completed online and 35 were returned via post 

as paper copies.  

 

13. Of the 54 respondents, 29 were City workers (54%), 21 were City residents (39%), 

three were both a City resident and a City worker (6%), and one respondent did 

not provide a response. 

Respondents use their badges frequently 

14. All respondents completed this question and when asked how frequently 

respondents make trips that require them to park in the City, 87% said they do so 

at least once a week, with 50% saying they do so at least once a day, suggesting 

that respondents use their Red Badges frequently. Very few respondents (14%) 

indicated they make trips fortnightly or less. 

 

15. Usage of parking facilities included: 

• On-Street Parking: The most popular option, used by 93% of 

respondents. 

• Pay and Display: Used by 65% of respondents. 

• Single Yellow Lines: Used by 33% of respondents. 

• Disabled bays in car parks: Used by 24% 

• Residential parking: Used by 22%,  

• Workplace parking: Used by 11% 

Parking is generally available when needed 

16. All respondents completed this question, and it showed that Red Badge holders 

felt parking availability was: 

• High: 52% of the respondents reported that they could always or nearly 

always find a place to park where they needed to. 

• Moderate: 41% of respondents could sometimes find a parking space 

• Low: Only 6% said they rarely could. 

A majority are satisfied with parking provision 

17. Satisfaction with parking provision: 

• Satisfied: 61% of respondents were satisfied or very satisfied with the 

amount of Red Badge parking available in the City. 

• Neutral: 19% were neutral, 

• Dissatisfied: 21% were dissatisfied or very dissatisfied. 

Respondents face a number of barriers 

18. 45 out of 54 respondents completed this question.  

Page 544



 

19. Nine respondents did not leave a response and five respondents noted they did 

not have barriers to parking in the City of London. Having no barriers to parking 

was the fifth highest response.  

 

20. The main barriers to parking in the City: 

• Lack of disabled parking bays: Identified as the main issue by majority  

of respondents. 

• Misuse of bays: Disabled bays occupied by non-badge holders were a 

significant barrier. 

• Yellow Line time restrictions: The 30-minute parking limit on yellow 

lines was considered too short by many respondents. 

• Not being able to park close enough to the respondent’s destination. 

• Access issues relating to bays: including cycles locked to signs 

blocking disabled spaces, unlevel surfaces by bays, and difficulty 

locating bays were also cited as barriers. 

 

21. The top three suggestions to improve parking in the City of London given by 

respondents were: 

• Increase the number of disabled parking bays, especially near points of 

interest. 

• Increase education and enforcement of bays to prevent non-badge 

holders from using disabled bays. 

• Extend time limits on single yellow lines to allow Red Badge holders 

more time to complete their tasks. 

 

22. Respondents left 39 locations related comments, where they felt additional bays 

or changes were needed to improve their experience of parking in the City. In total 

30 individual locations were cited, with the following locations mentioned more 

than twice: 

• Cheapside/One New Change was recorded five times 

• St Bartholomews Hospital/EC1A 7BE was recorded three times 

• Bank/Bank of England was recorded four times 

 

23. Other notable comments received from Red Badge holders included requests for: 

• further acessibility improvements across the City, such as safer and 

more accessible pavements.  

• give more consideration to disabled drivers affected by road closures 

and construction.  

• improve wayfinding. 

• review of the Red Badge application process and critera, inculuding 

considering bi-annual or tri-annual Red Badge renewals. One 

Page 545



respondent expressed concern that changes in their working hours 

could affect their eligibility for a Red Badge. 

Other modes of transport repondents use 

24. Walking or wheeling was the most common alternative to driving, with 11 

respondents noting its use. Eight of these highlighted negative sentiments, citing 

challenging street environments like cobblestones and steep slopes, long 

distances from stations.  
 

25. Taxis were the second most common mode and experiences were mixed; some 

praised the accessibility of taxis, while others mentioned high costs, wayfinding 

difficulties, and unpredictable journey times.  
 

26. Six respondents used the Underground or rail, mostly expressing negative 

sentiments about cost, inaccessibility, and overcrowding. Six respondents also 

used buses, generally reporting negative experiences due to overcrowding, 

unsafe driving practices, and unpredictable journey times, although two had 

positive experiences. Six people stated they do not or cannot use other transport 

modes, often for health reasons.  
 

27. Three respondents used mobility scooters but faced issues with kerbs and 

wayfinding. Four respondents did not specify a mode of transport but mentioned 

difficulties with wayfinding, cyclists travelling too fast, and road closures or 

restrictions. 

Administration of Red Badges 

28. When asked about their understanding of Red Badge holder concessions, 93% of 

respondents were aware that they had free parking at on-street payment parking 

bays and disabled bays and free parking on a single yellow line for a period of 30 

minutes. This supports that the Red Badge scheme is being well used, and 

suggests it is being effectively communicated to Badge holders. 

 

29.  Furthermore, three respondents praised the Red Badge Administration Team for 

their helpfulness and excellent service, with comments highlighting their 

politeness and prompt assistance.  

 

30. Another three respondents emphasized the usefulness of the Red Badge 

Scheme, expressing gratitude for its continuation. 

Next Steps 

31. As part of the City Corporation’s commitment to improving parking for Red Badge 

holders and ensuring people have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and 

Page 546



reach their full potential the following recommendations have been put forward for 

further investigation as part of the Disabled Parking Review: 

 

1. Notify Red Badge holders of the outcomes of the Survey.  

Contact all Red Badge holders who took part to thank them for their input, 
circulate the results of the Survey and notify them that the findings and actions 
into the wider Disabled Parking Review, which forms part of the wider Kerbside 
Review 2024/25.  

 
2. Review the report findings against parking occupancy data  

Feedback indicates general satisfaction with parking availability but highlights a 
lack of disabled parking bays as the biggest barrier Red Badge holders face. 
Further investigation and review of occupancy data to identify overutilised bays 
and areas needing more bays, particularly for streets with only one disabled bay.  

Conduct a Red Badge Parking distribution mapping exercise to identify areas 
with limited disabled parking. Explore the feasibility of providing additional 
disabled to address any gaps in provision. 

3. Improve education and enforcement to reduce misuse of Red Badge 
holder parking 

Proactively enforce against vehicles illegally parked in disabled bays to reduce 
misuse of disabled bays by non-disabled users. Consider the use of behaviour 
change and educational campaigns to remind people not to park in disabled bays 
or park in a way that can cause obstruction.   

Provide Red Badge holders with phone number and email address to report non-
badge holders in bays, or other issues, directly to our enforcement service who 
can despatch rapid response officers. 

4. Extend permitted parking time on yellow lines for Red Badge holders 

Explore extending the parking time limit on yellow lines for Red Badge holders to 
allow more time for tasks such as shopping or appointments, alleviating the 
pressure of short time limits. 

5. Audit existing disabled parking spaces to remove accessibility barriers  

Audit disabled parking spaces to ensure high standards of accessibility and to 
prevent occupancy by non-badge holders. This will help remove barriers 
identified by respondents. 

6. Review Red Badge eligibility criteria and administration 

Review and update the Red Badge eligibility criteria to reflect post-COVID-19 
flexible working patterns. Consider bi-annual renewals to reduce administrative 

Page 547



burdens. Ensure the policy aligns with the Corporate Plan to support workplace 
equality and a thriving economy. 

 
7. Continue to champion inclusive streets and improve the accessibility of 

our street and transport connections  

Continue improving accessibility through the Transport Strategy by keeping 
pavements obstruction-free, encouraging safer cycling behaviours, engaging the 
community in decision-making, and work with Transport for London to enhance 
accessibility in Underground and DLR stations. 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 
32. Having a robust Red Badge scheme is integral to ensuring we have a vibrant, 

thriving destination where everyone prospers. This supports the delivery of 
Corporate Plan Outcome: Vibrant thriving destination. 
 

33. The Red Badge scheme is integral to ensuring our residents and workers, can 
feel that they belong. Engaging with our Red Badge holders will help build 
diverse, engaged communities that are involved in co-creating great services, 
which supports the delivery of Corporate Plan Outcome: Diverse engaged 
communities. 

Legal implications  

34. None identified at present. 

Financial implications 

35. None identified at present.  

Equality Implications 

36. A detailed Test of Relevance was conducted ahead of the Survey development 

and did not highlight any significant issues. Transport for All were appointed to 

assist with the development of the Survey to ensure we had a disabled-led group 

advice.  

 

37. Any outcomes resulting from the recommendations will need further Equalities 

Impact Assessment analysis. 

Risk implications 

38. There is a possible reputational risk to the City Corporation if the accessibility of 

our streets is not carefully considered. It is imperative that we work towards an 

inclusive accessible City where everyone can navigate their surroundings 

independently and safely.  

Climate implications 

Page 548



39. None identified at present. 

Conclusion 

40. These findings suggest that while a significant portion of Red Badge holders are 

satisfied and able to find parking in the City of London, there remains a number 

who experience difficulties locating parking. 
 

41. Further work will need to be done as part of the Disabled Parking Review to better 

understand the occupancy rates, the distribution of Red Badge holder parking in 

the City, and the effects of implementing the recommended changes to single 

yellow line restrictions and the Red Badge Eligibility Criteria.  

 

42.  Red Badge holders that took part in the survey will need to be notified of the 

results and thanked for their input.  

Appendix   

• Red Badge Holder Survey  

Andrea Larice  

Strategic Transport Planner  

Strategic Transport Team 

Environment Department 

E: strategic.transportation@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 549

mailto:strategic.transportation@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 550



1 
 

Red Badge Holder Survey Results 
Environment Department 

May 2024  

Page 551



2 
 

Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction and survey objectives ............................................................................. 6 

Survey Methodology................................................................................................... 9 

Survey findings ......................................................................................................... 11 

Parking facilities, usage and the understanding of concessions ........................... 11 

Barriers to parking in the City of London ............................................................... 13 

Current parking provision for Red Badge Holders ................................................ 17 

Improving parking provision for Red Badge holders ............................................. 18 

Other types of transport ........................................................................................ 20 

Additional open text responses ............................................................................. 21 

Communication and administration of Red Badges .............................................. 22 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................... 22 

Red Badge Holder insights on parking in the City ................................................ 22 

Barriers to parking in the City of London ............................................................... 23 

Locating and accessing parking ........................................................................... 24 

Next Steps ................................................................................................................ 26 

1. Review parking occupancy data against Survey findings .............................. 26 

2. Improve enforcement and education to reduce misuse of Red Badge holder 
parking .................................................................................................................. 26 

3. Extend permitted parking time on yellow lines for Red Badge holders .......... 27 

4. Audit existing disabled parking spaces to remove accessibility barriers ........ 27 

5. Review the Red Badge eligibility criteria and administration ......................... 27 

6. Continue to champion inclusive streets and improve the accessibility of our 
street and transport connections .......................................................................... 28 

References ............................................................................................................... 29 

Appendies ................................................................................................................ 29 

 

 

Please note this report has been written using 12pt Arial, simple language and using 
basic graphics to make it accessible to a wide range of audiences, however, if you 
need assistance reviewing this report, please do not hesitate to contact us via 
telephone: 020 7606 3030 or email: strategic.transportation@cityoflondon.gov.uk   

Page 552

mailto:strategic.transportation@cityoflondon.gov.uk


3 
 

Executive Summary 
The primary objectives of the Red Badge Holder survey (survey) were to assess the 
availability and accessibility of disabled parking, identify barriers faced by Red Badge 
holders, and gather suggestions for improving parking in the City of London. The 
Survey is part of a broader review on kerbside space and its utilisation in the City of 
London, as outlined in the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy. 

The survey was distributed to all 154 registered Red Badge holders, with options to 
respond online, via paper copy, or over the phone. The survey period lasted from 
July 24 to September 8, 2023. It included both quantitative (multiple choice) and 
qualitative (open text) questions to capture comprehensive data on parking usage, 
satisfaction, barriers, and suggestions for improvements. 

The City Corporation received 54 completed surveys (a 35% response rate). Of the 
54 respondents, 29 respondents were City workers (54%), 21 were City residents 
(39%), three were both a resident and a worker (6%), and one respondent did not 
provide a response (2%).  

Survey key findings 

Use of Parking Facilities: 
• On-street disabled parking bays are the most popular, used by 93% of 

respondents. Followed by Pay and Display parking and parking on single 
yellow lines. 

• Fewer respondents used car parks, residential parking or workplace parking. 

Red Badge holder perceptions of parking availability: 
• More than half of the respondents (52%) felt they could always or nearly 

always find a place to park where they needed to.  
• 41% said they could sometimes find a place to park, and only 6% said they 

could rarely park where they needed to. 

Satisfaction with Red Badge holder parking provision: 
• 61% of respondents were satisfied or very satisfied with the amount of Red 

Badge parking in the City of London. 
• 19% were neutral, while 21% were dissatisfied or very dissatisfied. 

Challenges and barriers to parking: 
• 45 responses were received to this question.  
• The lack of disabled parking bays was as the main issue (cited 18 times).  
• Disabled bays being occupied by non-badge holders was the second most 

cited barrier. 
• The Yellow Line time restriction (of 30 minutes) was identified as being too 

short for completing tasks and deterred Red Badge holders from using them. 

Page 553



4 
 

Difficultly finding a space close to the intended destination was also identified 
as a significant barrier. 

• Respondents noted that often physical barriers prevented them from 
accessing parking bays, these included unlevel and cobbled road surfaces, 
difficulties accessing the roadside, cycles being locked to signage causing 
obstruction, and signage and cycles blocking access to the kerbside.  

• Nine respondents did not leave a response and five respondents noted they 
did not have barriers to parking in the City of London. Having no barriers to 
parking was the fifth highest response.  

Other types of transport 

Difficulty parking in the City of London is not the only barrier that Red Badge holders 
face when trying to get around the City, and these challenges need to be considered 
holistically. Respondents noted they faced access barriers to using public transport, 
taxis and when walking / wheeling. They noted a lack of step-free access to Tube / 
rail stations, lifts that are out of order, challenging pavements, unpredictable journey 
times, fear of people riding cycles at speed, and poor cycle parking behaviours 
causing obstructions on pavements as some of their challenges.  

Communication and administration of Red Badges 

When asked about their understanding of Red Badge holder concessions, 93% of 
respondents were aware that they had free parking at on-street payment parking 
bays and disabled bays and free parking on a single yellow line for a period of 30 
minutes. Three respondents praised the Red Badge Administration Team for their 
helpfulness and excellent service, with comments highlighting their politeness and 
prompt assistance. Another three respondents emphasized the usefulness of the 
Red Badge Scheme, expressing gratitude for its continuation. This high level of 
understanding suggests that the Red Badge scheme is being well used and is being 
effectively communicated to badge holders.  

Next Steps 

The Survey findings will inform the Disabled Parking Review, which forms part of the 
wider Kerbside Review 2024/25. Final recommendations will be brought to City 
Coporation Committees for decision, as part of the Disabled Parking Review from 
January 2025. 

Next steps will: 

1. Address the demand of on street disabled parking bays (especially near key 
points of interest) through occupancy surveys. This will identify if disabled parking 
spaces are overutilised and where additional bays might be necessary.  
 
Undertake a mapping distribution analysis to identify areas with poor disabled 

Page 554



5 
 

parking density and availability. Cross referencing these with locations reported 
by Red Badge holders as lacking parking. 

2. Implement proactive enforcement to prevent misuse of disabled parking bays by 
non-badge holders and consider the use of educational campaigns to inform 
people driving and cycling about the importance of keeping bays available for 
badge holders. 

3. Explore the potential to extend the permitted parking time on single yellow lines 
for Red Badge holders to allow more time to complete their tasks.  

4. Audit disabled parking with the aim of improving parking for disabled people and 
reducing occupancy by non-badge holders could assist in removing some of the 
barriers identified by respondents. Auditing on-street Red Badge parking bays will 
ensure we are providing high standards of parking and management across the 
City of London. 

5. Given the change in working patterns and flexible working post COVID19 it is 
recommended the Red Badge holder eligibility criteria and application process is 
reviewed to ensure it is fit-for-purpose.  

6. Continue improving accessibility through the ambitions of the Transport Strategy. 
Keeping pavements obstruction-free, encouraging safer cycling and driving 
behaviours, engaging the community in decision-making, and working with our 
partners Transport for London to enhance accessibility in Underground and DLR 
stations. 

Conclusion 

The survey found that Red Badge holders use their Badges frequently and 
understand the concessions available to them. Survey respondents primarily use on-
street disabled bays, pay and display bays and yellow lines. They are generally able 
to find parking and are satisfied with Red Badge holder parking in the City of London. 
However, Red Badge holders experience a number of difficulties and challenges 
accessing parking. The responses highlighted the emotional impact of these barriers, 
with many expressing frustration, pain, and fatigue. Addressing these concerns 
through further review of parking occupancy data, increased enforcement, and 
ensuring parking is accessible will significantly enhance the parking experience for 
Red Badge holders in the City of London. 

Page 555



6 
 

Introduction and Survey Objectives 

The City of London Corporation (the ‘City Corporation’) is responsible for managing 
the kerbside on all streets within the Square Mile, except for the Transport for 
London Road Network (TLRN). The kerbside is a key area of public space within the 
Square Mile that provides a variety of infrastructure and allows a number of activities 
to take place.  

The City of London’s Transport Strategy (City of London Corporation 2019) sets out 
how the City’s streets will be designed and managed over the next 25 years to 
ensure it remains a great place to live, work, study and visit. The Transport 
Strategy’s outcomes include using street space more efficiently and effectively and 
ensuring streets are accessible to all. The kerbside has been identified as an 
element of the street that could be made more efficient and thus its use and 
management, with City Corporation car parks, should be kept under frequent review. 
This includes the use of the kerbside by people who hold Red Badges to ensure 
adequate provision of well-located disabled parking bays.  

As part of a wider review of how kerbside space is utilised in the City of London, it 
was decided to undertake a Red Badge Holder Survey (Survey) to engage with Red 
Badge holders to better understand their experiences of parking. 

The survey was designed to:  

• Explore perceptions of the amount of Red Badge holder parking in the City of 
London 

• Identify the challenges and barriers to parking in the City of London, including 
but not limited to the availability of spaces and potential solutions for 
mitigating these barriers. 

• Gather insight around the impact of other travel modes. 
• Capture participants’ ideas for any further actions to improve parking in the 

City of London, which may include action in relation to specific bays. 
• Gather insight on the impact of not finding parking on Red Badge holders. 

Background on the Blue and Red Badge schemes 

The Blue Badge (Disabled Persons’ Parking) scheme helps people with long term 
mobility problems access goods and services by allowing them to park closer to their 
destination, giving some benefits or exemptions from certain traffic management 
restrictions on street and often in car parks. The scheme provides a national range of 
on-street parking concessions (Department For Transport, 2020). 

Due to specific traffic management concerns the Blue Badge scheme does not fully 
apply in the City of Westminster, the City of London, the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea and part of the London Borough of Camden. These four 

Page 556



7 
 

local authorities offer their own individual parking concessions to disabled people 
who live or work in their areas.  

The City Corporation’s local Red Badge parking scheme provides some different 
criteria and restrictions in the City of London. The Blue Badge scheme applies but 
with limited benefits in the City of London. 

The Blue Badge scheme 

The benefits of the Blue Badge scheme to badge holders in the City are summarised 
below. To take advantage of these a Blue Badge holder must display the clock and 
the Blue Badge so that the serial number, expiry date and the issuing authority are 
clearly displayed. 

Parking in designated disabled bays on-street 

• Over 200 bays are available for free, provided the badge and clock are 
displayed. These can be used for up to four hours on weekdays. Around St 
Bartholomew's Hospital the bays can be used for up to six hours on 
weekdays. There is no time limit Saturday and Sunday.  

Payment in parking bays with conditions on street 

• Blue Badge holders can park for an extra hour, for free, at payment 
parking bays after the expiry of the purchased time.  

Blue Badge holders cannot park. 

• in a suspended bay 
• on single or double yellow lines 
• where there is a loading restriction indicated by yellow chevrons on the 

kerb stone 
• on the pavement or footway 
• in a bus lane 
• in a bay reserved for specific users (e.g., a doctor's bay) 
• where there is a dropped kerb or raised carriageway 

The Red Badge scheme 

Red Badge holders can park: 

• in disabled parking bays without paying 
• in payment parking bays without paying  
• on a single yellow line for a maximum period of 30 minutes 

Red Badge holders cannot park: 

• in a suspended bay 
• on double yellow lines 

Page 557



8 
 

• where there is a loading restriction indicated by yellow chevrons on the 
kerb stone 

• on the pavement or footway 
• in a bus lane 
• in a bay reserved for specific users (e.g., a doctor's bay) 
• where there is a dropped kerb or raised carriageway 

Red Badges are valid for one year and as of July 2023, when this survey was 
undertaken, there were 154 Red Badges on issue. 

Currently, to qualify for a Red Badge the applicant must meet the following criteria: 

1. Live within the City of London or work on a permanent basis at least 21 hours 
per week in the City of London; and 

2. Be in receipt mobility allowance or the higher rate of the mobility component 
of the disability living allowance and provide satisfactory proof that they are in 
receipt of this. 

The Contact Centre (City of London Police) is responsible for the administration of 
the Blue Badge Scheme for City residents and the Red Badge Scheme for City 
residents and permanent City workers. This includes making decisions on who is 
eligible for a badge, carrying out residency and identity checks, and dealing with 
applications and telephone enquiries from applicants for both schemes. 

  

Page 558



9 
 

Survey Methodology  
The survey was posted to all Red Badge holders and sought to: 

• Explore perceptions of the amount of disabled parking.  
• Identify issues and barriers to accessing parking in the City of London. 
• Better understand what changes could improve accessibility, which may 

include action in relation to specific bays. 
• Gather insight around the impact of other travel modes.  
• Understand if the Red Badge scheme is fit for purpose. 

It was developed with the support of Transport for All, a “disabled-led group breaking 
down barriers and transforming the transport system so disabled people can make 
the journeys we want, with freedom, dignity, ease and confidence”. Transport for All 
gave feedback on questions, ensured language was inclusive, and advised on the 
survey distribution to ensure it reached as wide an audience as possible.  

The survey was circulated to 154 Red Badge holders on 24 July 2023 with the 
closing date of Friday 8 September 2023. This gave all Red Badge holders six 
weeks to respond to the survey. 

It was made available in a range of formats to encourage participation:   

• An online Microsoft Form survey. 
• A paper survey posted to each Red Badge holders registered address, with a 

prepaid return envelope. 
• And an option to complete the survey via telephone, with an officer.  

Posters were displayed in City of London libraries including the Barbican, Shoe 
Lane, and Artizan Library to help remind badge holders to respond to the survey, 
where to obtain one if they had not received it, and who to contact if they preferred to 
have help completing the survey (Appendix 1). 

The survey asked 10 questions using both open text and closed questions, collecting 
both quantitative and qualitative data from respondents.  

• The quantitative method asked closed questions, which gave the respondent 
a limited number of options to choose from and gathered numeric data. 

• The qualitative method was used to understand Red Badge holders’ 
experiences, attitudes and behaviours. This was collected through open text 
questions allowing the respondent to write what they wished.   

The full list of survey questions can be found in Appendix 2. 

Analysis of all qualitative data received through responses to open text questions 
were processed using response coding. A code is a word or short phrase that 
describes something that is characterised in the data. The code captures the 
meaning or the aspects that are relevant to the question within that data segment.  

Page 559



10 
 

A maximum of four codes were recorded in each open text response, and these 
were generally the first four points raised or noted by the respondent. All codes were 
reviewed and codes that related to one another were compiled into one overarching 
code where necessary. In addition to these four codes, the open text questions 
recorded the persons feelings as a sentiment code and any street or parking 
locations. For example:  

“Not enough disabled bays. Work vans, scaffolding lorries or delivery drivers often 
block disabled bays in Cheapside. This is frustrating when trying to find parking as it 
means I cannot park”. 

The above comment would be coded as:  
• Code 1: Not enough disabled bays 
• Code 2: Spaces used by non-badge holders (trade and delivery vehicles) 
• Location code : Cheapside 
• Sentiment code: Negative (frustration) 

This analysis process coding adopts an inductive approach, requiring officers to 
examine the data with as few preconceived notions as possible. Making sure that the 
meaning codes match the that data as closely as possible. 

  

Page 560



11 
 

Survey Findings 
The City Corporation received 54 completed surveys (a 35% response rate). 19 of 
the 54 responses were completed online and 35 were returned via post as paper 
copies.  

Of the 54 respondents, 29 respondents were City workers (54%), 21 were City 
residents (39%), three were both a City resident and a City worker (6%), and one 
respondent did not provide a response (2%).  

Parking facilities, usage and the understanding of concessions  

Survey respondents were asked to identify what parking facilities they used. They 
were given the following options and asked to tick all that apply.   

• On-street disabled parking bay  
• Disabled parking bay in a car park 
• Single yellow line 
• Pay and display parking bay 
• Parking space at my workplace 
• A private or residential parking space 
• Other 

The survey found that respondents use a mix of parking facilities. 70% of 
respondents indicated they use up to three differing types of parking facilities. Only 
four respondents indicated they used more than four types of parking facilities and 
12 respondents selected only one parking facility.  

50 of the 54 respondents (93%) indicated they use on street-parking bays in the City. 
This was followed by 35 respondents (65%) indicating they use pay and display bays 
and 18 respondents (33%) indicating they use or park on single yellow lines. 

13 respondents (24%) indicated they use disabled bays in car parks, 12 respondents 
noted they used residential parking (22%) and 6 respondents (11%) indicated they 
use parking spaces provided by their workplace.  

A full breakdown of responses can be found Figure 1.  

This highlights that on-street disabled parking bays are by far the most used parking 
option for Red Badge holders, followed by pay and display bays.  

Page 561



12 
 

 

Figure 1: The types of parking facility respondents use when parking in the City.  

When asked how frequently respondents make trips that require them to park in the 
City, 87% said they do so at least once a week, with 50% saying they do so at least 
once a day, suggesting that respondents use their Red Badges frequently. Very few 
respondents (14%) indicated they make trips fortnightly or less (Figure 2).  

 

 

Figure 2: Responses to "How often do you make a car journey that requires you to 
park in the City of London?” 

93%

65%

33%

24%

22%

11%

6%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

On Street Parking Bays

Pay and Display bays

Single Yellow line

Car park disabled parking

 A private or residential

Parking space at my work

Other

50%37%

4%
6% 4%

At least once a day At least once a week At least once a fortnight

At least once a month Once every three months

Page 562



13 
 

When asked about their understanding of Red Badge holder concessions 50 of the 
54 respondents (93%) indicated they were aware that the following concessions 
were available or applied to them:  

• free parking at on-street payment parking bays and disabled bays 
• free parking on a single yellow line for a period of 30 minutes 

Barriers to parking in the City of London  

Survey participants were asked what barriers they faced to parking in the City of 
London. The Survey received 45 open text responses, and these were processed 
using open code analysis as outlined above.  

12 themes were identified across 71 coded elements. Those themes are 
summarised below in alphabetical order. 

1. Access issues relating to parking bay 
2. Can't park on red routes 
3. Difficult to find a space close to destination 
4. Difficult to locate bays 
5. Face no challenges or barriers to parking 
6. High parking costs 
7. Loss bay due during or after construction 
8. No yellow lines close to me 
9. Not enough disabled spaces  
10. Spaces used by non-badge holders  
11. Traffic restrictions and congestion 
12. Yellow line limit to short 

Nine respondents did not leave a response to this question and five respondents 
noted they did not have barriers to parking in the City of London. Having no barriers 
to parking was the fifth highest response (Figure 3). 

The most common barrier to parking, cited and coded 18 times, was a lack of 
disabled parking bays within the City of London (Figure 3). Contributing factors 
include a general lack of parking bays, over occupancy of bays and the need for 
specific bays for certain Red Bage holders. Respondents noted:   

• “Not enough disabled bays in general”  
• “Finding a parking bay that has gradual kerbs not blocked by other motorists 

or obstructions”.  
• “In recent years due to construction of new buildings a lot of the disabled bays 

and pay and display bays have disappeared, even after construction is 
complete”. 

Further detail in responses indicated a variety of vehicles were parking in these 
bays, including trades vehicles, delivery vehicles and taxis. Cars causing 

Page 563



14 
 

obstructions were included in this theme as it meant Red Badge holders could not 
use the bay and the results highlight that the misuse of bays is a significant barrier. 
Respondents noted: 

• “Delivery vehicles, workers in vans and taxi drivers often park in the spaces 
and make it an issue if you ask them to move.”  

• “Trades men using disabled bays - stricter enforcement is necessary. I worry 
about finding disabled bays that are available”. 

• “Black taxis, Uber drivers and work vans believe they can park in disabled 
spaces and nip in to get a coffee because they'll only be a couple of minutes – 
very frustrating”. 

A lack of available bays was not the only barrier to parking in the City identified by 
respondents.  

Time restrictions on single yellow lines was noted as the third most significant 
barrier, together with difficulty finding a parking space close enough to the 
respondent’s intended destination, each theme cited 7 times.  

Several participants felt that the 30 minutes’ time limit for Red Badge holders to park 
on a single yellow line was not enough. The time restriction did not give some Red 
Badge holders enough time to accomplish small tasks. Respondents noted: 

• “30 minutes parking is not long enough to complete the reason for parking, 
hence I do not bother.” 

• “Generally, I find it a challenge to do what I have to do if I can only park on a 
single yellow line because of the limited 30 minutes”. 

Respondents indicated that if they could not find a space then it was often necessary 
to make another journey to the destination itself – this can mean extra time or cost 
incurred for those respondents. Respondents noted this caused them to also travel 
further than intended leaving them feeling in pain, tired or frustrated. Some 
respondents noted they are so deterred by this barrier that in some cases they do 
not make the journey, or they use a different mode (and face the barriers associated 
with that mode instead). 

Barriers preventing Red Badge holders from using bays were cited 5 times. 
Respondent comments included difficulties finding unobstructed gradual kerbs near 
disabled bays, lack of space getting wheelchairs out of cars due to poorly parked 
vehicles, cycles locked to disabled signs causing obstructions or blocking access to 
the kerbside. Unlevel and cobbled pavements and road surfaces were also recorded. 
Respondents noted: 

• “Spaces are limited especially on busy roads; bikes being locked to the 
disabled sign cause difficulty getting wheelchair up onto pavement” 

• “If that single disabled bay is occupied, I cannot park in the other bays as 
there is no room to get my wheelchair out”  

Page 564



15 
 

Motor vehicle traffic restriction (including one-way streets), congestion and 
construction preventing cars to access streets make it difficult to drive in the City and 
park close to your destination.  

• “The main problem is not with parking but with road closures and road works. 
It is now difficult to drive from A to B in the City”. 

• “Most places are no go areas driving through. Almost every road is cut off or 
bicycles only. The whole point of driving is due to poor mobility. Parking 
further away from where one is supposed to be going makes no sense”. 

Other barriers noted are provided below: 

• Difficulty locating bays or not knowing which bays are free and which are 
occupied can mean driving around. 

• Bays being occupied or removed during or after construction, reducing 
parking availability. 

• Red Badge holders being unable to use yellow lines due to certain Streets not 
having them.  

• High parking costs in the City of London. 

Accessing locations on Red Routes was also quoted as a barrier. Red Routes are a 
network of major roads managed by Transport for London. They make up 5% of 
London's roads but carry up to 30% of London’s traffic. They do not fall under the 
highway authority powers of the City of London Corporation. Transport for London 
has general information on concessions for Blue Badge holders on streets that have 
priority, also known as (red) route controls. Holders can obtain this information by 
ringing TFL on 0845 305 1234 or by visiting the TFL website: 
https://tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/red-routes/rules-of-red-routes/blue-badge-disabled-
parking 

Discussing the barriers Red Badge holders face when travelling and parking in the 
City of London was emotive for some respondents. Of the 13 respondents who 
expressed their sentiments two were positive and described travelling and parking as 
“easy”, however, the 11 others expressed negative sentiments. Noting it can be 
“difficult”, “painful”, “frustrating”, “tiring”, “worrying”, “inconvenient” and/or a 
combination of these.  

Many respondents suggested improvements and changes to mitigate barriers, 
including using enforcement and education to deter people parking in Red and Blue 
Badge bays, extending the time on yellow lines, updating the disabled bay map and 
using real-time occupancy data to allow people to find a parking space more easily.  

Page 565

website:%20https://tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/red-routes/rules-of-red-routes/blue-badge-disabled-parking
website:%20https://tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/red-routes/rules-of-red-routes/blue-badge-disabled-parking
website:%20https://tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/red-routes/rules-of-red-routes/blue-badge-disabled-parking


16 
 

 

Figure 3: Responses to the challenges and barriers respondents face when parking in the City of London 

1

1

2

3

3

4

5

5

7

7

15

18

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

High parking costs

No yellow lines close to me

Loss bay due during or after construction

Difficult to locate bays

Can't park on red routes

Traffic restrictions and congestion

Access issues relating to parking bay

Face no challenges or barriers to parking

Difficult to find a space close to destination

Single yellow line limit to short

Disabled spaces used by non disabled users

Not enough disabled spaces

P
age 566



17 
 

Current parking provision for Red Badge Holders  

Respondents were asked how they perceived the current level of provision for Red 
Badge holders in the City of London. The Survey found that more than half of 
respondents (52%) felt that “they could always” or “nearly always” find a place to 
park where they needed to. 41% felt that they could “sometimes find a place to park” 
and 6% said they could rarely park where they needed to (Figure 4).   

 

Figure 4: Responses to “How do you currently find parking provision for Red Badge 
holders in the City of London” (Please note that percentages % have been rounded up hence 
why they do not add up to 100%) 

When Red Badge holders were asked if they were content with the amount of 
Red Badge parking provision in the City of London 61% indicating that they were 
“satisfied” or “very satisfied” with amount of Red Badge parking provision. 19% were 
“neither satisfied nor dissatisfied”, 17% felt “dissatisfied” and 4% felt “very 
dissatisfied” (Figure 5). 

This suggests that while most Red Badge holders are generally content with the 
current provision of parking in the City of London, there is a notable minority who are 
not. 

11%

41% 41%

6%
2%

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45%

Always allows me
to park where I

need to

Nearly always
allows me to park
where I need to

Sometimes allows
me to park where

I need to

Rarely allows me
to park where I

need to

I don't know

Page 567



18 
 

 
Figure 5: Responses to “Overall, how satisfied are you with the amount of 
Red Badge parking provision in the City of London?” 

Improving parking provision for Red Badge holders  

Respondents were asked what the City Corporation could do to improve the 
experience of disabled parking in the Square Mile, alongside identifying specific 
locations or streets they felt needed more bays or changes. Responses were 
received as open text and processed using open code analysis. All locations were 
noted. 

44 responses were received, which generated 51 codes across 14 themes. Those 
themes are summarised below in alphabetical order:  

1. Better signage/map of disabled bays 
2. Encourage new buildings to have parking  
3. Felt current disabled parking was fine   
4. Implement similar parking rules to Islington 
5. Implement single yellow lines close to schools  
6. Inset parking bays away from traffic  
7. Longer parking times on yellow lines 
8. More disabled parking bays in general 
9. More disabled parking bays near points of interest 
10. More enforcement and education 
11. Provide temporary bays, when removed for construction 
12. Reduce the number of parking restrictions 
13. Review the Red Badge Policy qualification criteria 
14. Update the badge recognition system 

24%

37%

19%
17%

4%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Very satisfied Satisfied Neither satisfied
nor dissatisfied

Dissatisfied Very dissatisfied

Page 568



19 
 

The most noted theme was “More disabled bays”, which when combined with “More 
disabled bays at points of interest” resulted in 57% of response codes (Table 1).  

The second most cited request was an appeal for “more enforcement” to reduce 
non-bade holders parking in disabled bays and requests for further education for 
“inconsiderate” drivers of the importance of leaving disabled bays for those who 
need them.  

The third most cited request was extending the time limit for Red Badge holders to 
park on a single yellow line, which would improve the experience of parking in the 
City of London. Difficulty locating bays or not knowing which bays are free and which 
are occupied was noted as a barrier and can mean respondents spend time driving 
around. Updating the disabled bay map and improving wayfinding were also noted 
as ways to improve parking in the City.   

Table 1: Theme responses (raised by more than one participant) to improve 
experience of disabled parking in the City of London.  

Suggestion Category Number of times raised 
by respondents 

Percentage 
%  

More disabled parking bays 24 47% 
More enforcement and education 6 12% 
More disabled parking bays near points of 
interest 

5 10% 

Felt current disabled parking was fine   3 6% 
Longer parking times on yellow lines 3 6% 
Better signage/map of disabled bays 2 4% 

Respondents left 39 locations related comments, where they felt additional bays or 
changes were needed to improve their experience of parking in the City. In total 30 
individual locations were cited, with the following locations mentioned more than 
twice: 

• Cheapside/One New Change was recorded five times 
• St Bartholomews Hospital/EC1A 7BE was recorded three times 
• Bank/Bank of England was recoded four times 

A full list of locations can be found in Appendix 3.  

Requests to Review of the Red Badge application process and criteria was raised by 
two participants in the Survey, in different ways. One noted the City should consider 
bi-annual or tri-annual Red Badge renewals. While another respondent expressed 
concern that changes in their working hours could affect their eligibility for a Red 
Badge.  

 

Page 569



20 
 

Other types of transport  

Respondents were asked if they used other types of transport to get around the City 
of London (including bus, taxi, and walking or wheeling) and encouraged to provide 
more detail regarding their lived experience if they felt comfortable to do so.  

Responses were received as open text and processed using open code analysis. 
Each response was assigned up to two modes of travel or "codes", which were then 
used for understanding the level of sentiment toward different themes and issues. All 
locations were noted. Any responses that did not mention a mode of transport or that 
re-noted their experiences of driving in the City were coded as “Other”. 

A total of 34 responses were received, resulting in 46 open text codes across seven 
themes. Those themes are summarised below in alphabetical order:  

1. Bus 
2. Mobility scooter  
3. No other mode  
4. Other  
5. Taxi and/or Private Hire 
6. Underground and/or train 
7. Walking or wheeling (using a wheelchair or mobility aid) 

Seven of the 34 respondents stated they used more than one than one mode to 
travel around the City of London.  

Walking and/or wheeling (using a wheelchair) was the most common mode of travel 
if respondents could not use their cars. 11 respondents noted that they walked or 
wheeled if they did not drive. Eight of these responses were associated with negative 
sentiments regarding challenging streets and/or pavement environments including 
cobblestones, raised flagstones, steep slopes and lack of ramps. Some respondents 
expressed that long distances from London Underground or train stations to their 
destinations were tiring and, in some cases, painful to travel. One respondent stated 
that crossing streets unaccompanied can be difficult and dangerous at times, and 
two others stated that when they walked, they had a fear of people cycling too fast. 

Using a Taxi was the second most common mode of travel. 10 people noted they 
used Taxi's, with one noting they also used private hire. Survey respondents 
experience of using Taxis were mixed. Two participants noted it was a positive 
experience due to Taxi's having ramps and assistance. One person noted they 
preferred not to take a taxi, and another described his experience as negative 
because wayfinding is often difficult, with road closures and traffic leading to 
unpredictable journey times. The high cost of travel was also noted as a negative 
aspect of using a taxi.   

Page 570



21 
 

Six respondents noted they used the underground or trains, with five people 
expressing negative sentiments and experiences due to cost, inaccessible stations 
including those without lifts and overcrowding. 

Six respondents noted they used buses. These experiences were generally negative 
due to overcrowding including not being able to find a seat, bus drivers not waiting 
for passengers to sit down resulting in injury or fear of injury, traffic and 
unpredictable journey time. However, two participants felt that they worked very well 
and had positive experiences.  

A further six people noted they do not, or cannot use any other modes, with two 
participants noting this is for health-related purposes. 

Three respondents noted they used their mobility scooters, and that often kerbs 
aren't low enough and that wayfinding can be difficult.  

Finally, four respondents did not note the mode of travel but noted: 

• Wayfinding is difficult, and that google maps is not always up to date with 
restrictions 

• People riding cycles at speed is an issue 
• There are too many road closures and restrictions in the City of London  

Additional open text responses  

The final question of the Survey asked respondents if there was anything else they 
wanted to share with the City Corporation. Comments were received in open text 
paragraphs, and each significant point made by the respondent were categorised 
into codes. The first four points noted by the recipient were taken into consideration.  

The 24 responses to this question, and these were not coded as they were 
significantly varied.  

One of the common response quoted by three respondants were positive remarks 
regarding the Red Badge Administration Team in the Contact Centre. A few of those 
comments are included below:   

• "Just to say thank you to you people who deal with the red badge applications 
- very polite and helpful".  

• "Team are excellent, really goes the extra mile to help residents with learning 
difficulties, should be commended please, great understanding and prompt 
service."  

The other most common reponse cited by three respondents refred to the Red 
Badge Scheme being useful. A few of those comments are included below:   

• “Just, please keep the red badge going, it is extremely helpful”  
• “grateful for the red badge” 

Page 571



22 
 

Other comments left by repondents included requests for: 

• More acessibility improvements across the City of London including safer, 
more acessible pavements.  

• More consideration to be given to disabled people who have to drive and the 
impacts of closures and construction.  

• More enforcement of poor behaviour from people riding cycles. 
• Considering bi-annual/ tri annual Red Badge renewal  
• One respondent noted that a change in working patterns hours post COVID 

has led to them not fulfilling the required hours for Red Badge holders. This 
could lead to them being unable to renew their Red Badge, which would make 
traveling to work very difficult. They recommended the process should be 
reviewed to ensure it is giving disabled people the opportunity to work in the 
City of London. 

• Consideration to allow Red Badge holders to park in any bay (and on Red 
Routes) without time limits.  

• More enforcement of ilegal parking in disabled bays, espcailly at night.  
• More disabled bays  

Communication and administration of Red Badges 

When asked about their understanding of Red Badge holder concessions, 93% of 
respondents were aware that they had free parking at on-street payment parking 
bays and disabled bays and free parking on a single yellow line for a period of 30 
minutes.  

This supports that the Red Badge scheme is being well used, and suggests it is 
being effectively communicated to Badge holders. Furthermore, several compliments 
received for the Red Badge Team in the Contact Centre confirm that some holders 
are appreciative of the scheme and the Team’s administration of it.  

Conclusion  
The key findings from survey responses and feedback are summarised below.  

Responses received will be used to inform existing disabled parking bay policies in 
the wider Kerbside Review being undertaken to improve how the City’s limited 
kerbside space is utilised. 

Red Badge holder insights on parking in the City 
The survey found that 93% of all Red Badge holders have a good understanding of 
their concessions and 87% use their Badges regularly, parking in the City of London 
at least once a week. This high level of understanding of Red Badge holder 
concessions suggests that the Red Badge scheme is being well used and is being 
effectively communicated. 

Page 572



23 
 

Red Badge holders use a mix of parking facilities primarily choosing to park on-street 
disabled parking bays, followed by Pay and Display bays and single yellow lines. 
Fewer respondents use disabled bays in car parks, residential parking, or workplace 
spaces, suggesting these are less desirable, less convenient or available. The 
potential impact of parking charges in City of London car parks, although not 
explicitly highlighted, might also be a factor affecting these preferences. 

The majority of respondents (61%) expressed satisfaction with the amount of Red 
Badge parking available, while only 21% noted they were dissatisfied. Most 
respondents that they could find a place to park where they needed to, with only 6% 
indicating that they rarely found parking where they need it. These findings suggest 
that Red Badge holders use their badges regularly and that overall satisfaction and 
availability are high.  

Barriers to parking in the City of London  

The survey's exploration of challenges and barriers to parking in the City of London 
was responded to by 45 of the 54 (83%) respondents. 14 (25%) Red Badge holders 
did not leave or noted they did not have barriers to parking.  

The results identified a range of barriers, with the lack of available disabled parking 
bays emerging as the most significant challenge. This contradicts the previous 
section’s findings and suggests that while many people felt they could “always or 
nearly always” find somewhere suitable to park, some disabled people face 
significant barriers when trying to locate parking in the City. 

Respondents frequently mentioned the misuse of these bays by non-badge holders, 
such as delivery vehicles and taxis, exacerbating red badge holders trying to park.  

Time restrictions on single yellow lines and difficulty finding parking near destinations 
were also significant barriers, causing inconvenience and additional travel for some 
respondents. Furthermore, challenges related to access issues, such as obstructed 
kerbs and unlevel pavements, were noted, along with the high parking costs and 
restrictions on red routes. 

The responses highlighted the emotional impact of these barriers, with many 
expressing frustration, pain, and fatigue. Some respondents noted that they avoided 
trips or used alternative modes of transport due to these barriers. Some respondents 
noted that streets that have only one accessible parking bay (such as in Bridgewater 
Square and on Laurence Poultney Hill) can cause significant challenges for Red 
Badge holders when the bay is occupied. Several streets and specific locations were 
identified by more than one respondent as needing more disabled bays. These 
included significant areas for business and retail such as Cheapside, Bank and 
Leadenhall, as well as, around St Bartholomew’s Hospital, Minories, which have 

Page 573



24 
 

residential dwellings. The occupancy of bays in these locations may need further 
review to understand how to improve the parking experience on these streets.  

Having no barriers to parking had the fifth highest response (Figure 3), when 
considered together with the number of participants who did not leave a response 
(25%). This could support the earlier findings that people are generally satisfied with 
Red Badge holder parking.  

Suggestions for improvement recorded in this section included stricter enforcement 
against misuse of bays, extending parking time limits on yellow lines, updating maps 
of disabled bays, and providing real-time occupancy data to aid in finding available 
parking. Addressing these barriers could significantly enhance the parking 
experience for Red Badge holders in the City of London.  

Locating and accessing parking  

The survey results indicate that a 52% of Red Badge holders felt confident in their 
ability to always or nearly always find a place to park where they needed to in the 
City of London. Another 41% of respondents reported that they could sometimes find 
a place to park, while a smaller group, 6%, expressed that they rarely found parking 
where they needed it.  

Respondents noted the following physical barriers to accessing parking: 

• unlevel and cobbled pavements, road surfaces and access to the roadside, 
• cycles being locked to signage causing obstruction,  
• signage and cycles blocking access to the kerbside  

City Corporation encourages people to report highway faults and accessibility 
barriers on our streets and public spaces. This includes lift faults, potholes, 
carriageway/pavement damage, street furniture defects etc. Anyone can report a 
fault by calling 020 7606 3030 or using the online reporting tool on the website: 
https://cityoflondon-self.achieveservice.com/service/Fault_reporting 

A few respondents noted that navigating the City of London can be challenging due 
to one-way streets, road works and road closures not being translated into 
navigation applications, such as, Google maps or City Mapper. Wayfinding is about 
knowing where you are, where you're heading, how to get there, and how to 
recognise when you're there. Planned road closures and traffic restrictions are 
communicated on the City Corporation website: 
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/road-highways-and-
pavements/road-closures. We will continue to improve wayfinding in the City of 
London. The City Corporation currently has a close relationship with Google, and we 
will continue to work closely with them, and businesses to improve wayfinding and 
disabled information. Google has added an “Accessibility attributes” feature to 
Google maps, which collects information about businesses to share with customers 

Page 574

https://cityoflondon-self.achieveservice.com/service/Fault_reporting
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/road-highways-and-pavements/road-closures
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/road-highways-and-pavements/road-closures


25 
 

who have specific accessibility needs. Business can disclose whether they have a 
step free business entrance, toilets, seating, parking, and lifts for people in 
wheelchairs. The more information businesses can disclose the more accurately 
people can plan their journeys. 

These findings suggest that while a significant portion of Red Badge holders are 
generally able to find parking, there remains a substantial number who experience 
occasional to frequent difficulties locating parking, highlighting the need for further 
occupancy surveys and review to disabled bay accessibility. 

Transport barriers  
The Survey looked to gather insight around the impact of other travel modes and 
issues on disabled people. Respondents identified that difficulty parking in the City of 
London is not the only barrier to that Red Badge Holders face and these barriers 
need to be considered holistically.  

Access barriers to using public transport and walking / wheeling in the City include 
lack of step-free access to Tube / rail stations, lifts that are out of order, challenging 
pavements, poor cycle parking behaviours causing obstructions at disabled bays. 
Ensuring the streets of the City of London are accessible is integral to the delivery of 
the Transport Strategy.  

The City Corporation continues to make the City’s streets more accessible by: 

• Applying the City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) on all projects to 
identify opportunities to improve accessibility.  

• Delivering accessibility improvements at locations that are not covered by 
existing or planned projects through the Healthy Streets, and by working with 
developers to identify opportunities to resurface our pavements and to introduce 
step free access as part of new developments and major refurbishments. 

• Continuing to engage with construction sites and road works companies to 
minimise disruption. 

• Continuing to liaise with TfL to identify the programme of investment required to 
make accessibility improvements to stations in the City of London and London’s 
wider public transport network. The ambition within the Transport Strategy is that 
all stations within the Square Mile will be accessible by 2044.  

  

Page 575



26 
 

Next Steps 
Red Badge holders who took part in the survey will be contacted and notified of the 
survey findings. The next steps that will inform the wider Disabled Parking Review, 
which forms part of the wider Kerbside Review 2024/25. 

Final recommendations will be brought to City Corporation committees for decision 
as part of the Disabled Parking Review from January 2025 

1. Review parking occupancy data against Survey findings 

The feedback suggests that Red Badge holders can generally find parking and are 
satisfied with parking availability in the City of London. However, the most common 
barrier cited was the lack of disabled parking bays.  

We will review the demand of disabled parking bays using occupancy audits data 
(including at key points of interest highlighted by residents). Occupancy audits of 
disabled parking spaces and other parking facilities have been undertaken for the 
wider Disabled Parking Review. This occupancy data will be reviewed against the 
Red Badge Holder Survey report to better understand if disabled parking spaces are 
overutilised across the City, and if there are certain areas with a high demand for 
disabled parking where additional bays might be necessary. Examining:  

• the full list of Red Badge holder identified locations. 
• bay occupancy on streets where there is only one disabled bay. It is clear 

from the results of the survey that respondent noted that streets that have 
only one accessible parking bay can cause significant challenges when the 
bay is occupied. This will help officers understand if more bays are needed. 
what type of vehicle is occupying the bay as respondents suggest that trades 
vehicles, delivery vehicles and taxis are parking in disabled bays.  

Conduct a Red Badge Parking distribution mapping exercise to identify areas with 
limited disabled parking. Explore the feasibility of providing additional disabled to 
address any gaps in provision.  

2. Improve enforcement and education to reduce misuse of Red 
Badge holder parking   

Proactively enforce against vehicles illegally parked in disabled bays to reduce 
misuse of disabled bays by non-disabled users. Consider the use of behaviour 
change and educational campaigns to remind people not to park in disabled bays or 
park in a way that can cause obstruction. This will free up more spaces for use by 
Blue and Red Badge holders. 

Page 576



27 
 

Provide Red Badge holders with phone number and email address to report non-
badge holders in bays, or other issues, directly to our enforcement service who can 
despatch rapid response officers. 

3. Extend permitted parking time on yellow lines for Red Badge 
holders 

Explore extending the yellow line time limit for Red Badge holders could allow 
disabled people more time to undertake small tasks, which could include, picking up 
or dropping off, shopping, short health appointments, etc. 

Uncertainty about whether it will be possible to find somewhere to park close enough 
to their destination – both in terms of locating parking and understanding if bay are 
available is a barrier. Extending the time on yellow lines could help lessen the 
pressure of a short time limit and allow some Badge holders to park closer to their 
destination.  

4. Audit existing disabled parking spaces to remove 
accessibility barriers 

Audit disabled parking with the aim of improving parking for disabled people and 
reducing occupancy by non-badge holders could assist in removing some of the 
barriers identified by respondents. Auditing on-street Red Badge parking bays will 
ensure we are providing high standards of parking and management across the City 
of London. 

5. Review the Red Badge eligibility criteria and administration  

One valuable tool in improving workplace equality and creating inclusive cultures is 
flexible working. It can help parents return to work, reduce the gender pay gap, help 
people with fluctuating health conditions stay in work and help carers to balance their 
work and caring responsibilities. Given the change in working patterns and flexible 
working post COVID19 it is recommended the Red Badge holder eligibility criteria is 
reviewed to ensure it is fit-for-purpose.  

Respondents noted that the Red Badge renewal process is taxing for some disabled 
people. City Corporation could consider extending its annual Red Badge renewal to 
Bi-Annually. This could reduce the reduce administrative costs for City Officers, 
however, it would need to be investigated further to understand if there are increased 
costs to Red Badge Holders associated with Bi-annual renewal.  

The Office of National Statistics (2023) found that on average, between 2014 and 
2021, disabled workers moved out of work at nearly twice the rate (8.9%) of non-
disabled workers (5.1%). Furthermore, disabled workers are more likely to be 
working part time, with 32% of disabled workers and 21.5% of non-disabled workers 
working part-time. Reviewing the holder eligibility criteria and administration policy 

Page 577



28 
 

would ensure the policy aligns with the Corporate Plan Vibrant thriving destination by 
ensuring people have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and prosper. It would 
support diverse engaged communities by ensuring our residents and workers, can 
feel that they belong.  

6. Continue to champion inclusive streets and improve the 
accessibility of our street and transport connections  

The City Corporation continues to have a strong commitment to improve accessibility 
in the Square Mile through the Transport Strategy. The Transport Strategy sets out 
commitments to champion inclusive streets in Outcome 3 and in numerous 
Proposals throughout the Strategy. Ensuring we: 

• Keep pavements free of obstructions. 
• Continue to engage with City of London Police, Transport for London, and 

electric bike operators to encourage safer cycle riding, and cycle parking 
behaviour across the City to reduce fear of injury due to speed and 
obstructions on our pavements. 

• Encouraging community participation and engagement on our schemes to 
ensure a diversity of voices are heard through the decision-making process.  

• We will work with TfL to prioritise investment in accessibility improvements to 
Underground and DLR stations.  

For more information on the Transport Strategy please visit: 
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/transportstrategy or request a hard copy of the 
Strategy from the Transport Strategy Team: 
strategic.transportation@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

  

Page 578

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/transportstrategy
mailto:strategic.transportation@cityoflondon.gov.uk


29 
 

References 
1. City of London Corporation (2019). City Streets: Transport for a changing Square 

Mile, City of London Transport Strategy. 
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-
transport-strategy.pdf 

2. City of London Corporation: Our Corporate Plan 2018 – 23 (2018). 
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-us/plans-policies/corporate-plan 

3. Department for Transport (2020). The Blue Badge scheme: rights and 
responsibilities in England. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-
badge-scheme-rights-and-responsibilities-in-england/the-blue-badge-scheme-
rights-and-responsibilities-in-england 

4. Greater London Authority (2019). Equality, diversity and inclusion evidence base 
for London. https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/equality--diversity-and-inclusion-
evidence-base 

5. Office for National Statistics (2023). Employment of disabled people 2022. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-
2022/employment-of-disabled-people-2022 
 

Appendies 
Appendix 1: Red Badge Survey Poster 

Appendix 2: Red Badge Holder Survey 

Appendix 3: Locations Red Badge holders feel need more disabled bays or attention.  

Appendix 4: Risk Register and Mitigation Measures 

  

 

 

Page 579

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-transport-strategy.pdf
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-transport-strategy.pdf
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-us/plans-policies/corporate-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-rights-and-responsibilities-in-england/the-blue-badge-scheme-rights-and-responsibilities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-rights-and-responsibilities-in-england/the-blue-badge-scheme-rights-and-responsibilities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-rights-and-responsibilities-in-england/the-blue-badge-scheme-rights-and-responsibilities-in-england
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/equality--diversity-and-inclusion-evidence-base
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/equality--diversity-and-inclusion-evidence-base
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2022/employment-of-disabled-people-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2022/employment-of-disabled-people-2022


30 
 

Appendix 1: Red Badge Survey Poster 

 

 
 

Page 580



31 
 

Appendix 2: Red Badge Holder Survey  

Red Badge Holder Survey 

1. Are you a…? (tick one) □ City of London worker 

□ City of London resident 

□ Both 

2. When parking in the City of London, which types of parking facility 
do you use? (tick all that apply) 

□ On-Street disabled parking bay 

□ Car park disabled parking bay in a car park 

□ Single yellow line 

□ Pay and Display parking bay 

□ Parking space at my workplace 

□ A private or residential parking space 

□ Other 

3. How often do you make a car journey that requires you to park in 
the City of London? (tick one) 

□ At least once a day 

□ At least once a week 

Page 581



32 
 

□ At least once a fortnight 

□ At least once a month 

□ Once every three months 
 
4. Did you know that Red Badge holders have the following 

concessions in the City of London? (tick one) 

• Free parking at on-street payment parking bays and disabled bays 

• Free parking on a single yellow line for a period of 30 minutes 

□ Yes 

□ No 

5. What are the challenges and barriers you face when 
parking in the City of London? (Please give us the 
location details if it is relevant) 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

6. Thinking about the parking provision for Red Badge holders in the City of 
London, do you find current parking provision? (tick one) 

Page 582



33 
 

□ Always allows me to park where I need to 

□ Nearly always allows me to park where I need to 

□ Sometimes allows me to park where I need to 

□ Rarely allows me to park where I need to 

□ I don’t know 

7. Overall, how satisfied are you with the amount of Red Badge parking 
provision in the City of London? (tick one) 

□ Very satisfied 

□ Satisfied 

□ Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 

□ Dissatisfied 

□ Very dissatisfied 

8. What could the City of London Corporation do to improve your 
experience of disabled parking in the City of London? Are there any 
streets or specific locations you feel need disabled bays? 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

9. If you use other types of transport to get around the City of 
London (bus, taxi, and including walking or wheeling), 
please tell us briefly about your experiences of this. 

Page 583



34 
 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

10. Finally, is there anything else you would like to share with us? 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

.................................................................................................................................. 

Page 584



35 
 

Appendix 3: Locations Red Badge holders feel need more disabled bays or attention.  

 Location idenified  Number of times noted by repondants 
Cheapside 3 
Cheapside - One New Change 2 
St Barts (EC1A 7BE) 3 
Bank 2 
Bank of England 2 
Minories 2 
Mitre Street 2 
Aldgate School  1 
Bishopsgate 1 
Bloomfield Street 1 
Bride street  1 
Chiswell St 1 
Devonshire Square 1 
Finsbury circus  1 
Golden Lane 1 
Guildhall 1 
Haydon street  1 
Houndsditch 1 
King Edward Street (EC1A 1HQ) 1 
Little Somerset Street 1 
Liverpool Street 1 
Ludgate Circus 1 
Minster Court  1 
Monument  1 
Portsoken Street 1 
St Helens 1 
St Martin Le Grand (EC1A 4NP) 1 
St Pauls  1 
Stonecutter 1 
Thavies Inn, Holborn 1 

 
 
  

Page 585



36 
 

Appendix 4: Risk Register and Mitigation Measures 

Risk   Mitigation  
Validity of questions for the propose 
of the project, risk scrutiny of the 
Survey and Survey questions  

• Work with Transport for All – Who will provide 
two rounds of feedback on the Survey. 

• Ensuring the Survey is designed and signed 
off by the Parking team, Information officers, 
and Corporate Communications Team.  

• Ensure the Contact Centre who will support 
the Survey are briefed and can direct anyone 
who needs to contact us to complete the 
Survey.  

• Survey is approved by Assistant Director of 
Policy and Projects, and Head of Transport 
Strategy Team.  

The technical and complex nature of 
some of the language used in the 
consent for data processing section 
may make it inaccessible to some 
disabled people, including people 
with learning difficulties, dyslexic 
people and some neurodivergent 
people.   
 
TFA identified the following 
examples of inaccessible language 
used include:  

• Special category data  
• Processing data  
• “as requested for the 

purposes of researching the 
user parking experience”.  

• Privacy notice  
• Consent / do not consent / 

withdraw consent.  
• Square Mile  

 
They also noted that, some disabled 
people may be concerned about 
making a legal declaration for the 
purposes of a Survey.   

• Make the wording in the request for consent 
as accessible as possible and if it is 
necessary to retain technical terms for legal 
purposes, provide a short explanation of 
these terms.  

• Remove the request for consent and 
explicitly state on the Survey that 
respondents should not provide any 
information that could be used to identify 
them (e.g., name or address etc.).  

• It is important that only Red Badge holders 
complete the Survey, so it would be helpful to 
reiterate this in the introductory text.   

• Some people may not know what ‘the Square 
Mile’ means. TFA recommend the Survey 
reference the ‘City of London’.  

  

The Accessibility Conformance 
Report for Microsoft Forms outlines 
the few areas where the Web 
Content Accessibility Guidelines 
(WCAG) guidelines are not met. 
https://www.microsoft.com/en-

• Microsoft Forms meets most of the Web 
Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG), 
the internationally recognised standards for 
making digital content accessible. This will 
help ensure that it is accessible to people 
with a range of impairments, including those 

Page 586



37 
 

Risk   Mitigation  
us/accessibility/conformance-
reports  

who use screen readers. However, it will be 
important to ensure that other Survey formats 
are available.    

It may be likely that a high number of 
questions will either put off or 
prevent some people from 
responding. Furthermore, it may take 
some disabled people longer to 
complete the Survey particularly if 
they need to discuss this with people 
who drive them.  

• Reduce the number of questions to keep the 
Survey as short as possible and ensure the 
questions are short and to the point, written 
in plain English.   

• Include open text questions where people 
can write about their experiences.  

• Be consistent with adding instructions such 
as ‘Tick one’ or ‘Tick all that apply’.   

• Use the ‘active voice’ rather than the ‘passive 
voice’ to makes text more accessible.   

Survey is not accessible to our target 
audience  

• Multiple Survey formats and channels. It is 
intended that the Survey will be made 
available as follows:   

o Online Microsoft Form,   
o Paper Survey posted out,   
o Telephone Survey option.   

Paper Survey is not accessible  • The Survey document uses an easy to read 
for and 12pt or above text, which meets the 
requirements for ‘clear print’. If the standard 
Survey document 12 is produced in 14pt font, 
this may reduce the need for some people to 
request a large print version.   

• Boxes be provided on the Survey to make it 
more obvious where to tick. These should be 
a comparable size to the text.   

• Provide sufficient colour contrast between 
text and backgrounds and avoid putting text 
on images.   

• The Survey should be printed on matt paper 
rather than glossy, and the paper should be 
sufficiently thick to ensure that the text on the 
other side cannot be seen through it.   

• A4 size is recommended as it is the easiest 
size to handle.   

• A pre-paid envelope will be included with the 
Survey. The font used for the Survey should 
also be used for the address printed on the 
envelope, so that this is equally as 
accessible.  

• Add the address onto the Survey document 
in case the pre-paid envelope gets lost.  

Page 587



38 
 

Risk   Mitigation  
Telephone Survey interviewer is not 
leading or bias  

• The telephone Survey should be completed 
in the same way as the paper Survey would 
be.   

• If the respondent requires further clarification 
this should be carefully considered to ensure 
that it is not leading.  

• Users of textphones, who may be D/deaf or 
have a speech impairment, may wish to use 
Relay UK to contact City Corporation It is 
important to ensure that anyone answering 
phone calls is aware of how this service 
works: https://www.relayuk.bt.com/.  

Ensure that the timescales for 
returning the Survey include 
sufficient time for:   

• Respondents to request an 
alternative format and this be 
sent out to them.   

• Respondents to make 
contact to ask for assistance 
with understanding any of the 
questions on the Survey.    

• Respondents to arrange 
assistance for completing the 
Survey, such as a PA or 
Support Worker.   

• Have the Survey open for at least four 
weeks.   

• It may be possible to use the Survey 
distribution to recruit participants for the 
workshop. To avoid further issues relating to 
Data Protection it may be preferable to do 
this by signposting people to a means of 
signing up rather than adding a question to 
the Survey.   

We do not get enough respondents 
filling the Survey  

• Work with Transport for all.  
• Ensure the timescales for completing the 

survey are more than four weeks. 
• Have multiple ways to fill the Survey, paper, 

online and via phone.   
• Have posters encouraging Red Badge 

holders to complete the Survey. Although the 
Survey will be posted out, some people may 
not pay attention to this, or may not get round 
to completing it. These could be displayed in 
places where people may have time to 
complete it whilst they wait, such as, 
healthcare buildings and libraries.   

 

Page 588



Date Action 

 

Officer 

responsible 

 

To be 

completed/ 

progressed to 

next stage  

Notes/Progress to date 

 

 

14 May 2024 
24 June 2024 

Reopening of Old Jewry Executive 

Director, 

Environment 

5 July The ETO will go live on 5 July. There was a one 
week delay due to the advertising agency failing 
to place the submitted adverts in time for the 
original go live date of 28 June. ETOs must be 
advertised in a local newspaper and the London 
Gazette for 7 days prior to going live.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 589

A
genda Item

 18



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 590


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Transport Strategy - Revised Draft and Consultation Report
	S&W P&T 230724 Appendix 1 2024.06.05_ Transport Strategy Review Engagement Plan (1)
	S&W P&T 230724 Appendix 2 SUMMARY OF Consultation feedback TS review-july 24 (1)
	S&W P&T 230724 Appendix 3 – Draft Transport Strategy-for approval v2 (1) (1)

	5 Smithfield Area Public Realm and Transportation
	Appendix 1_Project coversheet - July 2024 (1)
	Appendix 2_Finance Tables (1)
	Appendix 3 _Location and Phasing Plan (1)
	Appendix 4_ Smithfield PR high level Programme  (1)
	Slide 1

	Appendix 5_High level risk register_Smithfield_June 2024 (1)
	Summary
	Risk Register
	Issues
	Dependencies
	Assumptions


	6 Museum of London s278
	Appendix 1 - Project Coversheet MoL G3 Final (1)
	Copy of Appendix 2 Risk register MoL Final (1)
	Copy of Appendix 3 - Finance Table (1)
	Appendix 4 - Site location and Phasing Plan (3)

	7 Finsbury Circus Accessibility Improvements
	Appendix 1 - Project Coversheet (1)
	Appendix 2 Plan of Proposals (1)
	Appendix 3 Plan of Existing (1)
	Appendix 4 Tables of Proposed & Existing Parking (1)
	Appendix 5 Risk Register (1)
	Risk Register


	8 Creechurch Lane Area Improvements
	Appendix 1. Project Coversheet_Creechurch Lane G3-4
	Appendix 2. Creechurch Lane outline plan
	Sheets and Views
	Creechurch Lane GA-Layout1


	Appendix 3. Billiter st motorcycle parking
	Sheets and Views
	PH
	OLE1



	Appendix 3.Creechurch Lane bays proposal rv1
	Sheets and Views
	Creechurch Lane bays sketch-Layout1


	Appendix 4. Creechurch Lane images
	Slide 1: Appendix 4.  Creechurch Lane.  Site images and proposed improvements. 
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5

	Appendix 5. Creechurch Lane area risk register_G3-4
	Appendix 6. Creechurch Lane HS summary diagram
	Appendix 7. COLSAT Creechurch Lane
	Creechurch Lane improvements_COLSAT (1)
	Creechurch Lane improvements_COLSAT


	9 Cool Streets & Greening Ludgate Broadway and St Andrew's Hill
	Appendix 1 Project Coversheet  GW4 CSG Ph4 SuDSs (1)
	Appendix 2 Risk Register CSG Ph4 (1)
	Appendix 3 Plans and Sketches (1)
	Appendix 4 Finance Table (1)
	Appendix 5 Healthy Street Check (1)
	Appendix 6 COLSAT Assessments SuDSs (1)
	DRAFT V2 Existing CoLSAT - Ludgate Broadway
	DRAFT ISSUE V3 Proposed CoLSAT - Ludgate Broadway
	DRAFT V2 Existing CoLSAT - Pilgrim Street
	DRAFT ISSUE V3 Proposed CoLSAT - Pilgrim Street
	DRAFT ISSUE ColSAT - St Andrews Hill (EXISTING)
	DRAFT ISSUE ColSAT - St Andrews Hill (PROPOSED)


	10 2 Aldermanbury s278
	Appendix 1 - project cover sheet
	Appendix 2 - 2 Aldermanbury Square (1)
	Report tables

	Appendix 3 - 2 Aldermanbury Sq Options plans - final
	Sheets and Views
	GA

	Blank Page

	Appendix 4 - 2 Aldermanbury Sq (1)
	summary table
	Questions.Before
	Questions.After

	Appendix 5 - 2 Aldermanbury Square (1)
	Summary
	Risk Register


	11 Temple Avenue
	Appendix 1. Temple Av plan (1)
	Appendix 2. Project briefing Temple Av_G1-2 (1)
	Appendix 3. Temple Av Risk register_G2 (1)

	12 21 Moorfields and Fore Street Avenue s278
	Appendix 1 - 21 Moorfileds-Moor La S278 (1)
	Appendix 2 - 21 Moorfields-Moor La S278 (1)
	Finance Tables

	Appendix 3 - Moor La S278 (1)
	Blank Page


	13 *Advertising Board Update
	14 *Bank Junction Improvements Project: Next steps following the outcome of the Traffic and Timing Review
	Appendix 1 - indicative programme (1)

	15 *Update on Actions for Improving Dockless E-Bike Hire in the City
	Appendix 3 - Dockless Vehicle Priority Removal Areas (1)
	Appendix 4 - Prioritised Parking (1)
	Appendix 5 - Shortlisted Parking (1)
	Appendix 6 - Cycle Rack Reallocation (1)
	Proposed cycle rack�location to be partly reallocated to dockless cycle hire


	16 *Dauntsey House, Frederick’s Place - Public Realm Improvements (S278)
	Appendix 1_DauntseyHse_Progress_Coversheet v1 - Final
	Appendix 2_Dauntsey House_FredericksPlce_ProgressV2 (1)
	Appendix 3_Dauntsey House_FredericksPlce_ProgressV3 (1)

	17 *Red Badge Holder Survey
	Appendix 1_Red Badge Holder Survey (1)
	Executive Summary
	Survey Methodology
	Survey Findings
	Parking facilities, usage and the understanding of concessions
	Barriers to parking in the City of London
	Current parking provision for Red Badge Holders
	Improving parking provision for Red Badge holders
	Other types of transport
	Additional open text responses
	Communication and administration of Red Badges

	Conclusion
	Red Badge holder insights on parking in the City
	Barriers to parking in the City of London
	Locating and accessing parking

	Next Steps
	1. Review parking occupancy data against Survey findings
	2. Improve enforcement and education to reduce misuse of Red Badge holder parking
	3. Extend permitted parking time on yellow lines for Red Badge holders
	4. Audit existing disabled parking spaces to remove accessibility barriers
	5. Review the Red Badge eligibility criteria and administration
	6. Continue to champion inclusive streets and improve the accessibility of our street and transport connections

	References
	Appendies


	18 *Outstanding References



